(orsofidated parent @mpany accounty
for  NDC Tecwwlogles auted

(company Aumber : 0063099 %)
pglloL

szdﬂ'ﬁ P
Quj@;md Mumices: 2025003

*ABFTVGCB*

A28 11/10/2019 #304
COMPANIES HOUSE

T *AB7ONGOQ*
AD9 06/06/2019 #1786

COMPANIES HOUSE

spectris

ANNUAL REPORT
AND ACCOUNTS 2018



About us

Spectris is a leading supplier of productivity-enhancing
instrumentation and controls. Our businesses are
leaders in the markets they serve, with recognised
brands and award-winning products.

We provide solutions combining hardware,
software and related services for some of the most
technically-demanding industrial applications.

Our innovative solutions are designed to enhance
customers’ productivity, yielding clear benefits

by helping them to work better, faster and

more efficiently.
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2018 highlights

Sales

£1,604.2m

(2017. £1,525 6m}

+5%
LFL +5%

Adjusted operating profit’

£248.3m

{2017: £239.3m}

+4%
LFL +7%

Adjusted operating margin'

15.5%

(2017: 15.7%)

-0.2pp
LFL +0.3pp

Adjusted earnings per share’

164.9p

{2017: 154 6p)

+7%

Adjusted operating
cash flow conversion’

59%

{2017: 77%)

-18pp

1 Alternative performance measures ("APMS’) are used consistently throughout
this Annual Report and are referred to as “adjusted’ or hke-for-ike’ {'LAL)
These are defined in full and reconciled 1o the statutory measures in Note 2
to the Finanaial Statermnents.

Dividend per share

Hoday xfiarens

+8%

61.0p

(2017: 56.5p)

Statutory operating profit

-3%

£176.4m

(2017: £182.4m)

Statutory operating margin

11.0%

-1.0pp

{2017: 12.0%)

Statutory earnings per share

-20%

157.6p

(2017: 197.0p)

~-

~

-

-

Sales of £1,604.2 million, reflecting a 5% like-for-like
sales increase, building on the progress made in 2017
Adjusted operating profit of £248.3 million, adjusted
operating margin up 0.3pp on a like-for-like basis
Adjusted earnings per share up 7%, dividend

per share increase of 8%

New profit improvement programme antiopated to
deliver annualised benefits of more than £30 millon,
of which £15-20 million is expected to be realised
during 2019

Strategic review initial conclusions presented:

» Group would benefit from becoming a more
focused and simplified business
» Assessing which operating companies can drive
the greater shareholder vaiue.
+ Scalable, n attractive high-growth markets, with strongest
capabilites and greatest performance potential

»+ Identified three platform businesses so far -
Malvern Panalytical, HBK, Ornega — equating to more than
60% of Group sales and adjusted operating profit

Spectris plc 1



SPECTRIS AT A GLANCE

A GLOBAL BUSINESS

in attractive markets

Group sales

Group sales

19%

Group sales

33%

Group sales

3V
\Y
‘\0

Spectris comprises four business segments which reflect Sales by destination (%)
the applications and end-user industries we serve. Qur
businesses are united by the same values and corporate Rest of the world
strategy. They all work according to a strong common
framework of controls, management key performance
indicators, financial disciptine and ngorous operating
prnciples, but each business is fagusad on its own
markets, customers and technologies.

North America

2 Annual Report and Accounts 2018



Materials Analysis
provides products and
services that enable
customers to determine
structure, composition,
quantity and quality

of particles and materials
during their research and
product development
processes, when
assessing materials before
production or during the
manufacturing process.

Test and Measurement
supplies test, measurement
and analysis equipment,
software and services

for product design
opumisation and
validation, manufacturing
control, microseismic
monitoring and
environmental

noise Montoring

tinline Instrumentation
provides process

analytical ineasurermnent,
asset monitoring and
online controls, as wel

as associated consumables
and services for both
primary processing and
the converting industries

Industrial Controls
provides products and
solutions that measure,
monitor, control and
connect during the
production process.

Notes’
Segmental data relates 10 2018

1 Acquired January 2018
2 Merging from January 2019 to form HBK (Hottinger, Brizel & Kja)
3 Acquired August 2018

Adjusted
Sales operating profit
£541.1m £95.4m

Adjusted
LFL sales aperating margin
+8% 17.6%
Operating companies

» Malvern Panalytical
» Particle Measuring Systems
» Concept Life Sciences'

Statutory
operating profit
£72.1m
Statutory
operating margin
13.3%

Industries

» Pharmaceuticals
& fine chermcals

+ Metals, minerals
& mining

» Academic
research

» Semiconductors

yoday Jbajens

Adjusted Statutory
Sales operating profit  operating profit
£522.6m £67.2m £42.8m
Adjusted Statutory
LFL sales operating margin  operating margin
+6% 12.9% B.2%
Operating companies Industries
> Bruel & Kjaer Sound & Vibration? » Automotive
» ESG Solutions » Aerogspace
» HBM? » Electronics
> Millbrock » Energy
> Vi-grade® » Academic
research
Adjusted Statutory
Sales operating profit  operating profit
£312.2m £42.6m £32.2m
Adjusted Statutory
LFL sales operating margin operating margin
+1% 13.6% 10.3%
Operating companies Industries
» Briel & Kjaer Vibro » Process industnes
» BTG » Pulp, paper
» NOC Technologies & tissue
> Servomex > Energy & utilities
+ Film extrusicn
& converting
Adjusted Statutory
Sales operating profit  operating profit
£228.3m £43.1m £29.3m
Adjusted Statutory
LFL sales operating margin operating margin
+3% 18.9% 12.8%
Operating companies Industries
+ Omega Engineering » Manufacturing
» Red Lion Controls » Process
industries
y Energy
» Electrorucs

Spectris plc 3



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

CREATING

long-term sustainable value

Results overview

In 2018, the Group delivered a 5% increase in like-for-like {'LFL"}
sales, driving a 7% LFL increase in adjusted operating profit to
£248.3 million. Sales increased 5% to £1,604.2 millon and
statutory operating profit was £176.4 millon, resulting in operating
margins of 11.0%, 15 5% on an adjusted basis Our operating cash
flow conversion rate was 55%, down on the previous year as we
continued with material capex to support the growth of Millbrock
Adjusted earnings per share ('EPS’} increased by 7% to 164 9 pence
with statutory basic EPS at 157.6 pence.

During the year, the Group made three acquisitions, the largest
being Concept Life Sciences, which prowvides integrated drug
discovery, development, anaiytical testing and environmental
consultancy services, and we completed a £100 million share
buyback We mantain a healthy balance sheet, with year-end
net debt of £297.1 millon, towards the bottom end of our
leverage guidance

The Board is proposing to pay a final dividend of 40.5 pence

per share which, when combined with the intesim diwidend

of 20,5 pence, gives a total of 61.0 pence per share for the year,
an increase of 8% This 15 consistent with our policy of making
progressve dividend payrnents based upon affordability and
sustainability This is the 29th consecutive year that we have
increased our dividend since becoming a pubkdcly quoted company
in 1988, at a compound annual growth rate of just over 10%.
The dividend will be paid on 28 June 2019 to shareholders on the
register at the close of business on 24 May 2019. The ex-dividend
date is 23 May 2019,

Strategic review underway

Spectris has a diverse partfolio of businesses with strong brands,
supported by leading technologies and talented people. The last
two years has seen the Group return to deliverng organic growth,
but the sales growth has not yet converted into improved operating
margins. Gross margns remain impressively hugh, but operating
leverage has been disappointing. However, we are convinced that
there are significant opportunities to imprave operational
performance by taking a more focused approach, reducing
complexity and targeting higher growth markets where we have

a competitive advantage.

in Novernber, we launched 3 strategic review with the explrcit
objective to develop and execute our strategy for sustainable,
profitable growth, as the basis for delivermg a significant and
sustainable increase in shareholder value. At the heart of our
offering are our ighly-specialised measuring instruments We have
been adding software and services to provide further monitoring,
testing and analytical capabilities, to deliver greater insights and
solutions focused on our customers’ specific needs Providing that
combination of hardware plus associated software and services will
rernain Key to our strategy.

The review has initially identified a number of platform businesses
which are scalable, are aligned to target growth markets and
which will offer the greatest vafue creaticn potential to both our
customers and to our shareholders. During 2019, we will complete
the assessment of the portfokio compuosition, providing the
necessary clarity on capital allocation and asset optimisation in the

a Annual Report and Accounts 2018

pracess. Additionally, a new profit improvement programme has
been instigated to improve efficiency and effectiveness within our
operating companies, ensuring we achieve appropnate operating
leverage as we grow. We expect to deliver savings in 2019 of
£15-20 million and this will help to offset inflationary pressures

to our cost base. We will continue to make investments in higher
growth areas and operaticnal improvements. The cost to achieve
these savings will be approximately £35 million (for further
information see the Chief Executive's Review on pages 8 to 11).

Qur people

Integral to the success of Spectris are the skills, experience and
technical capability of our employees. | would like to thank all our
employees far their hard work and dedication during the year and
for their commitment to driving the business forward. As we head
into 2019, there will continue to be change within the organisation
as we implement our profit improvement programme and
complete the strategic review. We are committed to supporting
our people through this change. As part of this commitment,

| am pleased that Russell King has agreed 1o take on the role

of Workforce Engagerment Director to provide the Board

with a mechanism for recewning and responding to the views

of employees (see page 50).

Absolute integrity is at the heart of Spectris’ values, guiding our
decision-making and ensuring that we always operate to the
highest standards. In 2018, the Board undertook a comprehensive
review of the Group ethics and compliance prograrmme. We were
pleased to see the strong commitment to this across the Group
To keep the programme fresh, further enhancements will be
implemented in 2019 across the Group to Improve our ethics,
anti-bnbery and corruption and export cantrols comphiance
programmes. We are also improving our processes in relation to
environmental factors, for example in monitoring GHG ernissions
and collecting data on waste. We have also standardised how we
record health and safety data. These improvements will help us
better assess and therefore meet our sustainability objectives {for
further information see the Sustainability Report on pages 38 to 43).

Board update

There have been some irportant changes to the Board in 2018.
John O'Higgins retired from the Board in September, having

had a very successful 12 years as Chief Executive of Spectris

We were delighted to recruit Andrew Heath as his successor
Andrew previously served as CEQ of Imagination Technologies
Group plc and CEO of Alent plc and prior to that had a 30-year
career with Rolls-Royce plc where he held several international and
senior management roles Since joining, he has extensively visited
the Group's operations and has been working closely with the
Board on initiating the strategic review and new profit
improvement programme

After 12 years as Group Finance Director, Clive Watsan has also
decided to retire and will step down from the Board We are very
pleased that Derek Harding will be jeining the Board to succeed
Clive, as Chief Financial Officer Designate, on 1 March 2013, before
formally becoming Chief Financial Officer following & month's
handover Derek brings a wide range of financial leadership and
industrial expertise 1o Spectris, having been mast recently group



48 We delivered good

organic growth in 2018,
building on the progress
made in 2017. With a
new management team
in place and with a
tighter strategic focus
and emphasis on cost
effectiveness, the Board
is confident that the
Group is well placed for
the future, ¥

finance director at Shop Direct and previously
Senior pic, following 11 years in vaneus finance

and strategy roles at Wolseley pic. sales

Jo Hailas, Business Group Director, left the

Company in February 2019 10 become chief 4 5 %
executive officer at Tyman pic. To replace her,

Mark Fleiner joined in January 2019. Mark has n 2018

nearly 30 years’ expenence in the energy,

chemical and metals industries.

On behalf of the Board, | would fike to thank
John, Ciive and Jo for their matenal contribution

0 developing the Group and driving 1ts Success Adiusted EPS
during their tenures and express our best wishes
for their futures +7 0/
o
Summary .
in 2018

We delivered good organic growth in 2018,
building on the progress made in 2017

QOur am is 1o continue to grow, however, we
must focus on our core strengths and become
more efficient, so that we grow more profitably,

all while maintaining a robust financial position. Dividend per share
with a new management team n place and

with a tighter strategic focus and emphass on + 8 %

cost effectiveness, the Board is confident that

the Group 15 well placed for the future. n 2018

Mark Williamson
Chairman
19 February 2019

Spectris plc
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL

CREATING VALUE

for stakeholders

What
we do

We provide hardware, software
and setvices for some of the
most technically-demanding
industrial applications.

ol
We invest around 6-7% of sales

each year in R&D to maintain our
market positions.

]

R&D expenditure

6%

of sales in 2018

il

We provide value-enhancing
solutions for our customers
which enable them to sherten
development cycles, intrease
yield and streamiine processes.

Y

We build long-term relationships
with our customers and seek to
develop a deep understanding
of their business and processes.

Number of acquisitions

40

since 2008

5

We employ highly-skilled people
with deep application expertise,
who play an essential role in the
development of new products
and services.

o

We offer a broad range of
aftermarket services and support,
including training, technical
support, spare parts, calibration
and maintenance.

Dividend growth

+10%

CAGR since 1988




D

O

How
we do it

Key
drivers
for
growth

Creating
value
for
stake-
holders

Operating model

>

-

~

Our sales mode! is based predorminantly
on direct routes to market through a
worldwide network of sales, marketing
and support offices, so that we are
close to our customers wherever they
are located

We are structured in a way that enables
our businesses to respond quickly to any
change in the trading environment.

Our businesses are predominantly
asset-light, focusing on the investment
where we can builld market-leading
expertise and competitive advantage,
such as R&D.

Strong customer relatonships,

combined with our inngvative progducts,
services and significant sales footpant,
help sustain high barriers to entry, which,
in turn, lead to pricing power, retention
of market share and high gross margins.

Improving productivity

H

in an increasingly competitive
marketplace, customers are continyally
seeking to bring new products to market
more quickly and cost-effectively

» Increasing regulation in markets such as

pharmaceuticatsife soences, autormotive
and process industries brings greater
emphasis on complance, quality control
and data integrity.

Customers are increasingly seeking
greater insights into their processes,
increasing the requirements and
sophistication for test and measurernent
equipment and asscciated software

and services.

Sharehoiders

3

-

Our asset-light manufacturing model
ensures high gross margins and low
capital requirements.

Balance sheet strength enables a
progressive dividend policy — 10%
CAGR since flotation in 19388.
Strong cash corwersion and

balance sheet ensure flexibility 1o
fund acquisitions.

Our strategy for profitable growth
is aimed at improving Qur operating
margins through asset optimisation
and capital allocation, providing
dependable dividend income,

Customers

r

Long-terrn felationships with our
customers bring high levels of repeat
business, around B0% of sales are from
customers who have purchased from us
in the preceding two years

High-quality businesses

b}

We have a portfolic of businesses with
high-quality technologies and strong
market positions.

Acquisitions

>

Organic growth is supplemented

by selective acquisitions 10 access
new or complementary products and
technologies, and exploit disruptive
growth themes.

Cuiture

3

Our businesses are united by the same
values and corporate strategy, which
shape our culture across the Group.

People

»

Qur paople play an essential role

in our success and we seek to attract
and retain the best tatent Many of our
ernployees are highly qualified and have
in-depth product, application and
industry expertise.

increasing connectivity

b

Customers are increasingly looking

to access and exploit valuable
manufacturing data to drive productivity
and operational efficiencies.

Focus on attractive markets

»

The fundamentals of our core
addressable markets are attractive,
with rany displaying GOP+

growth characterstcs, in partcular,
the pharmaceutical, automotive,
electronics/ semiconductor, metals!
minerals/mining and technology-ied
industrial markets. Each of these end
markets is witnessing significant trends
that are favourable for our businesses.

Around 40% of sales come from
customer operating expenditure budgets
or aftermarket, providing more resilience
to revenues.

People

-

-

We work hard to build a creative working
erwironment for our peaple, with scope
far indnidual responsibility and personal
achievement. Our fraining programmes
help our employees to develop both
personally and professionally to reach
their full potential.

We believe that maintaining a strong

and consistent corporate culture supports
iong-term performance and that running
our business in an ethical way makes

us successful,

Suppliers

We work with our supply chain and
endeavour to build a collaboratve
working environment with a strong
emphasis on team work.

Spectris plc 7
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

LFL sales growth

+5%

in 2018

LFL adjusted
operating profit

+7%

in 2018

LFL adjusted
operating margin

+0.3pp

in2018

8 Annual Report and Accounts 2018

A8 We were able to build
on the increased
momentum across
our end markets
and delivered good
like-for-like sales
growth. We expect
sales growth to
moderate in 2019.
Consequently, we are
focusing on what we
can control; increasing
productivity and
operational efficiency,
while driving sales. ¥



Focusing on

PROFITABLE GROWTH

2018 results overview

In 2018, we delvered good organic sales growth, building on

the progress made in 2017. Sales for the year increased by 5%

o £1,604.2 millkon (2017, £1,525 6 million), reflecting a 5%
increase on an organic, constant currency {like-for-like, ‘LFL’} basis,
helped by a supportive macroeconomic environment in a number
of geographies and a strong demand backdrop in many of our key
end markets. Acquisitions, net of disposals, contributed 2% to sales
growth, which was offset by a 2% negative impact from foreign
currency exchange movements.

Adjusted operating profit iIncreased by 4% to £248.3 million
{2017 £239.3 million). which reflected a LFL increase of 7%.
Adjusted operating margin improved 0.3pp on a LFL basis to
15.5% as overheads receved greater focus in the second half

LFL sales change
Sales by segment H1 H2 FY
Materials Analysis 1% 6% 8%
Test and Measurement 6% 6% 6%
In-ine Instrumentation (3%} 5% 1%
Industnal Controls 4% 1% 3%
Group 5% 5% 5%

LFL sates change
Sales by destination H1  H2  FY
North Amenca 5% 2% 4%
Eurcpe 6% 1% 3%
Asia 6% 14% 10%
Rest of the world 1% 1% 1%
Group 5% 5% 5%

The LFL sales growth was achieved in all gecgraphic regions,

with particutarly good growth in Asia, led by strong demand

n China. In North Amenca, the pharmaceutical and acadernic
research end markets saw good growth while Europe was helped
by a strong contribution from the UK, particularly in the first half
of the year. Good demand was seen in many of our end rmarkets,
and there was notable LFL sales growth acress the pharmaceutical,
automotive, sermiconductor, electronics and acadermic

research sectors.

Materials Analysis and Test and Measurement bath reported
strong.LFL growth of 8% and 6%, respectively. Materials Analysrs
saw strong demand i the sermiconductor and pharmaceutical
industries, with a rebound in academic research activity also
underpinning the performance In Test and Measurement,

the automotive sector was the key driver betund the growth
In-fine Instrumentation achieved a 1% increase in LFL sales,
despite a weaker performance year-on-year in the canverting
and film extrusion industries, and a tough comparator in the
wind energy sector which had large one-off sales in 2017,
industrial Controls achieved 3% LFL growth, benefiting from
improved North American industnal spending, although growth
was constrained given a product refresh underway at Omega

Statutary operating profit was £176.4 million, compared with
£182.4 mulhon recorded in 2017 A 4% improvernent in adjusted
operating profit was more than offset by higher acquisition-related

yoday nbaens

costs and other adjusting items, which were up £15 0 milion.
Statutory operating margins of 11.0% were 1 Opp lower than the
prior year. Adjusted operating profit, after costs of £10.8 million in
relation to Project Uplift, was £237.5 million {2017. £223.5 million).
The Group also recorded restructuning costs of £4.8 million in
relation 1o its new profit improvement prograrime, which have
been excluded from the adjusted measures.

The Group's adjusted operating cash conversion rate was 59%.
This was below the 77% recorded in 2017, a simifar level to
which we expect to return to in 2019, The year-on-year

reduction resulted from higher working capital, due to higher
receivables, driven by sales growth and recent acquisitions,
together with increased project completion inventory, and an
increase in ¢apital expenditure. Average trade working capital,
expressed as a percentage of sales, decreased by 0.5pp to 11.4%.
Capital expenditure, net of grants, durng the year totalled

£94.1 million {2017: £73.1 million), of which £43 1 million

related to spend by Millbrook, principally on capacity expansion,
as the business invested to access high-growth opportunities in
suppart of customer project demand In addition, there was spend
of £207.2 million (2017- £39.3 million) in relation to acquisitions
and the Group completed a £100 million share buyback
programme during the year After allowing for a net cash inflow
of £41.8 million from the divestment of EMS Brilel & Kjzer into a
joint venture, net debt stood at £297.1 milion (2017 £50 S5 mullion)
at the year end, 1.0 times the full-year adjusted EBITDA.

Positioning Spectris to deliver profitable growth

Spectris serves a diverse set of end markets with a number of
high-quality businesses, which have strongly recognised brands
in the target markets they serve.

As set out in our November 2018 trading statement, we believe
there are significant opportunities to improve the operational
performance of the Group and to drive shareholder value creation
through increasing our operating margin and by taking a more
focused approach to portfolio cormposition, asset optimisation
and capital allocation.

In November, we announced a profit improvement programme and
a strategic review of our operations. We have progressed this work
with vigour — we are in the process of focusing the business on its
highest growth areas and where we are or can be competitive, in
conjunction with reducing cost to deliver profitable growth. While
there has already been a significant amount of work undertaken,
we still have further wark to do to complete our assessment
Accordingly, we plan to provide a comprehensive update on the
outcomes of the strateqic review and on our strategy to maximise
long-term shareholder vaiue at a Capital Markets Day in June 2019.

Profit improvement programme

The implementation of Phase 1 of Project Uplift continued as
planned, with savings derived predominantly from wnprovements
n procurement {both direct and indirect), as well as benefits from
simplifying our property portfolio in 2018, the gross recurring
benefit achieved from Project Uplift was £17.3 million

{2017: £2 8 mullion) and the one-off costs incurred were

£10 8 milion {2017: £15.8 milion} We remain confident in

Spectris pic 9



CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW continued

our abjective of Project Uphft delivering £25 million of annualised
gross recurring savings by the end of 2019, with a total cost to
achieve of £35 million.

Alongside the decision taken last Novernber not to proceed
with the global shared services centre model, we initiated

a new, comprehensive programme focused on achieving profit
improvemnent through further cost reductions and targeted
growth initiatives across the Group.

To date, this programme has identified more than £30 million

of annualised benefits, of which £15-20 million are planned to be
reahsed during 2019, with the full benefit 1o be delivered in 2020
and will help to offset inflationary pressures to our cost base.

At the same time, we continue to make investments in higher
growth areas and operaticnal improvements. Delivering these
ongoing savings will result in one-off restructuring costs during
20189 of around £35 million. Benefits and savings are ansing from
improving the sales mix, product profitability, site rationalisation,
improving organisational effectiveness and driving Lean through
our operations. The merger of Briiel & Kjaer Sound & Vibration
with HBM has also been initiated. In addition, the size of the
centre is being reduced and it will be focused on Group-level
governance, managing financial performance and capital allocation
across the Group, driving strategy executian, Lean and organisation
and talent development.

Spectns has strong gross margin businesses, but our operating
margin performance has been below our historic highs and
operational geanng has disappointed over the past few years

Our initiatives, which are focused on improving gross margin and
constraining overheads 1o drive future operating margin expansion
as we grow, will continue throughout 2019. Our aim s to return
our operating margm to at least our previous highs.

Strategic review

Spectris has a portfolio of businesses with high-quality technalogies,
strong market positions and talented people The fundamentals

of Spectris’ core addressable markets are atlractive, with many
displaying GDF+ growth characteristics, in particular, the
pharmaceutical, automotwe, electronics/semiconductor,
metals/minerals/miming and technology-led industrial markets

Each of these end markets is witnessing significant trends that

are favourable for Spectns’ businesses.

y Pharmaceutical: Drug discovery and development is facing

a number of complex challenges More stringent expectations
around efficacy improvements, complex disease pathways
requiring more sophisticated therapies, personalised medicine
and a desire to shorten development timelines are ncreasing
requirements for more precise testing to better predict success,
ensure safety and reduce time 10 market;

Automotive: The growing proliferation of car platforms,

the shortening of platform Iifecycles and the intreduction

of new technologies (e g. electrification and autonomous
vehicles) is increasing the overall volume, complexity and

pace of change in research and development, testing

and measurernent;

s Electronics and servconductors: Electronic components are
becoming increasingly complex and advances in semicanductor
technology are enabling more chips to be embedded in

a broader range of products, requiring more sophisticated
quality control and testing equipment and techriques at the
chip fabrication level as well as at the system level (e.g full
vehicle testing, phone performance testing);
Metalsiminerals/mining” Alongside an increasing health and
safety as well as erwironmental awareness, our customers are

v
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focusing on delivering improved yields, productivty, product
quality and cost reduction in the extraction and processing
of raw and bulk materials which are fundamental to the
manufacturing mndustry; and

» Technology-led industrials The increased focus on optimising
production processes in real time, enabled by embedding more
sensors on the production line to underpin lloT and drive further
improvements to operational efficiency, is increasing demand
for smart sensors, testing hardware, contrel systems and
software solutions.

Technology-led differentiation of instrumentation hardware
continues to progress, particularly within offline applications
There remains significant room for differentiation on vanous
hardware dimensions, to provide greater precision and reliabulity
of high-quality data. Equally, opportunities exist for many of our
operating companies to expand across the technology stack,
including software and application intelligence, to provide greater
value-adding solutions for customers. Consequently, the provision
of technology-enabled solutions, based on our high-quality
instruments, deep application capability, domain expertise and
associated software and service offerings, remains at the core

of our strategy.

To deliver the full potential of the Group, it is dear that Spectris
would benefit from becoming a more focused and simplified
business. As such, waork is ongoing to identify a group of operating
companies which can deliver greater shareholder value creation,
with sales growth, margin expansion and working capital efficiency
as the key goals, underpinning growth in operating cashflow.
These principal operating businesses will include a number

of platform businesses which are scalable, aligned to attractive
high-growth markets, with the strongest capabilities and

greatest performance potential. Future capital investrnent,

and, in particular, acqusition-ted growth, will be focused

on these platform businesses.

So far, the strategic review process has identified Malvern
Panalytical, HBK and Omega, which together account for
more than 60% of Group sales and adjusted operating profit,
as businesses that have this platform potential,

The remaining portfolio is made up of a number of high-quality
operating companies. Work is underway to deterrine which

of these businesses will remain key to the Group and those where
Specins wil not be the best future owner, Cperating companies
with strong market positions, good growth prospects and margins
will receive targeted investment where we are confident that such
investment will yield a strong return. Potentially, these businesses
may becomne platforms in their own right. They will be managed
to deliver at least market growth with leading margins within their
segments The remaining businesses will be managed to aptimise
their performance under the Group's ownership and for value.
These businesses may be divested over ume and the proceeds either
re-invested in the development of the Group's platform operations
or, if attractive re-investment apportunities are not identified,
returned to shareholders.

As well as reviewing the Group's operating company portfolio,
the strategic review has also focused on capital allocation and
returns. The existing capital expenditure plans of the Group have
been reviewed 10 ensure capital 1s being invested efficiently and
eftectively to create profitable growth and value

Going forward, the Group will adopt an even more ngorous capitat
allocation approach and is in the process of establishing a new
investment framework to ensure that future spend drives stronger
economic profit growth and value creation.



Corporate development

During 2018, we made three acquisitions of businesses which
added further services and software capability to our portfoho.
Concept Life Sciences {'CLS?, which was acquired in January,
provides integrated drug discovery, development, analytical
testing and enmvironmental consultancy services, mainly in the
pharmaceutical, biotechnology. agrochemical and environmental
sectors, which complement the actwities of Malvern Panalytical
Additionally, 1t cames out development and analytical services
for the food, consumer and environmental industries. Although
performance has been below expectations due to both internal
and external factors, the outlook for outsourcing of RED remains
robust To further leverage the collaboration already started
between Malvern Panalytical and CLS, and to further drive growth
and profit improvement, CLS will become part of the Malvern
Panalytical platform

Since the merger of Malvern Instruments and Panalytical, sales of
the joint company have continued to benefit from the re-organised
sales and marketing functions and the cross-selfing of Malvern-
and Panalyhcal-branded product ines. A number of new products
have been launched this year wiich prowide our custorners with
significant unproverments in the quality and speed of the
charactensation of matenals, provide greater understanding

of material properties or help increase productivity in their
investigations, ulbmately saving them development time and cost.

Following the success of the merger which formed Maivern
Panalytical, in 2018 we decided to merge 8ruel & Kjaer Sound

& Vibration and HBM 1n our Test and Measurement segment

in 2019. This merger will bring together two leaders in precision
measurerment, creating a broader offering of high-quality
instruments and simulation and modeling software to better
defiver more integrated solutions 1o ahgn with customers’
requirements. As our customers undergo a digital transformation
of therr industries, we can deliver greater value to thern and help
them get therr products to market faster. The new joint business
has been renamed HBK (Hottinger, Briel & Kjeer) An integrated
go-to-market model for the joint sales organisation has been
established and the development of joint HBK products and
solutions has commenced

In Test and Measurement, our offering to autometive customers
has been broadened by the acquisition of Revolutionary
Engineering, Inc in the USA, which complements the existing test
capabilities of Millorook and extends its reach into North America.
Millbrook has also added further capacity and test capabihity at its
existing UK and Finnsh sites.

We ako acquired Vi-grade Group ('VI-grade’), a leading global
provider of vehide simulation software, systems and services,
primarily to automotve custormers, which complements HBK's
automotive offering and as such it will become part of the
HBK platform.

At Omega, there has been a focus on introducing newer,
faster-growing products to supplement its traditional thermocouple
business In addition, to strengthen market presence and increase
growth prospects, a new e-commerce platform is being introduced
to enhance the digital experience for customers. Thig was initially
launched in North America and will be progressively rolled out
globally dunng 2019, Omega is well-positioned to take advantage
of the continuing trend by process engineers to change the buying
processes to online purchasing Together with Omega’s existing
strong application knowledge and technical support, the new
website vwill deliver precisely-targeted digital marketing campaigns
and enhanced search engine optimisation performance, that we
fully expect will see 3 higher conversion of website traffic to sales.

Our people deliver the strategy

Great products and services are only as gocd as the people
standing behind themn. As | have travelled around Spectris,

since | started in September last year, | have continued to be
impressed by the breadth and depth of capability and talent we
have across the business. The openness, passion and enthusiasm
are ewvident in the way | have seen our people go about their work.
we will retain and promote these attributes that have driven our
success, preserving the entrepreneunal and dynamic nature of the
Group, as well as continuing te uphold our strong ethical culture
and values.

uoday nBajens

Following new leadership appointments in Lean, supply

<hain, software and digital, we are better able 1o dave further
performance enhancement across the Group, cansistent with our
renewed focus on profitable growth This will be further supported
via our talent management and organisational capability
programmes, which in 2018 have focused on senior succession

as well as the development of high potential employees.

Adter 12 years as Group Finance Director, Clive Watson has decided
to retire and will step down from the Board We are very pleased
that Derek Harding will be jcining the Board 1o succeed Chve,

as Chief Financial Officer Designate, on 1 March, before formally
becarming Chief Financial Officer following a month’s handover
Cerek bnngs a wide range of financial leadership and industrial
expertise to Spectns, having been most recently group finance
director at Shop Direct and previously Senior ple, followang

11 years in vanous finance and strategy roles at Wolseley plc.

1 would ke 1o thank Clive for his matenial contribution to
developing the Group and driving 115 success during his tenure and
personally express my gratitude for the support he has provided
since ) started, as well as wish him the best for the future

Summary and outlook

1 am pleased that our performance in 2018 was shghtly ahead of
expectations, reflecting the quality of our businesses. We were able
to build on the increased momenturm across our end markets and
delivered good LFL sales growth. We expect sales growth to
moderate in 2019, given the more cautious MAacroeconomic
outlook Consequently, we are focusing on what we ¢an control;
increasing productivity and operational efficiency, while drving
sales Cur profit improvement programme is expected to delver
benefits of £15-20 milkon during 2019, helping drive margin
expansion. With this focus on improving profitability, we anticipate
operating profit to grow ahead of sales, growing our margin in
the process

Since | joined the Group last autumn, we have taken decisive action
1o improve Spectns’ performance. This will continue through 2019
as we complete the strategic review and execute our strategy for
profitable growth, as the basis for delivering a significant and
sustainable increase in shareholder vaiue.

1 am convinced that there is significant value creation opportunity
here for our customers, shareholders and peopie 1iook forward to
setting out (N more detail the results of the review and our vision
for the Group at cur Capitat Markets Day in June 2019

Andrew Heath
Chief Executive
19 February 2019
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MARKET REVIEW

Understanding our

MARKETS

We serve a broad spectrum of hlue-chip customers across key manufacturing industnies
around the world. We are seeing a number of specific demand drivers and growth
themes across these industries, which are summarised below.

2018 LFL
End-user sales trend
market vs 2017

Demand drivers

2018 developments

kg

w

+7% °
Pharmaceuticals N
& fine chemicals

R&D investment, paruicularly in biopharmas; with
ncreasing drug complexity, more sophisticated
therapies and personalised medicine.

Rising ¢emand for healthcare and drive to
enhance quality as well as availability of latest
drugs im emerging markets.

increasing demands for regulatory compliance
and sterility assurance.

Desire to reduce developrent ume and cost

Desire to derisk drug development by outsourang

discovery and development services.

Innovation in matenals and technology together
with advanced data analytics

H

»

Continued rise i spending on global
pharmaceutical R&D.

New regulations (e g China FDA guidance

on genencs) to ensure product integrity.

New environmental/contamination monitoring
regulations in force

-

o +11%

Automotive

New product development, particularly hybrid,
electnic and connected and autonomous vehides

Increasing demand for noiseAnbrationvharshness
analysis and associated simulation and software.

Increasing regulatory compliance, especially in
relation to environmental, emissions and safety.

Desire to reduce new model time to market.

Increased investment in hybrid/Ev
development, a risa in the number of Ew/hybrid
models and EV start-up companies.

New regulations, e.g. compulsory EV targets in
China, WLTP (emissions testing) rules i the EU
Dowmiturn in global new vehicle sales but rapid
growth in EV/HEV platforms, especially China.

~

-

(«g))

Semicon,
telecoms
& electronics

+7%

Continued advances in semiconductor
manufacturing and testing technology; smaller
chips with more powerful performance.
Semniconductor investment growth driven by
nsing presence of electronic components 3cross
multiple products/applications, e.g. Al,
autonomous vehicles, digital consumer
electronics, lloT devices and infrastructure.

Rise of globat rmddle class creating demand

for parsonal telecomnsfelectronics products.

>

Record semiconductor spending on both
greenfield construction and equipment
Continued demand for faster, smaller and
higher-functiorung devices.

Fewer new telecoms product launches versus
2017 by major market participants.

» Developments in new lithium-ion

battery production

> ADAS subsystems becoming standard in cars

-

-

N

Metals, minerals
& mining

+2%

-

-

Commaodity exploration and production;
brownfield and greenfield capex projects.

Increasing analysis of matenals for more efficient
conversion of materials

Focus on safety and productivity enhancements.

Increased environmental regulatory requirements.

»

Higher commadity prices versus 2017
supporied an expansion in capex budgets.

Lower demand from China for metals.

Increased dernand for rare earths and precious
minerals, e g for battery production.

12
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QOur principal aim is to enhance our customers’
productivity, whether by shortening development,
cycles, increasing yield, improving quality and
consistency or streamlining processes.

Further commentary on our end markets can
be found within the Operating Review on
pages 18 to 25.

Sales by end-user industry (%}

Pharmaceuticals &
fine chemicals

Aerospace &
defence

Automative

Academic .
research
Semican,
telecoms &
electronics

Metals,
minerals & mirung

Energy & utilities

2018 LFL
End-user sales trend
market vs 2017 Demand drivers 2018 developments
» Commodity expioration and production. » Higher il pnce versus 2017 supported
brownfield and greenfield capex projects an expansion I capex budgets
» Focus on safety, productvity and » S oil production at record levels
environmental issues » Climate change reduction intiatives led to rise
> Investment in unconventionaisfrenawables. n investment in renewable technologies
+ Life cycle enhancements in rotating machinery
-+ 6 % drive demand for predictive maintenance
Energy & utilities
s Shift to digital medha impacting demand + Overall growing global market for pulp.
R for coated (graphic) paper. » increased demand for process solutions for
» Grawth in consumption of tissue and other automation and real-ime process monitoring
+3 % hygiene products. » Changing mix in our portfolio from graphic
Pul or » Expansion in online shopping drving paper to tissue, pulp, packaging.
P, Pap packaging demand.
& tissue
» Government funding. » Better funding backdrop.
s Policies to promote technology and innovation 3 New government initiatwes, e.g in China
+ Balance of R&D undertaken in-house versus to develop technology and pharmaceutical
outsourced to umversities/research centres. industies, i Japan increased spending on
1 3 O/ science and technology.
+ o v Increased focus on research in higher
Academic education, e.g China
research

New product development.

» Lower investment and fewer new products/
large projects than in prior years.

n Asta.

» Increased demand for engineenng software
5 % » Regulation, safety, environmental issues. » Commercial seraspace industry growth

Aerospace
& defence

~

High-value asset monitoring
Desire to reduce time to market and cost

Spectris pic 13
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STRATEGY

Our evolving

STRATEGY

Our strategy

Strategic priorities

Description

QOur strategy has continued to evolve
from being a supplier of hardware
products towards the provision

of sclutions to our customers —

a combination of our high-quality
instruments alongside associated
software and/or services.

Excellence

In Novemnber, a strategic review was
initiated by our new Chief Executive
to explore the potential to reduce
complexity and establish a more
focused organisation. The initial
findings of that review are set out
in the Chief Executive’s Review on
pages 8 to 11 and further apprasal
work will continue during 2019.
We will report our progress on this
at our Capital Markets Day in June
and in the 2019 Annual Report

and Accounts

For 2018, we have continued to
report our progress and our key
performance indicators ('KPIs’)
against the strategic priorties detailed
opposite as they are the ones relevant
to our performance in the year.

14 Annual Repont and Accounts 2018

Focus on innovative
customer solutions

5

As customer requirements evolve, so too
does the offering that Spectris prowides to
them Our long-term customer relationships
and technical know-how mean we can
enhance our offenng to them, whether that
involves the supply of improved equipment
or a packaged solution combining hardware,
software and/or services

Increase presence
in key strategic
markets

17

We build leadership positions m attractive
markets where we believe there are cpportunities
for technclogy-led productimity enhancement.
These markets currently indude segments

within the life scences and pharmaceuticals,
automotive, electronics and semiconducior,
metals/minerais/mining and technology-ted
industnals sectors, but we also review and
actively pursue opportunities in new markets

Expand business
globally

)

In response to a customer base that is extending
its nternational operations and becoming
increasingly sophisticated, we seek to expand our
business glob.lly, with emphasis on markets such
as Asia, particularly China.

Accelerate operational
excellence

G

We strive for continuous iImproverment in all
aspects of our business operations, both to
enhance customer expenence and to generate
efficiency and productmty gains. !n addition,

we seek to improve performance and profitability
by driving synergistic opportunities within and
between our operating cormpanies, and across
the Group as a whole

Deploy capital
for both platform
and bolt-on M&A

©

We acquire businesses which matenally
strengthen our operating companies through
broadening their customer offering, reaching
new customer segments or expanding their
geographical presence. These are typically
bolt-on in nature, i e. integrated into one of our
operating companies In addition, we nvest in
new platform or stand-alone businesses in order
to establish a presence in strategic markets or
complementary capabidities.

Project Uplift

Praject Upiift was our productivity enhancement
programme which was seeing increased
collaboration and common processes being
adopted across the Group to simphfy the
business, increase effiaency and productivity and
drive continuous improverment and growth.
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Progress in 2018 Our KPIs
> {nvested £103.4 million in R&D (6% of sales). Spectris Advance, showcasing our lloT
» New product launches' Malvern Panalytical’s capabilities in specific end markets,
e n P ° LFL safes growth

-

particle charactensation products - the
Zetasizer Litra/Pro systems and Morphologi
static imaging systems; PMS" Quality
Assurance data management systern and
new software products from BKSV and HBM.
Merger of BKSV and HBM to better deliver
integrated data solutions to our customers.
Launch of our digital sclutions brand,

-

combining our INstrumentation, connectivity
and analytics expertise to provide more
cross-group solutions.

Acguisition of Concept Life Sciences whose
activities in integrated drug discovery,
development and analytical testing
complement our existing instrumentation.

-

-

Acquisition of Concept Life Sciences,
which provides integrated drug discovery,
development and analytical testing in

the pharma and biotechnology sectors
which complement the activities of
Malvern Panalytrcal

Acquisition of Revolutionary Engineenng,
an automotive test system and service
provider in the USA, specialising in driveline
test services and solutions, Revolutionary
Engineering has been integrated into

Millbrook, expanding both Milibrook’s
offering to customers and presence in North
America, a key growth market, Miflbrook
also expanded its autemotive testing service
capacity and capability at both its Finland
and UK sites

Acquisition of Vi-grade, a leading global
provider of vehicle simulation software,
systems and services which complements the
software and simulaton capabiity of the
automotive segment within MBK.

-

-

Delivered strong LFL sales growth in Asia
(+10%), particularly in China and in India.
Acquisition of Revolutionary Engineering adds
US-based automotive testing and services

w

v

Merger of BKSV and HBM to deliver
integrated test, measurerment and data
solutions to our customers and improve

cost efficiencies

Focus on Lean manufacturing initiatves with
Kaizen events held across cur businesses to
improve on-time delivery, quality and
operational efficiency.

w

taunched new prefit improvement
programme to deliver enhanced operational
geanng from 2019

-

Acquisition of Concept Life Sciences,

which prowides integrated drug discovery,
development, analytical testing and
environmental consultancy services, as well as
development and analytical services for the
food, consumer and environmental industries.

Acquistition of Revolutionary Engineering and
Vi-grade expands automotive offering with

a US presence and in softwate simulation,
respeciively.

-

w

Project Uplift programme tnitiatives resulted in
gross recurring savings of £17.3 mitlion baing
realised during 2018, an annualised run-rate
of £21 mullion and on track 1o at least meet
the £25 milhon total in 2019

Group-wide direct and indrect procurement
contracts signed, such as freight prowvision,

2

to harmonise activities and leverage the
Group scale to enhance terms

Completed study on shared service centre
project for Phase 2 and took decision not to
proceed, given the cost of iImptementation
versus the speed of returns,

+5%

Adjusted operating
margin

15.5%

Adjusted earnings
per share growth

+7%

Cash conversion

59%

Economic profit

£196.8m

Energy efficiency
per £m revenue

66.5MWh

Reportable acaudents
per 1,000 employees

2.9

m See pages 16 1o 17
for more information
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Measuring our

PERFORMANCE

We monitor progress against the delivery of our
strategic goals using five financial and two
non-financial key performance indicators ('KPIs’).
Each KP! measures certain elements of the strategy,
as indicated by the relevant strategy icons

(see page 14). An element of Executive Directors’
remuneration is linked to two KPIs: adjusted
earnings per share growth and economic profit.

A number of the KPls are adjusted operating metrics as we believe
these are the primary indicator of the performance of the business
as they exclude foreign exchange movements and the impact

of acquisitions and disposals. See Note 2 to the Financial
Staternents, page 105, for a reconaliation between adjusted

and statutory items.

Our strateqy focuses on profitable growth that is sustainable over
the medium to iong term and therefore we show the KPIs for the
last five years Even in years where hke-for-iike sales growth has
been low, the Group has maintained an adjusted operating margin
in the mid-teens and delivered good cash conversion of operating
profit. The Group has also generated good economic profit
throughout the period.

As we undergo the strategic review, we will be reassessing our KPis

to ensure they remain the best metrics 1o monitor our performance.

Adjusted operating margin

Financial measures

®DO®®

Adjusted operating margin is

a measure of iImproving
profitability in our business and
15 defined as adjusted operabng
profit as a percentage of

sales. Adjusted operating

profit excludes certain items.

Adjusted operating
margin (%)

Performance

Adjusted operating margin

was 15 5%, a decrease of 0.2pp
over the prior year. On a LFL
basis, adjusted operating margins
improved by 0.3pp, reflecting

a Q.1pp LFL gross margin increase
combined with a 0.2pp decrease
in LFL overhead costs as

a percentage of sales

Objective

Our aim is to achieve
a rmg-teens adjusted
operating margin, as a
MminImum, on average
throughout the cycle.

]

m See paqes 26-30 for
more nformation

Like-for-like sales growth

Adjusted earnings per share growth

®D@®

LFL sales growth is 2 measure
of how our R&D and other
investments help to grow
our business organically,

1.e. excluding the effects

of currency translation and
acquisitions or dwestments.

LFL sales growth (%)

Perfarmance

Sales were £1,604 2 milhon

in 2018, a 5% increase on a

LFL basis compared with 2Q17.
LFL sales increased across all four
segments, with particularly strong
growth in Materials Analysis,

All regions posted LFL sales
growth, with a notably strang
performance in Asia.

Objective

Qur aim 15 to achieve
year-on-year growth
n LFL sales

m See pages 26-30 for
move information

16 Annual Report and Accounts 2018

BO®®

Adjusied earnings per share
{'EPS'} 15 the ratio of agjusted
earnings for the year to the
weighted average number

of ordinary shares outstanding
dunng the year, excluding
certain items

Growth in adjusted
EPS (%)

Performance

Adjusted EPS increased 7% to
164.9p, reflecung a 3% rise

in adjusted profit before tax,

a lower effective tax rate and a
decrease in the weighted average
number of shares following the
share buyback programme.

Objective
Qur aim is to achieve
year-on-year growth

Link to remuneration in adjusted EFS.

EPS performance is one of the
criteria for the Performance

Share Plan award See page 75 m See pages 26-30 for
for more infermation. miore informabon




Strategic priorities:
Intovative solutions
Operabona) excefience Capital deployment

Expanding gicbally

voday 26a1eng

Non-financial measures

Cash conversion Energy efficiency
Cash conversion (%) @ MWh per £m revenue
We use cash conversion as a KPI Energy efficency makes a

as we believe cash represents an
effective measure of the quality
of our earnings. Cash corversion
is defined as adjusteg operating
cash flow as a percentage of
adjusted operating profit.

Performance

Cash conversion was $9%, down
from 77% in 2017 This was due
1o an increase in growth capital
expenditure and higher working
capital outflows.

Objective

Cur aim is to dehver high
cash conversion of operaung
profit in each financial year

m See pages 26-30 for
more informabiun

significant contribution to
environmental sustainability
and helps us to reduce our
operating costs

Performance

Energy efficiency, measured in
MWh per £m revenue, was 66 5
n 2018, This represents an
improvemnent of 1% compared
with the prior year.

Objective £ aim of reduang our carbon
We Hor our use of key emissions and improving
sources of energy {electricity,

ff
gas, oil and steam} with the energy ethciency

See page 42 for
m fhore mformaton

Economic profit

Accident incidence rate

Economic profit is the annual
result derived from deducting a
capital charge {applied o average
capital employed) from adjusted
operating profit, after Project
Uplift costs, aggregated over

a three-year penod.

Three-year aggregate
economic profit (Em)

Performance

Three-year aggregated economic

profit was £196.8 million,

representing an increase

on the prior year.

Objective

Our aim is to mantain

3 positive result over the
threg-year period

Link to remuneration
Economic profit is one of the
critena for the Performance
Share Plan award. See page 75
for more information

m See page 75 for
mare information

Reportable accidents

per 1,000 employees

We are committed to ensuring
the health, safety and wellbeing
of our people and monitor how
we are performing by measuring
work-related scadents or ill
health resulting in lost time in
excess of one day {years prior

to 2017, three days).

Performance

There were 2.9 reportable
accidents per 1,000 empioyees
In 2018, This 15 3 significant
improvement over prior years,
followsng an increased focus
on health and safety across
the Group

Objective

Qur aim is to reduce
accidents and injuries at
our sites to as low a level
as reasonably practical

m See page 42 for
more information

Spectris plc 17



OPERATING REVIEW

MATERIAL

Analysis

Sales increased 16%, reflecting an 8% ncrease in LFL sales,

a 10% contnbution from acquisitions and a 2% negative impact
from foreign currency exchange movements Sales growth for the
year was driven by strong demand in Asia, particulary in China,
Seuth Korea and India, with a notably stronger performance in the
second half. In North America and Europe, LFL sales were also up,
with particularly strong first half performances in both regions.

On a LFL basis, adjusted operating profit increased 11% and
adjusted operating margins increased by 0 4pp. reflecting the
higher LFL sales, some mix effects and good overhead cost
control. The 1.2pp decline in adjusted operating margin reflected
the dilutive impact of the acquisition of Concept Life Sciences in
the year Statutory operatng profit increased 5% to £72 1 mulhon.

Sales at Malvern Panalytical have continued to benefit from the
re-organised sales and marketing functions following the merger
and are being aligned with three market sectors’ advanced
materials, pharma and food, and raw and butk matenals. Alongside
a key account structure, these are focused on value-based seffing

in order to benefit our customers and create differentiation from
the competition We have continued to generate orders from
cross-sedling the Malvern- and Panalytical-branded product lines,
with incremental sales into various universities and industrial
customers recognising the benefits of the combined businesses.

Several new products were launched by Malvern Panalytical in
the year. These included the Epsiton 4 XRF spectrometer, a new
high-performance benchtop analytical too! for determining the
chemical composition of different matenals. It is applicable to
industries such as Mining, pharmaceuticals and oilsfuets which
need te comply with intemational regulations and test methods.
A third generation Emnpyrean X-ray diffractometer with the
newly-developed MutiCore Optics was introduced. it aims at
ncreasing productvity in around-the-dlock mvestigations and
offers unprecedented wraceability of expenments in regulated
environments. for example, leading elecironics companies

have been selecting Empyrean for optimising the performance
of lithium-ion batteries.

Also launched were the Zetasizer Ultra and Pro systems, which
deliver significant improvements in the quality and speed of the
characterisation of nanomaterials and proteins. New capabilities,
including the use of machine learning technigues, significantly
shorten sample preparation and measurement times, whilst
providing more stable and refiable results

And lastly, the new Morphologi range of automated static imaging
systems for particle characterisation is designed to provide deeper
understanding of pracess and/or matenal propertes, for example

in pharmaceuticals and battery matetials. The system’s capability

in delivering precise particle characierisation data enables complex
genenc drug manufacturers to gain faster regulatory approval using
lab-based assessments instead of relying on complex dlinical studies.

Particle Measuring Systems ('PMS'} benefited from growth in the
sermiconductor ingustry as well as comtinued good demand for both
its contarmination Monitoring hardware and high-level consulting
senvices into the pharma industry Demand for these servigas is
motvated by regulatory compliance, which is becoming more
stringent, and PMS 15 welt positioned in a growing market for
aseplic processing and sterility assurance, In this context, PMS
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released the next generation of FaalityPro products which deliver
enhanced flexibility to meet the latest environmental monitoring
needs whilst ensuring data security and reliability Following the
estabhshment of a global partnership with Novatek International
in 2017 to provide a fully-integrated software and hardware
solutien for environmental monitoring, PMS taunched the first
fully-integrated Quality Assurance data management system for
pharmaceutical manufacturers, Pharmalntegrity, to securely meet
regulatory requirements and ensure product integnty. This uniguely
offers our customers a complete solution package, with advisory
seruices, particle and ricrobial monitors, cleanroom monitaring
systems, traning and education, and datz management

Performance at Concept Life Sciences {'CLS) was below
expectations due (0 a range of factors including a reduction

n project work from two major chents, delays in gaining new
laboratory and manufacturing accreditations (GLP and GMPF),

as weli as a period of sub-optimal performance at one of its
analytical laboratories. These internal issues largely reflecied the
state of the business on acquisition, which was in the process

of integrating previcus acquisitions into two divisions, as well as
distraction and disruption caused to the commercial organisation
triggered by the acquisition. Remedial action 1o improve aperational
effectiveness is already having an impact; the preparatory work for
the manufacturing accreditations has progressed well and the
funnel of opportunities across the business has developed strongly.
Management believes that the end markets for CLS are still very
strong as customers continue to look to outsource analytical
services and pharmaceutical developrment work. With a simiiar
end-market fogus to Malvern Panalytical, the two companies

have been marketing collaboratively and, for example, a recent
significant project was awarded to CLS a$ it could access Malvern
Panalytical’s Morphologr 4-10 partice characterisation system and
offer a unique solution to a key client.

Sales to the pharmaceuticais and fine chemicals industries rose
notably on a LFL hasis, with North America seeing particularly
strong growth. LFL sales also increased in Europe and Asia, with
growth in the 1atter driven by strong demand in Ching and India
as nising disposable incomes in these countries bring increased

Bringing new products to market faster

Sprint Bioscience, a Swedish pharmaceutical company,

is performing ground-breaking werk in immuno-oncology,
the study and development of treatments far cancer that
take advantage of the body's own immune system. Two of
Malvern Panalytical's MicroCal biophysical charactersation
systemns have played direct roles in Sprint Bioscience's
development of new drugs to target a spedific enzyme
wwolved in the growth and progression of human cancers.
The instruments were used to confirm that the therapeutic
molecules were stable and soluble and that they bound to
their target correctly

Rapid delivery of reliable data has accelerated the
pragramme, which is currently in toxicology studies prior
to selection of a clinical candidate and has demonstrated
efficacy in several different cancer models.




demand for effective healthcare This has led to greater
investment in generic pharmaceutical development and
manufactuning n both regions. Significant cross-selling
opportunities have been realised within the value chain

for traditional oral solid dose products, where Malvem
Panalytical's morphology and structural analysis solutions
provide insight into drug product bioavailability and stability

The metals, minerals and mining sector saw an increase

in LFL sales, with North America and Europe broadly flat and
growth in other regions. The ymproved investment climate has
seen an increase in market activity as well as a focus on safety
and productivity. The sector has focused on delivering improved
yields, productivity, product quality and cost minimisation in
the extraction and processing of raw matenals fundamental
to the manufacturing industry, and Maivern Panalyticat
instruments are Critical in delivering these improvements

After a notably weak 2017, sales 1o academic research
customers were much improved in 2018, with good LFL
growth across all key regions. The year started slowdy but
improved notably in the second half with a significant

pick-up in demand in North America and Asia as improving
economic conditions and increased government funding led to
greater market activity. In China, for example, the government
has a number of initiatives and investments underway to help
develop the country’s technology and pharmaceutical
industries and establish world-class universities. In Narth
Amenca, LFL sales benefited from an increase in universities’
internal funding and cur improving win-rate.

Sales to the semiconductor and electronics industries
recorded another year of good LFL growth in 2018, particularly
In Asia where we have seen strong demand from battery and
electronics custorners in China, Taiwan and Korea as Asian
demand for consumer electronics and HoT applications has
increased Semiconductar capital spending continues to nse

as new fabrication plants (‘fabs’) are developed, aithough we
have seen a slower pace of growth in 2018, Notable customer
wins in this area include a well-known semiconductor
manufacturer and world-leading memory supplier, who have
instatled multiple UDI-20 units, an extremely sensitive hiquid
particle counter, in thewr new fabs. In addition, one of the
world's most advanced foundries has just built a leading-edge
chip fadlity in which PMS particte counters have been installed.

Segment outlook

in the pharmaceutical sector, the global growth in disposable
incomes and consequent demand for effective healthcare has
resulted in sustained investment in R&D and we expect this
trend 1o continue. Alongside this, an increasing awareness of
tosal lifecydle cost 15 pushing customers to reduce both
development costs and time to market for new products,
underpinning an increased need for new solutions and
services Increasing regulatory compliance and sterility
assurance for drug manufacturing processes will also

continue to drive growth of our hardware and serices,

We expect the steady growth in the mining and materials
sector to continue, where our focus 15 on customers involved
in the research, development and manufacturing of novel
materials and complex systems and devices.

with its dependence on government funding, we expect
growth in the academic research market to be variable,
although demand in Asia is benefiting from a number

of goverament initiatives

Within the semiconductor industry, after another year
of strong dernand, we expect the pace of sermiconductor
investrnent to be at more muted rates than in 2018

Segment performance

Sales

£541.1m

(2017 £464.9m)

Adjusted operating
profit

£95.4m

(2017. £87.3m)

Statutory operating
profit

£72.1m

(2017: £68.6m)

Sales by destination (%)

Sales by end-user market (%)
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OPERATING REVIEW continued

Test and

MEASUREMENT

Sales increased 7%, including a 2% contribution from acquisitions,
net of disposals, and 8 1% negative impact from foreign currency
exchange movements. LFL sales increased by 6%. By region,

North Amenca, Europe and Asia all delivered similar levels of LFL
sales growth, with the UK, China and Japan being the key countries
posting higher growth.

Adiusted operating profit decreased 3% on a LFL basis and LFL
operating margins decreased by 2.0pp. This reflected the higher
LFL sales volumes, in particular at ESG and Milibrook which

are lower gross margin businesses, plus higher overheads.

The overheads increase resulted from HBK-related merger costs,
higher ernployee costs {reflecting an increase in headcount and
higher than expected wage inflation), as well as higher depreciation
at Millorook. Statutory operating profit decreased to £42 8 miflion
from the £55.6 million racorded in 2017. At the end of May, we
cornpleted the disposal of the EMS Briel & Kjaer environmental
monitoring business into a joint venture with Macquarie Capital.

During 2018, preparatory work continued ahead of the merger

of Briiel & Kjzer Sound & Vibration ('BKSV'} and HBM, the two
largest operating companies within this segment The businesses
are being combined in Order to leverage the strengths and
complementary expertise across the measurement chain to enhance
our customer proposition and the joint company is being renamed
HBK (Hottinger, Briel & Kjzer). An integrated go-to-market model
for the joint sales organisation has been established and the
development of joint HBK products and solutions has commenced
During 2018, both companies launched new software products
which aim to streamline and simplify data acquisition and
monitoring: HBM has launched EVIDAS, its next-generation data
acquisition and analysis software with cloud integration, and BKSV
reteased BK Connect, a highly innovative sound and vibration
software analytics platform which has already received strong
customer feedback and generated a robust funnel of opportunities,
These platforms help integrate seamiess data acquisition,
monitoring, multiple analysis, data viewing and reporting in the
same system. HBM also launched ClipX, a novel mmatunsed data
acquisition product for industrial applications.

Overall sales growth has been held back in 2018 by supply
shortages and constraints at HBM, by internal staffing issues at
BKSV which have now been resolved, and by some interruption
from pre-rmerger related activity. However, orders for their
traditional hardware products have remained strong, particularly for
BKSV's shaker business and for HBM's core torque, Joad sensor/cell
and strain applications and data acquisition products. For example,
OEM sensors have seen significant growth, both with existing and
new customers, in applications iike agriculture, medical devices,
textile machines and spectrometry devices. HBM's DAQ instrument
business has grown significantly, a notable order being from iTER
for their experimental fusion reactor project Going forward, we see
a sohd pipeline of opportunities far ground vehicles and aircraft

At Millbrook, we continued to expand our testing capacity and
capability. We increased our capacity for testing advanced driver
assistance systems and connected and autonomous vehicle ('CAVY)
technologies via modifications to existing track infrastructure plus
investment n high-precision instrumentation and soft targets that
allow contact wathout damage. A new battery test facility started
up in January 2019 and all 12 chambers will become cperational
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throughout the first half of 2019 The refurbishment of the
tull-scale crash lzboratory has increased efficiency and enabled
additional tests to be offered. At Test World in Finland, additiona!
indoor tyre testing capacity has come inte commercial use
successively through the year. The acquisition of Revolutionary
Engineenng, Inc (now Miilbrock RE) in Detrort, USA, in Aprit extended
our position into a new region, market and services offering and we
have seen good demand for its services since acquisition,

In August, we acquired Vi-grade, a leading global provider

of vehicle smulation software, systems and services, primanly to
automotve customers, which complements our existing hardware
and sewvices offering into this sector Vi-grade helps chents shorten
development cydes, enhance innovation and decrease risk by
providing real-time virtual prototype sirmulation capabilities
Performance since acquisibon has been in ine with expectations
and Vi-grade will be callaborating with other operating companies
to expand our solutions for our automotive customers,

Within the automotive sector, LFL sales grew strongly duning

the year with the UK, China and Japan being the main contributors
1o the growth. Growth reflects robust demand for electric and
hybnd vehicles globally and policy changes in certain markets such
as China {compulsory EV 1argets for vehicle manufacturers) and
Europe {emissions testing for new cars). We also had anather year
of strong growth in our eDrve applications.

In machine manufacturing, a significant portion of which
represents sales into the automotive supply chain, LFL sales rose
year-on-year in the two key regions, Europe and Asia The two
main markets, Germany and China, both saw good growth with
a continued increase in exports from Germany Sales of our
weighing sensors benefited from strong machine maker demand
globally and customer wins

in the aerospace and defence sector, LFL sales declined in all
reqions, though this 1s typically a project business and sales can be
lumpy. In addition, 2017 was a tough comparator due to a sizeable
one-off order and we have seen some projects being delayed by
custamers into 2019 However, we continue to see good R&D

Improving quality and safety

volvo Car Corporation invests a significant amount of time
and cost improving the driving expenence of its cars. The
company has installed vi-grade’s dynamic driving simulatar,
DiM 150, to fine tune the next generation of velidles nght
from the start of the development process. The DiM platform
enables Volvo to undertake simulation models using human
test dnvers 1o test and optimise the handling and ride
behaviour of new vehcles in a realistic environment,

as well as to test new algonthms for active safety systems.

The simulator is used in conjunction with Brie! & Kjaer
Sound & Vibration's SimSound software, which enables
highly authentic and dynamic vehicle sound simufation to
be generated. Using the simulator early in the new vehicle
development process has helped Volvo imprave the
performance of new cars and reduced development

time and cost.




investrnent in the industry and have been buiiding our pipeline
of opportunities, for example within hul! vibration menitoring
systems for naval applications. Our key account programme

has delivered new sales opportunities with a number of Segment performance
notable contracts signed. For example, we have been working :

with Mitsubishi Regional Jet on Japan’s first commerdial jet lﬂ

aircraft during its certification phase to ensure exterior take-off

and landing noise meets requirements. BKSV's array acoustic Sales

products were utilsed to perfarm noise source dentfication
to help rdentify areas of the aircraft that need continued £ 522 6 m
analysis or further design enhancements. In addition, HBM has .

secured various projects for tests of electnc arcraft. (2017 £487.3m)

LFL sales to our consumer electronics and telecoms
customers were slightly higher in 2018, with growth this year
tower than in prior years, primantly reflecting fewer new
product launches by custormners. Sales of our high-frequency

head and tarso sim.ulator, which was launched in 2017 and Adjusted operating
is designed for in-situ electro-acoustics tests on smartphones, profit

headsets and microphones, have been above expectations,

particularly into consumer electronics companies, and we have

a strong pipeline, Underlying demand for our electro-acoustics £ 67 . 2 l Y '
products is still good as manufacturers stive to deliver the (2017: £74 2m)

higher sound quality that customers now demand from their
mabile devices and speakers.

LFL sales into academic research institutes were flat
year-on-year, with |ower sales in Europe and Narth America.

LFL sales ware strong in Asia driven by very good growth in Statutory operating
China, reflecting the increased government funding and profit

continuing investment to move China towards being a

technology- rather than manufacturning-driven economy. £42 . 8m
Improved ¢onditions in oil and gas and mining markets (2017: £55.6m)

continued into 2018 and LFL sales growth was again strong,
particularly in North America. A rising rig count and the launch
of new ot and gas and mining projects saw demand for ESG's
microsetsmic monitonng solutions increase notabdy. In
particular, we saw a higher level of activity for our downhole Sales by destination (%)
hydraulic fracture mapping and menitoring activities Sales of

our new microseismic data acquisition, processing and analysss

product, FRACMAP Clarity, which was launched during the

year, have been very good as it brings greater insight for our

ol and gas customers on the productive fracture network

resulting fram well completion operations. This enables more

strategic well planning, better stage placement and reservoir

coverage and an improved estimate of recoverable resource.

Segment outiook

As the development of electnic and hybrid vehiles continues

to grow rapidly, and stricter emissions testing, battery

development and the growth of CAV continue apace, we

expect the demand n the automotive sector to continue 1o

grow, especially driven by the associated R&D. New capacity

coming onstream at Millbroak will also enable us ta better Sales by end-user market (%)
access these high-growth sectors

in aerospace, overall demand will be driven by new
development programmes and while our pipeline remains
strong, the ability to convert these into orders will be key.

The underlying trends in the consumer electronics and
telecoms market remain healthy in our view, with continued
consumer demand for smartphones with high-quality audic
and innovatjve features The prevalence of new product
launches will help drive demand for cur applications.

Market condinions in the oil and gas industry are harder

to predict, with continued volatility in ol and gas prices
However, our new product offenngs continue to position
us strongly with increased instrument capability and analytic
solutions in the micro-seismic segment.
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OPERATING REVIEW continued

In-line

INSTRUMENTATION

Sales were broadly flat year-on-year, with a LFL sales increase

of 1% Servomex and BTG performed well, with sales at NDC
Technologies {NDCT') coniracting and Briie! & Kjzer Vibro having
a tough comparison against high one-off sales in 2017. A 1%
negative impact from foreign curency exchange movements
was compensated by a 1% contribution from acquisitions. On a
regional basis, LFL sales rose strangly in Asia, particularty in China,
but this was mostly offset by the lower LFL sales recorded in
North America and Europe.

LFL adjusted operating profit increased 17% and LFL adjusted
cperating margins increased 1.8pp year-on-year. This resulted
from higher gross margins at BTG and Servomex, the segment’s
larger two operating companies, plus lower overheads year-on-
year, with the 2017 results reflecting certain one-off restructuring
costs which were not repeated this year There was also a fise in
statutary operating profit, from £29.5 mithon to £32 2 million.

in the pulp and paper markets, LFL sales increased compared with
2017, wath similar growth in all the key regions and notably strong
growth in China driven by rabust capital project activity. BTG's
Process Solutions business unit, established in 2017, has continued
to gather momentum with several customers placing orders for
integrated solutions Orders were placed in the Americas and
Europe for pulping solutions, inclueding instrumentation and MACS
advanced process control content. These solutions are designed to
deliver sustainable gains in business performance for our customers,
including cost savings and productivity enhancements. Solutions
tailored to drive gains in efficiency continue to be aligned with
many of the projects that the pulp and paper industry is seeking,
including a more widespread use of automation and real-time
monitoring of process conditions.

The Capstone dataPARC analytics offering also continues to be
deployed in several process industries, including power generation,
chemical, wastewater angd ethanol. As an example, a leading
Korean utility company s raplacing their existing data historian with
dataPARC across all their generation sites, as described n the case
study below.

In the energy and utilities market, LFL sales rose, with notably
strong growth in Asia mare than offsetting lower LFL sales in

Morth America and Europe, with the higher year-on-year oil

price supporting steady project investment in both upstream and
downstrearn projects. In addition, waste-to-energy projects in the
Amencas and combustion control in pawer plants in Asia continued
to drive opportunities.

With our strengthened sales and marketing organisation at
ServomeX, we have continued to capitalise on this improved
backdrop in the industrial gas and hydrocarbon processing sectars
and benefited from sales of new products launched in recent years,
where we have seen substantial growth 1n orders. For exampile, we
have had notable sales of our Laser 3 Plus, particularly to the Asian
power secior as well as for hydrocarbon processing in both Europe
and the Amencas. Since their launch last year, the new MonoExact
and MultiExact gas analysers have been experiencing significant
growth, with sales to major industrial gas companies globally,

ang sales of the newly-launched 4900 Multigas are aiready notably
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above target. These products measure multiple gases, which further
optirmises processes, wnproves product yelds, ensures high product
quality and helps meet regulatory and safety requirements for our
custormners. Gas monitoring applications are equally in demand in
other indusines outside of energy, for example, sales of our
analysers into the semiconductor market, to ensure gas purity
during the manufacturing process, have been buoyant as actwity
here remains strong We had a notable order in the year from

a mayer player in advanced semiconductor technology to deliver
135 analysers for their new semuconductor fabneation faciity

in South Korea

In the wind energy sector, althcugh the market continues to see
growth, we have seen lower LFL sales at Briiel & Kjzer Vibro due
to a tough camparator in 2017 when we had exceptionally high
sales to wind turbine manufacturer Vestas. Dunng the year,

we delivered aur 20,000th wind turbine condition monitoring
systern and have further expanded the number of wind farm
owners and operators 10 whom we provide remote turbine
monitoring and diagnostic services, Dunng the year, we launched
our new state-of-the-art condition monitoring unit, DDAU3, that is
set to provide further opporturities in 2019 and beyond. Early sales
included the selection as a preferred condition monitoring systerm
supplier with a large wind turbine manufacturer based in China
for both the DDAU3 hardware as well as our remote monitoring
services for one of their LatArm wind farms for a multi-year period.
New and existing customners are also showing keen interest in our
new third-generation product.

Al NDCT, LFL sales to web and converting industries were
down notably across all key regions. in the film extrusion and
converting segment, we have seen demand softness in all

regions, in particular in the Americas where we have seen fewer
upgrades compared with last year, driven by industry consolidation
and customers delaying prejects to focus on consolidating
production lines

An important development and apportunity has been our work on
lithium-ion batteries and NDCT continues to progress actwities to
further penetrate this market. it has developed a new generation
of sensor products far the continuous measurément and INSpection
of the lithwm-ion battery electrode manufactuning process. Its new
Photon Sensor provides a new level of performance in coat weight

Improving operational efficiency

A leading Korean unlity company is using BTG's
dataPARC software across all their generation sites,
creating a central monitoring and prognos:s centre at
their head office and a common visualisation platform
at their sites. The real-time data and information
gathered through dataPARC is also integrated with
the customer’s predictive modelling nfrastructure

The customer now has the ability 1o monitor thewr
operations centrally, contributing to greater efficiency.




measurement accuracy and fine detail of the coating
flatness and its new micro-caliper thickness sensor enables
manufacturers to get a true picture of product quahty,
enabling thern to make improvements to therr production
processes. We had a notable order with a battery
manufacturer in Taiwan and are currently working an
projects with American, Chinese, Japanese and Thal battery
manufacturers. In the food and bulk materials segment,
manufacturers continued 1o seek higher performing
measurement solutions to meet more stnngent food safety
and consumer requirements. For example, in 2018, NDCT's
Infralab product introduced a degree of roast measurement
that allows coffee manufacturers to perform moisture and
degree of roast measurements at a single station.

Segment outiook

We continue to drive the mix shift in our pulp and paper
business to be less dependent on graphic paper, a long-term
declining market, into the higher growth areas of ussue,
packaging and pulp markets. Tissue growth 1 driven by
ncreasing consumer penetration in emerging markets and
packaging from the nse in online shopping. We also eapect
10 continue 1o capture new opportunities with our Process
Solutions business, including reliability services

The market envirorument in global oil and gas markets is
difficult to predict, given current contrary macroeconomic
signals However, in the wind energy sector, mnvestment

15 expected (o Continue 1o grow and we continue to look at
expanding our offering into new wind farm owners and

aperators as well as OEMs. in the medium term, there remains

the potential for additional capabilities beyond vibration to
encompass other condition monitoring technologies in order
to provide more predictive analysis and a more holistic
monitoring solution,

The demand softness we have seen in the film extrusion
and converting segment is hikely to persist into 2019 and we
will continue to lock at cost contanment measures 10 offset
this, as well as focus on key areas of growth such as the
lithium-1on battery market. in the food and bulk materials
market, activity 1s expected to remain robust. Cver the
medium term, we believe opportunities across these markets
are expected to increase as customers develop new products
which require advanced in-line measurernent solutions.

Segment performance

Sales

£312.2m

(2017: £310 Om)

Adjusted operating
profit

£42.6m

(2017. £36.0m)

Statutory operating
profit

£32.2m

(2017: £29 5m)

Sales by destination (%)

Sales by end-user market (%)
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OPERATING REVIEW continued

INDUSTRIA

Controls

LFL sales increased by 3%, there was a negative impact of 3% from
foreign curency exchange movements and 13% from the disposal
of Microscan, resulting In sales being 13% lower year-on-year,

This segment has 3 high exposure to North America (74%), where
we recorded soli sates growth. Asia recorded good growth in LFL
sales, particularly at Omega. In Europe, overall segment sales were
lower on a LFL bagis due to a tough comparative from good project
sales in 2017.

Adjusted operatng profit {LFL} increased by 19% and LFL operating
margins improved by 2.6pp, following the continued improvernent
in gross margin at Omega, from both efficiency improvements and
pricing, and at Red Lion Controls {'Red Lion‘). The results reflect
reorganisation costs of £0.7 million at Omega (2017. £2.1 million).
Statutory operating profit increased to £29.3 million,

from £28 7 millian.

LFL sales growth was good in Asia, dnven in particular by demand
from the Chinese market, In Europe, LFL sales for both companies
were lower, with Omega reflecting a tough comparator given the
srong project work in 2017. The better year-on-year results reflect
the impact of higher LFL sales and the continuing operational
improvernents at Omega and, bkewise, improvement at Red Lion
was primarily driven by operational improvements, coupled with
solid growth In ity main market of North Amenca.

Operational perfarmance improved at Omega, with both higher
gross margins and operating margins. This has been achieved by a
continued focus on Lean operations, tighter mventory management
plus footprint rationalisation by consolidating its global distribution
centres. During 2018, Omega has expenenced some product
availability and lead time issues, impacted primarily by the tight US
labour market as well as raw material availability. Omega’s focused
operational improvernent initiatives should help further on this front
going into 2019

in addition, Omega has been focusing on introducing newer,
faster-growing products to offset the lower growth of its
traditional thermocouple business. As an example, dunng the year,
Omega launched the ZW-Series wireless sensor system for
web-based monitoring of temperature, hurnidity, barometric
pressure and a wide range of process-related devices in diverse
industial, laboratory, commercial and agricultural applications.
The ZW-Series is supported by the Omega Enterprise Gateway,
which provides a set of web-based data visualisation, monitoring,
alarming, data historian and email services. Omega’s first cloud-
capable Bluetooth wireless thermometers were also released. With
their seamless connectivity, they allow the user to cellect, transmit
and store accurate temperature data for analysis or compliance
reporting without any additional or third-party software. Omega
has also created differentiation in its new series of custom pressure
transducers for industrial applications that can be quickly and easily
configured online and shipped to the customer within 48 hours,
beating the competition’s delivery of similar custom products

by weeks.
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In December, to strengthen market presence and increase growth
prospects, a new e-commerce platform was intreduced to enhance
the digital experience for customers. This was initially launched

in Canada and the platform will be pragressively rofled out

globally dunng 2019. Omega has supplemented this with more
preasely-targeted digital marketing campaigns as well as enhanced
organi search engine optimisation performance and, together,
these are expected to translate into hugher conversian of website
traffic to sales.

The increasing emphasis on industral connectivity and 1IoT from
our customers is generating opportunities far both Red Lion and
Cmega Red Lion added cloud connectwity to its Crimson software
platform, allowing the data collected from industrial devices to be
pushed to platforms that indude Amazon AWS or Microsoft Azure,
This further broadens the appeal of Red Lion's equipment beyond
their traditional core factory autemation market, and has enabled
new wins in several key verticals, including energy exploration and
alternative energy The company also added OPC UA functionality,
a machine-to-machine commurnucation protocol for industrial
automation, aifowing access to data via a standard that is
becoming the common language of the industnal controls world.

The connectivity capabiity of Omega's portfolio was similarly
expanded with the launch of four product platforms with wireless,
ethemet and/or remote connectivity, while also extending the ability
of existing platferms to utilise new types of measurement inputs
and send data through wireless connections. Omega and Red Lion
have begun collaborating to find ways to leverage their digital
infrastructure to enhance their product offenng 1o customers.

Protecting high-value assets

Cardinal Glass, a leading US glass manufacturer, produces
around 8 million square feet of high-value speciality glass
each month, half of which is stored for upcoming orders.
However, if the stored glass is exposed to humidity swings
for too fong, the coating will begin to oxdise, causing
catastrophic damage and considerable financial cost

To monitor the temperature and relative hurnidity of the
storage environment, Cardinal has installed six Omega
termperature and humidity momitors across two buildings.
The data from these sensors is integrated into their
monnering and control systerns via Omega's Enterprise
Gateway for seamless integration with other ptant processes.
This allows Cardinal to monitor humidity levels alongside
other plant measurements in real time and will help the
company not only better protect their assets, but also
improve ther manufactunng processes and environment.




Red Lion has also been refreshing its product lines.

For example, It launched the DA10D and DA30D protocol
conversion andg data acquisiion devices, providing customers
with a cost-effective way of unlocking the value of data
contained in legacy equipment. Via easy-to-use software,
custorers can quickly configure commurications links to
over 300 types, of ndustrial contrcllers, allowing them to
cost-effectively monitor and manage machines that might
atherwise have been left isolated from their data collection
strategy. The company also launched a range of additional
communications modules for their CR3000 series touchscreen
operator panels, again allowing easier integration with a
broad range of equipment The requirement for industrial
companies to drive productivity and operational efficiencies by
enabling effortless and secure access to their manufacturing
information is increasing demand for these types of products.

Segment outlook

Given the predominance of sales i the North American
market, the parformance of this segment will be influenced
by industnal markets in that region, where growth in 2019

15 likely 10 be more subdued than in 2018. However, our
enhanced digital e~commerce platform, in combination with
a refresh of our product portfolio, are expected to drive
enhanced medium-term growth at Omega, and we will also
benefit from improved operating leverage from the continued
restructuning activities and Lean focus,

in the medium term, the dernand from industrial companies
wishing to drive productivity and operational efficiencies, by
having effortless and secure access to their manufacturing
data, 1s expetted to increase. Our abirly to provide connected
devices, digital monitonng and optimisation solutions enables
our customers to benefit from our deep applications
knowledge, as we apply our process applications and products
expertise to address their industrial optinisation regurernents.

Segment performance

Sales

£228.3m

(2017 £262 5m)

Adjusted operating
profit

£43.1m

(2017. £41.8m)

Statutory operating
profit

£29.3m

(2017 £28.7my

Sales by destination (%)

Sales by end-user market (%)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

IMPROVING

our operational performance

Operating performance

Like-for-like

2018 2017 Change change'
Adjusted
Sales {Em) 1,604.2 1,525.6 5% 5%
Operating profit (£m) 248.3 239.3 4% 7%
Operating margin (%) 15.5% 15.7% (0.2pp) 0.3pp
Statutory
Sales (£m) 1,604.2 1,525.6 5%
Operating profit {fm) 176.4 1824 {3%])
Operating margin (%) 11.0% 12.0% {1.0pp}

1 At constant exchange rates, and induding the impact of acquisitions and disposals on a comparable basis

Spectns yses alternative performance measures in addition to

those reported under IFRS, as management believes these measures
enable them to better assess the underlying trading performance
of the businesses Alternative measures exclude certain
non-gperational items which management has defined 1n Note 2 to
the Financial Statements A recancliation of statutory and adjusted
measures 1s provided in Note 2 to the Financial Statements.

Adjusted measures exdude restructuring costs which indude Project
Uphft costs and the cne-off costs of implementing the Group's profit
improverent programme that was announced in November 2018.

Sales increased by 5% 10 £1,604 2 million (2017; £1,525 6 milon)
Growth from acquisitions, net of disposals, contributed

£23.6 milllon (2%} and LFL sales increased by £77 5 million {5%).
Adverse foreign exchange movements reduced sales by

£22.5 million (2%).

An improvernent in adjusted operating profit of £9.0 million (4%4)
was more than offset by higher acquisiton-related costs which
were up £11 8 mitlion and other adjusting items, up £3.2 miffion,
which resulted in statutory operating profit decreasing by 3%

to £176 4 million from £182.4 million in the comparable year.
Statutory operating margins of 11 0% were 1 Opp lower than

the prior year.

Adjusted operating profit increased by £9.0 milion (4%) to

£248 3 million in 2018. LFL adjusted operating profit (before
restructuring costs) ncreased by £16.6 millon (7%) Acquisitions,

net of disposals, and foreign exchange movements reduced adjusted

operating profit by £7.5 million and £0.1 mullion, respectively,

Sales
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Adjusted operating margins declined by 0.2pp, whilst LFL adjusted
operating margins improved by 0.3pp compared with 2017,

with the difference being explained mainly by the dilutrve effects
of acquisitons and foreign exchange. The improvement in the LFL
operating margn consists of a 0 1pp LFL gross margin increase to
57.0% n 2018 (2017: 56 9%}, combined with a 0 Zpp decrease

in LFL overhead costs as a percentage of sales The improvement

in operaung margin was drven by Industrial Controls, up 2.6pp,
which benefited from positive pricing as well as positive
reorgantsation impacts and In-line Instrurnentation, up 1.8pp,
mainly due to favourable pricing and mix with overheads
constrained to prior year levels. Materials Analysis operating margin
was up 0.4pp, driven by higher volumes. These improvements werg
partiy offset by the Test and Measurement segment, down 2.0pp,
principally due to higher overhead costs, including those associated
with the merger of BKSV with HBM, ond higher depreciation due
to the ramp up in capital expenditure in this segment in the last
three years. LFL overheads grew by 4.7% (2017; up 5.2%),
reflecting annualisavon of new headcount costs from the prior
year as well as additional headcount in 2018, together with cost
inflation, higher deprecation charges and reorganisation costs,
particularly in the Test and Measurement segment

We cantinued to invest in our R&D programimes, with total R&D
spend {including capitalised development costs} of £103.4 milion
or 6.4% of sales (2017. £105.1 million or 6.9% of sales). Total R&D
spend was up 1% compared with 2017 on 2 LFL basis.

Adjusted operating profit



&1 Like-for-like adjusted
operating margins
improved by 30 basis
points, refiecting
a like-for-tike gross
margin increase to
57%, combined with
a 20 basis point
decrease in like-for-like
overhead costs as a
percentage of sales. FF

Adjusted operating
margin

15.5%

n 2018

Average working capital
as a percentage of sales

11.4%

in2018

Net debt to EBITDA

1.0x

in 2018
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

Net finance costs increased by £5.0 million to £13.5 mulkon

{2017: £4 5 milllon), principally due to an increase of £8 S mllion
in transtation losses on short-term LS Dollar denominated
inter-company loan receivables ansing from Stediing’s strengthening
against the US Dollar Adjusted net finance costs for the year were
up £0.6 million at £5.7 millon (2017: £5.1 million) as higher
interest charges were driven by higher average bormowings after
the share buyback. Statutory profit before tax decreased from
£278.4 million in 2017 to £218.0 million in 2018, Statutary profit
before tax in 2018 and 2017 benefited from profits on disposal

of businesses of £56.3 million and £100 5 million, respectively.
Adjusted profit before tax increased by 3% to £241.4 miillion.

Restructuring costs

The Group has incurred costs of £15.6 million relating to
restructuring in 2018 (2017: £15,8 million}. This includes

£10 8 million relating to Project Uphft {2017: £15.8 million) and
£4 8 million relating to one-off costs of the profit improvement
programme announced in November 2018

One-off costs incurred under Project Uplift in 2018 of £10 8 milhon
included £7.7 million related to Phase 1 of the programme {(which
focused on IT, procurement and footprint) resulting in cumulative
costs for Phase 1 of £26 7 million, and £3.1 milton relating to
Phase 2, the shared sensces centre programme, where a decision
was taken not 1o proceed. Gross recumng sawngs of £17.3 million
were realised during 2018, an annuahsed run-rate of £21 millon
and we axpect 1o at least meet the £25 million of cumulatve
benefits n 2019. Additional spend and savings from the projects
started under the Project Uplift programme will be realised in 2019
and thereafter but, since the project itself has now come to a
natural end, the additional savings will now be secured by the
operating companies as business as usual

The reconciliation of statutary to adjusted measures is shown
in the table below.

The operating campanies will also be securing savings under

the new Group-wide profit improvement programme which
commenced at the end of 2018. The programme 1s aimed at
delivering greater operational gearing in 2019 and beyond.

The gperating companies and the Group’s head office have
instigated a number of initiatives to create sustainabie cost savings
over the short to medum term; these include a number of projects
such as site consolidation, headcount reductions, lower profitability
produdt retirements and wmproved operational performance using
Lean techniques.

Acquisitions

The Group completed three acquisitions during the year The total
cost of acquisitions was £203.9 million (2017 £34.6 mitkon),
including £8 2 milhon {2017: £0.8 million} for cash acquired and
£6.0 million {2017: £1.4 million) attributable to the fair value of
deferred and contingent consideratron which 1s expected to be paid
wt future years. A net £6.7 milhon 2017, £4.1 million) was pad in
respect of priar year acquisitions, making the net cash outflow in
the year £196.4 miflion (2017. £36.5 million). Furthermore, an
amount of £10.8 millon (2017. £2.8 million) was spent on
acquisition-related costs, which makes the total acquisition-related
cash outflow for the year £207.2 million (2017 £39.3 millon).
Acquisitions contributed £72.1 millklon of incremental sales and
£1.2 million of incremental operating profit during the year.

In 2019, these acquisitions are expected to contribute

£15-20 mullion of incremental sales and up to £1 million

of incremental adjusted operating profit.

Concept Life Sciences has not performed In line with our
expectations Therefore, management has carefully considered
whether the goodwill amount of £105.5 miihon is imparred and
have concluded that this is not the case, but recognise the

2018 2017

Statutory  Adjustments Adjusted Statutory  Adjustments Adjusted

£m £m £m Em £m £m

Sales 1,604.2 - 1,604.2 15256 -  1,5256
Gross profit 507.4 0.3 907.7 867.5 - 867.5
Qverheads and other operating costs (731.0} 71.6 (659.4) {685.1) 56.9 (628 2)
Operating profit' 176.4 71.9 248.3 182 4 56.9 2393
Share of post-tax results of joint venture {1.2) - (1.2) - - -
Profit on disposal of businesses 56.3 (56.3) - 100.5 {100.5) -
financial income 2.5 - 2.5 19 (13) 0.6
Finance costs (16.0) 78 (8.2) {6.4) 0.7 57
Profit before tax' 218.0 23.4 2414 278.4 (44 2) 234.2
Taxation charge (32.8) {14.8) (47.6) {43.6) (6 3} (49.9}
Profit after tax' 185.2 8.6 193.8 234.8 {50.5) 184.3

1 Further detail on the reconciiation of statulory operating profit, profit before tax and profit after tax to therr related adjusted measures is provided in Note 2 to
the Financial Statements. Prncpal adjustiments 1o statutory operaung profit are to exclude amortisation and impairment of acquisiton-related intangible assets

of £43 3 milion {2017, £41.9 million), restructuring costs of £15.6 milkon {2017 £1
£12  mullion (2017: £0.4 millian).
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5.8 rillion) and net acquisition-refated costs and fair value adjustments of



continued operational Improvements required, as set out in the
Matenals Analysis segment performance review. Further disclosures
around the sensitvities on reasonably passible changes i relation
to key assumptions which would result in an impawment are set
out in Note 11 to the Financial Statements.

Disposal and formation of joint venture

On 31 May 2018, the Group completed the disposal of

EMS Briel & Kizer ('EMS B&K'} into a jont venture with Macguare
Capital which resulted in a net cash inflow of £41.8 million, after
paying cash taxes of £0.6 million. The post-tax profit on disposal
was £55.9 million. Sales of £8.9 million and an operating loss of
£0.4 million relatng to EMS B&K were included in the operating
resulis for the five-month pericd of ownership pnor to its disposal
on 31 May 2018

Taxation

The effectve tax rate on adjusted profit before tax was 19.7%
(2017: 21.3%), a decrease of 1.6pp, primarily due to reduction

in US tax rates in 2018 On a statutory basis, the weighted average
effective tax rate was 26.0% (2017: 28.6%), a decrease of 2.6pp,
largety due to the reduction in US tax rates and the fact that the
2017 statutory results incfuded significant profits on disposal ansing
in the USA. In 2019, the Group expects an increase in its effective
tax rate of up to 2pp as a result of changes in tax laws. The
Group's approach 1 tax matters is set out in its tax strategy which,
in compliance with the Finance Act 2017, has been made available
on our website, www.spectris.corn/sustainability/tax-strategy.

Earnings per share

Adjusted eamings per share increased by 7% from 154.6 pence
to 164.9 penice, reflecting the net impact of the 3% increase in
adjusted profit before tax, the reduction in the effective tax rate
and the decrease in the weighted average number of shares from
119.2 million in 2017 to 117 S million in 2018, following the
share buyback

Statutory basic earnings per share decreased from 197.0 pence
to 157.6 pence, with the difference between the two measures
shown in the following table.

2018 2017
pence pence
Statutory basic earnings per share 157.6 1970

Net acquisition-related costs and fair value

adjustments ©104 03
Depreciation of acquisition-related fair value

adjustments to property, plant and

equipment 0.7 0é
Amortisation and imparment of acquisition-

related intangible assets 68 351

Bargain purchase on acquisition - {186)
Restructuring costs 13.3 133

Profit on disposal of business 47.9) {84.3)
Net {(gain¥loss on retranslation of short-term

mter-company loan balances 6.1 {1.1)
Unwinding of discount factor on deferred

and contingent consideration 0.5 0.6

Tax effect of the above and other

non-recurring items {12.6) {5.3)
Adjusted #arnings per share 164.9 1546

Cash flow
Adjusted operating cash flow

2018 2017

£m fm

Adjusted operating profit 2483 2393
Adjusted depreciation and software
amortisation’ 35.3 305
Working capital and other non-cash
movements 42.8) (2.9
Capital expenditure, net of grants (84.1} (73 1)
Adjusted operating cash flow 146.7 1846
Adjusted operating cash flow conversion 59% 77%

1. Adusted depreciation and software amortisation represents depreaation -
of property, plant and equipment and software amortisation, adjusted to
exclude deprecation of acquisition-related fair value adjustments to property,
plart and equipment.

Adjusted operating cash flow generation of £1456.7 million during
the year was impacted by higher than normal working capnal
outflows and higher capital expenditure, resulting in an adjusted
operating cash flow conversion rate of 59%, compared with 77%
in 2017. The higher working capital outflow was mamily
attributable to higher receivables driven by sales growth and recent
acquisitions, together with increased inventory mainly due to the
timing of recognition of large projects and complex instaliations
for completion 1n 2019 and advance purchases of imited supply
components The higher capital expenditure resulted from higher
investrnent at Millbrook, together with capital expenditure from
acquisitions during 2018, aimed at securing future growth.
Capital expenditure 15 expected to be at a similar level in 2019.

Average trade working ¢apital (the monthly average of the sum

of inventory, trade receivables, trade payables and other current
trading net assets), expressed as a percentage of sales, decreased
by 0.5pp to 11.4% (2017: 11.9%). Excluding acquisitions, disposals
and foreign exchange, the LFL reduction in average trade working
capital was 0.4pp, with improvements across all segments, aside
fram Test and Measurement which experienced lower sales.
Decreases were most notable in the Industrial Controls segment,
with improvements in inventory management at both Red Lion and
Omega. in the Materials Analysis segment, higher sales drove the
reduction and in In-line Instrurnentation, Servomex and BTG
contributed to the better performance. The year-end trade working
capital to sales ratio increased by 0.6pp from 14.0% in 2017 to
14.6% in 2018.

Capital expenditure (net of grants) on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets dunng the year of £94.1 miltion
{2017 £73 1 mitlhon} equated to 5.9% of sales (2017: 4.8%),

and was 267 % of adjusted depreciation and software amortisation
(2017 240%).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

Non-opérating cash flow

2018 2017
£m £m

Tax paid (37.7)  (47.0)
Net interest paid (8.8) {4.1)
Dividends paid (68.2) (63.2)
Acquisition of businesses, net of

cash acqured {(196.4) (365
Acquisition-related casts paid (108 28
Proceeds from disposal of businesses, net of

tax paid of £0 6 million (2017 £19.0 million} 438 91.9
Loan ta joint venture (0.9) -
Restructuring costs paid {8.6) (16.8)
Share buyback {100.5) -
Exercise of share options 0.7 0.5
Foreign exchange (5.9} {6.2)
Total non-gperating cash flow (393.3) (84.2)
Adjusted operating cash flow 1467 1846
{increase)y/decrease in net debt {246.6) 100.4

Financing and treasury

The Group finances its operations from both retained earnings
and third-party borrowings, with a broadly even split of the
year-end gross debt balance between fixed rate and floating
rate borrowings.

As at 31 Decernber 2018, the Group had £814 4 milhon of
commiitted faclities denominated in different currencies, consisting
of a five-year $800 mullion (£625.6 million) revolving credit facility
maturing in July 2023 {with two one-year extension options, subject
10 approval by the lenders, which, if exercised, would extend the
maturity to July 2025), a seven-year €94.8 million (£84.8 million)
terrn loan maturing in Octaber 2020, and & seven-year

€116.2 million (£104.0 mullion) term loan maturing in September
2022. £457 9 million of the revohving credit facility was undrawn

at the year end. In addriion, the Group had a year-end cash balance
of £73.1 million, bank overdrafts of £5.8 million and vanous
uncommitted facilities avalable

At the year end, the Group’s gross borrowings amounted

to £370.2 million, 51% of which was at fixed interest rates
(2017: 99%). The ageing profile at the year end showed that 6%
(2017 1%) of year-end borrowings are due to mature within one
year, 23% (2017: nil) between one and two years, and 71%
between two and five years (2017: 99%).

Overall, ne1 debt increased by £246.6 million (2017, decrease

of £100.4 million) from £50.5 million to £297.1 mullion. Net bank
interest Costs were covered by adjusted operating profit 37 times
(2017: 56 times).

Currency

The Group has both translational and transactional currency
expasures, Translational exposures arise on the consolidation

of overseas company results into Sterling. Transactional exposures
arise where the currency of sale or purchase invoices differs from
the functional currency in which each company prepares its local
accounts. The transactional expasures include situations where
foreign currency denominated trade receivables, trade payables
and cash balances are held

After matching the currency of revenue with the currency of costs
wherever practical, forward exchange contracts are used to hedge
a proporton of the remaining forecast net transaction flows where
there 15 reasonable certainty of an exposure. At 31 December 2018,
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approximately 59% of the estimated net Euro, US Dollar and
Japanese Yen exposures for 2013 were hedged using forward
exchange contracts, mainly against the Swiss Franc, Sterling,
the Euro and the Danish Krone.

The largest translational exposures are to the US Dollar, Buro,
Danish Krone, Japanese Yen and Swiss Franc. Transtational
exposures are not hedged. The tables below show the average
and clgsing key exchange rates compared with Sterling.

2018 2007

{average)  (average) Change

US Dollar (USD) 1.34 1.29 4%
Euro (EUR) 1.13 1.14 (1%)
lapanese Yen (JPY} 147 145 1%
Swiss Franc (CHF) 1.31 1.27 3%

2018 W07

{closing) (closmg_} Change
US Dollar {USD) 1.28 135 (5%)
Euro (EUR) 112 113 {1%)
Japanese Yen (JPY) 141 152 (7%)
Swwiss Frang (CHF) 1.26 132 {5%)

During the year, currency translation effects resulted in operating
profit being £0.1 rillion lower {2017 £5 9 million higher) than

it would have heen if calculated using prior year exchange

rates. Transactional foreign exchange gains of £2.1 million

(2017: £2.1 miflion loss) were included in administrative expenses,
whilst sales include a loss of £1 4 milion (2017: £1.1 million loss)
arising on forward exchange contracts taken out to hedge
transactional exposures in respect of sales.

Brexit

The Group operates in a range of end-user markets around the
world and may be affected by Brexit developments in the future.
Mitigating actions have been put in place through an enhanced
analysis including stress testing for Brexit to determine severe but
plausible potential scenanos and the Group is continuously
monitoring events as explained in the Principal Risks section on
page 34. As pari of this analysis, management has considered
the measurement impact on the Group's balance sheet.
Although the outcome of Brexit 1s difficult to quantify,

we do not axpect the direct consequences of Brexit to have

a matenal impact to the Group.

Dividends

The Board 1s proposing 1o pay a final dividend of 40.5 pence

per share (2017: 37.5 pence) which, combined with the interim
dwidend of 20.5 pence per share (2017 19 0 pence), gves a total
dividend of 61.0 pence per share for the year (2017: 56 5 pence),
an increase of 8%. The dividend is covered 2.7 tmes by adjusted
earmings and is consistent wath our policy of making progressive
dvidend payments, based upon affordability and sustainabiiity.

in getermining the fevel of dividend in any year, the Board
considers a number of factors that influence the proposed
dwidend, including the level of distributable reserves in the
Comnpany, future cash commitments and investment needs o
sustain the long-term growth prospects of the Group and the
level of dividend cover

Clive Watson
Group Finance Director
19 February 2019



RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk

MANAGEMENT

We recognise that effective management of risk is essential for
delwering our strategit objectives. As such, nsk management s built
Into our day-to-day management activities and forms an integral
part of how we operate.

Committed to managing risk effectively

The Group has a well-established process winch delivers visibility
and accountability for risk management across our businesses.
This process forms part of the Group's overall intemal control
framework, as described on page 57.

Risk management process

Qur approach to risk management incorporates both bottom-up
and top-down elements to the identification, evaluation and
management of risks and all risks are evaluated with reference to
the Group's achievement of its strategic objectives, as outlined on
pages 14 and 15.

Qur business units are required to undertake formal risk
anagement reviews at least twice a year This involves the use
of a consistent framework for the assessment of significant risks
with respect to inpact, likelhood and the time frame in which
the risk could materialise, Risks are assessed both before and after
the effect of controls and mitigating actions have been taken

into account.

Overall ownership for each risk, together with responsibility

for mitigating actions, is clearly assigned and communicated.

The resulting risk registers are then subject 10 review on an
ongoing basis as part of regular operational reviews. This ensures
that risk management is embedded in day-to-day management
processes and decision-making as well as in our annual strategic
planning cycle.

Oversight

In addition, the Executive Committee and key functional

personngl in the Group consider those risks to the Group's strategic
objectives which are not addressed within the business units and
develop appropriate approaches to managing and mitigating these.
These Group principal risks are analysed against a ‘lines of defence’
framework, as illustrated below.

The overall effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
mitigation processes is reviewed regularly by the Executive
Committee and twice yearly by the Audit and Risk Commitiee.

Each principal risk is assigned to & member of the Executive
Committee as Its owner, The risk owner is accountable for the
assessment of the risk, identification of the risk scenarios,
development and monitoring of key rsk indicators and planning
or maintaining of respective mitigations In assessing each principal
risk, the risk owner has also considered the nisk appetite, which
determines the amount of risk that the Group is willing to take
on as a conseguence of existing business activities and new
opportunities. Bach principal risk is given an overall assessment,
which represents the combination of profit impact and likelihood
once all existing mitigations are taken into account. Both the risk
appetite and overall assessment 15 previded for each prinapal risk
on pages 32 to 36.

Recognising the complexity and importance of the principal risks, in
2018 the Group initiated a senies of focused risk sessions to be held
with either the Executive Committee, Audit and Risk Committee

or Board. These sessions will continue throughout 2019,

Overall responsibility: Audit and Risk Committee
» Determuning the Group’s nisk appetite

+ Oversight of the Group's internal control and risk
management framework

First line of defence: Business units
» Day-to-day ownership of nsk management

vy Shaping policy and control framework

» Monitonng and overaght of risk management
by business units

second line of defence: Key Group functions/programmes and Executive Committee

» Evaluation of nsks impacting the Group as a whole

Third line of defence: Independent assurance

» Assurance over the effectiveness of the internal control
and risk managerment framework

Spectris plec n
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Managing our

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The effective management of risk 1s important for delivering our strategic
objectives. As such, risk management is built into our day-to-day
management activities and forms an integral part of how we operate

Acquisitions

Strategy execytion

Risk appetite: Balanced
Assessment: Moderate

DO | @

Risk appetite: Balanced
Assessment: Moderate

OB | @

Integration of the operations and personned of acquired
businesses ¢can be a complex process. Potential risks therefore
exist that the planned benefits from the acquisition may not be
achieved as a result of problems encountered during integration
of the acquired business, incorrect assumptions made in the
business case, changing market conditions, or issues which
were not identified during the due diligence process. Further,
the Company could be exposed to past acts or omissions

of the acquired business.

Impact
» Failure to successfully defiver the business plan.

» Reduced profitability and cash flow.

» Unforeseen liabilities.

Mitigation

» Rigorous financial, commercial and legal assessment
of target businesses involving external consultants and -
adwisers as appropniate.

» Strct authonty levels which, subject to size, involve review
by the Board for such transactions

Comprehensive representations and warranties
in purchase agreements.

Integration planning.

» Regular review of the acquired businesses against
the business case.

+ Post-acquisition control reviews.

2018 update

Our acquisition activity duning 2018 has induded the expansion
of test service capabilties for Materials Analysis and accessing new
markels.via the acquisition of Concept Life Sciences. We have
been careful to maintain owr financial, commercial and lega) due
dibgence and disaplines, which has meant that we have also
excluded ourselves from a number of potential acquisitions.

We have tecently recruited an Integration Manager to strengthen
our capabilities with regard to integrating new acquisitions and
merging operating companies within our Materials Analysis and
Test and Measurement segments.

-
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The Group s currently undertaking a strategic review. Progress
and initial conclusions from the review are set out on page 10,
The Group considers that there 1s inherent risk associated with
the successful execution and delivery of the Group's strategic
prionines, and that managing this risk is of increased importance
during a period of strategic review and transrtion

Some of the specific risks and mitigations associated with the
Graup's strategic priorities are managed via thewr own principal
risk, for example competitive activity, how we develop new
products and how we acquire other businesses. Nevertheless,
the Group recognises the importance and value of managing
strategic execulion nsk in its own right

Impact

» Farure to realise the Group's growth plans,

s Faiture to realise the Group's plans for enhanced profrtability.

» Reduced capital returns and cash flow.

Mitigation

Greater focus on perfermance management, capital allocation
and shareholder value creation.

Simplifying the business to focus on scalable platform
businesses, strongly aligned to attractive hugh growth end
markets with the strongest capabilities.

Independent support and assurance in the development
of the strategy

Drive profitability through the cycle via a strong focus
on Margin expansion

» Profit improvement programme intiated,
» Operating leverage from organic revenue growth
> Lean operating model and system.

~

-

-

» Developing a dlear strategy activation pragramme — aligning
the organisation and culture with the new strategy programme.

» Enabling the capabilities of our leaders and future leaders
to drive successful execution.

2018 update

» Strategic review initated in the fourth guarter

» New profit improvermnent programme initiated in the
fourth quarter.




Key:

Link to strategy Risk appetite
@ tnnovative solutions Highly cautious
@ Markel preserce Cautious

@ Expanding globatly Balanced
Cperabonal excellence Opportunistic
Capual deployment Highly opportunisic

Assessment Change in risk level

Very low
Low e Same
Maoderate
High

Very high

People

Compliance with laws and regulations

eI

e Risk appetite: Highly cautious
Assessment: High

The Group needs to attract, develop, motivate and retain the nght
people to achieve our operational and strategic targets Effectwe
talent managernem 15 essential to successfully delivering our
Cyrrent business requirements and strategic goals, and to realising
the full potential of cur businesses. Therefore, failure to attract,
rétain or deploy talent could significantly impact the successful
execution of our strategy.

Impact

» Loss of knowledge/expertise

+ Business disruption

> Lost nwvestment in peaple.

Mitigation

v Structured recruitment processes for senior and Group talent.

» Qrganisational capability review processes in effect.

» Group executve-level succession planning.

r Staff turnover reporting.

2018 update

We recognise the heightened importance of managing people
risk during a period of strategec review and transformation.

As a consequence, we have raised our assessed risk level and the
fallowing additional miigations were planned and introduced in
2018 with further roliout during 2019

» Group HR information system.

» Enhancements to Group approval/governance process covering
all senior hires.

» Assurance over key implemented mitigations.

We aperate in a large number of junsdictions and, consequently,
are subject to wide-ranging laws and regulations.

Any failure by the Group or 1ts representatives to comply wath
relevant laws and regulations could result in cwil or crimunal
habilities, leading to significant fines and penaltes or the
disqualification of the Group from particpation in
government-related contracts for a penod of time. In the
event of a failure to comply with export control regulations,
the Group could alsc be exposed to restrictions being placed
upon its ability to trade.

Impact
» Reduced sales, profrtability and cash flow.
+ Reputational damage
» Diversion of management resources resulting
in lost opportunities.
> Penalties ansing from breach of laws and regulations.
» Inability to attract and retain talent.
Mitigation
» Strong culturat alignment to the Spectris value
of ‘Absolute Integnty'.
» Internal control framework and policies.
» Ethics trairing provided 1o all employees.
Formal export controls compliance procedures in place,
including strict product dassification and transaction
screening protocols.
Comprehensive insurance covers all standard categones
of insurable risk.

-

-

» Contract review and approval processes mitigate exposure
to contractual liability.

2018 update

The comphance burden on the Group has heightened given our
geographical concentration in areas that have seen an increase
w regulatory risk during 2018, An ethics and compliance
enhancement pragramme was endorsed by the Audit and Risk
Commuttee n October 2018 and is expected to dehver further
mitgauon strengthening over the next 24 months. We continue
to be responsive to issues raised through the Spectrs hotline

For details of our ethics programme, see page 39.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES continued

New product development

Political and economic risks

e Risk appetite; Balanced
Assessment; Moderate

e Risk appetite: Balanced
Assessment: Moderate

@

The development of new technologies and products necessarily
involves risk, including’

the product being more expensive or taking longer to develop
than originally planned,
the product failing to reach the commercialisation phase, and

» not meeting market requirements or market
requirements changing.

-

~

Impact
» Reduced profitability and cash flow

» Loss of market share

» Failure to recoup wwvestment in innovation.

Mitigation

» Regular strategic evaluations of product portfalios and the
markets in which we compete

» Project management disciplines are in place across our product
development programmes and audits provide assurance that
these disciplines are applied consistently

Regular monitanng of project progress and performance
aganst plan

Working closely with customers 10 ensure that we develop
solutions tailored to their specific needs

2018 update

During 2018, the Group has enhanced its focus on value-driven
product design, product portfolio management and project
management. The latter has resuited in the establishment of

a spedial interest group comprised of operating company and
funclion representatives. The Group has already made progress
in drving consistent and good practices in project management
methodologies and tools

In addrbion, the Group has put in place a dashboard reporting

process designed to monitor key performance and risk indicators,
such as return on innovation and speed of innovation.

'
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We operate in a range of end-user markets around the world
and may be affected by political, economic of regulatory
developments in any of these countries. Material adverse changes
in the political and economic enviranments in the counitries in
which we operate have the potential to put at risk our ability

1o execute our strategy.

Impact

» Reduced sales, profitability and cash flow

Mitigation

» Maintain a broad spread of markets, products and customers
to limit risks associated with any given territory.

» Market monitonng so that we can respond guickly te changing
trading conditions

» Ensure we maintain a strong balance sheet and
financial position.

2018 update

While the Group’s balanced geographical mix, with simitar
exposure to North America, Europe and Asia, enables it to

benefit from an improvement in trading conditions in each region,
two particular risk scenarios have increased in potential impact/
likelihood.

» Uncertainty as to the outcome of Brexit and the prospect
of 'no-deal’. During 2018, the Group's focus has shifted
towards the ‘no-deal’ scenanc. The Group has identified an
extensive list of potential risks. Their associated mitigations are
being continuously monitored 1o ensure the effectve
management of risk during this dynamic penod Mitigations
include amending provisions within our commercial contracts
and seeking approvals from alternative regulatory authorities
to continue to operate in the EUAJK

Risk associated with the escalation of tariff measures between
the USA and China has also required focused monitoring and
mitigation. Working with each of the Group’s businesses in
China, an assessment has been made as to the annualsed
impact aof the proposed tariffs. In addition, separate
assessments have been made with respect to the anticipated
impact of tariffs on US imports from China. Mitigations in place
inciude the use of alternatives for US-based businesses with
China-based suppliers, as well as proactive filing for exemptions
from US tariff increases on imports




Competitive activity

Supply chain dependencies and disruption

Risk appetite: Balanced
Assessment: Moderate

®2|0|

@ Risk appetite: Cautious
Assessment: Low

uoday anbajens

The nature of the markets in which we operate means that all
of our businesses are expased to risk from competitor activity.

Impact
» Loss of market share.

» Reduced financial performance

» Price andfor volume erosion as & result of competitor activities
Mitigation

» Ongoing monitoring of competitor activity and trends

in the markets in which we compete.

Maintain market-leading positions through strong customer
relationships and significant investment in R&D.

» We have a diversified portfolio of products and markets that
Iirnits the overall risk from any single competitor

2018 update

We maintained high levels of mvestment in R&D (typically 6-7%
of sales), with cur operating companies bringing new products
and solubons to market dunng the year to sustain and strengthen
our strong customer refationships and compet:tive advantages
While our assessment of this risk for 2018 has slightly increased,
planned enhancements to activities In new product development,
spedifically in product management and the management of
speed and agity of innovation, will further contribute to the
mitigation of this rick.

-

Fluctuations in exchange rates

Risk appetite: Balanced
Assessment: Moderate

®0|e®

We have operations which selt and purchase goods in foreign
currencies and whose results we record in a variety of different
currencies We are therefore exposed to any significant changes
1n exchange rates,

Impact

» Unexpected variations in the Company’s results

+ Reduced profitability and cash flow.

Mitigation

» Natural hedging strategy, matching invoiang and purchasing
currencies where practical.

Forward foreign exchange contracts cover up to 75%

of forecast transactional exposures up 1o 18 months ahead
Foreign currency investments hedged with borrowings in the
same currency wherever possible

Regular monitoring, including sensitwity analyses to
understand the impact of exchange rate movernents on

the Group’s reporting.

2018 update

» Implementation of new treasury management system in 2019
will improve monitoring and compliance with the Group's
transactional hedging policy

-

-

-

We are exposed to the risk that some of the components we

source, particularly for custom-built items or ageing products,

are pravided by a single suppher and are therefare vulnerable

to interruption of supply

QOur businesses also manufacture components using proprietary

technologies at a number of locations

QOur ability 10 supply products to cusiomers could be adversely

impacied by a significant disruptive event at any of these sites.

Impact

» Inability to fulfil customer arders, resulting in lost sales and
reputational damage

» Increased costs reduce profitability.

» Loss of market share

Mitigation

» Strategic sourang teams source cost-effective supplers across
a range of markets whilst validating suppliers’ business
processes, quality and standards.

» Alternativa sources of supply actively sought to reduce

dependency upon single-source suppliers,

Business interruption insurance

> Strong contract rewiew process,

2018 update

We continued to identify and qualify secondary sources of supply

where key dependencies have been identified. The Group Vice

President Supply Chain (recruited in 2017) continues to drive the

following,

» Enhanced focus on the Group's ¢cntical supphiers based on
specialist independent spend analysis.

» Streamlining of previcusly fragmented vendor relationships into
fewer, global, agreements.

» Drming benefits out of the existing procurement projects

-
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES continued

Intellectual property

information security

Q Risk appetite: Cautious
Assessment: Very low

BDO®

BHO®

e Risk appetite: Cauticus
Assessmant: Maderate

in support of the Group’s business model to provide
technologically-advanced solutions to its custorners, the Group
has cantinued to take a holistic approach towards inteliectual
propenty protection and management, The Group owns and
registers patents and trademarks and maintains trade secrets,
confidential information and copyright as well as exploiting
intellectual property through licensing.

The key risks are that the Group may inadvertently infringe
third-party rights and that the Group may not hold sufficient
nghts to prevent competitors independently developing similar
products There are also risks that intellectual property may be
lost through failure to implement controls to safeguard
confidential information or actively manage registered
intellectual property rights

Impact
» Reduced profitability and cash flow.
» Loss of market share.
» Failure to recoup investment in innovation
Mitigation
» Pohoes and procedures in place requinng all of our
businesses to:
» mawntain a watching bnef on new third-party patent
applications and competitor activity;
» ensure adequate protection for key intellectual property,
induding registration where approgpriate;

> undertake specific freedom-to-operate techrical rewiews prior
to commending new product development, acquisitions or

licences; and
> register intellectual property where appropriate,

2018 update

The Group continues 10 undertake intellectual property
audits and facilitates operating company self-assessments
with a view to monitoring mitigation and key risk indicators
N governance, software, internal and external

information protection,
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As with most organisations of a similar size and complexity,

our businesses face bath internal and external information secunty
nsks, the nature and complexity of which are constantly changing,
becoming more sophisticated and unpredictable In addition,

the introduction of regulatory requirements, such as the General
Data Protection Regulation ('GDPR’, which came into force in
May 2018), requires that we continue to develop our processes
and mitigations so that they remain effective and compliant.

Impact

¥

Delay or impact on dedision-making through lack of avalable
relrable data or disruption of service.

Loss of commercially-sensitive or persenal information.

Reduced service to customers due to poor information handing
or interruption of business.

Mitigation

»

-

Our businesses emplay a number of physical and logical control
measures designed to reduce the nsk of a breach in information
secunty arising.

Our systems are monitored against unauthorised access,

A programme of continuous improvement focusing

on information securrty risks evaiuates whether the

Group's existing controks in this area would benefit from
additional strengthening

Employees receive online and face-to-face awareness training
of information secunty risks and controls

Cyber risk and security is reviewed regularly by the Board

to address the evolving landscape

2018 update

The Group IT function continues to increase the matunty

at our operating companies in respect of data dassification,
patch management and vulnerability management A new Chief
information Officer joined Spectris in November 2018, who will
continue to refine and drive both the ongoing risk assessment
and the existing and planned mitigation activity.

During 2018, the Group Head of Infarmation Risk Governance
filled three new positions in the Information Risk Governance
team to add further strength

A Group IT Assurance Manager has also joined the internal Audit
function and will be a key third line of defence in 2019, delivering
a plan of in-house assurance against the IT general controls in
place across the Group and other risks associated with business
systems and information security.



VIABILITY STATEMENT

Viability

STATEMEN

In accordance with provision €.2.2 of the 2016 UK Corporate
Governance Code, the Directors have assessed the viability of the
Company over a three-year period, taking into account the Group's
current position and the assessment of the pnnapal risks and
uncertainties as set out on pages 32 to 36

The Directors have determined that a three-year period to

31 December 2021 canstiutes an appropriate period over which
to prawvige its Viability Statement The selection of this period for
the assessment 15 supported by the following considerations:

» The approach taken by our peers.

» The Group budgeting, forecasting and strategic planning cycles
» The maturity of the Group’s credit faciities

» The assessment of our operating company and Group

principal risks.

Tre variety of industry cycles and geographies that our businesses
operate within.

~

In considering an assessment beyond three years, we have weighed
the benefits of such an extended projection against the decrease in
data avallabiity and the reliability of predicting events, both of
which decrease exponentially beyond thiee years.

The Directors have considered the above and believe that this
supports the selection of a three-year penod over which the
Viability Statement 1s made, presenting users of the Annual Report
with a reasonsble degree of confidence whule sl providing a
longer-term perspective

The Directars carried out a robust assessmeant of the prinaipal risks
tacing the Group, including those that could threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or hiquidity This assessment
was made with reference 16 the Group’s current position and
prospects, the Group’s strategy and the Group's prinaipal risks,

. including how these are managed, as detalled on pages 31 to 36.

In considering the Group's praspects, the Directors also noted the
broad spread of markets, products and custorners maintained by
the Group This natural dversification prowides mitigation against
the nsk of a senous economic downturn in a particular market or
the risks associated with dependence on a speafic sector or
customer. At the same time, the Directors noted the Group's strong
financial position coupled with its ability to react promptly in
adjusting our cast base in the event of a material change in the
trading environment.

Simarly, in making the assessment, the Directors also considered
the ability of the Group to raise finance and deploy capital in the
context of the prinapal spurces of facility for credit, the maturity of
those facilities, the Group's ability to re-finance debt as it falls due
and the overall level of headroom avalable.

While the review encompassed all of the principal risks identified
by the Group, the following were focused on far enhanced analysis
(ncluding stress testing): political and economic; comphance with
laws and regulatians, andg fluctuations in exchange rates

poday nbaens

The following severe, but plausible, potential scenarios were
analysed:
> A ‘no-deal’ Brexit outcome, gving rise to’

» Weakening Sterling against the Euro and Dollar.

» A dedine in sales across the UK and Europe.

» An extensive variety of operational and administrative
events that impact our individual operating companies and
have been documented through the work of our Brexit
Steening Committee,

The impact of existing tanffs, and planned additonal tariffs,
on trade between the USA and China, leading to a decline
in sales across both markets

The translational foreign exchange mpact of major movements
and volatility in key Group currences (Sterling vs the Euro and
the Dollar).

» A combination of all three of the abave risk scenanos and
a consequential global recession similar to 2009.

» A marked economic siowdown or downtum in the
Chinese economy.

> Legaliregulatory breaches — modelling a fall in sales volumes
arising from a theoretical debarment from operating in certan
key markets.

Mitgations considered as part of the stress testing induded cost
reduction, a reduction in the Group's dividend, a reduction in
capital expenditure and re-financing of the Group’s credit facilities.

The results of the above stress testing demonstrated that the Group
would be able to withstand the impact of each of these scenarios
rnaterialising over the course of the assessment period. This 5.1n
part due to the Group’s operating model and organisational
structure which gives it the ability to respond rapidly in the event

of heightened risk in the external environment, and akso partly due
to the Group’s inancial position and access to additional funds.

Based on this assessment, the Directors confirm that they have
a reasonable expectation that the Group will continue in
operation and meet its iabilities a3 they fall due over the period
to 31 Decernbeer 2021,

-

-
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

GLOBAL

sustainable growth

I'm very pleased to see the focus being
given to ethics and integrity. We will
continue to ensure these foundational
elements underpin our day-to-day
behaviours as they are the bedrock

on which to build future success. F¥

Andrew Heath
Chief Executive

Recognising our role in global industry

This report cutlines how the Group's sustainability objectives help
us to be a responsible global business, managing our relationships
and interactions with stakeholders to support our strategy.

At Speciris, we recognise the principal stakeholders in our global
networks: shareholders, our people, regulators, customers,
supphers and the communities wathin which we cperate. These
principal stakehalders are presented in the graphic below, together
wath the key issues they expect us to consider when setting strategy
and managing its execution. Our belief is that by positively and
actively managing these elements we create value and the Board
considers all stakeholders in its decision-making.

m See the following pages for
more information

Culture 7, 39
Capital returns 9, 16, 30
shargholders 7

Qur business supports the improvement of the productwity

of our customers, 10 enable them to work more efficiently.

Qur monitoring solutions redisce waste in production hines, our
data analytics solutions tdentify efficency opportunities, and our
use of predictive modelling supports the elimination of trial and
error in research and development, In this way, we deliver
enhanced value for our customers, consequently driving our awn
economic success, and support a positive indirect reduction in the
environmentat impact of manufacturing.

In the spirit of our value of restless innovation, we continuously
review and invest In ways to improve the Group's operating
efficiency 1o ensure that we carry out business in an efficient,
sustainable way, Being recognised as a responsible global business
is important, to protect and enhance our reputation and 1o allow
us 1o build strong, trusting relatienships. This promotes the
long-term success of the Group.

We are proud to have been a constituent of the FTSE4Good
Index Series since it was founded 1n 2001, FTSE4Good 1s an equity
index series designed to measure the performance of companies
demonstrating strong envirgnmental, social and governance
practices and facilitates investment in companies that meet
globally-recognised corporate responsibility standards

Spectns was recently ranked in Corporate Krughts® ‘2019 Global
100 Most Sustainable Corporations in the World® index, achieving
20% clean revenue with top quartile performance on waste,
innovation capaaty and employee retention

Board accountability

The Board has overall responsibility for sustainability matters but
the day-to-day management of sustainability is led at an operating
company level with the aperating company presidents responsible
for taking appropnate action within their businesses to manage and
promote sustainabihty considerations. The Group Executive team

is tasked with challenging and supporting initiatives and promoting
cross-operating company synergies, where appropriate.

Developments made by operating companies, induding risks and
opportunities, are reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Board
within the context of the overall Group strategy and the Board
also considers the Group’s sustainability framework at a hofistic
level on an annual basis in light of these risks and opportunities.

In support of its consideration of stakeholders, the Board
acknowledges its role in shaping, monitoring and overseeing
culture, as well as ensunng alignment between our values, stralegy
and business model. Culture and ethics were a regular focus of
discussion for both the Board and the Audit and Risk Committee
during 2018, with key topics including modern slavery and human
trafficking, health and safety, whistleblowing and investigations
and the ethics and compliance enhancement programme

A non-finangial information staternent summarising the nature and location of non-fimancial disclosures within the Strategic Report
is provided on page 80, in comphance with sections 414CA and 414CB of the Companies Act 2006
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Ethics

Culture, ethics and teadership

The way we do business and the way we treat our colleagues
matters Lo us We recognise that continually aurtunng and
developing the ethical culture of our organisation, and demanding
the same high standards from our partners and suppliers, helps

20 build trust with all our stakeholders and supports our business
model (see page 6) and the successtul execution of our strategy
to realise long-term, sustanable growsh (see page 14).

Acquisttions and compliance with laws and regulations are two
of ¢ur principal nsks for which promoting a strong culture,
compliance programme and internal control framewark are key
rautigating factors, Full detavs of our pancipal nsks are set out en
pages 32-36 Our pre-acquisivon due diligerce includes
consiteration of ethics and compliance matters, and the eHectve
integration of operations and personnel requires careful panning
and the swift adeption of ¢ur Code of Business Ethis, Following
the acquisition of Concept Life Sciences in January 2018, we
nmediately conducted a nsk assessment and engaged the semior
managememnt team to emphasise teadership responsibility and
establish workstreams for ethics and compliance integration

Evolution of athics and compliance

In 2018, we completed an assessment of ethics and anti-bribery
and corrupuon rsks for the Group The resuts were considered
by the Board and in support of the continyous cefreshment of the
pragramme, an Ethics and Compliance Enhancement Pragramme
has bieen established which will include deployment of several
actions in 2019, induding

» Launch of rewsed Code of Business Ethics and training
programme

» Group-wide ethics sunvey
» Revised incident management ang reporting
» New alkemployee certiicaton process,

Our ethical leaders

Since 2011, ethics officers have been selected from a vanety of
business lunctions to champion the ethics programme wathin their
respective businesses and to act as a point of contact for employees.
fating ethvcal dilemmas

In Qctober 2018, we brought together our ethics officers for

a global conference, where we discussed key successes and
challenges, the status of glohal regulatory comphiance, our
developing strategy and the evolution of our ethics and compliance
programme Each ethugs officer, in collaboration wath peers, ¢reated
@ personal ackon plan of prionties for 2019 10 tlosely support our
businesses to stay ahead in a changing operating environment

Evolution of ight and ing activity

Delvenng on cur commiiment for 2018, we have reviewed and

enhanced our cversight and monitonng actiaty across the Group,

inchuding improving incident management reporting and rmigrating
ility for it frarm nternal audut to

the Group's new Ethks and Compliance team

With renewed ngour i this pastular area, we ere onfident

that we are well posiwoned to guard against, and swiftly rescive,
any ethical problems fagng our business in the future

Culture of openness and support

We actively encourage a culture of openness, engagement and
communication by integrating messaging cn ethics into our
business meetings al afl levels This ensures that employees fegl

they can discuss any 1ssues that anse 1n the course of their work and
raise any concerns with ther managers. We aiso frain our managers
50 they feal confident to discuss thesa cancems, with support from
our ethics officers

voday Eaeng

We are proud of our commitment to protect the careers and
reputations of emplayees wha repart wrongdoing, as long as
they do 50 n good fath We recognise that speaking up can be
adfficult thing to do Consequently, we regularty review the
effectiveness of our mechanisms for whistleblowing and reporting
1o ensure this process i3 as effective as pasable,

To ensure our empioyees never fee! isolated, our Decisions Guide
mabile app 1s available for 2l employees to help them tackle
challenging dedision-making situations, wherever they are in the
waorld, We also have an independent hatline {spectnshoting com)
providing & 100! for our colleagues, business partners and other
third parties to repant concerns anonymeisly if they wish

Reports received from all scurces are fully investigated and the
tesults are communicated to the Audit and Risk Committee at
least every s months Any allegatson 1s nvestigated and resolved
and addtonal guidance, training and monitoring made available
or disciplinary action taken, as approprate The total number

of reponts recewved in 2018 compared 1o pnar years is

presented below Following a shght increase in reporting in
2017, owing 1o 3 one-off veluntary disciosure programme,

it is encouraging that the level of reporting remains consistent
and that our people st feel confident to report concerns,

of

wing reparts din 2018

Continucus training and education
We have a comprehensive training programme in place across the
Group comprsing group workshops and online learming modules.
These training elements Imprave awareness of the Code of Business
Ethics, anti-bnbery and corrupuon, expart contrals, fair competition
and prevention of the faciltation of tax evasion Employees
complete key training elements relevant ta their role and function
on amval as new joners Penodically thereatter, further traning
and other interventions are made avadable to enhance employee
of laws and reguk ang promote thought and
discusgron of busingss challenges

Spectrs ple Er)



SUSTAINABILITY REPORT continued

People

Our people are key to the success of our business. Spectris is

a speaialised and technical business and we rely on the skills and
expertise of our highly-gualified engineers and scientists to stay
ahead in a fast-moving world. We continue to drive operational
excellence and intelhgent innovation and recogrise that our
workforce thrives in an open, positive and respectful working
environment where they ¢an challenge the status quo, explare new
ideas and take well-reasoned and measured risks. Further details of
the Group’s approach to the management of the People principal
risk are set out on page 33.

Diversity, equality and inclusion

We recruit, develop and promote our people based on their talent,
commitment and achievement. We make every effort to ensure
that everyone 15 treated equally and fairly regardless of race, colour,

religion, national origin, gender, sexual arientation, age or
background or disability, and we have a zero tolerance policy
towards discnimination ar harassment in any form. If an employee
becomes disabled every effort is made to retain them and,

if necessary, re-train them for appropriate roles or alter their
working environment. We aim to improve our current gender
halance (see table on page 41) by promoting diverse recruitment
and developrment within the Group's talent pipeline. Qur full
employment palicy is published at www.spectris com.

The Board continues to work to improve diversity and indusion with
focus on Group-wide talent management and succession planning
Detalls of the Board diversity policy and its implementation can be
found on page 49. Russell King was appointed as Workforce
Engagement Director in December 2018 to provide the Board with
a mechanism for receiving and responding to the views of
employees. Further details are contained on pages 50 and 51.

Gender pay gap reporting

Spectris is a diversified group with a decentralised operating
company structure, with four of its operating companies
headquartered in the UK. Of these, Malvem Instruments
{now part of Malvem Panalytical), Millbrook and Concept Life
Saences have 250 or more UK employees and are required
by UK legislation to publish their gender pay gap figures on
their websites.

Spectris plc employs fewer than 250 people in the UK and

is therefore exempt from statutory reporting requirements.
However, for the purposes of transparency and good
governance we have chosen to voluntarily disclose combined
gender pay gap figures covering UK employees of Spectris plc,
its other material UK subsidiaries with fewer than 250
employees, and Malvern Panalytical and Millbrook, but
excluding Concept Life Sdiences as it was not a member of the
Spectris Group at the reporting date. This data was reported
1n 2018 but relates to the snapshot date of 5 April 2017, in line
with UK statutory reporting. The Group intends to report on
avoluntary basis going forward.

UK employee gender split

Median pay gap - calculated by establishing the exact middle point between
the lowest and highest paid female emplayee and the lowest and highest paid
male employee and comparing the two figures,

Mean pay gap - calculated by dwiding the tatal houdy pay of all female
emplayees by the number of fernales, doing the same for the male employees
and comparing the two figures

Median bonus gap - calculared by establishing the exact middle point
between the lowest and highest bonus value paid to female employees who
received a bonus dunng the 12 months to 5 Apnl 2017, establishing the same
in respect of male employees who recewed a bonus during the same pericd
and qomparing the two figures.

Mean bonys gap ~ caleutated by dividing the total bonuses paid to female
emplayees dynng the 12 menths to 5 Aprit 2017 by the number of females
who received a bonus, doing the same for the male employees and comparing
the two figures,

Bonus proportions - calculated by (} dividing the number of female employees
who were pad a bonus during the 12 menths to § Apal 2017 wath the total
number of fermale employees, expressed as a percentage and (i) dwding the
number of male ernployees who were paid a benus during the same penod with
the total rumber of male employees, expressed as 2 percentage

Distinct from the concept of equal pay, the gender pay gap 1s
an average figure showing the difference between the average
hourly pay rates for UK fernale employees compared to male
employees, expressed as a percentage of male employees’
average salary, irrespective of role or level in the organisation

The combined results for Spectris plc and its UK companias were
based on 1,196 UK employees (of whom less than 20% were

fernale) and showed'
AL 'S Apnl 2017 snapshot date
Median Mean
Hourly gender pay gap 949% 13.52%
Gender bonus gap 1541% 30.39%
Female Male
Bonus proportion 60.25% 48.02%

We are confident that men and wormen are paid equally for
doing equivalent jobs but the evaluation of the UK gender pay
gap confirms that, rather than being driven by a pay issue, our
gender pay gap is driven by the struciure of our workforce and
an imbalance in the number of male and fermale employees in
senior roles. Aithough the results are below the 2017 UK
national gender pay gap median and mean figures of 18.4%
and 17.2%, respectively, and in line with the sector in which we
operate, we are committed to improving cur gender pay and
honus gaps and have already implemented a number of actions
to address gender pay and wider diversity, summarised below.

Actions implemented in 2018

3

-

Future actions

H

H

Family-friendly policies offering enhanced maternity/paternity
pay, parental leave and flexible working policy are in place at
Malvern Panalytical, Millorook and Concept Life Sciences.
Further embedding of ngorous recruitment processes to
ensure bias-free recruitment with the rollout of toolkits and
training for recruthing managers.

Regular industry salary benchmarking and monitoring of pay
to identify pay differences and remedial actions
Strengthened links with local colleges and schools ta
encourage fernale students into science, technology,
engineering and mathematics ("STEM') careers.

in 2019, the remit of the Remuneration Committee will
extend 10 overseeing remuneration and diversity policies and
practices in respect of the wider workforce.

The Group has initiated a senior women's network 10
promote the interaction and development of women at

a senmior management level across the Group.

40 Annual Report and Accounts 2018



Management development at Servomex

Following feedback from employee opinion surveys and
observations from the senior leadership team, Servamex
crafted a bespoke Management Development Programme

for its 63 managers globally. The intention is to provide
additional professional development and build on ewsting
knowledge and skills identified as being critical for the delivery
of strategy, and empower managers to deal effectively with
day-to-day issues and lead continuous improvement projects,
ultimately becoming great people managers and future leaders.

The first two modules were completed in 2018, with a further
two modules scheduled for 2019

Each module begins with a full day workshop in one of the
four key Servamex locations: Shanghai, Boston, Houston and
Crowborough. After the session, each manager develops a set
of action steps to implement within their teams and finally
receives an individual coaching session where they can embed
leamning in thewr team. This ensures alk learming is relevant to the
activities of teams and builds critical competencies throughout
the organisation

Feedback from managers involved has been incredibly positive,
and they not only apprediate the support and development in
their role, but also recognise the benefits of building networks
across the business.
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Employees by gender and role as at 31 December 2018

Male Female Total
Directors 7 2 9
Senior management 17 30 147
Other employees 6,543 2,996 9,539
Tatal 6,667 3.028 9,695
% of total 69 31 100

Talent management

We have made significant progress in one of aur key HR priorities;
ensyring a robust succession for our most senior roles across the
Groyp We have built on our existing talent management processes
10 understand where we have the right talent, identify key talent
for pipeline roles and make informeq career-planning dedisions that
prepare our high-potential employees for executive positions at
Group and operating company level This approach has supported
several igh-profile internal appontments during 2018

Welibeing, development and incentives

We work hard to build a creative working environment for our
people, with scope for indviduat responsibility and personal
achievement. Our training programmes help cur employees

to develop both personally and professionally to reach their
full potential.

We encourage our employees to maintain a healthy balance
between their working and personal fives and offer flexible
part-time and job-share apportunities to employees with family
comenitments, wherever possible. Appreciating the value of
having a happy and healthy workforce, Servamex has made
empioyee heafth and welibeing a priority, implementing
volunteenng and employee wellbeing policies, as well as a number
of initiatives to promote a healthier workforce: running welibeing
weeks; completing pedometer challenges; training mental health
first aiders; and promoting healthy eating and exercise to support
mental wellbeing. A case study on management development at
Servomnex is presented above.

To maintain our skilled workforce, we are dnving high-value,
cost-effective talent acquisition by investing in specialist resources
and tools, enabling us to attract, identify and hire the right talent
into the business, whilst delivering significant efficiencies through
in-house recruiting methods.

Ag part of our commitment to ensure fair, equitable reward
structures and to enabile transparency of career opportunities,

we have implemented a Group-wide initiative 1 create consistency
n how we grade jobs across our aperating companies. Partnenng
with Korn Ferry Hay Group, we have made significant progress in
implernenting a uniform approach to job-sizing and how this applies
to pay, organisational effectiveness and career management

Employee turnover

The 1able below shows the percentage of employees leaving the
Group voluntarily. A higher turnover of employees was experienced
in 2018 at a ime of strategic and organisational evolution, but we
continue to ensure the nght talent is maintained throughout the
Group. As we head into 2019, there will continue to be change
waithin the organisation as we implement our profit improvement
programme and complete the strategic review. We are commitied
o supporting our people through this change.

2018 2017 06 2015 2014
14.2% 7 6% 7.2% 7.1% 5.9%
Human rights

Qur human nghts policy is consistent with the Core Conventions
of the International Labour Organization, and we comply with
internationally-recognised human rights standards at all our sites.
The policy includes our position on non-discrimination, harassment,
pay and forced labour and all our employees are required to
complete online training on modern slavery and hurman trafficking.
Human rights consideraticns are also induded in the due diligence
process we underiake before any potential acquisition. This ensures
that befare we acquire a business, we are fully informed of its
approach n areas such as non-discrimination, equal opperiunities
and freedom of association. Our full human rights policy 1s avadable
on our website at www spectris.com
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT continued

Health and safety

As a responsible employer, we take the health and safety of our
employees seriously We are oroud to have an excellent record

of safety in our workplaces, but we continue to track our acodent
inaidence rate as a key performance indicator (see page 17 for
further detarls), with local health and safety managers conducting
regular audits and employee training and recommending
improvements in working practices to maintain a safe workplace.
A number of our UK offices have achieved certification to

CHSAS 18001.

Patential product-related health and safety issues are considered

as part of the product design process and continuous improvement
programmes focused on health and safety aim to reduce accidents
and injuries at our sites to as low a level as reasonably practical.

In 2018, we standardised the recording of health and safety data
across the Group to conform with the guidance of the UK Institute

of Dccupational Safety and Health. The number of reportable
acadents remains low, as shown below.

Accident incidence rate
Number of reportable accients per 1,000 employees

Environment

Our products and senvices help aur customers 1o reduce ther
impact on the environment. We are also mindful 1o reduce our
direct impact on the environment by monitoring the use of key
sources of energy {electricity, gas, ol and steam) in aur continual
effort to reduce consumption and save costs. The table to the nght
summarises our performance in 2018 and we explore each of the
key sources further below.

Energy efficiency (energy use per £m revenue) s one of our key
performance indicators refateq to accelerating our operational
excellence, as detailed on page 17. This remains at a similar level
compared to 2017, in spite of absotute energy consumption
increasing by 7% over the same perniod due to improved data
colleciion and an expanding portfolio of business activities. The
energy consumption table on the right shows that an increase

in electricity consumphion 18 primarily responsible for the increase
in energy use, and it remains the single largest energy source for
our business.

Our carbon footprint reduced overall due to slight increases in
scope 2 and 3 emissions being offset by a large reduction in scope
1 emissions Scope 1 emissions reduced by 34% compared to
2017, owing to a decrease in oil and refrigerant usage and a
significant drop in vehide emussions, partly aided by our new
reporting system which allows the more accurate recording of
carbon footprint data across the Group Scope 2 emissions rose
shghtly as a result of the increase in glectnaty use described above,
althaugh this was mitigated partly by gnd decarbonisation. Scope 3
ernissions increased as a result of increased air travel related to the
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EMS Bruel & Kjaer joint venture and divestment of Microscan

For the Group as a whole, this results in a net 4% decrease In
greenhouse gas ('GHG) emissions and therefore carbon emissions
per £m of revenue were brought down significantly by 11%

From 2018, the Group began to monitor GHG emussions related to
the transport of products to market. Using a recognised emissions
carversion methodaology, 'freight forwarding' emissions data
captured will be used to inform future analysis of the Group's
scope 3 emissions

1ISO 14001 is an international standard ('150°) setting out critena
for the formulation and maintenance of an environmental
management system. Certification to ISO 14001 requires an
organisation to effectively manage its emaronmental impacts
through commitments to polfution prevention, legal compliance
and continual improvement Approximately 60% of Spectris’ key
manufacturing operations by turnover are certified to 150 14001,
No envirenmental nsks have currently been assessed as being
matertal to the business, however, we keep this under review
and take sericusly our responsibility to minimise our impact

and recognise the opportunities and nsks to the business of
chimate-related issues.

Performance summary

Indicator 2018 2017 Change

Energy consumption

(absolute} (MWh}) 106,659 100,041 7%

Energy efficency (MWh

per £m revenue) 66.5 67.2 {1%)
Greenhouse gas emissions

{tonnes CO,e) 78,360 81,604 (4%)
Total carbon emissions

{tonnes (L O,e per

£m revenue) 48.86 54 79 {(11%)
Energy consumption

Unit of measyrement — MWh 2018 2017 Change

Electricity 76,823 71,406 8%

Gas 10,312 10,591 {3%)
il 2,714 3,165 (14%)
Steam 16,613 14,168 17%

Other fuels 197 711 {72%)
Greenhouse gas emissions (tonnes CO,e)

Unit of measurement — tonnes CO,; equivalent 2018 2017

Scope 1 9,256 14112

Scope 2 37,425 35,947

Scope 3 31,699 31,545

Total gross ermissions 78,380 81,604

Total carbon emissions per

£m revenue 48.86 54.79

From 2018, we starled ta capture detailed waste data relating

to our sites, including landfill, mcineratron and recycling This will
provide us with a dearer pucture of the physical waste that our
sites produce and the proportion of recychng achieved by our
operations. We walt review this data periodically throughout 2019
to identify opportunities for reducing waste,

In 2018, we launched a new online reporting tool to centralise
and streamline the capture of all our corporate responsibility data
The tool will enable us to conduct more comprehensive analysis
and monitor progress aganst sustainabilty objectives at more
regular intervals throughout the year



Ricarda Energy & Ervironment {'Ricardo’} has independently verified
the data associated with energy consumption, GHG emissions,
company vehicle and air miles and the acdident incidence rate,

We are confident that we have appropriate systems in place for
measuring, monitonng and reporting energy use.

Fallowing engagement with shareholders in 2018, we have decided
to participate in the Carbon Disclosure Project from 2019 onwards.
We recognise that our particpation matters to shareholders and
wish to re-affirm our commitment to transparency and
accountability in our environmental reporting, including GHG
emisstans, energy, and emissions reduction targets.

Customers

We serve a broad spectrum of customers across a variety of
markets. Our businesses work closely with their customers to
develop a deep understanding of their business, gning us a unique
ability 1o anticipate and respond to therr changing needs and foster
strong long-term relaticnships. '

The case study below describes a Group-wide initiative in 2018
to use technology to better understand our customers and share
knowledge more effectvely across the Group. In addition to this,
wie are developing a key account management structure within
our operating segments 1o further develop our sclutions-selling
proposition. Together, these inivatives help Spectris engage more
meaningfully with its customers to develop our relationships and
improve our value proposition, becoming and remaining the
partner of choice. )

Understanding our customers

Our customers operate in a variety of complex, fast-paced
markets a2nd our products and services are highly
spedialised. Really understanding our customers is critical to
the success of our business as we work closely to develop
strong custorner value propositions.

To drive this, we are investing in sales-enablement

tools o improve our customers' experience 1n 2018, we
continued to roll out and upgrade our Client Relationship
Management tools 1o support our sales teams around the
wirld, These tools enable data-driven sales and marketing
capanilities for the Group so we can dentify and respond
to custorner requirements and develop our key accounts
within and across operating segments. In 2019, we will
continue 1o develop our customer engagement strategy
1o build trusting, long-term relationships

Key external certifications and recognition

M St

Suppliers

Effective supply chain managernent s tmportant to gain a
competitve advantage through achieving operating efficiendes,
meeting stakeholder expectaticns, innavation, and compliance with
legal and regulatory obligations. Supply chain dependencies and
disruption 15 one of our pancipal risks which we seek 1o actively
mitigate (read our Principal Risks and Uncertainties on page 35).

voday abaens

Our supplier base is diverse to reflect the operations of our various
businesses, which are spread around the globe. Responsibility for
vetting and managing supplers is therefore devoived to local
management but must meet the Group’s ethical standards.
Foliowing the recruitment of a Group Vice President, Supply Chain,
we have initiated a detalled review of key supplier contracts and
opportunities for standardisation across the Group. Potential
opportunities for gaining efficiencies and cost savings will be
considered in 2019

We know that our customers demand the highest standards from
us, induding how we manage our own suppliers. Our supply chain
management policy can be found at www spectns com. We carry
out regular inspections at our suppher sites and use the SA 8000
Social Accountability Standard to audit our key suppliers against
specific cnteria. In 2018, we incorporated anti-slavery and conflict
minerals sections into the SA 8000 Asia Pacific supplier audit
process. We comply fully with the modern slavery faws of the UK,
france and United States, and all relevant employees have the
opportunity to complete a modern slavery online training module
to ensure full understanding of our obligations and liabilities.

The SA 8000 standard addresses various aspects of quality
management and provides guidance and tools for companies to
ensuve that their products and services consistently meet customer
requirements, and that quality is contnuously improved, Recently
updated, the new version of the standard requires that key quality
management principles are embedded in the grganisation. All key
Speciris global manufacturing operations are certified to SO 8001,
We are very proud that we can reassure our custorners of the high
quality of all our products.

Community

We recognise that we are a major employer in many of the
locations where we are based and respect our social responsibilities
in all communities where we operate. Community mvolvement and
decisions on charitable donattons and sponsorship are undertaken
by local management teams and vary from one company to
another, taking into account the specific needs of the local
community.

We seek to play a positive role by participating in a range

of activities and educational initiatives m schools and unversities

to promote science, technology and engineenng We also run a
number of awards and programmes which help to suppon young
scientists starting their careers.

In line with our gifts and hospitality policy, we do not give either
cash or support in kind to political parties or campaigns.

The Strategic Report was ap‘:noved by the Board on 19 February 2019
By ordeér of the Board

Mark Serféz
Company Secretary
19 February 2019
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CHARMAN'S INTRODUCTION TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Good corporate governance is crtical in helping to build
a successful business that can be sustained over the
longer term.

As Chairman, | am focused on ensunng that Spectns has a Board
that works effectively and cohesively under my leadership, with an
appropriate balance of skills, expertise and attributes. | am confident
that our governance processes, our culiure of infegnty and openness,
and a diversity of perspective promote the necessary degree of
constructive challenge. The Board fully supports the Group's values
and is cormmitted to ensuring that high standards of ethical
behaviour and governance are maintained throughout the Group

The Corparate Governance section of the Annuat Report follows
the format that was introduced last year and includes an At a
Glance sacuion which sets out our compliance with the 2016 UK
Corporate Governance Code (the ‘Code’) and a report on each
of the Committees introduced by the Committee Chairmen.

Appointment of Chief Executive

The Board spent significant time in 2018, through the Nomination
Committee, on the search for a new Group Cheef Executive, which
resulted in the appointment of Andrew Heath. The relationship
between the Chairman and the Chief Executive is a cornerstone

of good governance, and [ am delighted to have already developed
a positive and constructive working relationship with Andrew in his
new role The search and selection process followed by the Board 15
et out in detail on page 53 of this repart and 1 would like to thank
the members of the Nomination Committee and, particularly,
Russel! King, Martha WArsch and Bilf Seeger for their active
participation ir the process,

Focus areas and activities

The Board has continued to focus on creating long-term sustainable
value for our shareholders, customers and the wider communities

in which we operate. Following the instiation of the Group's
strategic review and profit improverent programme, as announced
1 the market in Novermnber 2018, the Board has closely monitored
the development of the plans dewvised by the management team

& The Board is committed to
ensuring that high standards
of ethical behaviour and
governance are maintained
throughout the Group. #¥

and we will continue to work with management 10 review, support
and chalienge the implementation of the strategy during 2019.

In support of our review of the Group’s strategy and performance,
the work of the Audit and Risk Committee continues to provide

a firm foundation from which the Board can review and assess the
effectiveness of internal controls, nsk management and compliance
processes. This contributes to the success of the strategy and
informs the cuiture of the Group as a whole.

Following the publication of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance
Code, the Board has considered how the Group will comply with
the new obligations, With the support of the General Counsel and
Company Secretary, the Board has developed a workplan to meet
our new obligations and details of our planned approcach are set
out on pages 50 and 51 of this report. | look forward to updating
you on the outcomes of our warkpian in the 2019 Annual Repont
and Accounts.

Board culture and composition

We regularly review the composition, diversity and size of the Board
to ensure that we have the right talent to support our strategy. We
recognise that diversity and inclusion are essential to our success.

By ensuring that different genders, backgrounds, nationalities and
ages are represented throughout the Group, we ensure that
decision-making is informed by a range of skillsets, experience and
cultural perspectives. Details of our approach to succession pianning
and diversity can be found on pages 49 and 52

With the exception of Clive Watson who will retire from the Board
in April, all Directors wilk be standing for election or re-election at
the 2019 AGM and we look forward to your continued support.
The Board and | appraciate our interactions with shareholders and
listen carefully to ali feedback | welcome your comments on this
Corporate Governance Report and on the 2018 Annual Report
and Accounts mere generally

Mark Williamson
Chairman
19 February 2019

Corporate Govemance Code Statement of Compliance

As a UK premium listed company, Spectris plc 1s expected o comply, or explain any non-comphiance, with the 2016 UK Corporate
Governance Code {'the Code’). The Board considers that the Company comphed with the Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2018 and a full summary of compliance is set out on pages 58 and 59.
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Board and Executive Committee structure

The governance of the Group is structured through the Board and a series of committees that approve, review, challenge and monmitor the
strategies and policies under which the Group operates The structure and respansibilities of these Board and management committees,
and a summary of their responsibilities, are Wustrated in the diagram below:

Board committees

I 1
Audit and Risk Nomination Remuneration
Responsible for overseeing the Responsible for advising on Responsible for recommending
finangial reporting process, succession matters and tatent the policy for the remuneration
significant accounting judgements management for the Board, of the Charman, Chief Executive,
and estimates, the Group's ethics Group Executive and Group Finance Diractor and the
programime, financial and Senor managernent Executive Committee
compliance controls and
risk management

Management committees

Executive Disclosure
Responsible for the day-to-day Responsible for the identification
management of the and disclosure of inside
Group's operations inforration and for ensuring that

announcernents comply with

applicable regulatory requirements

Board and committee attendance

Board Board Auditand Risk  Remuneration Nomination

{scheduled) {ad hoc Commitiee Committee Commiltee AGM
Mark Williamson 7/7 6/6 n/a nfa 747 Y
Andrew Heath  (appointed 3 September 2018} 2/2 373 n/a na ra n'a
Clive Watson’ 77 5/6 nfa nfa n/a Y
Russel! King 7 6/6 n/a 549 777 Y
Karim Bitar? 67 6/5 3/4 5/5 6/7 Y
UIf Quelimann? 7 6/6 3/4 4/5 &7 Y
Bill Seeger 77 6/6 4/4 n/a 717 Y
Kjersti Wiklund 77 6/6 n/a 5/5 77 Y
Martha Wyrsch 77 6/6 a/4 nfa 77 Y
John O'Higgins _ (retired 28 September 2018) 55 3/3 nfa na na Y

1. An ad hoc meeting of the Board was held in December 2018 1o discuss succession planning for the role of Chief Financial Officer. All Directors attended the meeling,
with the exception of Clive Watson who excused himsati from the discussion.

2. Karim Bitar was unable to attend the QOctaber Audit and Risk Committee, Nomination Committee and Board meetings due (¢ a competing engagement with
Genus plc where he is CEQ. Mr Bitar provided his detailed comments on the matters to be discussed (o the Chzirman ahead of the meetings

3. UIf Quellmann was unable to attend the January Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Audit and Risk Committee meetngs due to a competing
engagement with Rio Tinto where he holds an executive role. Mr Quellmann provided his detalled comments on the matters (o be discussed 10 the Chairman

ahead af the meetings
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

] Mark Wiiliamson {61)
Chairman {appointed May 2017)
Nationality: British

Mark Williamsan is a qualified accountant wath a strong finanaal badkground combined with c geria exp ce. He was
chuef finandial officer of International Power ple until 2012 and is experienced in managing relationships with the investor ang fingnc

communites. Prior to joming Intematonal Power plc, Mark wis group finanaal controlier and group chuef acountant of Simon Group
He 5 also a former seriar ndependent non-executive diractor and chairman of the audit committee of Alent ple,

Mark 5 chawvman of Imperial Brands plc and seruor independent non-executive director and chairmnan of the audit committee of Nationa)
Gnd pic. On 11 February 2019, Imperial Brands plc announced that Mark would step down as chaiman once a suitable successor had
been found.

] Andrew Heath {55)
Chief Executive (appointed September 2018)
Nationality: British

00

Andrew brings a wige range of executive and [eadership expertise to Spectns, with proven expenience in technology-enatiled businesses
and a rack record of delivering sharehalder value He previausly served as CEQ of imagination Technologies Group plc fsom 2016 10 2048
and betare that was CEQ of Alent plc, Prior to this, Andrew had a 30-year career with Rolls-Royce where he held a number of international
and senior management roles, latterly serving a5 the president of energy from 2010 to 2015. Andrew has a BSt in engineering from
trpenal Callege Londan and an M from Loughborough Univessity.

“‘| Clive Watson (61}
Group Finance Director (appointed October 2006)
Nationalsty: British

O

Chive Watson has corsiderable finance experience, having previously been chief financial officer and executive wice president for

business support at Boreals. Prior (o this, he was group finance directar at Thom Lighting Growp and graup tinance diector Eurcpe at
Black & Decker Clive 152 member of the Institute of Chanered Accountants in England and Wates and the Chartered tnsumute of Taxauon
On 15 January 2019 it was announced that Chive will retire frsm the Board no fater than 1 April 2019 followng a handover pened

with Derek Harding.

Clive s senor independent nonrexecutive director and chaman of the audit committee of Sprax-Sarco Engineering pic.

~1 Russel! King (61)
Senior Independent Director and Workforce Engagement Director (appointed Cctober 2010)
Nationality: British

ow®

Russell King has considerable intemational experfence acquired across a number of sectors, mduding miring and chemicak, together with
swrong experience in strategy and human resources He was previousty chief strategy officer of Anglo American PLC and a non-executve
director of Anglo Platinum Lid. Pror to that, he spent maore than 20 years in senior roles at IC!

Russel s chairman of Hummungtird Resources plc, senor independent nan-execuive director of Intersenve ple and an independent
non-exequinve at BDO LEP

] Karim Bitar {54)
Non-executive Director (appointed July 2017}
Nationality: Amencan

Karim Bitar has 7 ience of leading ir 1. tecnnology-foassed organisations. He i3 cumenily chiel execulive of

Genus plc Prior to jining Genus, Karind wirked for move than 15 years for Eii Lilly and Company, where he was president of Lilly Europe.
Canada and Australia. An ex-McKinsey and Company congultans, he atso held management roles al Johnson and johnson and the Dow
Chemical Company.

Kanm 5.2 member of the University of Michigan Ross School of Business Advisory Board.

Derek Harding, Chief Financial Officer Designate
On 15 January 2019, the Group annourked that Derek Harding would join the Board as Chief Finanaal Officer Designate on 1 March and would succeed Clve Watson a5
Chuef Finarwiat Qfficar no later than 1 Aprd 2019

Derek bangs a wide range of financial leadership and industdal expertise 1o Speciris He most recently served as group finance diractor at Shop Direcl. Priar to that, Derek was group
finance director at Senior pie from 2013 to 2017 and befare that. he was al Wolseley pic for 11 vears, most recently 83 finance director of Walseley UK. He previgusly held a number
of group roles indluding group finandal controller, director of group strategy and investor relatians, and kead of mergers and acquisitions. Derek qualified as a chartered accountant
wath PwC
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Ulf Quelimann (53)
Non-executive Director {(appointed January 2015)
Natonality: German

BJUBUIBAOD)

UIf Quellmana has broad general management expenence and considerable knowledge of the metals, mineraks and mining industry,
having worked in the sector for mare than16 years He 15 currently the chief executive officer of Turquoise Hill Resources Limited

(a company listed an the Toranto and New York Stock Exchanges). Pricr 10 that he was vice president, strategic projects of the copper and
diamonds product group at Rio Tinto ple and, before that, chief financal officer of the copper and dismonds progduct group, He was also
gronp treasures from 2008 to 2016. He has held senior positions 21 Altan Ine. snchuding vice: president, investor rlauons and madia
relations, and chief pansion investment officer and assistant treasurer, and serutr managament positions at General Motors, in both the
USA and the UK,

Bill Seeger (67) .
Non-executive Director (appomted January 2015}
Nationality: Amencan

oW

Bill Seeger has sgnificant corparate finance and accounting expenence, having formerly been group finance direcior of GKN ple and,
prior t that, president and CEQ of the propulsion systems and spedal products division and CFO in the serospace division of GKN
He spent most of his career at TRW, latterly in senior finance roles, induding as vice-president, finanaial planning and analyus, and
wvice-president, finance, of TRW Automotive.

Bill ks senior indapendent norrexeoutive directar and charr of the remuneration committes of Smiths Gicup pic and wsiting professor
at UCLA Anderson Schoot of Management.

Kjersti Wiklund (56)
Non-executive Director {appointed January 2017)
Nationality: Norwegian

Kgersti Wikhand brings significant knowdedge of the intemational telecommunications sector. Kjersti has hetd 3 series of senior global roles,
i ; directar, group technology ions at Vodafone; cheef operating officer of VimpelCom Russia, deputy chief exeastve officer
and chief technalogy officer of Kywstar in Ukrame, executive vice-president and chied tedhnology officer of Digy Telecommunications in
Malaysia, and executive vice-president and duef information officer at Telenor in Norway, Kjersti was previously 2 non-execuine director
of Laird plc in the UK, Cxense ASA and Fast Searth & Transfar ASA in Nonway and Telescience ing in the USA,

Kjerst s a non-executive director of Babcodk intermatonal Group PLC

Martha Wyrsch (61)
Non-executive Director {appointed June 2012)
Nationality: Amencan

Martha Wyrsch has held a number of senior executve positions in the energy industry and has sgrificant experience in Narth American
markets. She currently holds the posmon of executive vice-president and genera! counsel of Sempra Energy, a company quoted on the
New York Stock Exchange Previously, she was president of Vestas Americas, a subsidiary of Vestas Wind Systems A%5, and pnor to that
she was president and CEQ of Specira Energy Transmission. She was previcusly a non-executive director of SPX Corporation,

Mantha is a direcior of the Cristo Rey Network (a US non-profit educationa! foundation), [Enava, 5.4.B. (3 Mexican subsidiary of Sempra
Energy with publichy-traded shares) and a non-executive director of First American Financial Corparation Martha will retire frem Sempra
and will step down from all assocated subsidiary boards on 1 March 2019,

Mark Serfdzé
General Counse! and Company Secretary (appointed October 2017)

Mark joined Spactris from Rolls-Royce where he served as director of sk for four years and before that he spent 18 years at BAE
Systerns plc wherg he hetd a number of senior legal positons induding, tattedy, the rale of group cheef counsel compliance and reguiaton
Mark qualified 25 a sobater in 1999 and is a member of the Unversity Coliege Lonidon Centre for Ethics and Law Advisory Board.

Committee membership key

@ Audi and Risk @ Dmcosure
® Nomination @ Executive
® Remuneration

@ Chairman of Commitee

Membership as at 31 December 2018
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KEY AREAS OF BOARD ACTIVITY DURING THE YEAR

The Board is collectively responsible for the
long-term success of the Company. This is
achieved through the appropriate consideration
of strategic, operational, financial and risk matters.
This page details the focus of the Board during

2018 in support of that responsibility.

Strategy

Held a detailed annual strateqgy off-site
meetng for the Board and Executive.

Commenced a sirategic review, to target
asset optimisation, capital allocation and
portfclio composition.

Reviewed the Group’s operating model,
to reduce complexity and suppart Lean
practices.

Acquisitions, disposals and Jys

13

~

Approved the acquisitions of Concept
Life Sciences, Revolutionary Engineenng
and Vi-grade.

Undertook 24-month post-acquistion
review af Millbrook.

Undertook a hgh-level review of the
Group's approach to the mitigation

of the acquisition principal nsk.

Reviewed the Group's acquistion
pipeline.

Oversaw the finalisation of the formation
of a joint venture with Macguane Capital
through the divestment of 55% of the
Group's EMS Briel & Kjaer business.

Operations and risk

H

-

Recewed regular operational updates
from the Business Group Directors.
Attended site visits to Servomex and
Millbrook facilities and received business
updates from the Presidents of Millbrook
and Servomex.

Received presentations from members
of the leadership team responsible for
Lean and Supply Chain Management.

Reviewed the Group’s principat risks and
systems for identfication, management
and mitigation.

Reviewed the Group's approach to the
wdentification and management of
political and economic nisk,
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Finance

Leadership and people

v

-

Discussed the compositron of the Board
and its Committees, including

succession planning

Reviewed the Group's talent pipeline and
undertook a deep dive review of diverse
candidates within that pipeline

Reviewed the develapment of people
within the senior management
community, including succession
planning for senior leaders.

Appointed a new Chief Executive.
Deep dive review of the Group’s people
prncipal risk.

Appointed Workforce Engagement
Director as Board lead for workforce
engagement

Finance

¥

-

Monitored progress against the 2018
financial plan and considered and
approved the 2019 financial plan
Reviewed and monitored the impact and
progress of Project Uplift

Approved the Annual Report, interim
results and full/half-year resuits
presentations to analysts

Considered and approved the Group’s
gaoing concern and viability statements.
Reviewed the dwidend policy

and recommended the final and
intenm diwmdends.

Reviewed matenal capital expenditure
requests from operating companies

r
n
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Governance and ethics

» Appointment and induction of the

new Chief Executive

Discussed the outcome of the 2017

internal Board evaluation and agreed

opportunities for improvement

» Completion of 2018 internal evaluation
of the Board, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Audit and
Risk Committee, led, respectively, by the
Chairman and the Chairmen of the
Board Committees

» Reviewed feedback from
institutional shareholders.

» Reviewed and approved the terms of
reference for the Board Committees.

» Reviewed and considered the Group's
response to the 2018 Hampton-
Alexander Review.

v Received updates from the General

Counsel and Company Secretary on

developments in corporate governance

and key legal and requlatory ratters.

Regular review of ongoing

litigation matters,

Reviewed the Group's workplan to

support comphance with the 2018

UK Corporate Governance Code.

» Conducted regular meetings of the
Non-executive Directors without
management being present

» Undertook an annual detailed review
of the Group’s ethics programme.

-

-

-



BOARD ACTIVITY

Board diversity policy
In 2018, the Board revewed s approach to the promotion
of dwersity and approved the following policy”

"The Board 15 committed to further promoting diversity and
inclusiveness of all kinds throughout the Group, regardless of
geography or positon  The Board agrees that diversity, which
should be construed ir its broadest sense and includes gender and
ethnic diversity, 1s an important factor in Board effectveness and
the Group is a supportive participant of the Hampton-Alexander
Review which sets a target for the percentage of women on FTSE
boards and keadership teams to reach one third by 2020."

In support of this policy, the Company has only engaged search
firms during the year which have signed up 1o the Voluntary Code
of Conduct for Executive Search Firms on gender dversity and
best practice.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has thoroughly
reviewed gender composition at senior management levels within
the Group and also undertook 2 deep dive review of diverse talent
within the crganisation and the approach of management to the
development of that talent.

During 2019, the Nomination Committee will continue to review
the Group’s progress against the Hampton-Alexander Review and
will further consider the Group’s approach 1o talent management
and succession planning.

Ongoing Board training and development

Board meetings are held regularly at our operating company sites,
giving the Board the opporturity to tour the sites, mest local
management and employges and gain an in-depth knowledge

of the Group’s operations. Further details of the Board's site visits
dunng the yaar are set out below

In addition, during 2018 the Board received detailed ovenews

of the Group's Lean programme and Supply Chain Management
programme from the Group's subject matter experts and techrnucal
updates were also provided by the General Counsel and Company
Secretary and the Group's remuneration consultants

The Non-gxecutive Directors have access to an externally-provided
programme of training to enable them to undertake their own
programme of continuing professional development

Board evaluation

In accordance with current best practice and the Code, the Board
undertakes an annual formal evaluation of its performance and
effectiveness and that of each Director and its Commuttees, with
an external evaluation every three years, The most recent external
evaluation took place in 2016 and was led by Dr Tracy Long. The
2017 and 2018 evaluations were undertaken intemnally and were
led by the Charman. The evaluations were supplemented by
individual evaluation exercises for each Board Committee which
were managed by the relevant Committee chairman. A summary
of activity undertaken by the Board during the year in support of
the findings of the 2017 evaluation process is set aut below:

» Strategy and stakeholder considerations: The Board worked
closely with the new Chief Executive to monitor and challenge
the progress of the Group's strategic review and the impact of
the proposed strateqy on the Group’s key stakeholders,
particularly employees, customers and shareholders.

» Risk management: The Board began a series of deep dive

discussions on each pnncipal risk during the year. These deep

dive discussions will continue as part of the ordinary Board

agenda in 2019

Board meetings: A comprehensive 8oard planner was

intraduced during the year to ensure that the structure and

planning of Board meetings supponted the effective focus on key

-

issues and allowed sufficient opportunities for open dialogue and

debate.
Succession planning: The Nomination Committee focused

-

heavily on executve and senior management succession planning
duning the year, induding the review of senior talent and diversity

in the talent pipeline. The Nomination Committee and the wider
Board also spent considerable time overseeng the search and
selection process for a new Chief Executive and Chief Financial
Officer

» Board continuing development; Site visits to Servomex and
Milibrook supported the Board's deepening knowledge of bath
businesses and gave the Roard an addimonat opportunity 10 meet
with key management below the Group Executive team.

The 2018 evaluation took place in December 2018 and built on the

outcomes of the 2017 evaluation ahead of a formal, externally-led

evaluation process being undertaken in 2019,

During s visit to Servomex in Apri, the
Board recewved a presentation from the new
president, Trevor Sands, which included an
overview of the business and its strategy
Trevor also led the Board in a tour of the
facility, which highirghted the operating
company’s approach to health and safety
and also the implementation of the Lean
production system.

In October, the Board visited Milloroock
Proving Ground {left) and toured recent
changes to the facility, including the recently
expanded equipment and fadiiites for
testing low emission vehicle technology and
the work Millbrook is undertaking to
support Transport for London on its new Bus
Safety Standard.

During both visits, the Board was able to
mieet with the ranagement team and key
employees outside of the formal meetings.

Spectris plc 49

LUIIA0G



2018 UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Activity to support the appiication of the
2018 UK Corporate Governance Code

»

Culture
and
Values

The new Code requires that the Board satisfies itself that
the Company’s purpose, values and strategy are aligned
with the Company’s culture. Further, the Board should
assess and maonitor the Company’s culture on an ongoing
basis, [ead by example and promote the desired culture.

»

Remuneration

Under the new Code, the Reruneration Committee is
required to review workforce compensation and related
policies and the alignment of incentives and rewards with
cufture, and to take this review into account in the setting
of the policy for Executive Director remuneration,

»

Workforce
and
Stakeholder
Engagement

]

The new Code emphasises that the Board should
understand the views of key stakehoiders and ensure that
the Annual Report includes an explanation of how their
interests have been considered in decision-making.
Stakeholder engagement mechanisms should be kept under
review and, in particular, the new Code prescribes how the
Board should engage with the workforce.

Workforce Engagement Director ("WED')

In December 2018, Russell King was appointed as the Board lead for workforce engagement. The role profile for the
Workforce Engagement Director was agreed by the Board and includes:

» Being available Lo the workforce if they have concerns which
escalation through the normal company channels has failed
to resolve, or for which such contact is inappropriate

Attending, where appropnate, sufficent meetings with
workforce representatives to obtain a balanced understanding
of the issues and concerns of the workforce.

» Reviewing employee engagement mechanisms annually with
the Board toc ensure they remain effective.

Penodically reviewing the channels available for the workforce
1o raise concerns in confidence and — if they wish —
anonymously, to consider whether such arrangements are
proportionate and whether independent investigation of such

'

matters, and any follow-up actions, are proporhionate and
appropriately managed.

Providing timely and appropriately detailed feedback to the
Board as a whole on any workforce concerns or issues
raised, whilst observing the confidentiality of individuals who
have raised concerns, and supporting an appropriate focus
being placed on workforce considerations during relevant
Board deliberations

In completing these duties, the Workforce Engagement Director
will be supported by the Group HR Director and the Generaf
Counsel and Company Secretary.

-
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In late 2018, the Group Executive team began a review of the Group’s culture in support

of the wider Group strategic review announced in Novernber 2018, Duning 2018, the Board
will oversee this review of the culture of the Group and assess progress against the Group's
agreed strategy with culure being indluded as 2 spedific fem of discussion on the Board's
annual agenda plan

In support of this new focus, the Board approved new Matters Reserved to the Board and
revised extended terms of reference for alf key Board Committees in December 2018 to reflect

w

the proposed kocus an cuiture Copies of each document are avallable at www spectris com. The Board will
implement and
iterate their
approach to
applying the 2018
+ Dunng 2018, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the requirements of the new Code and dewvised an UK Corporate
extended work plan for 2019, which has now also been reflected in the Committee’s terms of reference. Governance Code
Dunng 2019, the Committee will rewew wider workforce remuneration, pension and related matters, during 2019 to
including CEO average pay. and will also cansider the Group’s gender pay gap in conjunction with the ensure that the

Nomunation Commuttee (further details are set aut on page 40).

As part of the Board's ongoing oversight of the culture of the Group, consideration will also be gven 1o

how the Group rewards appropniate behaviours and the Commitiee wiki review the best way to Capture

culture and behawour in the 2020 Remuneration Poliy.

+ The Nomination Commuttee wall begin the recrutment process for the successor to Russell King as suppon"l to the .
Remuneration Committee Chairman in 2019 and will ensure the successful candidate has the pre- Group's strategic
appointment experience that the new Code now requires of any new Remuneration Committee Chairman. aims. A summary

of the application

of the new Code

approach to
implementation
provides optimal

» In December 2018, the Board appointed Russell King as Workforce Engagement Nirector and will be detailed in

an agenda (or workforce engagement in 2019 was agreed. Further details are set out below the 2019 Annual
» The Ethics and Compliance Enhancement Programme, together with the Speciris independent Report and
reporting hotline, will support further in-depth reporting in 2013 on HR issues and non- Accounts.

financial matters, for review and consideration by the Audit and Risk Cormmittee and the Board.
The Board has bult into its review and deaision-making processes the consideration of
stakeholder interests which 1s now captured in all Board papers in a proportionate and
appropnate way relevant to the matter to be considered.

A proportionate shareholder engagement prograrmme will be launched duning 2019 1o support
the successful agreement of the Group's Remuneation Policy by shareholders, in advance of

a binding sharehglder vote at the 2020 AGM.

-

Proposed Workforce Engagement activities for 2019
The Board has endorsed the following workplan for the Workforce Engagement Director for 2019:

» The Workforce Engagement Director will attend informal » A deep dive review of workfarce remuneration will
meetings with employee stakeholder groups which will include be undertaken with the suppart of the Graoup HR Director
a cross-section of roles and perspectives, including graduates, and the results of this review will be shared with the
apprentices and managers at key sites Remuneration Compmittee and be used as support for

v A deep dive review of HR cases and themes arising from the the Group's Remuneration Policy review.
Group’s Speak Up process (detalled on page 39) will be v Detailed bnefings will be provided on key employee
undertaken with the support of the General Counsel engagement activty undertaken by management and the
and Company Secretary. key outcomes of this actity.

This plan will be subject to iteration and change as the year
progresses to support the Board in achieving effective
warkforce engagement

Spectris plc
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Nomination Committee recognises that ongeing and
effective talent management is key 1o achieving the
Group's strategic objectives.

Duiing 2018, the Committee has continued to take a keen interest
in the development of talent and capabilities below Board leve!,
challenging management to ensure that appropriate opportunities
are n place to develop high-performing individuals and to buid
diversity in senior roles across the Group. From this review we have
built greater clanty and a common understanding with
management of the key talent wathin the Group and this common
understanding will strengthen the Group’s overall capabilities in the
near term. The development of talent within the organisation wall
be the subject of ongoing dialogue in 2019.

The Committee also spent considerable tume selecting and
recommending the appomntment of a new Chief Executve The
process undertaken, which led to the appointment of Andrew
Heath, 15 set out in detail on the opposite page.

Mark Williamson
Chairman of the Nomination Committee
19 February 2019

Role of the Committee

The Committee leads the process for Board appointments and

makes recommendations to the Board in this regard. In fulfilling

this role, the Commuttee evaluates the balance of skills, expenence,

independence and knowledge on the Board. The Board values

diversity and, when recruiting new Boarg members, addresses

. the 1s5ue of diversity, with particular regard to the percentage

of women on the Board.

The key responsibilities of the Committee are:

reviewing the size, structure and composition of the Board,

1 recommending membership of Board Committees,

» undertaking succassion planning for the Chairman, Executive
Directors and senior managemsn,

» searching for candidates for the Board, and recommending
Directors for appointment;

» deterrmining the independence of Directors,

» assessing whether Directors are able to commit enough time
10 discharge their responsibilities; and

+ reviewing the induction and training needs of Directors

-
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& The Committee has continued
to take a keen interest in the
development of talent and
capabilities below Board level. ¥

Detailed terms of reference for the Committee can be found
at www.spectris.com,

Membership and attendees

Throughout 2018, all Non-executive Directors were members of the
Committee. Meetings of the Committee are normally attended by
the Chief Executive and Group HR Director {except duning any
discusston of their cwn role).

Activities of the Committee during 2018
Buring the year, the Commuttee’s key activities included:

the search and selection process for a new Chief Executive which
culminated in the recommendation of Andrew Heath's
appointment t¢ the Board,

the search and selection process for a new Chief Financial Officer
which culminated in the recommendation of Derek Harding's
appointment 1o the Board;

reviewing and challenging the Group's talent management and
succession planning at a Group Executive and operating
company management level;

undertaking a detailed review of diverse candidates within the
Group's talent pipeline, in suppart of the Board diversity polcy
{see page 49 for details);

considering the independence of each Non-executive Director
and their time comrmitments, and

prowiding continued oversight of a Group-wide organisational
capability review.

The Committee’s performance was assessed as part of the Board's
annual effectveness revew It was concluded that the Committee
had operated effectively. '

-

v

v

-

w

~

During 2019, the Committee will continue to focus on succession
planning and supporting the diverse composition of the Board,
Executive and senior management in support of the Board's
diversity policy as set out on page 49,

Focus will also be placed on non-executive succession planning, and
in particular succession for Russell King who will have served on the
Board for nine years in October 2019. The Board has asked Mr King
to remain on the Board until the 2020 AGM 1o support both
succession planning and the setting of the Group’s Remuneration
Policy in 2020. In planning succession, the Committee will pay
particular attention 1o the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code's
creria for Remuneration Committee Chairmen and the fact the
Company has yet ta reach the 2020 target set out in the Hampton-
Alexander Review of 33% femnale representation on the Board.



Board composition

As at 31 Decernber 2M8

Gender diversity

m See page 49 for details of the Company’s
Board dversty policy

Non-executive Director tenure

Appointment of the new Chief Executive

In May 2018, the Group announced that, after 12 years in the
role, John O'Higgins intended to step down from the role of
Chief Executive once a replacement had been appointed to
the Board.

The Board commenced a ngorous process 1o identify and
appoint a new Chief Executive. A Selection Committee was
formed as a sub-set of the Nomination Committee which was
led by the Chairman and comprised Russell King, Bill Seeger and
Martha Wyrsch.

The key stages in the selection and appoinitrnent process were,
as follows:

» The Selection Committee had a number of discussions

to scope the key skills, experience, behaviours and style

of leadership that would be required to successfully lead

the Group as Chief Executive The specific qualities

wentified included”

» a strong track record of leading strategic direction and

driving a growth agenda,

» broad knowledge and dernonstrable expertise of operating
in the industnal manufacturing and engineering sectors;
credible relationships with relevant external stakeholders,
including significant investor experience,

» proven understanding and application of bulding
organisational capability, and
» leadership experience within a strong values-based culture.

The Committee engaged Egon Zehnder to work with the
Committee 1o establish a long list of candidates (induding
diverse and internal candidates) who were then considered
against the Selection Commutiee’s specificanons for the role.
Egon Zehnder s a signatory 10 the Voluntary Cede of Conduct
for Executive Search Firms on gender diversity and best
practice and, aside from assisting with the recruitment and
development of senior leaders, has no other links with the
Cormpany Due to the public announcement made regarding
John Q'Higgms’ departure, it was not considered necessary
to separately publidy advertise the role

w

-

» The Selection Commuttee then determined a shorthist of
internal and external candidates based on the agreed ¢ritena
and then undertook a two-stage in person interview process
with each candidate.

» The wader Nomination Committee was briefed on progress
by the Selection Committee and Egon Zehnder. The remaining
members of the Nomination Commitiee then met with
preferred candidates ahead of a recommendation being made
to the Board to appoint Andrew Heath as Chief Executive.

Following the identification of Mr Heath as the preferred
candidate, the Remuneration Committee sought to agree

a competitive remuneration package to secure his appointment.
This was achieved within the Group’s existing Remuneration
Policy and further details are set out on pages 60 10 78.

What Andrew Heath brings to the role

» Education: Bachelor of Science, Imperial College London and

Masters of Business Administration, Loughborcugh University.

Experience: Two previous UK listed CEO roles and almost

30 years' experience at Rolis-Royce pic where he held

significant and global leadership roles.

Expertise: strategy, industrial, financial, mergers and

acquisitions and investor.

» Industry experience engineering, manufactunng, technology
and B2B

“0Our Chief Executive search was conducted in a
collaborative and thoughtful manner, with keen focus
from all members of our Board of Directors, led by our
Chairman and the Selection Committee. The deliberate
pace resulted in a thorough review of a number of diverse
candidates and ensured that we selected a leader with the
skills and acumen to drive Spectris forward with
momentum and vitality.”

~

-

Martha Wyrsch
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

| am pleased to present the report to shareholders on the activities
of the Audit and Risk Commuttee during 2Q18. This report sets out
how the Committee has assessed the integrity of the Group's
finanaial reporting processes, the quabhty and eflectiveness of
nternal audit and the Group's systems of risk management and
internal control, and the quality and effectiveness of the

external audit

The Committee met four times during the year. The meetings are
aligned to the Group's financial reporting timetable, to allow
sufficient time for full discussion of key topics and enable early
identfication and resolution of risks and 1ssues. The Comrmittee has
an annual calendar of activitles to ensure that all significant areas
of nsk rnanagement are addressed. The schedule is flexible to
ensure that the Committee’s activities allow for the review of
regulatory developments and emerging best practice.

The Committee considers it important to interact with members of
managernent beyond the Executve Committee. The Committee
held its meeting in October at Millbrook Proving Ground and spent
time with the Millbrook senior leadership team to discuss the
opportunities and risks faced by the business. As Chairman of the
Commuttee, | also met regulary with management, internat audit
and the external auditor between Committee meetings

Deloitte LLP was appointed as the Company’s auditor in 2016
following a competitive tender and they have now completed their
second year as auditor. The Committee carried out an assessment
of the performance, independence and effectiveness of Deloitte
dunng the year and was satisfied that Deloitte remain effective

in their role,

A The Committee will continue
to focus on risk management
and the Group’s ongoing
enhancements to systems of
governance and internal control. K¥

The UK Carparate Gowverriance Code invrtes the Committee to
report on the significant matters considered during the year. 1 am
satisfied that our actvities have provided the Committee with

a good understanding of the key matters impacting the Group
during the year and details are contained iy this report. From my
perspective, the most important matters were:

+ the consideration of changes in the presentation of alternative
performance measures refated to the 2018 Financial Statements;
the continued review of the impact of IFRS 15 on the timing of
revenue recognition across the Group,

> the annual impairment review;

» the review of the financal reporting process, estimates

and judgements, and

the review of the Group Ethics and Compliance Enhancement
Programme which will enhance the Group's approach 1o
monitoring and mingating of actrons in respect of ethics,
anti-bribery and corruption and export controls.

As a Committee, we continue to focus on risk rmanagement and,
in particular, the Group's ongoing enhancements to systems of
governance and internal control.

-

-

| hope that this review, and the report that follows, is useful in
understanding the work of the Committee during the year. The
Committee encourages shareholder feedback and | look forward to
meeting with shareholders at owr Annual General Meeting in May.

Bill Seeger
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee
19 February 2019

Membership and attendance

relevant to the sectors in which the Company operates.

for part of this session.

The Committee 1s comprised solely of independent Non-executive Directors. Bill Seeger, Martha Wyrsch, Ulf Quellmann and Kanm Bitar
were members of the Comimittee throughout 2018, Bill Seeger is determined by the Committee to have “recent and refevant financial
experience’ as required by the Code. All members of the Committee are considered to have competencies that the Board deems

Meetings are normally attended by the Chawman, the Chief Executive, the Group Finance Director, the Head of Internal Audit,
the General Counsel and Company Secretary and representatives of the external auditor. The Committee retains trme around each
meeting to meet separately without management present and invites the Head of Internal Audit and the external auditor to attend

During the year, the Committee reviewed the annual forward agenda and its terms of reference and condiuded that, for the coming
year, three longer meetings of the Committee would be scheduled in place of four, to allow for a more focused review of audit and
risk management. The annual forward agenda and terms of reference were amended to accommodate this change.
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Key areas of focus in relation to the Financial Statements

Issues and significance

> The role of the Committee

> Comments and conclusions >

Change in the presentation of Alternative Performance Measures

In Novemnber 2018, the Group announced the
implementation of a Group-wide profit
improvement programme The total costs of
irnplementation of this programme are considered
to be significant in both nature and amourt On
this basis, the costs of the implementation of this
programme are excduded from adjusted operating
profit Adjusted operating profit including on a
like-for-like basis) s therefore presented before the
impact of Project Uplft and Group profit
improvement programme costs, which have been

The Commitiee considered the
presentation of the Financial Statements
and the use of alternative performance
measures and the presentation of
adjusted items, induding the change in
the Group's definition of adjusted
items, The Committee received a report
from management cutlining the
judgermnenits applied in relation 1o the
disclosure of adjusted items and,
challenged by the external auditor,

The Committee consiclered the change
n definition of adjusted measures and
reviewed the restated comparative
adjusted figures for 2017. With the
challenge of the external auditor, the
Committee agreed that the Finandial
Staternents included dear and
meaningfu! descriptions of the
alternative performance measures usad,
including appropriate re-statement of
prior year figures. It was also concluded

IFRS 15 throughout 2018, Under IFRS 15, an entity
15 required to recognise revenue when it transfers
goods/iservices to the customer in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
and sennces.

rmanagement’s approach 1o the
changes to revenue recognition, the
assumptions and estimates, and the
impact on the Group's revenue. They
also reviewed the approach of the
external auditor ta the design of audit
procedures to support the avoidance
of the misstaterent of revanue.

combined as restructunng for presentation considered whether the performance that the relationship between these

purposes Adjusted operating profit after Project measures and use of adjusted items measures and the statutory IFRS

Uplift costs has been presented for ease of proposed by management provided a measures was clearly explained and

comparability between 2017 and 2018 meaningful insight inta the resulis of supported the understanding of the
the Company for shareholders. Financial Staterents.

Revenue recognition

The Company has been reguired to comply with The Cormmittee considered The Committee considered the

judgements made by management
regarding the impact of IFRS 15 for the
year ended 31 December 2018 The
external auditor confirmed to the
Committee during the year that it had
audited the accounting treatment
adopted by management in respect

of [FRS 15,

Review of goodwill and intangible assets for impairment

Management assessed the carrying value of its
cash-generating units, including detailed valug-in-
use calculabons, to ensure that the carrying values
recognised were supported by future forecast
discounted cash flows. Concept Life Sciences’
performance following acquisition has been below
expectations duning 2018. As part of the annual
impairment review process, it was determined that
for this cash-generating unit, a reasonably possible
change in assumptions could lead to an impairment
in the future Further detaled disclosure around
the sensitivities is set out in Note 11 1o the
Financial Statements.

The Committee reviewed and
challenged assumptions made by
management i their assessment of
the valuation of goodwall and
intangible assets and considered the
challenge from the external auditor on
the assumptions underpinning
management’s estimates. The
Committee then agreed with
management an increased level of
disclosure to support their assessment.,

For all cash-generating units, except
Concept Life Sciences, management
did not consider there 10 be any
reasonably possible scenarnios that
could anse in the next 12 months that
would result in an impairment charge
being recognised. Following the
assessment by management and the
review and challenge of the external
auditor and the Committee, it was
confirmed that a reasonably possible
change in assumption could lead to an
impairment of Concept Life Scences in
the future

Estimation, uncertainty and judgement

During the year, the Committee received reports
and recommendations from management to
cansider the significant accounting issues,
estimates and judgements applicable to

the Group's Financial Statements and disclosures.

The key risks of estmation disciosed in the
Group's 2018 Financial Staternents are: the
assumptions applied in the calculation of
retrarnent benefit plan labilities; provisions for
uncertain exposures and tax positions; and
estimates used in the annual impairment review

Further details are set out in Note 1, Nate 8, Note
11 and Note 20 to the Financial Staternents.

Management confirmed to the
Committee that they were not aware
of any material or immateria)
misstatemants made intentionally to
achieve a particular presentation.

The Committee reviewed presentations
by management and questioned
Deloitte 10 understand whether the
external auditor had, to the
Committee’s satisfaction, fulfilled its
responsibilities with diligence

and professional scepticism and in

a sufficiently robust manner,

After reviewing and challenging the
presentations and reports from
management and consulting, where
necessary, with the external auditor,
the Commiittee is satisfied that the
Financial Statements appropnately
address crtical judgements and key
estmates {both in respect of the
amounts reperted and the disclosures)

The Commuttee is also satisfied that
the sigruficant assumptions used for
deterrnining the value of assets and
liabilities have been appropriately
serutinised and challenged and are
sufficiently robust.
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPCRT continued

Role of the Committee

The Committee supports the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in respect of overseeing the Company's financial reporting processes;
reviewing, challenging and approving significant accounting judgements proposed by management, reviewing and monitonng the way
i which management ensures and oversees the adequacy of financial, nsk management and comphance controls; the appointment,
remuneration, independence and performance of the Group's external auditor; and the independence and parformance of internal audit

Details of the work carried out by the Committee in accordance with its terms of reference and in addressing significant ssues are reported
to the Board as a matter of course by the Chairman of the Committee and are described in this report The terms of reference for the

Committee can be found at www spectns.com.

Principal areas of responsibility

+ Accounting Standards » Principal Risks
» Finandial St ws N - » Risk Management Systems
» Viabily Statements Accounting, Risk management | » Internal Contrals —
> going Congem Code tax and financial and internal controls gfosedur:sméﬂd Knms\;ssgsw
3 Comarate Governance : - + Business Ethics, Anti-&ri A
» Disclosure Contrats and | 'oPOUn9 Audit Compliance and Fraud
Procedures and Risk » whistleblowing
. s+ Internal Audil Reports
v Exteral Audit Approach Committee
& Scope
v Auditor Appointment & Fees
» External Audit Findings External auditor
+ Non-Audit fees
+ Assessing the effectiveness
of the external auditor
Activities of the Committee during 2018 | 2 Risk management and internal controls j

The Committee has an annual forward agenda developed from its
terms of reference with standing items considered at each meeting
in addition to any specific matters anising and topical business or
financial #ems an which the Committee has chosen to focus.

The work of the Committee in 2018 prinaipally fell into three

main areas:

[ 1. Accounting, tax and financial reporting ]

s reviewing the integnity of the half-year and annual Financial

Statements and the associated significant financial reporting

judgements, estimates and disciosures;

considering the liquidity nsk and the basis for prepanng the

half-year and annual Financial Statements on a gaing concern

basis, and reviewing the related disclosures i1 the Annual Report

and Accolmts,

+ considenng the provisions of the Code regarding going concern
and viability statements and reviewing emerging practice and
irvestor comment as well as the Group's Viability Statement,

» reviewing updates on accounting matters including the new
accounting standard on leases (IFRS 16}, and

» reviewang the processes to assure the integnty of the Annual
Report and Accounts, as well as reviewing.

the management representation letter to the external auditor;
the findings and opinions of the external auditor;

the dhsclosures in relation 1o internal controls and the work
of the Committee:

that the information presented in the Annual Report and
Accounts, when taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and
understandable and contains all relevant information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Company's performance,
business model and strategy and the processes undertaken
to support the disclosure of that information;

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures
designed o ensure that the Annual Report and Accounts
complies with all reélevant legal and regulatory requirements,
» the process designed to ensure the external auditor is aware
of all 'relevant audit information’, as required by sections 418
and 419 of the Companies Act 2006; and

the Directors’ Report,

-

-

~

-

-

-
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assessing the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control emvironment and making recommendations to
the 8oard;

considering reports from internal audit;

considering the level of alignment between the Company's
principal risks and internal audit programme;

reviewing the adequacy of resources of the internal audit
function and considering and approving the scope of the internal
audit programme;

considenng the effectiveness of internal audt,

reviewing the Group’s ongoing litigation matters;

reviewing the control procedures in place to comply with the
Group’s policies an business ethics, anti-brnbery, comphance and
fraud, including the steps being taken to enhance the Group’s
ethics and compliance programme;

reviewing matters reported to the external whistieblowing
hotline and the status of associated investigations; and
considering reports from the external auditor on their assessment
of the control environment.

further details of the Group’s whistleblowing policy and approach
to the management of ethical conduct are set out in the
Sustainability Report on page 39

l

3. External auditor ]

>

¥

considering the re-appointment of the external auditor;

considering and approwing the audit approach and scope of the
audit undertaken by Deloitte as external auditor and the fees for
the same;

agreeing reporting materiality thresholds;

v reviewing reports on audn findings;
» considering and approving letters of representation issued to

Delaitte; and

considening the independence of Deloitte and their effectiveness,
taking into account:

v non-audit work undertaken by the external auditor;
» feedback from a survey targeted at various stakeholders; and
» the Commuttee’s own assessment



Internal control and risk management systems

The Board is responsible for determirung the nature and extent

of the significant risks it is willing 10 take in achieving its particular
objectives and 15 utimately respnnable for the effectiveness of the
sk management and intemal controh systemns that safeguard
shareholders’ investments and the Company's assets To ensure
the effectiveness of these systerns, at the Board's request, a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Group ts undertaken by
the Committee.

Before reporting its findings and recommendations to the Baard,
the Commirtee:

» evaluates and challenges the results and recommendations
of audits undertaken by the internal audit team and the
external auditor;
» Teviews reports received on significant control issues to the
Group and considers and challenqges as necessary the adequacy
of managerment’s response 1o any matters raised,
appraises the Group's respense to information security and data
protection nsks;
Considers the Group's ethics programme and the anti-bribery and
Corruption audit programme;
» considers common control themes identfied throughout the
buginess, and where themes are igdentified, ensures that
subsequent action has been taken to minimise the risk,

assesses the Group's responsitiiities relating to regulated
exposures of the Group,

reviews the annual Audit and Risk Committee agenda; and

has oversight of the governance and risk management
framework, ncluding a definition of risk appetite by risk category
and principal risk, put in place throughout the Group.

The effectiveness of nsk management and mitigation is reviewed
regularly by the Executive Committee and twice yearly by the Audit
and Risk Committee The Board notes that, as with alt such systems,
the Group's nsk management and internal control framework 15
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, risk of failure 1o achieve
business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not
absolute assurance against matenal misstatement or loss.

~

-

~

-

-

Viability Statement

The Committee reviewed the 2018 Viability Statement in light of
faciors affecting the duration over which the Viability Statement is
made, including the strategic planning process, the three-year
period over which the potential impact and velocity of matenal risks
are evaluated, the duration of the Group's sources of credit and
future prospects The Committee remains of the view that the
statement made regarding the Company's viability period continues
to be an accurate assessment of the Company's viability as at the
date of the report.

The Viability Statement is set out on page 37.

Independent assurance

Internal audit
The Committee has oversight responsibslities for the internal audit
funetion, which is led by the Head of Internal Audit.

The purpose of the internal audit function is to provide
independent, objective assurance to add value and improve the
Group’s operations. its responsibilities include assessing the key risks
of the organisation and examining, evaluating and reporting on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of internal control and
risk management in place, and the governance processes In
operation throughout the Group.

During the year, the Committee considered the internal audit
programme for the forthcoming year and reviewed the proposed
audit approach, coverage and allocation of resources

The Committee also reviewed the progress updates against the
2018 actwity of internal audit, received reports on issues of
significance ta the Group and reported to the Board on its
evaluation of these findings. Muning the year, the Committee
carried out an assessment of the effectiveness of the nternal
audit function. This assessment incorporated feedback from the
operating company leadership teams and Group functions.

The Committee discussed the feedback with the Head of Internal
Audit and 1t was agreed that the Group’s internal audit processes
remnained effective.

SURWIBAOY

Externa! auditor
The Commitiee is responsible for managing the relationship with
the Group's external auditor on behalf of the Board.

The Company last undertook a tender for external audit setvices
during 2016 which led to the appointment of Deloitte LLP at the
May 2017 Annual General Meeting (' AGM'). The lead audit partner
is Mark Mullins who has held the role since May 2017.

During the year, the Committee cartied out an assessment of the
external auditor which focused on their perforrnance during the
2017 audit and reported these findings to the Board. To support
this assessment, the Committee invited members of the Group
and operating cornpany finance teams to prowide their feedback.
in addition, the Commiittee reviewed the Audit Quality Inspection
pubhic report for 2017/18 for Deloitte. After taking these reports
into consideration, together with the auditor's report on their
approach to audit quality and wansparency, the Committee
concluded that the auditors demonstrated appropriate
qualfications and expertise and remained independent of the
Group and that the audit process was effective.

The Committee reviewed the proposed engagement letter for the
audst of the 2018 Financial Statements and determined the
proposed remuneration of Deloitte in accordance with the authority
given to it by shareholders at the 2018 AGM. The Commiitiee
considered the proposed auditor's remuneration to be appropriate.

It is proposed that Delotte be re-appointed as auditors of the
Company a1 the next AGM in May 2019 and, if so re-appointed,
that they will hold office until the condusion of the next general
meeting of the Company at which accounts are laid Further details
are set out in the Notice of Meeting, which s available at

The Group will continue the practice of the rotation of the audit
engagement partner at least every five years, with all other
partners and semor management required to rotate at least every
seven years The independent external auditor’s report 10
shareholders is set out on pages 84 to 91. As detalled above,

the Company complied with the Statutory Audit Services Order
2014 throughout 2018

Non-audit fees

The Comrmtiee believes that non-audit work may only be
undertaken by the external auditor in Iimited circumstances.

A cumuiative annual cap 1s imposed for non-audit services

provided by our external auditor {save for acquisition due diligence),
above which all engagements are subject to the Committee’s

prior approval.

The Committee's non-audit services policy is available at

www. spectns.corm, Non-autht fees for services provided by Deloitte
for the year amounted to £0.1 milhon {5% of the audit fee)
Further details are ingluded in Note S to the Financial Statements.

Performance review

The Commuttee’s performance was assessed during the year

under the stewardship of the Commitiee Chairman and this review
was fed inta the wider Board evaluation process which was led by
the Chairman It was concluded that the Committee

operated effectively.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The UK Listing Rules stipulate that listed companies must indude in their annual report a statement of whether they have
complied with all the relevant provisions of the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code ('the Code’), which can be found

at www.frc.org.uk.

Durng 2018, Spectnis complied fully with the Code. The notes below are intended to assist with the evahuation
of Spectris’ compliance during 2018 and the processes put in place to support the continuation of best

governance principles. -

A. Leadership

B. Effectiveness continued

A.1 The role of the Board

The Board 15 collectvely resparnsible for promoting the success of Specins and the
operaton of effective govemance arrangements with a view to the creation

of strang, sustainable finandat performance and long-term sharehalder value.
The steps the Board Lakes to faclitate this ase outfinad in the Govemance Repert
set out on pages 44 10 83,

The Board held seven scheduled meeungs in 2018 in order to revieww the
Company's performance and strategy against set obyectives, Details of Board and
Board Camrmittee attendance for 2018 are set out on page 45.

The Board has adopted a dear schedule of matters reserved for its spedific
approval, including a framewark for those decisions which can be delegated to
commmtees or otherwise, A full list of matters reserved to the Board 1s available
at www._spectns cam.

A8 Directors ane covered by a directers” and officers’ insurance policy.

A2 Division of responsibilities

The roles of Chairman and Cheef Executive are separate, with both having
distnct and deardy defined responsibilities which are established in written
terms of reference that have been agreed by the Board and which are available
at www Specris com. The Chairman s responsible for the leadership and
effeciveness of the Board, and the Chuel Executive is responsible for leading the
day-to-day management of the Company within the strateqgy set by the Boasd

A.3 The Chairman
The Charman sets the agenda for meetings, manages the meeung imetable and
facilitates open and constructive dialogue during the meetings

The Chairman was independent an appointment.

A.4 Non-executive Directors

The Chairmnan promotes an open and constructive environment in the boardroom
and actively invites the Non-executive Directors' views to help develop proposals
on strategy and scrutinuse the performance of management against set goals

and objectives They should savisfy themsebves on the integrity of financial
mfoemation and that financial contrals and systemns of nsk management are
robust and defersible.

Russedl King is the Senior independent Non-executve Duector and s available

10 meet with shareholders if required. The Charman meets with Non-executive
Directors in the absence of the Executive Directors at requiar intervals dunng the
year, and the Senior Indapendent Non-executive Director leacts a meeting with the
Non-executive Directors wathout the Chaiman present at teast once a year

During the year, the Directors had no unrescived concerrs about the running
of the Company or any proposed acton.

B. Effectiveness

B.1 The composition of the Board
There are curently six Non-executive Directors in addition to the Chaiman and
two Executive Directors on the Board

The compeasition of the Board & reviewed regularly by the Nominaton Commuttee
to ensure that thete is an appropriate mix of skills, expenence, diversity (ncluding
gender), ndependence and knowledge on the Board. Board members’
biographies are provided on pages 46 and 47, which identify the experience each
Divector brings to the Board The 2018 Board evaluation determined that the
Board continued to be effective and that the curent Directors’ backgrounds
provided a good mix to meet curent and future needs
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The Board determines, through the Nomination Commuttee, the independence
of its members. The Board consders all of its Non-executive Divectors 1o be
independent and free of any business relationships that could compromise the
exercise of independent and objective judgement. Conflicts of interest are
regularly monitored

B.2 Appointments to the Board

The Nomination Committee leads all appointrments of new Directors to the Board,
applying a ngorous and transparent process mindful of merit, objectimty and
diversity Detats of its activities undertaken during the year, induding the seaich
and sefection process that led to the appoentment of the new Chief Executive,
succession planning and talent management, can be found in the Normination
Committee report on pages 52 and 53

Details of the Company’s dversity policy are set out an page 49

The terrms of reference for the Nomination Committee are available at
WVASPECENS COm

B.3 Commitment A

The Nomnation Committee considers on appointment and annually the time
needed to fulfd the roles of Chairman, Senior Independent Director and
Nor-executive Director and ensures that the Nor-executive Directors will
have sufficent time to fullil ther dutes

On appointment, and as at the date of this report, the Charman’s sigrificant
fisted company interests are as chairman of impenal Brands plc and senor
wndependent non-executve drector of National Grid pic. The Board has formaily
reviewed Lhe Chairman’s other commutments and noted the announcement on
11 February 2019 that Mark Williamson will step down as chairman of imperial
Brands pic when a suitable successor has been found Notwathstanding this
change, the Board confirms that it bebeves that the Charman’s obligatons (o the
Company are propery fulfiled. Indeed, the Board 1s apprediative of the addiuonal
skiffs and expenence the Chairman bnngs to the Board arising from these
drectorships.

Cliive Watson has been a non-exedutive directar of Sprax-Sarce Engingering plc
since 2009 and the senior iIndependent non-executive director since May 2018

B.4 Development

New Directors receive a full, formal and 1ailared inducnon on joining and the
Chairman reviews and agrees subsequent training and development needs wilh
the Board on at least an annual bass.

In Aprit 2018, the Board visited Servomex and in October 2018, the Board visiied
our Mitibrook facility to support its famihary with the Group's operations. Further
details are set out on page 49.

B.5 Information and support

The Chainman is respansible for the defivery of accurate, timely and dear
nformation 1o the Directors, with support from the General Counsel and
Company Secetary,

Directors ara able 10 solkitindependent professional advice at the Company’s
expense where speafic expertise is nequired in the course of discharaging their
duties All Directors have access to the General Counsel and Company
Secratary, wha i responsible for ensunng compliance wath appropnate statutes
and regulavons.

8.6 Evaluation

The Board and the Board Committees underiook an intermnal evakuation in

2018 which was led by the Chalrman and the Committee Chaimmen and included
a review of Committee membership, a review of Non-exacutive Directors whose
length of service was more than six years, the external commitments of all
Drectors and a review of the skills of each of the Curectors Further detaifs are set
out on page 49




DULLIIAOD

B. Effectiveness continued

D. Remuneration

B.7 Election/re-election

Each Director is subject to election at the first AGM following their appointment,
and re-election at eadh subsequent AGM In deterrmining whether a Director
shaukd be propased for re-glection at the 2019 AGM, the Board took into account
the Nonunation Comnutteg’s adwice based on the results of a peer group review
of each Direttor's conthbution ta the Board's effectiveness, which iomed part

of the mtemal Board evaduation This review confirmed that all Directors continue
to be effecive and demonstrate commitment to thew roles and the Committee
aczorchngly recommended thew re-appomntment.

C. Accountability

C.1 Finandal and business reparting

A staternent of the Directors’ responsibilites regarding the Finandial Staternents,
induding the status of the Graup as 3 gomg concern, 1s 5et out on page 83, with
an explanation of the Group's strategy and business model, together with relevant
risks and performance meirics, which are set out on pages | 1o 36

A further statement 15 provided on page 83, confirming that the Board considers
that the 2018 Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, & far, balarked
ang understandable and prewdes the information necessary for shareholders

to a¢ses3 the Company's positon, performance, business model and strategy.

The externat auditor has provided a repar o the shareholders on their reporting
responsibifities on pages 84 to 91

€.2 Risk management and internal control

The Campany maintains its system of risk management and intemnal controf with
& view o safeguarding sharehokders' investment and the Company’s assets.

The Board has carried out a robust assesiment of the prncinal asks faang the
Company, including an assessment of the prospects of the Group. Further details
can be found on pages 32 to 36.

The Drrectors have assessad that the appropriate period of longey-term viatihty
for the Group s three years, as disclosed in the Viabdlity Statement on page 37.
The Viability Statement indudes an explanaticn of how the Directors have
assessed the prospects of the Caompany, over what period they have done 50 and
why they consider that period ta be appropnate It also indudes 3 statement that
the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group can contnue in
operation over the three-year longer-term viabfity period.

The Board getemvings the Company’s risk appetite and has established nsk
managerment and intemal control systems. At least annually, the Board
undertakes a review of their effectiveness Further detalls are set out on pages 31
and 57,

The Company operates a robust internal contro! framework which 1s routinely
monitered through a combination of certfication, self-assessment and internat
audit reviews, camplemented by a sound nsk managemant progess. This process
15 overseen by the Audit and Risk Commitee.

C.3 Audit committee and auditor

The Audit and Risk Committee Report an pages 54 1o 57 sets out details of the
composition of the Comimitiee, induding the expartise of members, and outlines
how the Cammines has discharged its resporgibilities during 2018.

The Board has delegated a number of resporsibiiities 1o the Audit and Risk
Committes, including: financial and namative reporting; management of the
external and mtemal audit processes; mternal controls; and risk management
systerns Full details are set out in the terms of reference for the Committee,
published at www. spectris.com.

D.1 The level and companents of remuneration
The Remyneration Report on pages 60 to 78 outlines the implementation
of remuneration dunng 2018, induding saary, bonus and share awards

Detais of lohn O'Hggins’ remuneration refating to his non-executive directar

role 21 Johnson Matthey durng the pened of tis drectorship and Clive Watsen's
rernungration relating to his non-exacutive director role at Spirax-5arco are set out
on page 77.

The Board believes that the current Remuneration Poficy, as approved by
shareholders at the 2017 AGM, remains appropriate and fit for purpose. The
Board considers that Executive Birecier rerruneration is an appropriate balance
between fixed and performance-related, smmediate and deferred remunerabion,
with the latter being subject to demanding performance conditons aligned with
the Group's strategic abjectives, induding appropriate crcumstances for Spectsis
to recover sums paid or to wathhold payment of sums.

D.2 Procedure

During 2018, the Remuneration Committee comprised four Non-executve
Directors and has delegated autharity for setting the remuneration of the
Executive Directors and the Chairman  The fees payable to the Non-executive
Directors are determined by the Board. Full details of responsibilities are &1 out
in the terms of raference for the Committee, available at wiwvw spectris.com

During 2018, PricewalerhouseCoopers LLP acted as the mdependent
remunerat:on adviser 16 the Remuneration Commitiee.

During 2018, no individual was present when their own remuneration was
being discussed

E. Relations with shareholders

E.1 Dialogue with shareholders

The Board recegnises that meaningful engagement wath institutional and retail
shareholders is integral to the continuing success of the Company. Throughout
the year, the Board has sought to actively engage with shareholders on a number
of occasions through meetings and roadshows.

Shareholders representmg n excess of 2 5% of the Company’s issued shaze
capital recenve a standing mvitabon 1o meet with the Chairman, the Senior
Independent Director or Non-executive Directors. Such meetings supplement
but do not replace the regular meetings with the Chief Executve and the Graup
Finance Director The Board 15 keptnformed of the views, needs, expectations,
major issues and concerns of shareholders through penodic reparts induding,
but not limited ko, market faedback on investor relations, sharsholding analysts
and consensus.

E.2 Constructive use of general meetings

The next AGM will be held on 24 May 2019 and 15 an opporturity for
shareholders 10 vote on certaln aspects of Group business, in person, and have
1he opportunty 1o meet and question the Chaiman and Beard members

The results of proxy votes are available at the AGM. These are then published
on the Company's website,

Al the AGM in 2018, thare were no significant votes against any of the
resolutions put before shareholders,
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT

On behalf of the 8oard, | am pleased to present the Group‘s 2018
Remuneration Report The Report covers the required regulatory
information, balanced against commercial sensitivities, and ako
provides further context and insight into our Executive pay
arrangements. The full Remuneration Policy can be viewed on the
Group's website. A summary overview of the Directors’ annual
remuneration framework is provided on pages 62 10 65.

To better highlight the remuneration structures applicable to

the Executive Directors, and their relative payments under those
structures for the year ended 31 December 2018, a detatled
illustration of actual payments, set against the maximum amounts
permissible under the Policy, is set out on the opposite page

Executive remuneration

The Committee was dosely involved with the remuneration
arrangements in relation to the departure of John O’Higgins and
the recruitment of Andrew Heath as Chief Executive. Details of the
ieaving arrangements for john can be found on page 70 of this
Report and on the Group’s website and a summary of Andrew's
remuneration is set out on the opposite page. | am pleased that we
not only secured the employment of Andrew within the frarmework
of our existing Remuneration Policy, but that we were able to
better align Andrew’s overall remuneration to the wiger workforce
by setting his annual pensicn contribution at 20% (chn O'Higgins
recewvad a 25% contnbution).

In January 2019, the Group announced that Derek Harding would
join the Board of Spectris as Chief Financial Officer Designate on

1 March 2019 following the decision by Clive Watson to retire
Derek’s remuneration will 2lso be within the framework of our
awsting Remuneration Policy with a base salary of £475,000 and
an annual pension cantribution of 15% (Clive Watson recenved

a 25% contribution). All other terms are on the same basis as the
incumbent. Devek's salary was set with reference to his previous
remuneration, external benchmarking and reflects his level of
experignce and the enhanced role that he will 1ake in the Group's
strategic review He will also be taking on broader responsibilities
as we realign the role of the ¢entre with the new strategy. Full
disclosure of Derek's remuneration will be prowded in the 2019
Directors’ Remuneration Report.

A4 | am pleased that we secured the
employment of Andrew Heath
and Derek Harding within the
framework of our existing
Remuneration Policy. J#

in our reflections on making these arrangements, the Committee
agrees that our Remuneration Policy continues to provide
appropriate flexibility, while also ensuning that any payments made
In the implementation of the Policy are in the best interests of both
the Group and our shareholdars.

The Group’s performance in 2018 was good with increases in both
like-for-like sales and profit. The Group achieved & 3% increase In
adjusted profit before tax and a 7% increase in adjusted earnings
per share (see Note 2 to the Financial Statements for details of the
basis of adjustment). This contnbuted to bonus outcomes for 2018
of 59.7%, 53.7% and 60.9% of maximum bonus opportunity for
Andrew Heath, John O‘Higgins and Clive Watson, respectively.

Corporate governance developments

The Comrmuttee has closely monitored external governance
developments during 2018 and, in particular, has reviewed the
requirements of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code and
The Companies {Misceflaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018,

The Committee agreed new terms of reference in December 2018
together with a revised workplan and will report in detail on its
work to comply with the new requirements in the 2019 Annual
Report and Accounts.

During 2019, we will reflect further on the suitability of the current
Remuneration Policy based on the Group’s evolving suategy and
structure, wider workforce remuneration and related policies and
the alignment cf the Group's approach to remuneration with its
culture, These reflections wll form the base of a proposal to be
put to shareholders at the 2020 Annual General Meeting for the
approval of the Group’s Remunerat:on Policy

Thus Directors’ Remuneration Report will be subject to an advisory
vote at the AGM on 24 May 2019 and we look forward to
recefving your continued support Together with the rest of the
Board, | also look farward to hearing your views on our
remuneration arrangements and we will be available to answer
any questions you may have

Russell King
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
19 February 2019

This Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2018 complies with the requirements of the Listing Rules of the
UK Listing Authonty, Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations
(Amendment) Regulations 2013 and the provisions of the 2016 UK Carporate Governance Code.
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REMUNERATION AT A GLANCE

basis i respect of Andrew Heath and john O'Higgins).

[

- x 0 + °

Executive Director single total figures of remuneration 2018 Bonus actual vs. policy maximum s
The 1zble below summarises each Executive Director's single total figure of remuneration The charts below show the 2018 actual banus eamed and potential mamum opporunity 3
for 2018 Full detalls are disciosed on pages 66 to 69. in respect of each Executive Director based on ther base salary (pro-rated on a sme served g
I

[ ]

The fixad elements of pay nclude base salacy, pension, benefits in kind, taxable expenses
and all-employee share plan partiapation. The stated figures in respect of Andrew Heath
and John rHiggins are pro-rated 10 rellect time served as a Director during 2018 The
figures in respect of the Performance Share Plan relate to awards granted m 2016 which
are due ta manre on 23 February 2019 and are, In part, based on estimated vesting tevels.

1 1. 1
Remuneration outcomes in different performance scenarios
The charts below ustrate the pro-rated remuneraton outtums at target and marnum opportunity in respect of each Executive Dinctor for 2018. For COMpansan punposes,
the annualised figures 1 respect of each Chief Executive who served dunng 2018 are also dlustrated below.
2018

2018 Annualised

Note Each coloured bar shows the percentage of the total
comprised by each of the pans.

2018 Outcomes - Incentive Plans
The chans befow shaw the pi ge of banus appx y earned by the Execuiive Directors, pro-rated on a time served bass, in sespect of the 2018 finandia) year Wgether
with the estimated vesting outcomes of the PSP awards granted i 2016, expressed as 3 percentage of total award. Further details are s=i out on pages 66 to £9.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Summary of Remuneration Policy and 2019 implementation
Qur Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholders at the AGM on 26 May 2017 and took effect from that date. in line with current
regulations, this policy may operate for the next three years at which point it will be rewewed and shareholder approval of a new

remuneration policy witl be sought at the 2020 AGM at the latest. A summary of the key features of the Remuneration Policy, along with
ts implementation for 2019, are detailed in the tables below:

Remuneration Policy summary

Element

Base salary/fees

Annual bonus

Performance Share Plan ['PSP)

Purpose
and link to

strategy

¥

Competitive fixed
remuneration that enables
Spectris to attract and
retain key executives

-

Drives short-term profit performance.
incentivises Executive Directors

to achieve specific pre-determined
stretching objectives relating

to Spectris and the individual's
personal responsibilities.

-

» Drives the delivery of sustained
compound annual growth in
earnings per share {'EPS’),
relative out-performance in total
shareholder return {'TSR') and
increase in economic profit {'EP"),

Operation

~

-

Normaily

reviewed annually.
Benchmarked triennially
against relevant
comparators,

Bonus potential set at a market-
competitive rate.

» Payable in cash

Bonus based on annual

performance targets.

Bonus payments in excess of 60%

of salary must be used 1o acquire
shares in Spectris untl the minimum
required shareholding {300% of base
salary) 1s achieved

No further bonus deferral |
arrangements are currently

In operation,

Clawback provisions enable variable
remuneration to be reclaimed under
exceptional circumstances in the event
of any miscalculation of entitlement,
misstaternent of accounts or incidence
of fraud

-

-

-

-

-

-

Awards made annually with
performance conditions based
over a three-year period
Two-year helding period for

ali new awards.

» Post-tax benefit of any vested
PSP awards must be applied to
the acquisition of shares until the
required level of shareholding

is achieved.

Clawback provisions enable the
Committee 1O recoup the value
of previously vested awards from
an individual within three years
of the end of the relevant
performance period if it considers
it appropriate in the event of

2 maierial correction of financial
results previously used to assess

a performance condition or if
performance was othenwise
shown to be materially worse than
was believed when a performance
condition was assessed.

-

Maximum
opportunity

Increases limited to the
average increase for
general UK wage inflation.
The Committee retains
the discretion to award
increases/reductions in
excess offbelow this if,
and where, it deems
appropriate

» Maximum opportunity is based

on base salary:

> 150% Chief Executive.

» 125% Group Finance Director.
Bonus starts accruing from thresholg
levels of performance.

~

-

200% of base salary.

Performance
metric

Reflects the role and the
Director’s skills,
performance and
expertence, referenced to
a level at or moderately
below the comparator
group's median

The Committee may determine
appropnate performance measures,
which are assessed annually.

A minimum (threshold) level of
performance will result in a bonus
of 1% of base salary At target,

the bonus level for each Executive
Director is 60% of base salary.

v

~

» The Committee may determine
appropriate performance
measures and vesting levels
for awards.

20% of award shares vest on
achizvement of mimimum
performance and 100% for
maximum performance

-
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Full detals of the Policy are set out on pages 76 to 82 of the Company’s Annual Report and Accounts 2016, a copy of which 1s avallable

on the Company’s website www spectris.cam or, upon reguest, from the Company Secretary at the Company's registered office address.

Benefits in kind

Pension and other
benefits in kind

All-employee share plans

shareholding
ownership guidelines

» Market-competitive
benefits in kind
enabling Spectris
to attract and retain
kay executives.

» Market-comgpetitive
defined contribution
pension, enabling
Spectris to attract and
retain key executives.

» The Spectris all-employee share plans
are operated to encourage share
ownership by employees, allowing
them to share in the long-term
success of the Group and align their
interests with those of shareholders

» To encourage share
ownership by the
Executive Directors and
ensure that their interests
are aligned with those
of shareholders.

w

Benefits in kind include
company Cars or
allowances, prvate
fuel, medical

insurance and life and
disability insurance,
and are benchmarked
periodically.

» Pensions are
benchmarked
penadically.

-

Executive Directors are able to
participate in the Group's
all-employee share plans on the same
terms as other Group UK employees.
Currently, the Group operates an
all-employee Share Incentve Plan
{'SIP°) whereby an employee may
purchase Spectns shares at market
price, using gross salary up to

a maxmum of the level allowed

by HMRC . For every five shares
purchased by an employee under the
SIP, the Company will award one free
Matching share Matching shares

are subject to forfeiture if the
employee leaves the SIP within

three years.

The SIP replaced the Spectris Savings
Related Share Option Scheme ('SAYE
Scheme’).

-

-

Each Executive Director

is required to buid

a retained shareholding

in Spectris of at least three
times base salary in value
within five years of being
appointed to the Board.
Post-tax benefit of any
vested PSP awards or any
bonus payment exceeding
60% of base salary must
be applied to the
acquisition of shares until
the required level of
sharebolding is achieved.

-

-

-

Total benefits hmited
to £30,000 p.a.

A departing gift may be
provided up to a value
of £2,500 per Director
{apples to both
Executive and
Mon-executive
Directors).

-

> Maximum 25% of base
salary as taxable cash
gllowance in lieu of
pension contributions.
+ 20% Chief Executive.
» 25% Group Finance
Director (unti
1 April 2019).
> 15% Chief Financial
Officer (from
1 March 2019).

» HMRC limit £150 per month and
one free Matching share for every
five shares purchased

None applicable,

None applicable.

None appiicable

None applicable

None applicable
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

implementation of the Remuneration Policy for 2019

Element

Base salary/fees

Annual bonus

Performance Share Plan (‘PSP

Executive
Directors

» Salaries are reviewed with
effect from 1 Apni and no
increases will be made to
Execuuve Director salaries
in 2019,

Chief Financiat Qfficer
Designate recruited at
annual base salary of
£475,000 with next
expected salary review
based on market rate to
take place in April 2020,

-

» 2019 maximum bonus and performance
weightings.

» Chief Executive 150% of salary of which®

» 125% is based on adjusted PBT

» 25% is based on personal objectives
» Group Finance Director 125% of salary

of which:

» 100% is based on adjusted PBT

» 25% s based on personal objectives

» The performance thresholds and

corresponding percentage of

maximum bonus payable for 2019

are determined by the Committee.

A minimum (threshold) level of

perfarmance wili result in a bonus of 1%

of base salary. At target, the bonus level

15 60% of base salary compnsing 50%

based on PBT and 10% based on

personal objectwes.

» Clawback provisions enable variable
remuneration to be reclamed under
exceptional circumstances in the event
of any msscalculauon of entitlement,
misstatement of accounts or incidence
of fraud.

-

s Award level 200%

of base salary.
» Three-year
performance period.
Two-year holding periocd
after initial three-year
performance period.
Performance measures
remain unchanged with
one-third weightings to each
of growth in adjusted EPS,
TSR and EP.
Performance metrics will be
the same as those stated for
2018 awards as detailed on
page 75
No buy-out awards were
granted in respect of the
appointment of either the
Chief Executive or Chief
Financiat Officer.
Dvidends are accrued and
paid in shares.

~

-

-

-

~

Non-
executive
Directors

Mo increase in fees or
changes to the fee structure.
Fee arrangements will be
reviewed in Decernber 2019.

None applicable

None applicable.

Recruitment remuneration
The Company’s palicy on the recrustment of Executive Directors is to pay a fair remuneration package for the role being undertaken and
the experience of the Executive Director The Remuneration Committee will deterrine base salary in hine with the current Reruneration
Policy and having regard to the parameters and hmits set out in the future implementation table. incorming Executive Directors will be
entitled to pension, benefit and incentive arrangements, which are the same as provided to existing Executive Directors although the
Committee may exercise its discretian to vary those elements of remuneration within the maximum levels set On that basis, incentive
awards would not exceed the maximum levels of 350% of base salary in the case of a newly appointed Chief Executive and 325%

of biase salary in the case of a Group Finance Director.

Where an existing employee is appointed as an Executive Director, any vanable pay element awarded in respect of the prior role may erther
continue on its original terms or be adjusted to reflect the new appointment,

The Committee may also agree that the Company will meet certain relocation expenses as it considers appropriate

In recagnition of the fact that a new Executive Director may have to forfeit sizeable cash bonuses and share awards if they choose to leave
their former employer 10 join Spectris, the Commitiee has the ability to compensate incoming Executive Directors for incentive awards they
give up on joining Spectns. The Remuneraton Committee will use its jJudgement in determining any such compensation, will only provide
compensation which is no more beneficial than that given up and will seek to replicate forfeited share awards using Spectns incentive plans

of through reliance on Rule 9.4 2 of the Listing Rules.

Termination arrangements

The Company's policy regarding termination payments 10 departing Executive Directors is to limit severance payments to pre-gstablished
contractual arrangements The contracts permit the Committee to make payment in respect of base salary, pensions and benefits on a
monthly basis with payments reducing or ceasing if the departing individual finds another pesition during the notice period. However,

the Committee reserves the power to negotiate a singke Jump-sum on termination if 1t considers that to be in the interests of the Company
and will have full regard to the duty to mitigate if it does so. In some arcumstances, additional benefits may become payable 1o cover
outplacement fees and legal fees,
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Pension and other Shareholding
Benefits in kind benefits in kind All-employee share plans ownership guidelines
» No change to benefits  » Percentage of base » The Executive Directors have the 3 300% of base salary
in king provided. salary as taxable cash opportunity to participate in the within five years of date
allowance n lieu of all-employee SIP, as approved by of appcintment.
pension contributions: shareholders at the 2018 AGM,
» 20% Chief Executive. on the same terms as other
+ 25% Group Finance Group UK employees.
Director {until 1 April  » No further grants will be made under
2019 at the [atest). the SAYE Scheme.
» 15% Chief Financial
Officer (from

1 March 2019).

None applicable None applicable. None applicable. None applicable

Crdinanly, no bonus payments would be made and all share awards would lapse following termination However, under certain
arcumstances, such as good leaver provisions covering retirernent and ill health, bonus entitlement may be payable, calculated to the
date of termination. Additionally, awards made under the PSP will remain exercisable subject to ume pro-rating and the application of

the performance conditions at the measurement date. The Committee retains discretion to vary or disappiy time pro-rating for PSP awards
for good leavers where it considers it fair and reasonable to do so or to allow good Jeavers’ PSP awards 1o vest at the date of termination
(subject to time pro-rating and the application of the performance measures) in exceptional cases. Likewise, on a change of contral,

PSP awards may vest in accordance with the rules of the plan and subject to time-pro-rating and performance conditions.

Vested PSP awards which are subject to a holding period will not normally be forfeited on termination {except in the case of gross
msconduct) and the holding penod will continue to apply. The Committee has the discretion to release awards early from the holding
penod in appropriate cases such as death or it health.

The Remuneration Committee retans discretion to alter these provisions on a case-by-case basis following a review of circumstances and
10 ensure fairness for both shareholders and Executive Directors.

Details of an out-going Executive Director's remuneration arrangements waill be published on the Company’s website around the time
of leaving.

Consideration of remuneration conditions elsewhere in the Group

The Committee considers the remuneration and emplayment conditions elsewhere in the Group together with current market practice
when determining remuneration for the Executive Directors In addition to the UK comparator group set out on page 70, the levels of
remuneration, annual banus and PSP awarded (o the Presidents of each of the Group’s operating companies are taken into consideration,
notwithstanding that these reflect such businesses' particular trading positions and the geographical and technical employment markets
in which they operate. However, the Committee does not consult specifically with employees on the Remuneration Policy.

Consideration of shareholders’ views

The Committee takes mto account the views of the Company's shareholders and best practice guidelines set by shareholder representative
bodies when determining remuneration for Executive Directors The proposals for the 2020 Remuneration Policy will be the subject of
consultation with the Company's significant institutional shareholders and thew representative bodies and therr feedback will be
incorporated into the final poficy submitted for sharehoider approval at the 2020 AGM

Details of the votes received on our Remuneration Policy at the 2017 AGM and 2017 Directors’ Remuneration Report at the 2018 AGM
are prowded on page 77
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

This section of the Report sets out the details of the implementation of the Remuneration Policy during the 2018 financial year. Details of
how the Commuttee intends to implement the Policy during 2019 are summarised in the table on pages 64 and 65. This part of the Report,
together with the Committee Chairman’s Statement, Summary of Remuneration Policy and 2019 implementaton, and the information on
the Remuneration Committee, form the Annual Report on Remuneration which is subject to an advisory shareholder vote at the 2018
Annual General Meeting and contains both unaudited and audited information. The audited secuons of this report are clearly identified.

Executive Directors’ remuneration

Single total figure of remuneration (audited)
The single total figure of remuneration of each Executive Director who served during the year is as follows.

E. Pension- F. All-
B. Taxable related employee

£°000 A Base salary benefiis C Bonus D PSP* benefits share plans Total
Andrew Heath!' 2018 203 6 182 - M - 432
i 2017 - - - - - - -

John O’Higgwns? 2018 457 14 368 1,012 114 - 1,965
2017 397 19 718 151 149 9 1,643

Clive Watson 2018 386 17 294 643 97 8 1,445
2017 378 16 359 96 95 - 944

1. Andrew Heath was appointed 10 the Board on 3 Seplember 2018, His remuneration is pro-rated from that date.

2. John O'Higgins stepped down from the Board on 28 September 2018, His remuneration is pro-rated 1o that date.

3. Includes restated 2017 figures to reflect acwal vesting of 2015 awards and estimated vesting for the 2016 awarts dug to mature in February 2019 Further details
are set out on pages 68 and 69.

Notes to single total figure of remuneration:

A Salary (audited)

John O'Higgins and Clive Watson received a salary increase of 2% with effect from 1 January 2018 (consistent with average UK wage
inflation) and Andrew Heath was appointed on an annual base salary of £610,000, in line with the current Remuneration Policy.

B. Taxahle benefits

Taxable benefits included in the above single total figure of remuneration for each Executive Director are company cars, private fuel,
allowances paid in lieu of company cars and private fuel, medical expenses insurance (including family cover) and lite and disability cover.
Details of the total value for 2018 are set gut in the table below:

Medical/

Car ang fuel heatthcare
. ave Ouector allowance: cove[r Totaﬁl

XeCu

Andrew Heath' 5,055 613 5,668
John O'Higgins' 12,765 1,498 14,263
Clive Watson 15,287 1,612 16,899
Total 33,107 3,723 36,830

1 Taxable benefits pro-rated from date of appointment on 3 September 2018,

2 Taxable berelits pra-rated to date of stepping down from the Board on 28 September 2018

€. 2018 Annual bonus outcome {audited)

The maximum bonus opportunity for the Chief Executive remains unchanged at 150% of base salary, of which 125% is based on adjusted
profit before tax and 25% is based on personal objective performance measures The maximum benus opportunity for the Group Finance
Director also remained unchanged at 125% of base salary. of which 100% is based on adjusted profit before tax and 25% is based an
personal objective perforrance measures The on-target bonus for each Executive Director is 60% of base salary, comprising 50% based
on adjusted profit before tax and 10% based on personal objectives No bonus deferral is currently in operation other than the
requirement to effectively defer bonus paymenits in excess of 60% of base salary into shares to satssfy shareholding requirements The table
below sets out the annual bonus earned by the Executive Directors in respect of the 2018 financial year including the financial trigger
points used in determining the level of bonus payable

Actual Group
performance/assessment Percentage
Bonus Elements of bonus of personal objective Payout  of maximum
opportunity opporiunity On-target Maximum performance £ bonus
Andrew Heath' 150%  Group adjusted PBT 50% 125% 66.6% 135,420 44.4%
Personal objectives 10% 25% 23.0% 48 767 15 3%
Total 83.6% 182,187 59.7%
John Q'Higgins? 150%  Group adjusted PBT 50% 125% 66 6% 304,166 44.4%
Personal objectives 10% 25% 14.0% 63,939 9.3%
Total 80.6% 368,105 53.7%
Clive Watson 125%  Group adjusted PBT 50% 100% 61.1% 235 88¢% 48 9%
Personal pbjectives 10% 25% 15.0% 57,911 12.0%
Total 76.1% 293,800 60.9%

1. Andrew Heath's bonus 15 pro-rated from date of appointment on 3 Septermnber 2018.
2. John O'Higgins stepped down from the Board on 28 September 2018 His bonus is pro-rated to that date His total 2018 bonus for the full year was £490,806.
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The adjusted profit before tax bonus range established by the Committee for 2018 was as follows:
Bonus level (a3 percentage of maximum far this element) 0% S0% 100/125% Actual
Adjusted profit before tax £213.9m £229.7m £252.7m  £234.8m'

1. Includes adjustrnents to reflect the impact of 2018 share buyback programme and Project Uplift costs Further details are sét out below

For bonus purposes, the Committee believes that the Group adjusted profit before tax is a more reflective measure of performance,
removing certain items from statutory profit before tax that may give 3 distorted view of performance Adjustments to Adjusted profit
before tax are made 1o reflect the original target.

The above adjusted profit before tax figure has been determined as follows

£Em

Adjusted profit before tax’ 2414
Project Uphft costs? (10.8)
Adjustments relating to the EMS Briel & Kjaer joint vanture? 35
Additional interest due to share buyback® 0.7

Adjusted profit before tax for bonus purposes 2348

1. Reconciled in Note 2 to the Finandial Statements on page 108,

2. Project Uphft costs were ingluded in the targers.

3. These items adjust for the disposal of EMS Brilel & Kjeer which was not ensaged in the targets.

4 This item ackls back the additional interest payabde on loans due 10 the share buyback which was nct envisaged in targets

The 2018 personal objectives for the Chief Executive and Group Finance Director covered a range of areas. These objectives, and the

weightings accorded to each, are detailed below:

Chief Executive - Andrew Heath
2018 Objectives weighting  Outcome

In support of the re-setting of the Group's strategy: 25% 23%

Initiated and led the Group strategic review;

Dewised and led a new profit improvernent programme,

v Defined and agreed the core operational structure of the Group and the key management team required
to deliver on the Group's strategy;

Led the Group's coordinated approach te health and safety management; and

Provided clear emphasis on the importance of ethics and strong endorsement to the launch of the Group's
Ethics and Compliance Enhancement Frogramme

~

- -

Former Chief Executive - John O'Higgins
2018 Objectives Weightng Outcame

Led the Group in: 25% 14%

» The integration and dekivery of investment plans for key acquisitions;

+ The continuation of the building of acquisition pipelines to grow the Solutions and Industnial business
platforms,

» Recruiting, driving and promoting the necessary talent for the delivery of the Group's strategy;

» The continued focus of the Group's operational model; and

» Ensuring broad and deep support for the Spectris Code of Business Ethics

Groug Finance Director
2018 Objectives Weighting Quicome

In support of the continued execution of the Group's strategy, the Group Finance Director 25% 15%

Strengthened the processes that support the financial discipline of the Group;

Provided leadership and direction as the sponsor of Project Uphit, including cverseeing the governance
of the project to achieve key milestones and projected costs and benefits;

Progressed the talent development strategy of the high potential talent identified within the Group’s
finance community; and

Developed the Group’s IT Function including the successful recruitment of a Group Chief

information Officer

- e

-

-
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

D. Performance Share Plan ('PSP’) (audited)

PSP awards to the Executive Directors are currently structured so that one-third of the award is subject to an EPS target, one-third is subject
10 a TSR target and one-third is subject to an Economic Profit {'EP’) target Each condition operates over a fixed three-year period (being the
three financial years commencing with the financial year in which an award is made in respect of the EPS and EP conditions; and three
years from the date of grant in respect of the TSR condition} with no opportunity for re-testing. The TSR performance condition is
measured independently by Aon Hewatt {"Aon’).

PSP awards granted during 2018 {(audited)

The table below details share options granted to Executive Directors, in line with the Remuneration Policy, under the PSP stheme during
2018. The maximurn level of grant remains at 200% of base salary, calculated according to the average of the closing share price over the
five days immediately prior to the date of grant The awards to John O’Higgins and Clive Watson were granted on 16 March 2018. Due to
Andrew Heath joining the Board part way through the annual share plan award cycle, his award was granted on 3 September 2018 and
pro-rated on the basis of 5/12 of 200% of base salary. A holding period of two years applies to all awards following vesting Full details

of the performance conditions are set out on page 75.

Amount vesting
Number of Threshaoid Maximum
Basis on shares performance oz:sponuniw
N Exercise which award under  Face value of shares Pedformance (% of face % of face Financialperformance
Director price made option  at date of grant (£)  condition applied value) value) period
Andrew  Sp 5/12 of 2,372 508,3127 Compound 6.66%  33.33% 1 January 2018 to
Heath 200% of growth in EPS 31 December 2020
base EP 6 66% 33 33%
salary TSR 666%  33.33% 3 September 2018 to
2 September 2021
Total 20% 100%
John 5p 200% of 44,600 1,194,0313 Compound 6.66%  33.33% 1 Jlanuary 2018 to
O'Higgins base growth in EPS 31 December 2020
salary EP  6.66%  33.33%
TSR 6 66% 3333% 16 March 2018 to
15 March 2021
Total 20% 100%
Clive Sp 200% of 28,280 757,123 Compound 6.66% 3333% 1 January 2018 to
Watson base growth in £PS 31 December 2620
salary EP_ 666%  33.33%
TSR 6.66% 33.33% 16 March 2018 to
15 March 2021
Total 20% 100%

1. These PSP awards are hnked 1o a grant of market value share options known as Linked PSP awards No additional gnoss value can be defvered from the exerose

of the Linked PSP awavds
2. Face vahse based on the average af the dosing share price over the five days immediately pnor 10 the date of grant of 2,378 4 pence
3. Face value based on the average of the dosing share pnce oves the five days immediately pnor to the date of gramt of 2,677.2 pence.

PSP awards vested during 2018 (audited)
PSP awards granted in 2015 which matured in March 2018 vested in part on the TSR performance results to 5 March 2018 but did not
vest on the EPS and EP performance measures for the three financial years to 31 December 2017, The final outcome was 10.4% of the
tatal award vested on 6 March 2018 and the balance of award lapsed in full (see tables below). The single total remuneration figure for
2017 has been restated to reflect this final cutcome.

Percentage

Performance weighted performance Percentage of
condition Weighting Thrasheld Actual condition vested total award vésted
EPs One-third CPl+5%cpa CPl+ 3 6% cp.a. 0% 0%
TSR One-third Median 31.6% (Median' 28.1%)' 31.20% 10.4%
£p One-third £250 milion £163.2 million 0% 0%

Total 10.4%

1. TSR outcome based on the final TSR performance results on § March 2018 Details of the comparaior group are set out on page 71.
Total number of

shares subject 1o Face value al Vestin Vestin Reinvested Total vesting  Share price on
PSP oplion at date of grant  percentage ol number o dividend number o vesting date  Vesting value
Executive Director date of grant i total award shares sharey shares 6 March 2018 £
John O’Higgins 51,830 1,138,809% 104% 5.390 396 5,786 2,620p 151,324
Clive Watson 32,930 723,538? 10.4% 3,424 251 3,675 2.620p 96,114

1 These PSP awards were linked 10 & grant of market value share oplions known as Unked PSP awards. No additional gross vatue was delvered from the exerase of the

Lnked PSP awards.
2 The face value is based on the average of the closing share price over the five days immediately prior to the date of grant of 2,197 2 penace
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PSP awards vesting in February 2019 (audited)

PSP awards granted in 2016 and matuning in February 2019 are subject to EPS, TSR and EP performance conditions. The EPS and EP
threshold targets n respect of the three financial years to 31 December 2018 were exceeded and, as a result, part of the award {up to a
maximum of two-thirdds) will vest. Based on the interim TSR performance results provided by Aon as at 31 Decernber 2018, the remaining
ane-third of the award which 1s subject to the performance of TSR for the three-year performance period ending on 22 February 2019 may
vest subject to the final assessment of TSR on 25 February 2019 {see tables belows).

Actual/Estimated

percentage wewghted ActualEsumated

Performance performance condition percentage of total award

condition Weighting Threshold Maximum ActualEstimate vested vested
CP + 5% CPl+13% CPl+8.75%

EPS One-third cp.a. c.p a. or above cp.a.’ 57.5% 192%
Upper quintile 41.9%

TSR Cne-third Median or above {Median: 14 8%)? 80 4% 26 8%

£145 £275 million
Ep One-third millicn or above £196 8 million 51.9% 17.3%
Estimated total 63.3%

-

The £PS outcome figure has been cakculated on 2 consistent basis wath the EPS calculation 1n place o grant A full reconaliavon from this EPS oulcome fiqure to the
Adjusted £PS figure (set out in Note 2 (o the Finanaal Statements o page 109} & set out below

pence

Adjusted EPS (reported) 164 &
Deduct Project Uplift cost net of tax 68
Adjusted EPS (after Project Uplift costs) 158.1
Net impact of share buyback

Impact of share buyback - finance charge 0.5

Impact of share buyback - reduction in shares (2 4) (1.9)
Adjusted EPS (for PSP vesting purposes) 156 2

Z The TSR figures are estmates based on the intetin TSR performance resuits as al 31 December 2018 Detaiis of the comparator group are set out on page 71.

The vesting estimates included in the single total figure of remuneration for 2018 are detalled in the table below

Total number
of shares Esumated Three-maonth
subject 1o PSP veslin% Estimated Estimated  Esumated total  average share
option at date  Face vaiue at  percentage of vestng number reinvested vesting number price at year Estimated
Executive Director of grant  date of grant wial award of shares dwidend shares of shares entd  wvesting value
John Q'Higgins 67,460 £1,155,995' 63.3% 42,674 3,149 45823 2,21391p £1,012,348
Clive Watson 42,860 £734,449 63.3% 27,112 2,001 29,113 2,21391p £643,181

1 The face value 15 based on the average closng share price over the five days immediately pnor 10 the date of grant of 1,713 6 pence
Details of the performance congitions are set out on page 75

Vestad awards are satisfied in shares {nomnally treasury shares) with sufficient shares being sold to meet income tax and national insurance
contributions due on exercise, at the Director's discretion, and the net balance of shares transferred to the indwvidual. Awards lapse if they
do not vest an the third anniversary of their award.

E. Retirement benefits (audited)

Executive Directors are entitled to a defined contribution pension contribution. John O’Higgins and Clive Watson receve 25% of base
salary and Andrew Heath recaives 20% of base salary. In light of the pension lifetime allowance of £1.03 milion and the maximum
annual pension contribution allowance of £40,000, the Executive Directors are entitled, at their option, to a taxable satary supplement in
liew of some or alf of such pension contributions. All Executive Directors have chosen this option and each receives a cash payment in lieu
of partiaipation in a Spectris pension scheme, No Executive Drrector participated in a defined benefit pension plan during the vear,

nor currently participates in a defined benefit plan

F. All-employee share plans {(audited)

Options granted to Clive Watsan on 22 September 2015 under the Spectns Savings Related Share Option Scheme ("SAYE Scheme’)
vested on 1 December 2018 and were exercised on 3 December 2018 to acquire 1,036 ordinary shares at an opticn price of 1,737 pence
per share gnving a total exercise value of £17,995 The option price was set at the time of grant based on the closing mid-market price

of the Company’s shares on 24 August 2015, being the last business day prior to the grant date. Although the SAYE Scheme rules permit
the option price to be discounted up to a maxmum of 20% of the market price at the time of grant, no discount was applied to the
option price The exercise pnce therefore reflects fair value as at the date of grant. The closing market price on 3 December 2018,

was 2,495 pence per share producing a total gain on exercise of £7,852 88
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DIRECTCORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Payments for loss of office or to past Directors (audited)

John O'Higginy

Under the terms of his service contract and in line with the Remuneration Palicy, John O'Higgins is subject to a 12-manth notice petiod
that commenced on 24 May 2018. Following him stepping down from the Board on 28 September 2018, he remained an employee of
the Group and will remain an employee until 23 May 2019, during which time he will work to facilitate a smooth handover. During this
period, John will continue to be paid an amount each month in respect of his salary, pension and benefits, The value of these payments
for that period are: satary: £392,722.17; 25% cash pension contributions: £98,180.54, and car allowance: £9,780 33. John is also entitled
to his contractual non-cash benefits of medicat insurance and death in service benefit and eligible for a payment under the annual bonus
plan which will be subject to the performance conditions set, pro-rated to the date he ceases to be an empfoyee and subject to malus

and clawback

Johin will not participate in the 2019 Perforrance Share Plan ('PSP?) award. PSP awards made to him in 2016, 2017 and 2018 will vest
on the onginal vesting date to the extent that the relevant performance conditions are met. The number of shares under each award is
reduced on a time pro-rata basis to reflect length of service up 1o cessation of employment with any dividend accruals calculated on
the final vesting amount and paid in shares. All awards are subject 10 the clawback provisions set out in the relevant rules of the Plan.
On vesting, the 2017 and 2018 PSP awards will also be subject to a two-year holding period.

Clive Watson

Under the terms of his service contract and in hne with the Remuneration Policy, following his retirement from the Board on 1 April 2019,
Chve Watson will remain an employee of the Group until 31 july 2019, during which time he will facilitate a smooth handover During this
period, Clive will cantinue to be paid: an amount in respect of salary totalling £128,690; 25% cash pensian contributions amounting to
£32,172.52; and car allowance amounting to £5,055. He will also be entiled to receive his contractual non-cash benefits and be eligible
for a payment under the 2019 annual bonus plan subject to meeting the applicable performance conditions and pro-rated on a ime
served basis.

Clive will not participate 1n the 2019 PSP award His 2016 PSP will vest in line with ordinary performance conditions in late February 2019.
PSP awards made to him in 2017 and 2018 will vest on the original vesting date to the extent that the refevant performance conditions
are met The number of shares under each award 1 reduced on a time pro-rata basis to reflect the length of service up 1o cessation of
employment with any dividend accruals calculated on the final vesting amount and paid in shares. All awards are subject to the clawback
provisions set out in the relevant rules of the Plan and the awards will be subject to a two-year helding penod

Percentage change in the remuneration of the Chief Executive
The table below shows the percentage change in the salary and benefits of the Chief Executive compared with the change in the
Executive team {excluding the Chief Executive) and in the Group's UK-based employees between the year ended 31 Decemnber 2017
and 31 December 2018. The Group-wide 2018 annual bonus outcomes and payments will be confirmed in March 2019 and therefore
estimated figures for UK-Gased empioyees have been used in the comparisan. The Caommittee has selected this camparator group on the
basis that the Chief Executive is UK-based and this provides a local market reference and a sufficently large comparator group based on
a similar incentive structure to the Chief Executive, and reduces any distortion ansing from currency and cost of livng differences in other
geographies in which Spectris operates. For comparison purposes, the annualised figures for John O™Higgins have been used.

% change 2017-2018

Base salary Benefits Annual boaus
Chief Executive 2.0% 0.9% {31 6)%
Executive team 1.7% 19.4% (21.5)%
Spectris UK-based employees . 4.6% © 30% {1.0)%

Relative importance of spend on pay

The table below shows the relative expenditure of the Group on the pay of its employees in comparison to adjusted profit before tax
and distributions to shareholders by way of dividend payments and share buyback between the years ended 31 December 2017 and
31 December 2018. Total employee pay is the total pay costs for alt Group employees. Adjusted profit before tax has been used as

a companson as this is a key finandal metnc which the Board considers when assessing the Group's financial performance.

2018 2017
£m Em % change
Total employee pay 633.7 600.6 6%
Oividends paid during the year 68.2 £3.2 8%
Share buyback 100.5 - -%
Adjusted profit before tax! 241.4 234.2 3%

1 Adgusted profit before tax 15 calculated as being the statutory profit before tax as adjusted to exclude certain dems defined in Mate 2 to the Financial Statements on
page 108

70 Annual Report and Accounts 2018



Total shareholder return performance
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This graph shows the value, by 31 December 2018, of £100 mvested in Spectris on 31 December 2008, compared with the value of £100
invested in the FTSE 250 Index {excluding investrment trusts) on the same date. This index has been chosen because it is a widely-recogrised
performance benchmark for large companies in the UK.

The other points plotted are the values at intervening financial year ends.

Historical Chief Executive remuneration

The table below shows the totat remuneration figure for the Chief Executive for the current year and over the previous nine years. The total
reruneration figure includes the annual bonus and PSP awards that vested based on performance in those years. The annual bonus and
PSP percentages show the pay-out for each year as a percentage of the potential maximum.

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018
John Andrew
O Higgins Heath
Single total figure of
remuneration {£'000) 849 1,104 1,481 2,995 2172 1,122 729 1,388 1,61 1,965% 3242
Annual bonus
{% of maximum) 0% 95% 100% 70% 20% 18% ' 0%' 90% 80% 54% 60%
PSP vesting
(% of maximum) 33% 89% 100% 100% 100% 28% 0% 0% 10%:? 63%* N/A

1 Bonus entitiement waived

2. Restated figure to reflect actual vesting of 2015 award.

3 Pro-rated figures based on time served as Chief Executve dunng 2018 nine months to 28 September 2018 for John O'Higgins and thvee moaths from 1 October
2018 for Andrew Heath

4 Estimated vesting of 2016 award.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Non-executive Directors’ remuneration

Chairman and Non-executive Directors’ fees
The fee structure for the Non-executive Directors remained unchanged for 2018 as set out below:

2018 2017
£000 £'000
Chairman (all-inclusive fee) 220 220
Non-executive Director basic fee 55 55
Senior Independent Director fee 10 10
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee 10 10
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 10 10
Annual travel supplement to be pad to overseas-based Non-executive Directors 15 15
Non-executive Directors’ single total figure of remuneration (audited)
The single total figure of remuneration for each Non-executve Director who served during the year is as follows:
Basic fees Additional fees Taxable expenses Total
Director £7000 €000 £'000 £'000
Mark Williamson® 2018 220 - - 220
2017 132 - - 132
Russell King 2018 55 20 - 75
2017 55 20 - 75
Karim Bitar? . 2018 55 - - 55
2017 287 - - 28°
UH Quellmann 2018 55 6 - 61
2017 55 = - 55
Bill Seeger 2018 55 251 - 80
2017 55 254 108 30
Kjersti Wiklund® . . 2018 55 - - 55
2017 52 - - 52
Martha Wyrsch 2018 55 154 - 70
2017 55 154 — 70
1. Mark Williamson poined the Board as Non-executive Chawman on 26 May 2017 His 2017 fee is pro-rated from that date and s all-inclusive.
2 Kanm Bitar joined the Board on 1 fuly 2017 Hi 2017 fee is pro-rated from that date and has been restated 10 reflect an overpayment conecton
3. Kjersh Wiklund joined the Board on 19 January 2017 Her 2017 fee is pro~rated from that date.
4 Bill Seeger and Martha Wyrsch (both based overseas) recerved an additional annual travel supplement of £15.000 for the 2018 financial year (2017. £15,000),

nduded in thew respectve additronat fees figures UIf Quelimann became eligibie to recewe this annual travel supplement with effect frorn 1 August 2018 and
he received a pro-rated travel supplement of £6,250 for the 2018 financial year.

S. Bl Seeger was reimbursed for certain travel expenses during the 2016/2017 tax year amounting 1o £5,566 which HMRC subsequently deermed to be subject to UK
income tax producing a gross figure of £9,614 This tax kabiity amounted to £4,048 and was paid by Spectris on his behalf dunng 2017 There was no tax habiity
on iembursed expenses during 2017/18 tax year
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Additional notes to the Non-executive Directors’ single total figure of remuneration table

Membership of Board Committees
Details of each Non-executive Director's Board Committee membershup and, where relevant, Committee Chairmanstip, held during 2018,
and reflected in the addmonal fee figures for the financial year, are outlined in the table below.

Non-executive Director

Mark Williamson Non-executive Chairman

Russell King Senior Independent Director and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
Katim Bitar Member of the Audit and Risk and Remuneration Committees

UIf Quellmann Member of the Audit and Risk and Remuneration Committees

Bill Seeger Chairman of the Audit and Risk Commitiee

Kiersti Wiklund Member of the Remuneration Committee

Martha Wyrsch Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

At the date of this report, all Non-executive Directors served on the Nomination Cormmittee, for which there was no additional payment

Ditectors’ shareholdings and share interests (audited)

Directors’ shareholding requirements

Each Executive Director is, subject 1o personal circumstances, required to build a retained shareholding in Spectris plc of at least three
times base salary in value within five years of appointment and s required to apply the post-tax benefit of any vested PSP awards

or any bonus payments exceeding 60% of base salary to the acquisition of shares until this required level of shareholding is achieved.
Andrew Heath was appointed on 3 September 2018 and is in the process of building his shareholding Both John O’Higgins and

Clive Watson each have a holding in excess of this requirement For comparison purposes, annualised 2018 base salaries in respect of
Andrew Heath and John O'Higgins have been used to calculate their respective required level of retaimed shareholding. There is no such
requirement in respect of the Chairman or Non-executive Directors, who have discretion as to whether o hold the Company’s shares
or not,

Executive Directors” interests in shares
The beneficral interest of each Executive Director (including their closely associated persons) in the shares of the Company, as at
31 December 2018, is as follows.

Shares held as at interests in share plans
31 December 2018 No of shares to be Percentage of Total interests in
Durector of leaving date’ retaned?  requirement achieved® PS5/ Sie shares
Andrew Heath 21,500 80,298 27% 21,372 22 42,894
John O°Higgins 290,613 80,158 363% 157,44Q - 448,053
Clive Watson 133,979 50,820 264% 99,910 38 233,927

Notes:

1. kohn O'Higgins stepped down from the Board on 28 September 2018

2. Based on unrestricted shares held and the Campany’s dosing share price on 31 December 2018, the last trading date of 2018, of 2,279 pance,

3. PSPs are nominal cost share options of 5 pence. Performance conditions apply, details of which are set out in the following sections.

4. Incudes shares purchased through, and Matching shares held in, the Company’s alkemployee Share Incentive Plan (‘SIPY), The Matching shares may be subject
t forfeiture within three years of award

Between 1 January 2019 and 19 Februaty 2019, Andrew Heath purchased 13 Partnership shares and recewved 3 free Matching shares
and Clive Watson purchased 12 Partnership shares and received 2 free Matching shares through the Company’s SIP.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Executive Directors’ interests in share plans

PSP and SAYE
No. of
Market shares No. of shares
Performance X value per subject to subject to
riod end Exercise share at Face value at options at  Granted  Exercised Lapsed options at
Share  Date date/date Expiry price date of date of grant 1 Janua during during during 3% December
Director  plan granted exercisable  date {pence) award {£) 20 the year  theyear  the year 2018
Andrew Sept  Sept Sept
Heath PsP 2018 20214 2028 5 23784 508,312 - 21,372 - - 21,372
Total PSP - 21,372 - - 21,372
John Mar  Mar Mar
O'Higgins PSP 2015 2018 2025 5 2,197.2 1,138,809 51,8308 396° 5,786 46,440 -
Feb  Feb Feb
2016 2019 2026 5 1.713.6 1,155,995 67,460 - - — 67,460
Jun Jun Jun
2017 2020° 2027 5 2,630.8 1,193,857 45,380 - ~ - 45,380
Mar  Mar Mar
2018 2021 2028 5 2,677.2 1,194,031 - 44.800° - - 44,600
Total PSP 164,670 44,996 5,786 46,440 157,440
Clve Mar  Mar Mar
Watson PSP 2015 2018 2025 5 2,197.2 723,538 32,9308 251% 3,675 29,506 -
Feb Feb Feb
2016 2019 2026 5 17136 734,449 42,860 - - - 42,860
Jun Jun Jun
2017 20204 2027 5 2,630.8 756,881 28,770 - - - 28,770
Mar  Mar Mar
2018 2021+ 2028 5 26772 757,112 - 28,280° - = 28,280
Total PSP 104,560 28,531 3675 29,506 99,910
Sept  Dec Jun
SAYE 2015 2018 2009 1,737 1,737.0 17,995 1,036 - 1,036 - -

Notes to the nterests in share plans Lable

Perfomance Share Plan (PSP}

1 Sharehoiders approved the rules of Lhe Spectns Performance Share Plan 2017 az the AGM held on 24 May 2017.

2. ;he PSP awards are conditional fights 1o acquire shares and are nominal cost options. The exercise price is the nominal value of a Specins ordinary share, which 15

pence,

3 PSP awards to the Executive Directors are currently structured 5o that one-third of the award & subject to an EPS tanget, one-third is subject to a TSR target and
one-third s subgect 1o an Economic Profit ('EP’) target Each condilion operates over a fixed three-year penod (being the three financial years commenang with the
financal year in which an award 1 made in respect of the EPS and EP condit:ons; and three years from the date of grant in respect of the TSR condition) with no
opportunity for re-tesung

4. PSP awards granted in 2017 and 2018 are subject to an additional two-year holding penod fallowing the inial three-year performance penod These PSP awards
will hecome available to exercise at the end of the hokiing period (which will be the frith anniversary of the date of grant).

. Under the terens of the PSP, additional dradend equivalent shares are awarded on the date the PSP award becomes exercisabla therelyy increasing the number of
award shares granted. The value of these shares is equivalent to the Company's dwdends that would have been paid (between the date of grant and the date the
PSP award becomes exercisable) on the vested shares under the PSP award. These addiuonal award shares aze structured as nil cost options so the exercrse price is nil.

&. The PSP awards granted to the Executive Directors in 2015 and 2018 are linked 10 a grant of market value share cptions {Linked PSP awards') Such Linked PSP
awards are granted up to the HMRC's limut of an aggregate value of £30,000, and have the same performance and vesting canditions as the PSP awards to which
lshey are linked. No additional gross value was/can be defivered from the exercise of the Linked PSP awards. Funther details are set out in Note 23 to the Financal

tatements

7. The number of shares under option shown in the final cotumn for John ©'Higgins 1s as at 28 September 2018, which is the date he ceased 16 be a Direclor.

Savings Related Share Option Scheme ('SAYE Scheme’)

1. The Spectns Sawngs Related Share Option Scheme 2007 expired on 25 May 2017 and was replaced by a new SAYE scheme, on subsiantialiy the same terms,
on 26 May 2017. This Scherne is a HMRC tax-favoured savings-related share option scheme open 10 all employees.

2 o performance conditions are attached to SAYE options other than continuous service No grants hive been made under the SAYE Scheme since 2016

3. The face value of SAYE awards 15 calculated using the exercise price which 15 set at the date of grant based on the closing mid-markes share prce on the day
immediately before the iwitation date. Although the SAYE Scheme rules peryit the oplion prce to be discounted up Yo a maximum of 20% of the market price
al the time of grant, no such discount was apphed 1o the option price,

Share Incentive Plan ('SIP)

w

Total Ne. of shares held

No. af shares heid No, of Partnership shares No. of Matching shares within the SIP as at
at I fanuary 2018 purchased during the year awarded during the year 31 December 2018
Andrew Heath - 19 3 22
Clive Watson - 32 1 38

Notey

1. The Spectns Share Incentive Plan (*SIP} was apgroved by shareholders at the 2018 AGM This scheme is 3 HMRC tax-favoured share purchase scheme open to all UK
empioyees The Executive Directors have the cpportunity to partapate in the SIP on the same terms as other Group UK employees John O"Higgins did not participate
n this SIP

2. Under the SIP, Partnership shares may be purchased each month 3t market value using gross salary up to a maxmum monthly value set by HMRC {(currently £150 per
Month) For every five Partnership shares puechased, the Company will award one free Matching share All shanes are held in trust by the SIP Trustees The Matching
shares are subject to forferture within three years of the date of award
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PSP performance conditions

The performance criteria for the awards granted in 2018 and 2017 are summarised as follows:

DURLIBACD

Performance meine Percentage of award that vests
(expressed as 2 percentage of
one-third of the total number
Performance condition 2018 2017 of shares subject to an award)
Earnings per share ("EPS’) CPi+11% ¢.p.a CPl+ 1% cp.a. 100%
Between CPl + 5% and 11%  Between CPI + 5% and 11% Pro ratz on a straight-line basis
C.p.2. cpa between 20% and 100%
CPl+5% ¢.p.a. LPl+5% ¢.p.a. 20%
Less than CPt + 5% c.p.a. Less than CPl + 5% ¢.p.a 0%
Total Shareholder Return (‘'T5R") Upper quintile or above Upper quintile or above 100%

Relative to the FTSE 250 Between median and upper  Between median and upper Pro rata on a straight-tine basis
{excluding investment trusts)  guintile quintie between 20% and 100%
Median Median 20%
Below median Below median 0%
Economic Profit CEP) £300 million or more £280 miflion or more 100%

Aggregate economic profit
over the financia! performance
period

Between £180 million and
£300 million

Between £150 million and
£280 million

Pro rata on a straight-line basis
between 20% and 100%

£180 milhon

£150 milhon

20%

Less than £180 million

Less than £150 million

0%

The performance critena for the awards granted in 2016 and 2015 are summarised as follows

Parformance metric Percentage of award that vests
(expressed as a percentage of
one-thid of the to1al number
Performance condivon 2016 2015 of shares subject to an award}
Eps CP+13%cpa CPl+13%cpa. 100%
Between CP! + 5% and 13%  Between CPl + 5% and 13% Pro rata on a straight-line basis
c.p.a. c.p.a between 20% and 100%
CPi+5%<cpa. CPl + 5% ¢.p.a. 20%
Less than CPl + 5% c.p.a. Less than CPI 4+ 5% c p.a. 0%
TSR Upper quintite or above Upper quintile or above 100%

Relative to the FTSE 250

Between median and upper

Between median and upper

Pro rata on a straight-line basis

{excluding investrnent trusts)  quintile quintile between 20% and 100%
Median Median 20%
Below madian Below median 0%

Ep £275 million or more £370 million or more 100%

Aggregate economic profit
aver the financial performance
period

Between £ 145 million and
£275 million

Between £250 million and
£370 milhion

Pro rata on a straight-line basis
between 20% and 100%

£145 million

£250 milhon

20%

Less than £145 million

Less than £250 million

0%

Economuc profit is defined as adjusted aperating profit (after Project Uplift costs) less average monthly caprial employed muluplied by the Company's weighted average
<05t of capital {WACC?), which was sel at 11% for the awards granted since 2015. The WACK rate applied to subsequent acquisitions increases over the first three
vears of ownership 1o 11%. Any impairment of goodwill and amortisation of acquired intangibie assets over a pedformance penod will be added back 1o capital
employed. The TSR performance condution is measured independently by Aon, The EPS figure is oblzined from the audited Finandial Statements and the calculation

of achievement against growth conditian is presented to and approved by the Committea. The Committee will also monitor outcomes for the EP measure to ensure
that they achieve the onginal objectives and may adjust the vesting accordingly Any exerqise of discretion will be justfied in the next Directars’ Remuneration Repart
Similarty, the Conwnittee must satisfy fiself that the Company’s relatve T5R performance is reflective of its undedying finandial performance
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DIRECTORS® REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Dilution limits

In line with best practice, the use of new or treasury shares to satisfy the vesting of awards made under all of the Company’s share plans
(PSP and SAYE combined) Is restricted to 10% in any ten-year rolling period A further restriction applies to the PSP plan of 5% quer the
same penod of which 3.39% has baen utilised.

Chairman and Non-executive Directors® interests in shares

The Chairman and Non-executive Directors are not permitted to participate in any of the Company’s incentive schemes nor are they
required to build and retain a minimum shareholding i the Company They have discretion as to whether to hold the Company’s shares
or not. The table below sets out the beneficial interests in the ordinary shares of the Campany of each current Mon-executive Cirector
(including their clasely associated persons) during the year ended 31 December 2018,

Shares held at

1 January 2018 {or
date of appointment Shares held at
Current Non-executive Director if \atery 31 December 2018
Mark Williamson 16,753 16,753
Russell King 3,000 3,000
Karnim Bitar - 1,330
UIf Quellmann 1,500 1,994
Bill Seeger 3,000 3,000
Klerstt Wiklund = -
Martha Wyrsch 3,000 3,000

There has been no change in the interests in shares of the Chairrman and Non-executive Directors between 1 January 2019 and
19 February 2019,

Share price
At 31 December 2018, the last trading day of 2018, the mid-market ¢losing share price on the London Stock Exchange was 2,279 pence
per share. The highest mid-market ciosing share pnce in the-year was 2,908 pence per share and the lowest was 1,966.5 pence per share.

Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment

The Executive Directors have rolling contracts subject 1o 12 months’ notice of termination by either party, or to summary notice in
the gvent of senous breach of the Director’s obligations, dishonesty, senous misconduct or other conduct bninging the Company
into disrepute.

The contract of emplioyment in respect of Andrew Heath prowides for payment m fieu of nouce on termenation equivalent to base salary,
pension and benefits but excludes any compensation for loss of bonus and is in full and final settlement of all employment-related claims.
Such payment may be paid in monthly instalments for the duration of the notice peniod or as a lump surmn and is subject to mitigation

if aiternative employment 1s found during the notice period.

The contract of employment in respect of Ciive Watson contains an option, at the sole discretion of the Board, for the contract

to be terminated by way of payments in lieu of notice equivalent to 1.4 times maonthly base salary for the outstanding months of the
notice period Such payment accounts for the 25% employer pension cantribution; company car, insurance and fuel benefits; life,
disability and medical expenses insurances, and settiernent of any statutory employment claims that may arise upon termination,

but excludes any element of compensation for loss of bonus and is in full and final settlement of all employment-related claims.

All letters of appointment in respect of the Non-executive Directors are renewable at each AGM, subject to review prior to proposal for
re-election, and provide for a notice pesiod of six months. Ordinarily, appointmenis do not continue beyond nine years after first election,
at which time Non-executive Dirgctors cease to be presumed independent under the UK Corporate Governance Code
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The table below surnmarises the current Directors’ senvice contracts or terms of appointment:

3 Lenglh of service at
Date of contract Expiry date Notce period 19 February 2019
Executive Directors
Andrew Heath 2 Sept 2018 Rolling contract with no 12 months 5 manths
fixed expiry date
Clive Watson 1 Oct 2006 4 Feb 2023 12 menths 12 years 4 months
Non-executive Directors
Mark Williamson 26 May 2017 Renewable at each AGM & months 1 year 9 months
Russell King 12 Oct 2010 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 8 years 4 months
Karim Bitar 1 July 2017 Renewable at each AGM & months 1 year 7 months
Ulf Quellrmann 1 Jan 2015 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 4 years 1 month
Bill Seeger 1 Jan 2015 Renewable at each AGM . & months 4 years 1 month
Kjerst Wiklund 19 Jan 2017 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 2 years 1 month
Martha Wyrsch 1 lun 2012 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 6 years 8 months

External appointments — Executive Directors

Executive Directors may retain any payments received in respect of external non-executive appointments held Such appointments are
normally limited to one per Director at any time and are subject to the approval of the Board. Andrew Heath did not hold any external
non-executive appointreents during 2018. Detalls of the payments received by John O'Higgins {pro-rated 10 28 Septernber 2018 being
the date he stepped down from the Spectris Board) and Clive Watson for external non-executive appointments held during 2018 are set
out in the table below

Company name Fee retained
lohn O’Higgins Johnson Matthey £47,467
Clive Watson Spirax-5arco Engineering plc £66,595

Summary of shareholder voting on Directors’ remuneration
At the AGM held an 25 May 2017, shareholders approved the 2017 Directors’ Remuneration Policy by 98.46% of the votes cast and the
2017 Directors’” Remuneration Report was approved at the 2018 AGM by 99 17% of the votes cast, as detailed in the table below

Votes for Votes aganst Votes withheld

Number % Number % Number

2017 AGM Directors’ Rernuneration Policy 93,190,031 98 46% 1,445,329 1.53% 517,033
2018 AGM 2017 Directors’ Rernuneration Report 98,570,343 99.17% 821,763 0.83% 43,854

Directors’ interests in contracts
No Director had during the year or at the end of the year any matenal interest in any contract of significance 10 the Group's business.

Loans to Directors
During the year, there were no outstanding loans to any Director.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Role of Remuneration Committee

The Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board the
Group’s Remuneration Policy, including the remuneration
arrangements for the Chairman, the Executive Directors, the
Company Secretary and members of the Executive Commuttee and
for the practical operation of the Policy. it regularly reviews the
balance batween fixed and variable pay and the performance
conditions that attach to both short-term and long-term incentives.
Environment, sodal and governance (ESG) factars are also
considered by the Commuittee when assessing the personal element
of Executive Directors' performance. The Committee also maonitors
the level and structure of remuneration for operating company
Presidents and Managing Directors and takes into account
workforce remuneration and related policies and the alignment of
ncentives and rewards with the Group's culture. The remuneration
of Non-executive Directors is a matter reserved to the Board. The
full terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee are
reviewed annually and are available at www.spectris.com.

Committee members and attendees
All members of the Committee are ndependent Non-executive
Directors. Dunng 2018, the members were:

» Russell King (Chairman}
» Karim Bitar

»  Uif Quelimann

» Kjerst Wiklund

The Cornmittee met five times during 2018 and details of each
member's attendance are disclosed on page 45. Only mernbers of
the Committee have the nght to attend meetings but other
individuals and externat adwisers may attend by inwitation. The
Chairman is invited to attend all meetings of the Committee.
During the year, the Committee also invited the Chief Executive and
Group Human Resources Director to attend meetings to provide
advice 1o the Committee to allow it to make informed decisions.
The Deputy Company Secretary attends all meetings as Secretary to
the Committee.

No indivdual was present when their own remuneration was being
discussed.

The Committee also meets without management present and
received independent remuneration advice during the year from
PricewaterhouseCooper LLP {'PwC ‘) and independent information
from Aon Hewtt Limited ("Aon’).

Advisers to the Committee

Pw(C was appointed as independent remuneration adviser on 1
lanuary 2018 and provided advisory support to the Committee on
various aspects of the Directors’ remuneration including fee
benchmarking far the Non-executive Directors. During 2018, PwC
provided certain project advisory services to the Company.

Aon separately supparts the Company in compiling IFRS 2
share-based payrment reporting on the Company's share plans and
TSR performance calaulations in relation to the Company’s PSP.
Aon does not provide any other services to the Company. Total fees
paid during the finandal year to these advisers were: Pw( £53,667
(2017 £nmi) and Aon £12,300 (2017: £35,352) These fees were
charged on the basis of each firm's standard terms of business.

Both Pw(C and Aon are members of the Remuneration Consultants
Group and adhere to its Code of Conduct.

The Committee is satisfied that the advice it received from these
firms during 2018 was objective and independent.
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Activities in 2018

The key issues considered by the Committee during the year
included

» 2018 Directors’ Remuneration Report.

» Considering and finaksing the remuneration arrangements.
Executve Directors’ 2018 bonus amangements, target
performance measures and personal objectves.

Review and approval of 2018 PSP grant levels and target range
for performance measures.

Reviewing the impact of the in-year share buy-back and also the
change in calculation of adjusted operating profit on the Group's
£P5 metric to remave any enhancement.

» Reviewing ESG risks in determining Director remuneration and
agreeing that the current design of the Group's incentive
arrangements did not pose undue ESG risk.

Reviewing changes to the UK Corporate Governance Code and
agreeing a revised workplan to ensure that the Group remains
compliant with the Code.

-

~

Annual performance evaluation

The Chairman of the Committee led the annual evaluation of the
performance of the Committee for 2018, with the results being
discussed by the Committee and forming part of the wider Board
and Committee evaluation discussion led by the Chairman,

The Committee was considered to have operated effectvely during
the year.

2019 Remuneration Committee Workplan
The planned focous for the Committee during 2019 will be:

» reviewing wider workforce remuneration framework and key
pohaes;

» reviewing wider UK workforce pension arrangements;

» reviewing CEQ average pay compared to UK workforce average

pay.

reviewing the relevance and appropnateness of the Group’s

long-term incentive structure against the Group's strategic review

and market practice;

» reviewing the Group's existing Remuneration Policy against the

Group's strategy, market practice, changes in the external

govermnance envircnment and investor guidance and

recommending any changes to the Board; and

developing and undertaking a proportionate investor

engagement programne in respect of the proposed

Remuneration Policy ahead of it being put before shareholders

for approval in 2029,

On behalf ¢f the Board

Russell King
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
19 February 2019

-
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DIRECTORS' REPORY

Ovetview of the information required to be discosed

This section sets out the information required to be disclosed by the Company and the Group in the Directors’ Report in compliance with
the Companies Act 2006 ("Companies Act'), the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority (‘Listing Rules’} and the Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules ('DTR’). Certain matters that would otherwise be disclosed in this Duectors’ Report have been reported eisewhere in
this Annual Report. This report should therefore be read in conjunction with the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 43 and pages 44 to 78 of
the Corporate Govemance Report which are incorporated by reference into this Directors’ Report, The Strategic Report and this Directors’
Report, together with other sections of this Annual Repart and Accounts including the Corporate Governance Report on pages 44 10 78
incorporated by reference, when taken as a whole, form the Management Report as required under Rule 4,1 5R of the DTR.

Disclosyre Reparted :n Page reference
Acquisitions and disposals Surategic Report 11, 28 and 29
Amendment 1o Articdles of Association Directors” Repont 80
Annual General Meeting Directors’ Report 80
Appointment and removal of Directors Directors’ Report 80
Authority to allot shares Directors’ Report 81
Business model Strategic Report 6-7
Change of control Directors’ Report 80
Commuynity and chantable giving Strategic Report 43
Corporate governance Corporate Governance Report 44-83
Dwrectors’ conflicts of interest Directors’ Report 81
Directors' details Corporate Governance Report 46-47
Directors’ indemnity Directors’ Report 81
Directors” responsibility statement Directors’ Report 83
Disclosure of infarmation to auditor Directors’ Report 82
Diversity, equality and inclusion Strategic Report 40
Employee engagement Corporate Governance Report 40, 50 and 51
Employee equal opportunities Strategic Report 40
Employee share plans Directors’ Report 8%
Employees with disabilities Strategic Report 40
Finangial instruments Oirectors’ Report 81
Future developments and strategic priorities Strategic Report 14-15
Going concern Dweclors’ Report 81
Greenhouse gas emissions Strategic Report 42
Ongang director training and development Corporate Governance Report 49
Poltical donations Directors’ Report 81
Powers of Directors Drrectors’ Report 81
Principal risks and risk management Strategic Report 31-36
Research and development activities Strategic Report & and 26
Restrictions on iransfer of shares Directors’ Report 81
Restrictions on voting rights Directors’ Report 81
Results and dividends Strategic Report 4
Rights and obligations attaching to shares Dwrectors’ Report 81
Share buyback Directors’ Report 81
Share capital Directors’ Report 81
Substantial share interests Directors’ Report 82

Strategic Repert 37

Viabiity Statement
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DIRECTORS’ REFORT continued

Non-financial information statement and index

This statement 1s made in comphiance with the Companies Act 2006 and 1s intended to pravide an understanding of our development,
performance and position on key non-financial matters The table below sets cut where information relating to non-financial matters

can be located

Some of our relevant Page

Reporting requirement policies and standards Where to find out more information reference
Anti-bribery and Code of Business Ethics  Ethics and values standards 4 and 39
corruption Culture, integrity and commitment to our values 4 and 39
Ethics hotline 3s

Ethical leadership 39

Principal risk - Comphance with laws and regulations 33

Business mode! Our business model &6-7
Environmental matters  Environmental policy Environmental management 42-43
IS0 14001 Energy performance 42

Greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) 42

KPI - Energy efficiency 17

Ermnployees Code of Business Ethics  Far employment and diversity 40
Heatth and safety policy Board diversity 49

CGHSAS 18001 Employee engagement and Workforce Engagement Director S50-51

SA 8000 Health, safety and wellbeing at work 41-42

KP! - Accident incidence rate 17

Principal risks - Compliance with faws and regulations 33

— People 33

Human nghts Human Rights policy Legal and reguiatory compliance 41
Cade of Business Ethics  Risk — Complance with laws and regulation 33

Non-financial KPis Energy efficiency 17
Accident ncident rate 17

Social matters Community involvernent 43

Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out on pages 92 to 162
Adjusted operating profit for the year amounts to £248 3 millon
(2017 £239.3 millon).

An interim dividend of 20.5 pence per share was paid on

9 Novernber 2018 in respect of the half year ended 30 june 2018,
The Board 15 recommending a final dividend of 40.5 pence per
share, making the total ddend for the year of 61 O pence per
share (2017: 56 5 pence per share). Dividend details are given

in Note 9 to the Financial Statements Subject to approval

of shareholders at the 2019 Annyal General Meeting, the final
dividend will be paid on 28 June 2019 to those shareholders

on the register at 24 May 2019,

Articles of Association ("Articles’)

The Company’s Articles contain specfic provisions and restrictions
regarding the Company's power 1o borrow money. Powers relating
to pre-emptive rights; the allotment of shares; and share buybacks
of the Company's shares are also included in the Articles and such
authovities are renewed by shareholders each year at the Annual
General vieeting. The Articles also give power 10 the Board to
appoint and remove Directors and require Directors to submit
themselves for election at the first Annual General Meeting
following their appointment and for annual re-election at
subsequent AGMs, The Articles may be amended by special
resolution of the shareholders. The Company’s Articles are
available on the Company's website: www.spectris.com.

Annual General Meeting (AGM'}

The AGM will be held at 12.30pm on Friday 24 May 2019
at Great Fosters, Stroude Road, Egham, Surrey TW20 9UR.
The notice of the AGM accompanies this Annual Report.
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Auditor’s re-appointment and remuneration

In accordance with section 489 of the Companies Act, a resolution
for the re-appointment of Delortte LLP as the Company’s auditor 15
10 be proposed at the forthcorming 2019 AGM, A further resolution
is to be proposed at that meeting to authorise the Directors to
agree the remuneration of the auditor.

Branches

Spectris Group, through various subsidiaries, has established
branches in 2 number of different countrnies in which the
business operates.

Change of control

There are a number of agreements that take effect, alter or
terminate upon a change of control of the Group following

a takeover, such as bank loan agreements and Company share
plans None of these are deemed to be significant in terms of
their potential impact on the business of the Group as a whole.
It 1s also possible that funding arrangements for the Group's
defined benefit pension arrangements would need to be
enhanced following a change of control if that resulted
aweakening of the employer covenant.

The Company does not have any agreements with any Director
that would provide for enhanced compensation for loss of office
ar employment followang a takeover bid.

Directors

Details of the Directors who served dunng the year are set out

an pages 46 and 47, other than John O'Higgins whe retired from
the Board on 28 September 2018. Directors are appointed and
replaced in accordance with the Articles, Companies Act, and the
UK Corporate Governance Code 2016. The powers of the Directors
are set out in the Artictes and the Companies Act



Directors’ conflicts of interest

The Board has an established process to review at least annually,
and, if appropriate, authorise conflict or potential conflict of
interests. Any transactional conflicts are reviewed as they arise,
Directors are asked to review and confirm reported conflicts

of interest as part of the year-end process.

Directors’ remuneration and interests

Details of Directors’ remuneration and their interest in the
Company's shares can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on pages 60 to 78.

Directors’ and officers’ indemnities and insurance

The Spectns Group maintains fiability msurance for its Directors
and officers The Directars, Company Secretary and members

of the Executive Committee have also been granted a thud-party
indernnity, under the Companies Act, which remains in force
Neither the Company's indemnity nor insurance provides cover

in the event that an indemnified individual 1s proved to have acted
fraudulently or dishonestly.

Directors’ powers

Subject to the Company’s Articles, UK legislation and any
directions given by special resclution, the business of the
Company is managed by the Board, which may exerase
all the powers of the Company.

Borrowing powers
The Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company
to borrow money

Pre-emptive rights and new issues

Subject 1o the Articles and applicable laws and regulations, the
Directors may allot, grant options over, offer or otherwise deal with
or dispose of shares of the Company to such persons at such times
and generally on such terms and conditions as they may determine.

Purchase of own shares and share buybacks

The Company was authorised by shareholders at the 2018 AGM
to purchase in the market up to 10% of the Company's issued
share capital, as permitted under the Company's Articles.

This standard autharity is renewable annually, the Directors will
seek to renew this authority at the 2019 AGM.

Following the sale of Microscan in October 2017, which

praduced post-tax cash proceeds of £91.9 million in March.2018, ~
the Directors commenced a £100 million on-market share buyback
programme. The Board considers the buyback process to be

a flexible distribution method which provides shareholders with the
choice as to whether to participate. The programme was completed
on 13 August 2018 and the total number of ordinary shares

of 5 pence each purchased amounted to 3,825,802 shares
(representing 3.31% of the issued share capital (excluding treasury
shares) as at 31 December 2018} at an average price of £24.83 per
share. All purchased shares were duly cancelled. Details of the
impact of the share buyback an relevant performance metrics
related to the Performance Share Plan and Annual Bonus Plan are
set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 67 and 69,

Employee share plans

Details of employee share plans are set out in the Remuneration
Palicy summary table on pages 62 and 63 and in Note 23 to the
Financial Statements on page 133.

financial instruments

Information on the Group's financial nsk management ohjectives
and policies, its exposure 1o foreign currency nisk, interest rate risk,
liquidity risk, credit risk and capital management is contained in
Note 28 to the Financial Staternents on pages 144 to 146,
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Going concern and Viability statements

Having reviewed the Group’s plans and available financial facilities,
the Board has a reasonable expectation that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for at least
12 months following the signing of the accounts. For this reason,

it continues to agopt the going concern basis in prepanng the
Group’s accounts. The Company’s Viability Statement can be found
on page 37

Related party transactions

Related party transactions are set out in Note 32 to the Financial
Statements on page 147,

Political donations

The Group’s palicy is not to make any politcal donations and none
were made during the finanaal year {2017: nil).

Post balance sheet events
There were no post balance sheet events.

Share capital

The share capital of the Company compnses ordinary shares

of § pence each; each share carnes the right t¢ one vote at general
meetings of the Company. The authorised and issued share capital
of the Company, together with movements in the Company‘s
issued share capital during the year, 15 shown in Note 22 to the
Financial Statements on page 132. The Articles, available on the
Company's website, contain provisions governing the ownership
and transfer of shares.

Shareholders’ rights and obligations attaching to
shares

Restrictions on shareholders’ rights

All of the 1ssued and outstanding ordinary shares of the Company
have equal voting rights, with one vote per share There are

no special control rights attaching to them.

Alteration of share capital and variation of rights

The Company rmay reduce or vary the fights attaching to its
share capital by spacial resolution. Such matters are subject to
the relevant provisions of the Articles and applicable laws and
regulations. Further details in relation to nghis and restrictions
applying to the Company’s shares are set out in the Articles,

Transfer of shares

There are no restnctions on the transfer of shares beyond thase
required by applicable faw under the Articles or under any
applicable share dealing policy.

Voting

Subject to any special rights or restrictions, every shareholder on
the Register not less than 48 hours (excluding non-working days)
before the time fixed for a general meeting, will have one vote for
every fully-paid share that they hold. Shareholders may cast votes
either personally or by proxy, and a proxy need not be a
shareholder. Details relating to the appointment of proxies and
registration of voting instructions for the 2019 AGM are set out
in the Notce of AGM accompanying this Annual Repart,
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DIRECTORS' REPORT continued

Substantial share interests
As al 31 Decemnber 2018, the Company had received formal notifications of the following holdings in 1ts ordinary shares in accordance
with DTRS.

Sharehoiding in Percentage of 1ssued share

Spectnis sharas Date of notification capital at date of notification

Massachusetts Financial Services Company 12,754,748 12 Oct 2018 11.04%
Fidehty Management & Research Company 6,403,655 23 Nov 2016 5.37%
Oppenheimer Funds, Inc 5,720,217 15 Jun 2018 4.83%

No changes in disclosable holdings under DTRS have been notified to the Company between 31 December 2018 and 19 February 2019,
An updated list of the Company's major shareholders is available on page 163

Treasury shares
Shares held by the Company in treasury do not have voting rights and are not eligible to receive divdends.

Disclosures required under UK Listing Rule 9.8.4
There are no disclosures required to be made under UK Listing Rule 9 8.4 other than in respect of long-term incentive schemes, details
of which are set out in the Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 60 to 78

Disclosure of information to auditor

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of the Directors” Report confiem that:

» so far as they are each aware, there is na relevant audit information, which would be needed by the Company’s auditor in connection
with preparing its audtt report, of which the Company’s audior is unaware, and

» each Director has taken all steps that they cught to have taken as a Director i order to make themselves aware of any relevani audit
information and ta establish that the Company’s auditor 1s aware of that mformation

By order of the Board

Mark Serfizd
General Counsel and Company Secretary
19 February 2019
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of
the Annual Report and the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,
Directors’ Rermuneration Report and the Group and Company
Financtal Statements in accordance with applicable law

and regulations.

Under the Companies Act, the Directors are required to prepare
the Group and Company Finanaial Statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by
the Eutopean Union {'EU’) and Article 4 of the 1AS reguiation and
have also elected 10 prepare the Company Financial Statements
n accordance with UK Accounting Standards, including £RS 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law, the Directors are required to prepare such
Financial Statements for each financial year and must not approve
the Financial Starements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company
and of their profit or loss for that period.

In prepanng each of the Group and Company Financial Statements,
the Directors are required to:

» select accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

» make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent,

» for the Group Financial Staternents, state whether they have
been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU;

» for the Company Financial Statements, state whether applicable
UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained n the Company
financial Statements; and

> prepare the Financal Statements on the going concern basis
unless it 15 mappropnale to presume that the Group and
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
finanaat posttion of the Company and enable them to ensure that
its Financial Statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They
have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and reguiations, the Directors are also
responuble for preparing a Strategic Repert, Directors’ Report,
Directars' Rernuneration Report and Corporate Governance
Statement that comply with that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and finanaal information included on the Company’s
website, Legisiation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation

in other junsdictions

Directors’ responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

» the Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with the
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view
of the assets, habities, financial position and profrt or loss of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole,

the Strategic Report on pages 1 1o 43 and the Directors’ Repon
on pages 44 to 83 inctude a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Group and
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole,
together with a descnption of the principal risks and uncertainnes
that they face; and .

the Annual Report and Accounts taken as a whole, is farr,
balanced and understandable, and provides the informaton
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's performance,
business model and strategy.

The Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report were approved
by the Board on 19 February 2019

-

-

By order of the Board

Andrew Heath  Clive Watson
Chief Executive  Group

18 February 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF SPECTRIS PLC

Opinion

In our opinion:

+ the Finandial Statements of Spectris plc {the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries (the "Group’) give a true and fair view of the
state of the Group's and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

the Consolidated Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international Finandial Reporting
Standards (1FRS’) as adopted by the European Union;

the Company Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, induding Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disdosure Framework’; and

» the Company Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
and, as regards the Consolidated Financial Statements, Anticle 4 of the IAS Regulation,

We have audited the Financial Statements which comprise;

» the Consolidated Income Statement;

» the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income;

» the Conschdated and Company Statements of Changes in Equity,

» the Consolidated and Company Staternent of Financal Position,

+ the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, and

» 1he related Conschdated Notes 1 to 34 and Company Notes 1 10 15,

The financia! reporting framework that has been applied n the preparation of the Caonsolidated Financial Statements is applicable law
and IFRS as adopted by the European Union. The finanaal reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Company
Financal Staternents is applicable law and United Kingdorn Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”
{United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} (15As (UK)') and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibiities for the audit of the Finandial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the etiical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
finandial statements in the UK, including the Financal Reporting Council's {the 'FRC's"} Ethical Standard as applied to disted pubhc interest
entites, and we have fulfilled cur other ethical responsibifities in accordance with these requirements We confirm that the non-audit
services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group or the Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropnate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Summary of our audit approach '

-

-

Key audit matters The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:
» Impairment of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets in two of the Group’s cash
generating units Concept Life Sciences ('CLS" and Millbrook; and
» Recogniion and valuation of customer relationships intangible assets In the CLS acquisition,

Materiality The materiality that we used in the Consolidated Financial Statements was £12.0 million which was
determined on the basis of 5% of adjusted profit before tax.
Scoping Full scope audit work was completed on 47 components and specified audit procedures were

undertaken on a further 20 components Our full scope and specified audit procedures covered 70%
{2017: 74%) of total Group revenue and 53% (2017: 91%) of Group statutory profit before tax.

Significant changes in A significant proportion of the Group’s material components are dassified as full audit scope

our approach components consistent with the previous year
Following changes in the Group structure, nsk profile and other qualitapve factors we brought two
new components into scope for the year ended 31 December 2018 These new components were CLS,
which was acquired in January 2018, and Bruel & Kjaer EMS, which is a new joint venture entered into
in May 2018.
Ancther significant change 1s the removal of twa key audit matters disdosed in our opinion in the year
ended 31 December 2017. These were:
+ Override in the appiication of the Group nventory provision accounting policy for cbsolete, excess and

slow-roving inventory items; and

» Agcuracy of provisions for taxation in respect of dnidends received from EU based companies.
These ate no longer key audit matters as we do not expect that a reasonable probable movement in
these provisions is likely 10 have a material impact In the financial statements.
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Conclusions relating to going concern, principal risks and Viability Statement

Going toncern

We have reviewed the Directors’ statement on page 83 to the
Financal Statements about whether they considered 1t appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting n preparng them
and their identification of any material uncertainties to the
Group’s and Company's ability to continue to do so over a period
of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the
Finanaal Statements.

We considered as part of our risk assessment the nature of the
Group, it business model and related risks including where
relevant the impact of Brexit, the requirements of the applicable
financial reporting framework and the system of internal control.
We evaluated the Directors’ assessiment of the Group's ability ta
continue as a going concern, induding challenging the underlying
data and key assumptions used to make the assessment, and
evaluated the Directors’ plans for future actions in relation to ther
going concern assessment.

We are required to state whether we have anything material to
add or draw attention to in relation to that statement required

by Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) and report if the statement is materially
inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

We canfirm that we have nothing material to report, add or
draw attention to in respect of these matters.

Principal risks and Viability Statement

Based solely on reading the Directors’ statements and considering

whiether they were consistent with the knowledge we obtained in

the course of the audit, induding the knowdedge obtained in the

evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group's and the

Company's ability to continue as a going concem, we are required

1o state whether we have anything material to add or draw

attention to in relation to.

the disclasures on pages 32 to 36 that describe the principal risks

and explain how they are being managed or mitigated;

the Directors’ confirmation on page 37 that they have camed

out a robust assessment of the prinaipal nisks facing the Group,

incuding those that would threaten its business model, future

performance, solvency or liquidity; or

» the Directors’ explanation on page 37 as to how they have
assessad the prospects of the Group, over what penod they have
done sp and why they consider that penod to be appropriata, and
their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation
that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its
liabilises as they fall due over the period of therr assessment,
induding any related disclosures drawing attention to any
necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We are also required 1o report whether the Directors' statement

relating to the prospects of the Group required by Listing Rule

9.8.6R(3) is materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained

in the audit.

-

-

We confirm that we have nothing material to report,
add or draw attention to in respect of these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPQRT TO THE MEMBERS QF SPECTRIS PLC continued

Key audit matters

Key aucit matters are those matters that, n our professional judgement, were of most signidicance in Qur audt of the finanaal Statements
of the current penod and include the most sgrificant assessed nsks of matenad missiatement (whether or nat due to fraud) that we
wdentified These matters ncuded those which had the greatest effect o, the averail audit strategy, the allocation of resources n the audit,
and direcuing the efforts of the engagement team

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financal Statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion therean, and
we do not prownde a separate opion on these matiers

Impairmant af the carrying valus of goodwill and other intangible assats

Key audit matter
description

®

Total goodwill and intangible assets at 31 Decernber 2018 were £766 3 milion {2017 £627 5 mikon) and
£263 3 mdlion (2017 £203 9 millon) respectively We focused our imparment of goodwill and other intang bie
assets testing on the goodwll i two cash-generating units ('CGUs™, being CLS{£105 5 milhen) and Midloroak
(£58 1 million), based on growth assumptions and levels of headroom

There 15 a nsk surrcunding the recoverability of these balances, as assessed annually by management as part

of their goodwill iImpairment review using discounted cash flows on 2 value In use basis

The key pdgements in assessing goodwill and intangible assets for impairment are the discount rate, the fong-
term growth rate, and the short-term projected cash flows The value in use model 15 sensitve Lo changes in
these estimates, alt of which must reflect a long-term view of underiyng growth n the respectve econormies
within which these businesses operate and the reascnableness of projected cash flows. Speafically, we have
mnpeinted this sgrificant nsk 1o the discount rate and short-term futuse cash flows in the twe CGUs above and
matena judgements contained therein This is where the highest degree of sensitrty exists to deterrmming the
value m use

We note that estmating a value in use 1s inherently judgemental, and a range of assumptions can reasonably
be applied m determining the estimates mentcned above

In respect of CLS, our challenge resulted in changes to management's inal mparment model where

cenan cash Tlow assurmpbons were not deemed to be reasonable from an impairment model perspactve

Qur challenge was based on histoncal CLS cash flows achieved, performance n Y18 being adverse to
management's expectations, and external market and peev data

The Audit Committee Report on page 55 refers to impairment of gocdwill and ather intangebles as an area
considered by the Audit Committee Note 1 1o the Consolidated Financial Staterents sets out the Group's
accounting policy for testing of gooowall and intangibles for impairment  The basss for the impanment reviews is
outiined in Note 11 o the Consclidated Financal Staterments, ncluding detavs of the dhscount rates and fong-
term growth rates used Note |7 1o the Consolidated Finanaal Statements afso indiudes detauls of the extent o
which the CGUS to which the goodwall and other intangible assets are atlocated are sensitve o changes in the
key nputs We draw attenbon 10 the daclosure inciuded wathin this note of reasonabie passible changes hat
could result in ar imparment

How the scope of
our audit responded
0 the key audnt
matter

®

Our procedures for chakienging management’s methodolegy and assumptions focused on both cash-generating
umits discussed abave and inchuded

+ assessing the design and implementation of the controls In the impaimment review process,

+ validating the integnty of management's impawment model through testing of the mechanical accuracy and
verfying the apphcation of the Input assumpbons,

» understanding the underinag process used to determine the nsk adjusted cash flow projectons,

> evaluating the progess management undertook to prepare the cash flow forecasts in s impaimment model
ncluding agreement with the latest Board approved plans and management approved forecasts,

» challenging the cash flow projections thiough assessing the accuracy of histoncal budgeting by comparnng

them wath actual performance and independent evdence to support any signibicant expected future changes
10 the business,

» conskiered a range of available market data and performed a peer benchwnarking exercrse to assess and
challenge ihe growth rates forecasted by management in revenue and margins,

» considered the potential impact of Brext on the cash flow projections,

+ considered reasonable possible changes in assumptions ta challenge the appropnateness of management’s
assessment of reasonable possible change scenanos, and

» our challenge was intormed by input from centan of our internal Valuations specialists, utlsing thewr
knowledge and expertise in relaticn to the discount rate and the market in which CLS operates

Key observations

@

Based on the work perfermed as outlined abave, we conskder the key assumptions taken by management to be
reasonable and supportable, and therefore we are satisfiad that no mparment easts

In relation to CLS, we were satisfied with management's revised imparment model which shows that the value
in use 15 i ine wath the carrying value This was on the basis that the assumptions applied, when taken in
aggregate, are within our acceptable range
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Valuation of the customer relationship intangible asset in the acquisition of Concept Life Sciences

Key audit matter
description

During the year Spectns ple acquired Concept Life Sciences ('CLS") for gross consideration of £166 9 million,

In accordance with IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’, management has recognised the identifiable assets and the
habilities at their acquisition date fair values.

We have identified a key audit matter spedifically in relation to the assurnptions applied in respect of the
Purchase Price Atlocation {'PPA”) exercise This includes identifying where intangible assets anise and the

relevant Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC") and forecast cash flow assumptions used in valuing these
intangible assets.

The primary intangible asset identified is customer refationships of £36 8m and we pinpointed the nsk to the key
assumptions in forecast revenue growth, gross profit margin growth, discount rate and custorer attrition rates.
The associated disclosure is included in Note 11. The Audit Committee has induded their assessment of this risk
on page 55 and it is included within the key sources of estimation uncertainty in Note 1. For spectfics of the
Group’s atcounting policy please see page 100,

UBWABLS |BDURULY

How the scope of
our audit responded
to the key audit
matter

Qur procedures for challenging management's key assumptions in relation to the CLS acquisition included.,

» assessing the design and impiementation of the controls 1o address the key audit matler;

» evaluating the acquisition balance sheet and fair value adjustments including challenging management

with regards to the identification and valuation of intangible assets;

challenging management's assessment of useful economic iife of the customer relationship asset, the

reasonableness of the forecast upon which this asset is based and profitability pertaining to this intangible

through the use of valuation experts and benchmarking,

» assessing the methodology used in the excess earnings method used by management to value the intangible

asset;

ncorporating valuation specialists inta our team to assess the valuation methodology and certain key

assumptions including the discount rate; and

» reviewing post acquisition trading in conjunction with the nisk of impairment as noted in Key Audit Matter
descnption.

-

-

Key observations

Based on the work performad as outlined above, we are satisfied that the acquisition of CLS, and in particular
the valuation of the custormer relationship intangible asset, has been appropriately accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF SPECTRIS PLC continued

Our application of materiality
We define matenality as the magnitude of misstatement in the Finanaal Statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a
reasonably knowledgeabie person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in

evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the Financial Statements as a whole as follows

Consolidated Financial Statements

Company Financial Statements

Materiality

£12.0 million (2017. £9.0 million)

£4 Q rmillion (2017 £3.6 million)

Basis for determining
materiality

We have used 5% (2017: 5%) of adjusted profit
before tax as the benchmark for determining
ratenality

Company materiality was set at approximately
35% (2017; 40%) of Group matenality and
equates to () 5% of the Company’s net assets.

Rationale for the
benchmark applied

Adjusted profit before tax is a key performance
measure for management, nvestors and the
analyst community. This metric is important to the
users of the Financial Statements {investors and
analysts being the key users for a histed entity}
because it portrays the performance of the
business and hence its ability to pay a retum on
mvestment to the investors Likewise, this metric
takes into account the acquisitive nature of the
Group which results in adjustng items needing to
be considered when determining the performance
of the business

Net assets are considered an appropriate
benchrmark for the Company given that it 1s mamly
a holding company.

Materiality

We agreed with the Audit Commuttee that we would report to the Committee alf audit differences in excess of £0.5 million
(2017 £0.45 million), as welf as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitatve grounds.
We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the

Financial Statements.
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An overview of the scope of our audit

The Group operates in more than 30 countnes spread across five continents with the largest footprint being 1n North America, Asia and
Europe. Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including Group-wide controls,
and assessing the risks of matenal misstatement at the Group and component level. Based on that assessment, we focused our Group
audit scope prirnarily on the autht work at the four segrments, managed via 14 operating companies located and controlled across different
geographical regions, and the Group head office funciion These 14 operating companies are compased of many individual components,
which are the lowest level at which management prepares financial information that 15 induded in the Consolidated finanaial Statements
The Company is located in the UK and is audited directly by the Group audit team.

We have considered components on the basis of their contnbution to Group revenue, and operating profit, as well as those that require
locat statutory audits in their jurisdiction. Full scope audit work was completed on 47 components and specified audit procedures were
undertaken on a further 20 components. Our full scope and specified audit procedures covered 70% (2017 74%) of 1otal Group revenue
and 93% (2017: 91%) of Group operating profit.

Each component in scope wias subject to an audit materiality level between £2.5 million and £4.0 milhon. This audit work on all components
was performed by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited member firms under the direction and supervision of the Group audit team. Further
work was performed at a Group level over the consolidation and compaonents not in scope.

We communicated the results of our risk assessment exercise to the component auditors and instructed them on the areas of significant
risk, the procedures 1o be performed and the form and timing of their reporting to us. We also provided direction on enquiries made by

the component auditors through antine and telephone conversations Al the findings noted were discussed with the component auditor
in detail and further procedures to be performed were ssued where relevant

The Group audit team followed a programme of planned visits that has been designed so that on a rotational basis the Senior Statutory
Audrtor, or a senior member of the Group audit team, visits each of the primary operating companies where the Group audit scope was
focused in addition 10 the work performed at the Group head office. In relation 10 the current year audit the Senior Statutory Auditor,

or a senior member of the audit team, visited South Korea, China, Denmark, Germany, Netherlands, USA and various locations in the UK

Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information induded We have nothing

in the Annual Report, other than the Finanaal Statements and our Auditor’s Report thereon. to report in
Qur opinion on the Finanaal Statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise respect of these
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. matters.

in connection with our audit of the Financial Staterents, our responsibility is to read the other information and,

in doing 5o, consider whether the other informanion is matenally Inconsistent with the Financial Statements or our

knowledge obtained in the audit or othenwise appears to be matenally misstated

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine

whether there is a material misstatement n the financial Statements or a material misstatement of the other

nformation. H, based on the wark we have performed, we conclude that there is a matenial misstatement of this

other snformation, we are required to report that fact.

In this context, matters that we are specifically required to report 1o you as uncorrected material misstatements

of the other infarmation indude where we candude that

> Fair, belanced and understandable - the staternent given by the Directors that they consider the Annual Report
and Financial Statements taken as a whole s fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance, business model and strategy, is
materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit; or

Audit Committee reporting - the section describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately
address matters communicated by us ta the Audit Commuttee; or

Directors’ staterment of compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code - the parts of the Directors’
staterment required under the Listing Rules relating to the Company’s compliance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code containing provisions speafied for rewew by the auditor in accordance with Listing Rule

9 8.10R(2) do not properly disclose a departure from a relevant provision of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF SPECTRIS PLC continued

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Finandial
Statemnents and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of finarial statements that are free from material risstaternent, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group‘s and the Company’s ability to continue

as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters refated to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless

the Directors either intend to fiquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do 50.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from rmatenal misstatement,
whether due 1o fraud or error, and to i1ssue an Auditor's Report that includes our opinion  Reasonable assurance 15 a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 15As (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists,
Misstatements can anse from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Finanaal Statements.

Details of the extent 10 which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud are set out below.

A further descnption of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Staternents is located on the FRC's website at:

www fre org.uk/auditorsresponsibifities. This descnption forms part of our Auditor’s Report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

We identify and assess the nsks of matenaf misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error, and then design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, in¢luding obtaining audit evidence that is sufficent and appropriate to prowde a basis
for our opinion.

Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing nsks of matenal misstatement in respect of irregularties, including fraud and nen-comphance with laws and
regulations, our procedures included the following

» enquiring of management, intemal audit and the Audit Committee, including obtaining and rewiewing supporting documentation,
concerning the Group's policies and procedures relating to:

» wentifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-comphance;

» detecting and respanding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

+ the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or non~ompliance with laws and regulations;

discussing among the engagernent team induding signsficant component audit tearms and invohang relevant internal specalists, including
tax, valuations, pensions, IT and industry spedalists regarding how and where fraud might occur in the finandal statements and any
potential indicators of fraud. As part of this discussion, we identified potential for fraud in the following areas:

» Impairment of the vatuation of goodwill and other intangible assets in two of the Group's cash generating units CLS and Millbrock,

» Valuation of the customer relationship intangible asset in the acquisition of Concept Life Sciences; and

» Revenue recognition through inappropriate cut-off.

obtaning an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Group cperates in, focusing on those laws and regulations
that had a direct effect on the Finandal Statements or that had a fundamental effect on the operations of the Group. The key laws and
regulations we considered In this context included the UK Companies Act, Listing Rules, pensions legislation and tax legistation.

Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we identified impairment of the valuation of goodwill and other intangible assets in two of the
Group’s cash generating units CLS and Millbrook’, and "valuation of the customer relationship intangible asset in the acquisition of Concept
Life Sciences’ as key audit matters. The key audit matters section of our report explains the matters in more detail and describes the specific
procedures we performed in response to those key audit matters. More spedifically m relation to the revenue recogrition risk we performed
the following procedures’

» assessed the design, implementation and In some cases the operating effectiveness of the controls to address the significant nsk:

traced a sample of revenue recognised over a period in December 2018 10 supporting evidence 1o assess whether appropriate cut-off was
appiied and that performance obligations have been satisfied:

» considered material contracts with multiple performance obligations and assessed the identification of separate performance obligations,
the timing of revenue recognition and the evidence of the performance obligations being satisfiad;

challenged the appropriateness of accrued income recognised by tracing a sample to supporting ewdence of work performed; and
obtained a schedule of adjusting and manua! joumals posted in December 2018 with a credit impact on revenue and traced a sample to
appropriate evidence in support of the adjustment.

-

-

-

-

(L Annyal Report and Accounts 2018



in addition to the above, our procedures to respond (o risks identified inciuded the foliowing:

» reviewing the Financial Statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance wath relevant laws and

requiations discussed above; .

enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential htigation and daims;

performing analytical procedures to identify any unysual or unexpected refationships that may indicate risks of matenal misstatement
due to fraud;

» reading minutes of meetings of thosa charged with governance, rewiewing internal audit reports and reviewing carrespondernce with
HMRC: and '

» in addressing the nsk of fraud through management averride of controls, testing the appropnateness of joumal entries and ather
adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicatve of a patential bias, and evaluating
the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusuat or outside the normal course of business,

We also communicated relevant identified laws and reguiations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members including

ntemal spedalists and sigruficant component audit teamns, and remained alert ¢ any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and

regulations throughout the audit.

-
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Qpinions on other matters prescrihed by the Companies Act 2008
1P owr opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006.
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit.
» the mformation given in the Strategic Repost and the Directars’ Report for the financial year for which the Financial Statements are
prepared is consistent wath the Finandal Statements; and
» 1he Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements
In the hght of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and of the Company and their environment obtained in the course of the
augdit, we have not identified any material misstatements In the Strategic Report or the Directars’ Repont.
Mattars 01t which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records We have nothing to report
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required 10 report to you if, in our apimon: in respect of these matters.
» we have not recenved all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
» adequate accounting records have not been kept ty the Company, of returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us, or
» the Company Fnancial Slatements are not in agreement with the accounting records
and returns.
Directors’ remuneration We have nothing to reportin
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures  respect of these matters,
of Directors’ remwneration have not been made or the pan of the Direciors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited is not in agreement with the accounbing records and returns.

Other matters

Auditor tenure

Foliowng the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the Board on 28 July 2016 10 audit the Financial Statements
for the year ending 31 December 2017and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous
renewals ang reappaintrments of the firm is two years, covenng the years ending 31 December 2017 to 31 December 20138.

Consistency of the Audit Report with the additional report to the Audit Committee
Our audit opinion 15 cansistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee we are required to prowide in accordance with [SAs {UK)

Use of our report .
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state (o the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in
an Auditor's Repart and for no ather purpose, To the fullest extent permitied by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this repart, or for the cpinions we have formed,

Mark Mullins FCA

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Delaitie LLP
Statutory Auditor

London, UK

19 February 2018
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note £m fm
Continuing operations
Revenue 234 1,604.2 1,5256
Cost of sales {696.8) {658.1)
Gross profit 907.4 867.5
Indirect production and engineering expenses {106.8) (116.8)
Sales and marketing expenses (352.1) (336.4)
Administrative expenses 272.1) {231.9)
Adjusted operating profit 2 248.3 2393
Restructuring costs 2 {15.6) (15.8)
Net acquisition-related costs and fair value adjustments 2 (12.2} {0.4)
Deprecation of acquisition-related fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment 2 0.8) on
Amortisation and impairment of acquisition-related intangible assets 2 {43.3) {41.9)
Bargain purchase on acquisition 2 - 1.9
Operating profit 235 1764 1824
Share of post-tax results of joint venture 13 1.2 -
Profit on disposal of businesses 25 56.3 1005
Financial income 7 25 19
Finance costs 7 (16.0} (6.4}
Profit before tax 218.0 278.4
Taxation charge 8 (32.8) (43.6}
Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to owners of the Company 1852 2348
8asic earnings per share 10 157.6p 197.0p
Oiluted earnings per share 10 156.9p 1%6.1p
Intenm dividends paid and final dividends proposed for the year (per share) 9 61.0p 56.5p
Dividends paid during the year (per share) 9 58.0p 53.0p
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIUBWAELS [epUeUly

2018 2017
Note Em £m
Profit for the year attnbutable to owners of the Company 185.2 234.8
Other comprehensive income:
ftems that will not be reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement
Re-measurernent of net defined benefit obligation, net of foreign exchange 20 5.4 59
Tax charge on items above 8 {1.49) (14}
4.0 4.5
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the Consolidated Income Statement:
Net (lossygain on effective portion of changes in fair value of forward exchange contracts on
cash flow hedges {24) 4.0
Foreign exchange movernents on translation of overseas operations 279 44.7)
Currency translation differences transferred to profit on disposai of business 25 (5.1) {44)
Tax creditAcharge) on items above g 05 0.7)
20.9 (45.8)
Total other comprehensive income 24.9 41.3)
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the Company 210.1 193.5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Capital
Share Share Retained Translation Hedging Merger redempg:ﬂn Total
capital premium  earnings reserve reserve reserve reserve equity
£Em £m £m £m Em £m £m £m
At 1 January 2018 6.2 2314 820.8 1443 (2.0} ER| 03 12049
Adoption of IFRS 8 and IFRS 15 - - {18.6) - - - - {18.6)
At 1 January 2018 (restated) 6.2 2314 802.2 144.3 (2.0} EA 0.3 11,1855
Profit for the year - - 185.2 - - - - 185.2
Other comprehensive income - - 4.0 228 (1.9} - - 24.9
Total comprehensive ingome for the year - - 189.2 228 (1.9) - - 2101
Transactions with owners recorded directly
in equity:
£quity dividends paid by the Company - - (68.2) - - - - {68.2)
Own shares acquired for share buyback
programme 0.2} - {100.5) - - - 02 (100.5)
Share-based payments, net of tax - - 5.1 - - - - 5.1
Utilisation of treasury shares - - 0.9 - - - — 0.9
At 31 December 2018 6.0 231.4 B828.7 167.1 {3.9) 3.1 0.5 11,2329
Capital
Share Share Retained  Translation Hedging Merger  redemption Total
capital  premium eamings reserve Teserve reserve reserve equsty
Em £m im £m fm im fm £m
At 1 January 2017 6.2 2314 638 3 1934 (5.3} 3.1 03 10874
Profit for the year - - 2348 - - - - 2348
Other comprehensive Income - - 45 (49.1) 33 - - (41.3)
Total comprehensive income tor the year - - 239.3 (49 1) 33 - - 1935
Transactions wath owners recorded directly
in equity:
Equity dividends paid by the Company - - 632) - - - - 63 2)
Share-based payments, net of tax - - 59 - - - - 59
Utilisation of treasury shares - - 0.5 — - - - 05
At 31 December 2017 6.2 2314 820.8 144.3 (2.0) 3.1 0.3 11,2041
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CONSOQUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note £m £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets:
Goodwill 1 766.3 627.5
Other intangble assets 11 263.3 208.9
1.029.6 837.4
Property, plant and equipment 12 3315 2758
Investment in joint venture 13 50 -
Other receivable ~ joint venture 15 38.9 -
Deferred tax assets 21 13 10.5
1,4163 1,1237
Current assets
Inventonies 14 216.4 176 0
Current tax assets 16 35
Trade and other receivables 15 3815 3239
Derivative finanoial instruments 28 04 14
Cash and cash equivalents 16 731 1379
Assets held for sale 25 39 325
676.9 6752
Total assets 2,093.2 1,798.9
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Borrowings 17 (23.7} a3
Derivative finanaal instruments 28 2.2 ©.5)
Trade and other payables 12 (344.1) (272.5)
Current tax liabilities (22.5) (23 6)
Provisions 19 {31.6) (25.2}
Labilines directly assodated with the assets held for sale - (4.8)
(424.1) {327 .9}
Net ¢urrent assets 2528 3473
Non-current liabilities
Borrowangs 17 (346.5) (187 2)
Other payables 18 (27.4) (20:7)
Retirernent benefit obligatons 20 {32.1) {34 0)
Deferrad tax liabilities 21 (30.2) {25 0)
(436.2) (266.9)
Total liabilities {860.3) (594.8)
Net assets 1,232.9 1,204.1
EQUITY
Share capital 22 6.0 62
Share premium 231.4 2314
Retained eamings 828.7 8208
Translation reserve 22 1671 , 1443
Hedging reserve 22 (3.9) (2.0)
Merger reserve 22 31 31
Capital redempuion reserve 22 0.5 0.3
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,232.9 1,204 1

by the Board of Directors on 19 February 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

Company Registration No. 2025003
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note £m fm
Cash generated from operations 26 2158 2376
Nel income taxes pad (37.7) 47.0)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 178.1 190.6
Cash flows used in investing activities
Purchase of property, piant and equipment and intangible assets (97.0} (74.3)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and software 5.6 0.5
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired 24 (196.4) (36 5)
Proceeds from disposal of businesses, net of tax paid of £0.6m (2017: £19.0m) 25 433 919
Loans to joint venture (0.9} -
Proceeds from government granis 2.9 3.2
Interest received 0.6 0.6
Net cash flows used in investing activities (241.4) {16 6)
Cash flows used in financing activities
interest paid 9.4) @7
Dwidends paid 9 (68.2) (63 2)
Share buyback purchase of shares {100.5} -
Proceeds from exercise of share options 0.7 0.5
Proceeds from borrowings 1755 -
Repayment of borrowings - {41 0}
Net cash flows used m financing activities £1.9) (108.4)
Net {decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents {65.2) 65.6
Cash and cash equivalents at beginming of year 136.7 7.2
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (4.2) on
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 16 67.3 136.7
2018 2017
Reconciliation of changes in cash and cash equivalents to movements in net debt Note £m £m
Net (decreaselincrease in cash and cash equivalents (65.2) 656
Proceeds from borrowings {175.5) -
fispayment of borrowings - 4.0
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (5.9} (6 2)
Movement in net debt {246.6) 100 4
Net debt at beginning of year (50.5) {150.9)
Net debt at end of year 2 {297.1} (50 5}
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies

a) Basis of preparation

Basis of accounting

The Consolidated Finanaal Statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for items that are required by IFRS to be
measured at fair value, principally certain finandal instrurnents. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS as issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board {1ASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB, as adopted by the European Union {'IFRS'), and in accordance with the grovisions

of the Companies Act 2006.

The Financial Statements set out on pages 92 to 147 have been prepared using consistent accounting policies, except for the adoption of
new accounting standards and interpretations noted below. Details of the application of new and revised International Financial Reporting
Standards that became applicabte in 2018 are set out below

These Financial Statements are presented in millions of Sterling rounded to the nearest one decimal place

Basis of consolidation
The Consolidated Finandal Statements set out the Group's financial position as at 31 Decermnber 2018 and the Group’s financial
performance for the year ended 31 December 2018, which incorporate the Financial Statements of Spectris ple and its subsidiares

Subsidiaries are thase entities controlied by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the finandal and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its acuwities. Subsidianes are consolidated from the date on
which contro is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control 15 transferred out of the Group

Joint ventures are contractual arrangements which the Group has entered into with one or more parties to undertake an economic activity
that 15 sulbsject to joint control. Jant cantrol is the contractually agreed shanng of contral over an econemic activity and exists only when
decisions relating to the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing the control The Group has assessed the
nature of its joint arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures Jont ventures are accounted for using the equity method,
under which the investment in a joint venture is initally recogrused in the Cansolidated Statement of Financial Position at cost and adjusted
thereafter 1o recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint venture. When the Group's
share of the iosses of a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that joint venture the Group discontinues recognising 1ts share of
further losses,

All inter-company balances and transactions, induding unrealised profits ansing from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains except that they are only eliminated to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment

Going concern

The Group’s business actities, together with factors likely to affect its future development, performance and financial position, are set out
in the Strategic Report on pages 1 10 43 The financral position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrawing facilities are
described i the Financial Review on pages 26 to 30. In addition, Note 27 to the Financial Statements includes the Group's objectives,
poficies and processes for managing its capital; its financial nsk management objectives, details of 1ts financial instruments and hedging
activities; and its exposure to aredit nsk and hquidity nsk.

The Group’s net debt balance at 31 December 2018 was £297 1m (2017; £50 5m), with avalable undrawn committed borrowing faciities
of £467.9m (2017, £406.5m)

The Board has reviewed a sensitraty analys's on the Group’s forecasts to 31 March 2020, the maturity profile of its finandial failives and
habilities {Nates 17 and 28) and the ability of the Group to re-finance these abligations as they fali due. The pnncipal liquidity risk s
mitigated through its financial risk management policies (Note 27) For the foreseeable future, the Board has a high level of confidence that
the Group will have the necessary iquid resources to meet 1ts habiliues as they fall due and wall be able to sustain its business model, strategy
and operations and remain solvent, including the impact of reasonably possible adverse scenartos For this reason, it continues to adopt the
gaing concern basis in preparing the Group Financial Statements. There are no key sensitvities identified in relation to this condusion.
Further information on the going concemn of the Group can be found on page 37 in the Viability Statement.

New standards and interpretations adopted
In the current year the Group has applied 8 number of new standards and amendments to IFRSs issued by the intemationa! Accounting
Standards Board. Details of the new standards that have had a material impact on the Group's Staternent of Finanaal Position are set out below

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

The Group has adoptad IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ using the modified retrospective approach, which means that
the cumulative impact on adoption has been recognised in retained earnings as of 1 January 2018, Comparatives have not been restated.
IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based, five-step model to be applied to all sales contracts, based on the transfer of control of goods and
services to Custorners, and it replaced the separate mode! for goods and services of AS 18 ‘Revenue’.

Management carmed out a comprehensive impact assessment which included scoping the Group's revenies to identify different revenue
streams and performing sample contract reviews to determine the appropriate revenue recognition treatment under (FRS 15 To ensure a
consistent approach across the Group, the exerdise was supported centrally through setting the approach to transition and providing the
appropriate tools and guidance. Revenue is derived from a single performance obligation which 1s either the sale of goods or the prowsion
of services

Details of the Group's revenue recognition accounting policy are provided in Note 1 section b, ‘Summary of significant accounting policies’
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies continued
The overall impact on transition on 1 January 2018 for the Group s as follows,

Decrease in current

Decrease in Increase in increase in and deferred tax

retained earnings deferred income inventories net liabilities

£m £m im £m

Group {21.0) (28.2) 10.9 6.3

The £6.3m decrease in net current and deferred tax habilities consists of a £0 2m increase in current tax assets, a £4.4m decrease in deferred
tax liabilities and a £1.7m increase in deferred tax assets.
If IFRS 15 had not been adopted the revenue for the year ending 31 December 2018 would have inareased by £1 7, operating profit
would have increased by £0 2m and profit after tax increased by £0.2m.
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’
The date of initial application (.e the date on which the Group has assessed its existing finandial assets and financiai liabilities i terms
of the requirements of IFRS 8) is 1 January 2018. There is no requirement to restate comparatives.
IFRS 9 provides a new impairment model for finandal assets, which requires the recogrition of impatrment provisions based on expected
credit losses rather than iIncurred credit losses as is the case under 1AS 39. This requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of
its trace recewables, ather on a 12-month or Iifetime basis. The Group 15 applying the simplified approach and records Ifetime expected
losses on all trade recewvables,
At t January 2018, the Group reviewed and assessed the amounts due from customers for the above changes, which resulted in the
following overall impact on transition on 1 January 2018:

Increase in trade  In¢rease in current

Increase in and other and deferred tax

retained earnings recewables net liabilities

£m Em £m

Group 2.4 29 {0.5)

The £0.5m increase in current and deferred tax net liabilties consists of a £0 3m increase in deferred tax Habilities and a £0.2m increase in
cuirent tax liabllities.

Adoption of IFRS 9 did not have any other matenal impact on the Group's staternent of financal position.
There are no other standards adopted during 2018 that have a material impact on the Group.

New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted
There are a number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2018 which, therefore, have not been applied in prepanng these Consolidated Financial Statements:

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

Transition to IFRS 16 for the Group will take effect from 1 fanuary 2019 with the half-year results for June 2013 being IFRS 16 compliant,
and the first Annual Report published in accordance with IFRS 16 being for the year ended 31 December 2019. IFRS 16 provides a single
model for lessees which recognises a right-of-use asset and lease liability for all leases, with exceptions available for short-term and low=value
leases. The impact of IFRS 16 will be to recognise a lease liabity and a corresponding asset in the Statement of Rinandial Position for leases
currently dassified as operating leases. The most significant impact wall be that the Group's land, building and car leases will be recogrused
an the balance sheet

The Group plans to apply IFRS 16 rewospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised at the date of inmal
applhcation of 1 January 2019 Right-of-use assets for all leases will be measured on transition as if IFRS 16 had always been applied

The overall impact on transition on 1 January 2019 for the Group s estimated to be as foliows:

Increase in
Decrease in property, plant Increase in lease Decrease in trade Increase in
retained earnings and equipment liabilities and other payables deferred tax assets
Em £m Em Em fm
Group &) 66 (72) 1 1

In 2015, the Group estimates that it expects to ncur a finance charge of between £2m to £4m, reflecting the unwinding of the discount

on the lease habiities with depreciation on nght-of-use assets of approximatety £13m to £15m These two items effectively replace the
operating lease rentals previously charged to profit before taxation under 185 17 ‘Leases’. In addition, the Group expects that operating cash
flows will increase and financing cash flaws decrease by approximately £18m to £20m as repayment of the principal portion of the lease
habilities will be classified as cash flows from financing actwities

The Group's activities s a lessor are not material and hence the Group does not expect any signuficant impact on the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The Group intends to apply the exemptions available in IFRS 16 for exciuding low-value assets and short-term leases from the requiremenis
of the standard.

Further assessment of IFRS 16 1s ongoing. From the review work carned out 50 far, the Group has identified the key judgernents in applying
IFRS 16 to be selection of an appropnate discount rate and determining whether lease extension and termination optons included n the
contract are reasonably certain to be exercised
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The Group's future lease commitrents for non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 2018 are £79.0m (see Note 30). This 5
higher than the estmated increase in lease liabrlities on adoption of IFRS 16, predominantly due to the wnpact of discounting on lease
lizbilries and the exclusion of low-value assets and short-term leases from IFRS 16

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transachons

Significant accounting judgements and estimates

in determining and applying accounting poficies, judgement s often required where the choice of specific policy, assumption or accounting
estimate to be fallowed could materially affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, Income and expenses, should it later be
determined that a different choice be more appropriate Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based

on histonical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the arcumstances.

In the course of preparing these Finandal Staternents in accordance with the Group's accounting policies, no judgements that have
a significant effect on the amounts recognised In the Financial Statements have been made, other than those involving estimation.
Management considers the following o be key areas of uncertainty for the Group due to the possibriity of material change in the next year.
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In preparing these Financial Statements, no areas of critical accounting judgement or key sources of estimation uncertainty have been
wdentified in relation to Brexit.

Kay sources of estimation uncertainty

i) Taxation

The Group operates in a number of countries and is subject 1o taxes in numerous jurisdictions Significant estination is required in
determining the provision for taxes as the tax treatment is often by its nature complex and cannaot be finally determined until a formal
resolution has been reached with the relevant tax authority which may take several years to condude. Amounts provided are accrued based
on management’s interpretation of country-specific 1ax laws and the likelihood of settlement. Actual liabilities could differ from the amount
provided which could have a consequent adverse impact on the results and net position of the Group. The assumptions and estimates
which have beerr apphed in the determination of taxation are detailed i Note 8. Details of the accounting policies applied in respect of
taxation are set out on page 101

ii) Retirement benefit plans

Accounting for retirement benefrt plans under 1AS 19 (rewised) requires an assessment of the future benefits payable in accordance with
actuanal assumptions. The discount rate and rate of retail price inflation ('RPI") assumptions applied in the calculation of plan liabilities, which
are sei out in Note 20, represent a key source of estimation uncertainty for the Group Details of the accounting policies applied in respect
of retirement benefit plans are set out or page 103.

iii} Impairment reviews

Goodwill ansing on business combinations is allocated 1o the relevant cash-generating unif ('CGUY) tmpairment reviews in respect of the
relevant CGUs are performed at least annually or more regularly if events indicate that this is necessary. Impairment reviews are based on a
value in use model with future cash flows discounted using the weighted average cost of capitat for the relevant CGU with terrminal values
calculated applying a long-term growth rate. The future cash flows, which are based on operating company forecasts, the long-term
growth rates and the distount rates used are dependent upon management estimates, Future events could cause the assumptions used

In impairment reviews 10 change with a consequential adverse impact on the results and net position of the Group. A reasonably possible
change in assumptions used 1n the impaimment review for the Concept Ufe Sciences CGU over the next 12 months could result in a material
impairment of up to £30.0m to the goadwill carrying value of £105.5m, Details of this sensitiwty and the assumptions used in the
impairnent review are 58t out in Note 11. Details of the accounting policies applied in respect of goodwill are set out on page 100,
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies continued

b} Summary of significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set oul below have been appiied consistenty by Group entities to all years presented in these Financial Statements

Business combinations and goodwill

Goodwill represants the excess of the farr value of the purchase consideration for the interests in subsidiary undertakings over the net fair value to
the Group of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. Where the fair value of the Group's share of identfiable net asseis
acquired exceeds the fair value of the consideration, the difference is recognised immediately in the Consolidated income Statement Contingent
consideraton & inftially recognised as a iabiity with changes 1o estimates of contingent consideration reflected in operating profit unless they occur
during the 12-manth measurernent period, in which stuation the amount of goodwill recognised on the acquisition 5 adjusted. Adjustments to
cantingent consideration are treated as an adjusting itern for the purposes of altemative performance measures (see Note 2).

Transaction costs on a business combination are expensed as incurred in the Consolidated Income Statement and treated as an adjusting
itern for the purposes of alternatve performance measures (see Note 2).

Goodwill ansmng on the acquisition of a business is tested annually for impairment. Goodwill is not amortised, and any impairment losses

are not subsequently reversed. The net book value of goodwall at the date of transiion 1o IFRS has been treated as deemed cost. On the
subsequent disposat or discontinuance of a previously-acquired business, the relevant goodwill is deatt with in the Consolidated Income
Statement except for the goodwill already charged to resetves From 1 January 2004, goodwll is allocated on acquisition to CGUSs thai are
anticipated to benefit from the combination. Goodwill is 1ested for impairment by assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the goodwill relates and comparing it aganst the net book value. This estimate of recaverable amount is determined annually and
additonally when there s an indication that a CGU may be impaired The Group's identified CGUs are smaller than the reportable operating
segments in Note 3.

The estimate of recoverable amount requires significant assurnptions o be made and is based on a number of factors such as the near-term
business outiook far the cash-generating umit, including both s operating profit and operating cash flow performance Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit s less than the carrying amount, an impairment Joss is recogmised in the Consolidated
Income Staterrent. Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation wathin that unit 15 disposed of, the
goodwill associated wath the operation disposed of s induded in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss
on disposal. Goodwll disposed of in this circumstance is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained

Intangible assets and amortisation

The cost of acquinng software (induding assodiated implernentation costs where applicable) that 15 not specific to an item of property,
plant and equipment is dassified as an intangible asset.

Self-funded research and development costs are charged to the Consolidated Income Staternent in the year in which they are incurred unless
developrent expenditure meets certain strict cnteria for capitalisation. These anteria indude demonstration of the technical feasibility, intent of
completing a new intangible asset that is separable and that the asset will generate probable future economic benefits. From the poirit where
expenditure meets the ritena, development costs are captalised and amorssed over the useful economic lives of the assets to which they relate.

intangible assets arsing from a business combination that are separable from goodwill are recognised inttially at fair value at the date of
acquisition. Other acquired intangible assets (including software not spedific to an item of propenty, plant and equipment) are initially
recognisad at cost {plus any assodiated implementation costs where applicable).

Subsequent expenditure 1s capitalised only when 1t increases the future economic benefits, othenanse it is expernsed as incurred.

Amoriisation of intangible assets  charged to administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statermment on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the estimated useful econormic Iife (determined on an asset-by-asset bask) or underhying contractual life. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

» Software — 3 to 5 years.

» Patents, contractual rights and technology — up to 10 years, dependent upon the nature of the underying contractual nght,

» Customer-related and trade names — 3 ta 20 years, dependent upon the underiying contractual arrangements and speafic drcumstances
such as customer retention experience.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated deprecation and impairment losses. The cost comprises the purchase pnce
paid and any costs directly attributable to bnnging it into working condition for its intended use. Tangible assets arising from a business
combination are recognised inially at fair value at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is recogrised in the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis to write off the cost, less the estmated residual
value {which 15 reviewed annually) of property, plant and equipment over its estmated useful economuc life. Depreciation commences on
the date the assets are avalable for use within the business and the asset carrying values are reviewed for impairment when there is an
indication that they may be impaired. The depreciation charge is rewised where useful lives are different from those previously estimated,
or where technically obsolete assets are required to be written down. Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have separate lives,
they are accounted for and depreciated as separate tems. Land is not depreciated. Estimated useful iives are as follows:

» Freehold and long leasehold property and automotive testing tracks — 20 to 40 years,
» Short leasehold property — over the period of the lease.
» Plant and equipment = 3 to 20 years

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets that take a substantial period of uime
to get readly for thew intended use are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective asset.
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Inventories

Inventories and work in progress are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value Inventory acquired as part of business
combinations is valued at far value less cost to sell. Cost represents direct costs incurred and, where approprate, proguction or conversion
costs and other costs to bring the inventory 10 1ts existing location and condition. In the case of manufacturing inventory and work in
progress, cost indudes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity Inventory is accounted for on a
first-in, first-out basis or, In sorme cases, a werghted-average basss, if deemed more appropniate for the business. Prowisions are made to write
down slow-moving, excess and obsolete items to net reahsable value, based on an assessment of technoltogical and market developments
and on an analysis of historical and projected usage with regard to quantities on hand

‘Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are carried at original invoice amount {which is considered a reasonable proxy for fair value} and are
subsequently held at amortised cost less provision for impairment The provision for impairment of recevables 1s based on lifetme expected
credit losses. Lifetime expected credit losses are calculated by assessing historic credit loss experience, adjusted for factors specific to the
receivable and operating company. The movement in the provision is recognised in the Consohdated Income Statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits held on call or with maturities of less than three
months at inception. Bank overdrafis that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are
induded as a component of cash equivalents for the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

Assets and liabilities held for sale
Assets, habilities and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to seil.

Assets, iiabilities and disposal groups are dassified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than continuing use This condition 15 regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset {or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition and when management is commutted to the sale which is expected to qualify
for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised at the amounts expected to be paid to counterparbes and subsequently held at amorused cost.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the.Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources, that can be reliably measured, will be required to settle the
obligation. In respect of warranties, a provision 1s recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. Prowisions are recognised

at an amount equai to the best estimate of the expenditure required 10 settle the Group’s liability. A contingent liability 15 disclosed where
the existence of the obligation will only be confirmed by future events or where the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
reasonable reliability. Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefit is probable. Obligations
anising from restructunng plans are recognised when detailed formal plans have been established and when there is a valid expectation that
such a plan will be camied out

Leasing

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged 10 the Consolidated incorne Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a straight-hine basis over
the lease term.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or 0ss for the year compnises both current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised 1n the Consolidated Income Statement
except to the extent that 1t relates to items recogrised either in other comprehensve income or directly in equity, in which case tax is
recognised in the Consohdated Statement of Comprehensive Income or the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, respectively

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
Statement of Financial Position date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of prior years. Tax positions are reviewed 0 assess
whether a provision should be made based on prevailing circumstances. Tax provisions are included within current taxation liabidibes

Deferred taxation is provided on taxable temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the Financial
Statements and their corresponding tax bases. No provision is made for deferred tax which would become payable on the distribution of
retained profits by overseas subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the fareseeable future, Deferred tax 1s measured using the tax rates expected to apply wien
the asset is reahsed, or the liability settled based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the Statement of Financial Position date.

Deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of goodwall, nor on the intial recogration of an asset or liability unless the related
transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit

A deferred tax asset 1s recogrised only to the extent that i1t 1s probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and habiiities are offset if a legally enforceable nght exsts to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of intra-group dvidends are recogrused at the same time as the liability to pay the
related dividend.
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NOTES TO THE ACCQUNTS continued

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting paolicies continued

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency for each entity In the Group 1s determined with reference 1o the currency of the pnmary economic environment in
which it operates. Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are initially recorded at the functional currency rate nuling at
the date of the transacton. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange rufing
at the Statement of Finandial Position date. Exchange gains and losses on settlement of foreign currency transactions are determinad using
the rate prevailing at the date of the transactions, or the transiabion of monetary assets and liabilities at period end exchange rates, and are
chargedicredited to the Consolidated income Statement. Non-monetary assets and habilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at histonical cost are transiated to the functional currency at the forergn exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.

On consclidation, the income Statement items of subsicliaries are translated into Sterling at average rates of exchange Statement of
Financiat Position iters are translated into Sterkng at year-end exchange rates. Exchange differences on the retranslation are taken to the
wranslation reserve within equity. Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings designated as a hedge of the net investment in a
foreign operation are reported in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income. All other exchange differences are charged or
credited to the Consolidated Income Statemnent in the year in which they arise On disposal of an overseas subsidiary, any cumulative
exchange movements relating to that subsidiary held in the translation reserve are transferred to the Consolidated Income Statement.

Dervatve financiat instruments may be purchased 10 hedge the Group’s exposure to changes in foreign exchange rates. The accounting
policies apphed in these drcumstances are described below.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at the fair value of consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs,
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-beanng borrowings are measured at amortised cost with any difference between cost and
redempuon value being recognised in the Consolidated income Staterment over the period of the borrowings on an effective-interest basis

Financial instruments

Recognition

The Group recogruses finanaial assets and habilties on its Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settie on a nel basis of realise the asset and settle the
lability simultanecusly.

Measurement

When financial assets and liabilities are intially recognised, they are measured at fair value, being the consideration given or received plus
drectly attributable transaction costs. In determining estimated fair value, investments are valued at quoted bid prices on the trade date.
When quated prices on an active market are not available, fair value 1s determined by reference to pnce quotations for similar

nstruments traded

Onginated loans and receivables are initially recognised in accordance with the policy stated above and subsequently re-measured at
amontised cost using the effective-interest method. Allowance for impairment 1s esimated on a case-by-case basis.

The Group uses dervative financial instrurnents such as forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge risks associated with foreign exchange
fluctuabons. These are designated as cash flow hedges At the inception of the hedge refationship, the Group documents the relationship
between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and i1s strategy for undertaking various
hedge transactions, Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group decuments whether the hedging
instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting changes in cash fiows of the hedged item.

The effective portion of changes in the far value of denvatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is deferred i equity
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Amounts deferred in equity are redlassified to the Consolidated Income Statement in the periods when the hedged item 15 recognised in the
Consolidated Income Statement, in the same line of the Consolidated Income Statement as the recognised hedged itern. However, when
the forecast transaction that 1s hedged results in the recagnition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses
previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the imtial measurement of the cost of the asset or iability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated,
or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumuiative gain or loss deferred in equity at that ime remains in equity and
is recognised when the forecast transaction is uinmately recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement When a forecast transaction

15 G longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in the Consolidated
Income Statement.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the Group loses control over the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset This occurs
when the rights are realised, axpire or are surrendered, A finandial liability 1s derecognised when the obligation speafied in the contract

15 discharged, cancelled or expired. Onginated loans and receivables are deracognised on the date they are transferred by the Group.
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Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each Cansohdated Statement of Finandcial Position reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial asset, or group of finandal assets, 15 impaired. A financial asset, or group of financial assets, is deemed to be impaired ff, and only
if, there is objective evidence of imparrment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the inttial recognition of the asset (an
incurred 'loss event’) and that lass event has 2n impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financal asset or group of financial assets
that can be reliably estmated. For trade receivables the Group recognises impairment provisions based on lifetime expected credit losses

SjuUBWaLels [eruRUiL

Net investment hedge accounting

The Group uses Eurc-denominated borrowings as a hedge against the translation exposure on the Group's net investment in overseas
comparues. To the extent that the hedge is effective at hedging the variability in the net assets of such companies, caused by Changes
in foreign exchange rates, the changes in the value of the borrowings are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income The ineffective part of any change in value caused by changes in foreign exchange rates is recognised in the Consolidated
Income Statement.

Employee benefits
The Group operates defined benefit post-retirernent benefit plans and defined contribution pension plans.

Defined benefit plans

The Group'’s net obligation recognised In the Consolidated Statemant of Finanaial Position in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated
separately for each pian as the present value of the plan's liabilities less the fair value of the plan's assets. The operating and financing costs
of defined benefit plans are recognised separately in the Consolidated Income Statement. Operating costs comprise the current service cost,
plan administrative expense, any gains of losses on settlement or curtaments, and past service costs where benefits have vested Finance
items comprise the unwinding of the discount on the net asset surplus/deficit. Actuarial gains or losses comprising changes in plans’ liabilities
due to experience and changes in actuanal assumptions are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

The amount of any pension fund asset recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Pasition 1s limited 1o any future refunds from
the plan or the present value of reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and
will have no legal or canstructive obligation ta pay further amounts Qbligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans
are recogrised in the Consolidated Income Statement in the penods duning which sences are rendered by employees,

In certain countnes, the Group participates in industry-wide defined benefit-type pension amangements. In such drcumstances, (tis not
possible to determine the amount of any surplus or defiat attributable to the Group and the pension costs are accounted for as if the
arrangements were defined contnbution plans These are not matenal to the Group and, accordingly, no additonal disdosures are prowided.

Shart-terrn benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 15 provided

A liability is recognised for the amount expecied to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-shanng plans if the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be
estimated rehiably.

Share-based payments

Certain employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services in exchange for shares or nghts over shares (equity-settled transactions). The cost of equity-settled transachons with
employees 1s measured at fair value at the date at which they are granted The fair value of share awards with markei-related vesting
conditions is determined by an external consultant and the fair value at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period based on the Group's estimate of shares that will eventually vest. The estimate of the number of awards likely to vest is reviewed at
each Consolidated Statement of Financial Postion reporting date up 10 the vesting date, at which point the estimate is adjusted ta reflect
the actual outcome of awards which have vested. No adjustment is made to the fair value after the vesting date even If the awards are
forfeited or not exercised.

Where it is not possible to incentivise managers of the Group's operating companies with equity-settied options, they are issued with cash-
settled options. The charge for these awards is adjusted to reflect the expected and actual levels of options that vest, and the fair value is
based cn either the share price at date of exercise or the share price at the Consolidated Statement of Financizl Position date if sooner.

Own shares

Own egquity instruments which are re-acquired {own shares} are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised
in the Consolidated Income Statement on the purchase, sale, 1ssue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference
between the carrying amount and the consideration paid to acquire such equity instruments is recogrised wathin equity.

Dividends
Dividends are recogrised as a liabiiity in the peniod in which they are approved by shareholders
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NOTES TQ THE ACCOUNTS continued

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies continued

Revenye

Revenue is measured based on the fair value of the consideration specified in a contract wath a customer, net of returns and discounts, and
excdudes arnounts collected on benalf of third parties, value added tax and other sales-related taxes. The Group recognises revenue when it
transfers control of a praduct or service to & customer,

The Group’s major revenue streams are the same as its reportable operating segments (Materials Analysis, Test and Measurement, in-line
Instrumentation and Industriat Controls).
The foliowing table provides further details on the nature of each of the major revenue streams The table shows where each revenue factor
forms more than 10% of the operating segment’s total revenue:

Revenue derived from

% of total Group frovision of  Sale of goods  Sale of goods with  Sale of goods with
Revenue stream sales 2018 services  without ir simple ir an - complex installation
Materials Anatysis 34% v v v v
Test and Measurement 33% v g
In-ling Instrumentation 19% 4 v
industrial Controls 14% v

Further details of the nature of each major revenue stream 15 prowided below.

Materials Analysis

Revenue from the provision of services, including ongoing support, servicing and maintenance, is recognised in line wath the delivery of the
senvice, gither at 2 paint in tume or, for some ongomng services, over time

Revenue from the sale of goods, where the goods are not required to be installed, is recognised at a point in ime when iegal title transfers
to the customer, usually on delivery

When the sale of goods s combined with installaton, reverwe recognition depends upon the nature of the installation. Simple instatiations
are thase that the customer perceives as a separate performance obligation within the overall contract to deliver goods, whereas compiex
installations are those for which the installation 15 an integral part of the delivery of the goods

Revenue is recognised for simple instailations separately from the delfivery of goods, and only at a point in time when the installation

has occurred.

For complex installations, revenue is normally deferred untl installation 1s complete. For a small number of complex installations, revenue
15 reqognised before installabon when: a} a significant period of time has elapsed since completion of the product. b) an installation date
has not been agreed despite multiple attempts 10 arrange, and <) payment has been received from the customer. Significant judgement
is required for these installations. Revenue from these arrangements represents approximately 1% of the segment’s total sales

Occasionally, the initial contract covers both the supply of goods and ongaing suppert, servicing and maintenance. For such contracts,
revenue is allocated across each of the individual components in line wath their relative price and value of the performance obligation and
each element is accounted for as described above.

Payment is normally due immediately at the paint that the performance obligation is completed. For some of the segment’s business the
customer may make partial payment in advance. Such payments are recognised as contract fiabilities until the performance obligation has
been satisfied.

Sales-related warranties associated with the products cannot be purchased separately and they serve as an assurance that the products sold
comply with agreed-upon specfications.

Test and Measurernent

Revenue from the prowision of senices, including ongoing support, servicing and maintenance, is recognised in line with the delivery of the
service, either at a point in time or, for some ongoing senaces, over time.

Revenue from the sale of goods, where the goads are not required to be installed, is recogrised at a point in time when legal title transfers
10 the cusiomer on delivery.

Occasionally, the initial contract covers both the supply of goods and ongoing support. servicing and maintenance, Far such contracts
revenue |5 allocated across each of the iIndnidual components in line with their relative price and value of the performance obhigation and
each element is accounted for as described above.

Payment is normally due immediately at the point that the performance obligation 1s completed For some of the segment's business the
customer may make partal payment in advance. Such payments are recognised as contract habilities until the performance obligation has
been satisfied.

Sales-related warranties associated with the products cannot be purchased separately and they serve as an assurance that the products
sold comply with agreed-upon specifications.
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Inline Instrumentation
Revenue fram the sale of goods, where the goods are not required to be installed, is recognised at 2 point in time when legal title transfers
to the custorner, usually on delvery.

Simple installations are those that the customer perceives as a separate performnance obligation within the overall contract to deliver
goods Revenue is recognised for simple installations separately from the delivery of goods, and only at a point in time when the installation
has occurred.

Payment 1s normally due immediately at the point that the performance obligation is completed. For some of the segment’s business the
customer may make partial payment in advance. Such payments are recognised as contract habrdities untit the performance obhgation has
been satisfied,

Industrial Controls
The sagment sells products direct to the tustiomer and to the wholesale market (distributors).

For sale of products to retail customers and distnbutors, revenue 1s recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being when the
goods have been shipped to the customer or wholesaler's location.

Sales-related warranties associated with the products cannot be purchased separately and they serve as an assurance that the products sold
cornply with agreed-upon-specifications.
Payment 15 narmally due immediately at the point that the performance obligation is completed. For some of the segment’s business the

customer may make partial payment in advance. Such payments are recognised as contract liabilities unti the performance obligation has
been satisfied.

Interest payable and receivable

interest payable comprses the interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest method and the unwinding of the
discount factor on deferred or contingent consideration. Interest receivable comprises interest income on cash and invested funds, together
with interest Income from the joint venture, and is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement as it accrues

2, Altemnative performance measures

Policy

Spectns uses adjusted figures as key perfarmance measures in addition to those reported under IFRS, as management believes these
measures enable management and stakeholders to better assess the underlying trading performance of the businesses as they exdude
certain iterns that are considered to be significant in natuze and/or quantum, foreign exchange movements and the impact of acquisitions
and disposals.

The alternative performance measures 'APMS') are consistent with how the busingsses’ performance is planned and reported within the
interna! management reporting to the Board and Operating Committees Some of these measures are used for the purpose of setting
remuneration targets. The key APMs that the Group uses indude like-for-like {'LFL") organic performance measures and adjusted measures
for the income statement together with adjusted financial position and cash flow measures Explanations of how they are calculated and
how they are reconcied 10 an IFRS statutory measure are set out below. :

Adjusted measures

The Group's policy is to exclude items that are considered to be significant in nature and/or quantum and where treatment as an adjusted
item prowdes stakeholders with additional useful information to better assess the period-on-penod trading performance of the Group.
The Group excludes certain items, which management have defined as:

»  restructunng costs,

» amortisation and impairment of acquisition-related goadwill and other Intangible assets,

» bargain purchase on acquisition;

»  depreciation of acquisition-related fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment;

s acquisiion-related costs, deferred and contingent consideration fair value adjustments;

> profits or losses on termination or disposal of businesses;

»  unwinding of the discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration;

> urwrealised changes m the fair value of financal instruments;

»  gains or losses on retransiation of short-term intercompany loan balances; and

» related tax effects on the above and other tax items which do not form part of the underlying tax rate (see Note 8).

In November 2018, the Group announced the implementation of a Group-wide profit improvement programme The total costs

of inplementation of this programme are considered to be significant in both nature and amount On this basis the costs of the
implementation of this programme are exciuded from adjusted operating profit Adjusted operating profit (including on a LFL basis)

15 therefore presented before the impact of Project Uplift and profit improvement programme costs, which have been combined as

restructuring for presentation purposes. Adjusted operating profit after Project Uplift costs has been presented for ease of comparability
between 2017 and 2018.
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NQTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

2. Alternative performance measures continued

LFL measures
The Board reviews and compares current and prior year segmental sales and adjusted operating profit at constant exchange rates and
excludes the impact of acquisitions ang disposals during the year,

The constant exchange rate comparison uses the current year segmental nformation, stated in each entity’s functional currency. and
translates the results in1o 1ts presentation currency using the pnor year's monthly exchange rates, irrespective of the underlying
transactional currency.

Within the In-line Instrumentation segment, the BTG business has large functional currency mismatches against its underlying transaction
currencies which distort LFL comparison at times of signidicant currency mavements. Accordingly, we have modified the basis on which
BTG's LFL results are translated into Sterling by using the actual underlying transaction currency mix for determrining transactional
gainsfosses o provide more accurate and reliable information on BTG's underlying performance.

The incremental impact of business acquisitions is excluded for the first 12 months of ownership from the month of purchase. For business
dispasals, comparative figures for segmental sales and adjusted operating profit are adjusted to reflect the comparable perods of
ownership. The EMS business was disposed of on 31 May 2018 (see Note 25) and the segmental LFL adjusted sales and adjusted operating
profit for 2017 exclude the trading results for the last seven moniths of 2017,

The LFL measure s presented as a means of ehrunating the effects of exchange rate fluctuations on the period-on-pencd statutory results as
well as allowing the Board to assess the underlying trading performance of the businesses on a LFL basis far both sales and operating profit.

Based on the above policy, the adjusted performance measures are derived from the statutory figures as follows.

Income statement measures
a) LFL adjusted sales by segment

Materials Tast and in-lne Industrial 2018

Analysis  Measurement Instrumentation Controls Total

2018 sales by segment £m £m €m £m £m

Sales 541.1 5226 312.2 228.3 1,604.2

Constant exchange rate adjustiment 7.6 3.6 40 7.3 225
Acqusitions (44.5) (25.9) (1.7} - {72.1}

LFL adjusted sales 504.2 500.3 3145 2356 1,554.6

Materials Test and In-hne Industrial 2007

Analysis Measurement  Instrumentation Controls Total

2017 sales by segrnent £m £m £m im im

Sales 4649 4873 3109 2625 1,5256
Disposal of businesses - (15.6) - (32.9) (48.5)

LFL adjusted saies 464.9 a71.7 3109 2296 1,477.1
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b) Adjusted operating profit, operating margin and adjusted EBITDA

Materials Test and In-line Industrial 2018
Analysis  Measurement  instrumentation Controls Total
2018 adjusted aperating profit £m £m Em £m Em
Statutory operating profit 221 428 322 293 176.4
Restructuring gosts 4.4 5.2 30 3.0 156
Net acquisition-related costs and fair value adjustments 1.4 6.4 42 0.2 12.2
Depreciation of acquisition-related far value adjustments to
property, plant and equipment 0.2 06 - - 0.8
Amortisation and impairment of acquisition-refated
intangible assets 17.3 122 32 10.6 433
Adjusted operating profit 854 672 426 431 . 2483
Constant exchange rate adjustment 0.2 0.7) {0.7) 13 o1
Acquisitions 1.2 (2.7) 03 - (1.2}
LFL adjusted operating profit 96.8 638 422 444 247.2
Materials Test and In-line Industnal 2017
Analysis  Measuremenmt  Instrumentauon Conirols Total
2017 adjusted aperating profit fm £m Em fm £m
Statutory operating profit 68.6 55.6 295 287 182.4
Restructuning costs 42 53 28 35 158
Net acquistuion-related costs and fair value adustments 1.8 {0.1) 0.4 (1.7) 04
Depreciation of acquisition-related fair value adjustments to
praperty, plant and equipment - 07 - - 0.7
Amortisation of acquisition-related intangible assets 127 146 33 1.3 419
Bargain purchase on acguisiion - {1.9) - - (1.9}
Adjusted operating profit 87.3 74.2 36.0 41.8 239.3
Disposals - 4.2 - (4.5} 8.7
LFL adjusted operating profit 873 70.0 360 373 2306
Materials Test and In-hne industrial 2018
Analysis  Measurement  Instrumentation Controls Tatal
2018 operating margin % % % % %
Statutory Operating margin 133 8.2 103 12.8 1.0
Agjusted operating margin 17.6 12.9 13.6 189 155
LFL adjusted operating margin 18.2 12.8 134 18.8 15.9
Matenals Test and In-line Industnal 2017
Analysis Measurement  lnstrumentation Controls Total
2017 operaung margin % % % % %
Statutory operating margin 14.8 11.4 9.5 109 120
Adjusted operating margin 18.8 15.2 116 15.9 15.7
LFL adjusted operating margin 188 148 116 16.2 156
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

2. Alternative performance measures continued

Adjusted operating profit after Project Uplift costs 2‘JE‘Ima ZOE';'Zn
Adjusted operating profit 2483 2393
Project Uplift costs . (10.8) (15 8}
Adyusted operating profit after Project Uplift costs 2375 223.5
Restructuring costs 23;"8! 20flrr?n
Profit impravement programme 48 -
Project Uplift costs 10.8 15.8
Restructuning costs 156 15.8
2018 017
Adjusted EBITDA Note £m £m
Statutery operating profit 176.4 1824
Deprecation 12 303 25.6
Amortisation and impaiment of intangible assets 11 491 415
EBITDA 2558 2555
Restructuring costs 156 158
Net acquisttion-related costs and fair value adjustments 12.2 04
Bargain purchase on acquisition - (1.9)
Adjusted EBITDA 2836 269.8

EBITDA is calculated as statutory operating profit before depreciation and amortisation and impairment of intangible assets Adjusted

EBITDA 15 calculated as EBITDA exduding other adjusting items as defined previously. This measure is used for the purpose of assessing

¢apital management and covenant compliance and 15 reported to the Group Executive Committee.

¢) Adjusted net finance costs

2018 2017

Note Em £m
Statutory net finance costs 7 (13.5) @5)
Net lossfgain) on retranslation of short-term inter-company loan balances 7 7.2 (1.3}
Unwinding of discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration 7 0.6 0.7
Adjusted net finance costs (5.7} (51}

¢) Adjusted profit before taxation

2018 2017

Note £m Em

Adjusted operating profit b 248.3 2393
Share of post-tax results of joint venture 13 (1.2) -
Adjusted net finance costs 2¢ (5.7) (5.1)
2414 234.2

Adjusted profit before taxation
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) Adjusted earnings per share

Adjusted earnings Note zoflrﬁ 20{1:1
Statutory profit after tax 185.2 23438
Adjusted for:
Restructuring costs 15.6 15.8
Net acquisition-related costs and fair value adjustments 12.2 0.4
Depredation of acquisition-related fair value adjustmenis to property, plant and equipment 12 0.8 0.7
Amartisation and impaiment of acquisition-related intangible assets 433 M9
Bargain purchase on acquisition - {19
Profit on disposal of businesses {56.3} (100.5)
Net Inss{gain) on retranstation of short-term inter-company toan balances 7 7.2 {1.3)
Unwinding of discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration 7 0.6 o7
Tax effect of the above and other non-recurmnng items 8 {14.8) {6 3)
Adijusted earnings 193.8 184 3
Adjusted earnings per share Note 2018 7
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (milons) 10 1172.5 119.2
Adjusted earnings per share {pence} 164.9 154.6
Basic earmings per share in accordance with LAS 33 “Eamings Per Share’ are disclosed in Note 10
Financial position measures
f) Net debt

2018 2017

Note fm £m

Bank overdrafts 17 58 1.3
Bank |oans unsecured 17 364.4 187.2
Total borrawings 370.2 1885
Cash and cash equivalents induding held for sale 16 (73.1) {138.0)
Net debt 297.1 50.5
Cash flow measures
g} Adjusted operating cash flow

e m
Net cash inflow from operating actvities 1781 1906
Acquisition-related costs paid 0.8 2.8
Restructuring cash outflow 8.6 168
Net income taxes paid 37.7 470
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets {97.0) (74 3)
Proceeds from government grants 29 12
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and software 56 0.5
Adjusted operating cash flow 146.7 1846

59% 77%

Adjusted operating cash flow corversion'

1 Adjusted operating cash flow conversion i$ Caloulated as adjusted operating cash $low as a proportion of adjusted operating profit,

Net acquisition-related costs and far value adjustments comprise acquisition costs of £7 4m (2017 £3 4m) that have been recognised in the
Consohdated Income Statement under IFRS 3 {Revised) ‘Business Combinations’ and other fair value adjustments relating to deferred and
cantingent consideration compnsing a charge of £4.8m {2017 credit of £3.0m). Net acquisition-related cosis and fair value adjustments are
in¢luded within administrative expenses, Acquisiion-related costs have been excluded from the adjusted operating profit and acquisiion

costs paid of £10.8m (2017. £2.8m) have been excluded from the adjusted operating cash flow.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

3. Operating segments

The Group has four reportable segments, as described below, wiich are the Group's strategic business units. These units offer different
applications, assist companies at various stages of the production cycle and are focused towards specific industries. These segments reflect
the intemal reporting prowcied to the Chief Operaung Dedision Maker {considered to be the Board) on & regular basis to assist 1n making
decisions on capital allocated to each segment and to assess performance. The segment results include an allocation of head office
expenses. The following summary descnbes the operations in each of the Group's reportable segments:

» Materials Analysis provides products and services that enable customers to determine structure, composition, quantity and quatity of
particles and materials dunng their research and product development processes, when assessing materials before production, or during
the manufacturing process. The operating companies in this segment are Concept Life Sciences, Malvern Panalyticat and Particle
Measuring Systems.

Test and Measurernent supphies test, measurement and analysis equipment, software and services for product design optrisation,
manufacturing control, microsesmic monitonng and envmrenmental noise moanitoring. The operating companies n this segment are
Briiel & Kjaer Sound & Vibraton, ESG Solutions, HBM, Milibrook and Vi-grade

+ Inine Instrurnentation provides process analytical measurement, asset monitonng and online controls as well as assoaated consumables
and senvices for both primary processing and the converting industnes. The operating ¢companies in this segment are Briel & Kjaer Vibro,
BTG, NBC Technologies and Servormex.

industnal Controls provides preducts and solutions that measure, monitor, control, inform, track and trace duning the production process.
The operating companies in this segment are Omega Engineenng, Red Lion Controls and Microscan (disposed 2 October 2017).

Further details of the nature of these segments and the products and services they provide are contained in the Strategic Report on pages
2t03and 18t0 25,

-

Materials Test and in-line Industrial 2018

Analysis  Measurement Instrumentation Controls Total
Information about reportable segments £m £Em £m £m £m
Segment revenues 541.4 5242 3124 2284 1,606.4
Inter-segment revenue (0.3} {1.6) (0.2} {0.1) .2
External revenue 541.1 522.6 3122 228.3 1,604.2
Operating profit 721 428 322 293 176.4
Share of post-tax results of joint venture' (1.2)
Profit on disposal of businesses' 56.3
Financial income’ 25
Finance costs' (16.0)
Profit before tax 218.0
Taxaton charge' {32.8)
Profit after tax 185.2
1. Not allecated to reportable segments.
Materials Test and In-line industral 2017
Analysis Measyrement  Instrumentation Controls Total
£m £m £m Em £m
Segment revenues 4652 4875 3 2629 1.526.7
Inter-segment revenue {0.3) 02 02 (0.4) (11)
External revenue 464.9 487 3 3109 2625 1,525.6
Cperating profit 686 556 295 287 1824
Profit on disposal of businesses' 100.5
Finandal income' 19
Finance costs' 6.4)
Profit before tax 2784
Taxation charge' (13.6)
Profit after tax 2348

1. Not allecated to reportable segments.
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Reportable segment profit is cansstent with that presented to the Chief Operating Decision Maker. Inter-segment revenue reflects the
movernents in internal cash flow hedges with inter-segment pricing on an arm's length basis Segments are presented on the basis of actual
inter-segment charges made

Carrying amount of Carrying amount of
segment assets segment liabilities
2018 2017 2018 2017
Em fm Em £fm
Materials Analysis 628.3 408 4 (167.0) {117.4)
Test and Measurement 725.9 644 4 (146.9) (123.2)
In-line Instrumentation 2795 270.9 (59.5) (54 4)
Industnal Controls 328.2 3214 {29.6) (27.4)
Total segment assets and habilities 1,962.9 1,645 1 (403.1) {322.9
Cash and borrowings 731 1380 {370.2) {188.5)
Denvative financial Instruments 04 14 (2.2 {0.5)
Other receivable — joint venture 389 - - -
Investment in joint venture 50 - - -
Retirement benefrt habilities - - {32.1) (34.0)
Taxation 128 144 {52.7) (43.4)
Consolidated total assets and lizbilities 2,0932 1,7988 (860.3) (594.8)

Segment assets comprise goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, inventories and trade and other recevables.
Segment liabilities comprise: trade and cther payables, prowisions and other payables, which can be reasonably attributed to the reported
operating segments. Unallocated items represent all components of net debt, denvative finandal instruments, other receivable — joint
venture, investrment in jomt venture, defined benefit plan habilities and current and deferred taxation balances.

Additions to Deprecialion, amortisation
non-current assets and impairment

2018 2017 2018 2017

£m £m Em £m

Materials Analysis 186.6 151 26.8 19.6

Test and Measurement 98.7 75.0 284 280

in-ting Instrumentation 70 14.0 95 96

Industrial Controls 13.0 9.9 14.7 159

Total segments 305.3 114.0 794 731
Other receivable - joint venture 389 -
Investment in joint venture 5.0 -
Consolidated total 349.2 114.0
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

3. Operating segments continued

Geographical segments

The Group's operating segments are each located in several geographical locations and sell on to external customers in all parts of the
world. No individual country amounts 1o more than 3% of revenue, other than those noted below. The followang is an analysis of revenue

by geographical destination,

Materials Test and In-line Indlustrial 2018

Analysis  Measurement  Instrumentation Controls Total

£m £m £m Em £m

UK 50.9 69.3 6.6 6.4 133.2
Gemmany 295 91.1 236 7.2 151.4
France 17.7 233 78 24 512
Rest of Europe 773 76.5 49.8 8.3 2118
USA 1021 1033 85.8 156.5 . 4417
Rest of North Amenca 16.6 121 11.4 12.3 524
Japan 329 318 144 33 824
China 819 69.6 585.2 148 2215
South Korea 255 10.8 100 49 51.2
Rest of Asia 684 209 29.1 89 1273
Rest of the world 383 13.9 18.5 3.3 740
5411 522.6 312.2 228.3 1,604.2

Materials Test and In-ine Industrial 2017

Analyss Measurement Instrumentation Controls Total

fm £m fm fm £m

UK . 146 620 7.5 76 917
Germany 24.7 825 254 113 1439
France 151 206 7.4 39 46.2
Rest of Europe 732 765 514 112 2123
USA 976 89.2 893 169.0 4451
Rest of North America 13.6 1.7 12.6 133 51.2
Japan 337 283 15.4 33 807
China 728 634 43.6 218 20016
South Korea 217 14.0 79 6.7 503
Rest of Asia 615 243 29.1 1.3 126.2
Rest of the world 364 148 21.3 39 764
464.9 487.3 3109 262.5 1,525.6

Non-current assets

2018 2017

£m £Em

UK 4304 207.4
Germany 93.8 681
France 1.6 aa
Rest of Europe’ 373.1 3584
USA 444 .4 4345
Rest of North America 26.9 232
Japan 5.2 432
China 108 87
Scuth Korea 23 31
Rest of Asia 43 46
Rest of the world 37 46
1,405.0 1,113.2

Deferred tax assets’ 11.3 10.5
Total non-current assets 1,416.3 1,1237

1 Prnapally in Denmark and Swatzerland.

2 Not alkocated to reportable geographic area n reporting to the Chief Operating Deaision Maker
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4. Revenue

Disaggregation of revenue
The Group derrves its revenue from the provision of goods and services both at a pointin time and over time.

IFRS 15 paragraph 114 requires an entity to disaggregate revenue recognised from contracts with customers into categories that depict haw
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. This disaggregation will depend

on the entity's individual facts and circumstances. The Group has assessed that the disaggregation of revenue by operating segments is
appropriate in meeting this disclosure requirement as this I1s the information regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating Dedision Maker in
order to evaluate the financial performance of the entity. The Group also believes that presenting a disaggregation of revenue basad on the
tirning of transfer of goods or services provides users of the Finandal Statements with useful information as to the nature and timing of
revenue from contracts with customers.

Timing of revenue recognition:

2018
£m

At a point in time:
Materials Analysis 4805
Test and Measurement 4469
In-line Instrurentation 298.8
Industnal Controls 228.3
1,454.5

QOver time:

Matenals Analysis 60.6
Test and Measurement 757
In-line Instrurnentation 134
Industrial Controls -
149.7
Revenue 1,604.2

The Group's material revenue streams have an expected duration of one year or less. The Group has therefore applied the practical
expedient in IFRS 15 paragraph 121 to not disclose information about its remaining performance obligations.

No indwidual customer accounted for more than 2% of external revenue in either 2018 or 2017.
Total revenue for the Group, after ncluding finanaat income of £2 5m (2017, £1.9m) (see Note 73, was £1,606.7m (2017: £1,527.5m).
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

5. Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting).

2018 2n7
Note £m fm
Net foreign exchange {gainsMlosses (2.1) 21
Research and development expense 962 1051
Amortisation of intangible assets 1 a7 475
Impairment of intangible assets 1 26 -
Bargain purchase on acquisition - (1.9)
Deprecation of property, plant and equpment 12 303 256
Operating lease rental payments 201 189
Cost of inventories recognised as expensa 402.4 3819
(ProftMoss on disposal of property, plant and equspment and software {1.9) 01
2018 2037
Auditor’s remuneration £m fm
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for audit of the Company's annual accounts 0.5 05
Fees payable to the Company's audrtor for the audit of the Company's subsidianes, pursuant
to legislation 1.4 12
Total audit-related fees 19 1.7
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for other services:
» audit-related assurance services' 0.1 o1
20 18
1 Rewview of the half-year Financial Statements
6. Employee costs and other information
Employee costs, including Directors' remuneration, comprise.
Note ZOE‘:\ 20{1:::
Wages and salaries 518.8 454.0
Social security costs 86.2 826
Defined benefit pension plang’
» current service cost 20 2.0 22
» past service cost/credit) 20 27 (1.7
Defined contribution pension plans 20 17.8 153
Equity-settied share-based payment expense 5.1 54
Cash-settled share-based payment expense 11 28
633.7 6006
2018 2017
Diractors’ remuneration fm fm
Short-term benefits ' 2.8 30
Equity-settied share-based payment expense 0.7 07
3.5 37
Further details of Directors' remuneration and share options are given In the Directors® Remuneration Report on pages 60 to 78
2018 2017
Average nymber of employees Number Nusnber
Production and engineering 3,814 3,748
Sales, marketing and service 4,786 4,116
Administrative 947 845
9,547 8,713
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7. Financial income and finance costs

2018 2017
Financal income £m £m
Interest receivable {0.5) {0 6)
Incormne on receivable from joint venture (2.0 -
Net gain on retransiation of short-term inter-company loan balances - (1.3)

{2.5) {1.9)
Finance costs 2 o
Interest payable on loans and overdrafts 73 49
Net lass on retranslation of short-term inter-company loan balances 7.2 -
Unwinding of discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration 06 0.7
Net interest cost on pension plan obligations 0.6 0.7
Other finance costs 03 01

16.0 6.4
Net finance costs 135 45
Net interest costs of £6 8m (2017. £4 3m} for the purposes of the calculation of interest cover compnse interest receivable of £0.5m
{2017 £0 6m) and interest payable on foans and overdrafts of £7 3m (2017~ £4.9m)

!
Spectris ple 115

sjuBWAEIS [eidUBLY



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

8. Taxation
2018 2017
UK Querseas Total UK Overseas Total
£m £m £m fm £Em Em
Current tax charge 39 374 41.0 63 583 646
Adjustments in respect of cument tax of prior years on (2.0} (2.1) {10) (4.8) (5.8
Deferred tax ~ arigination and reversal of temporary
differences (Note 21) (3.3) (1.9} {5.2) {1.1) 5.3 {6.4)
Deferred tax — changes in US tax rate (Note 21} - (0.9) {0.9) - (8.8) (8.8)
Taxation charge 0.5 323 32.8 42 394 436

The standard rate of corporation tax for the year, based on the weighted average of tax rates applied to the Group's profits, is 26.0%

(2017: 28.6%). The tax charge for the year is lower (2017: lower) than the standard rate of corporation 1ax for the reasons set out in the

following reconciliation.

2018 2007

£m im

Profit before taxation 218.0 278.4
Corporation tax charge at standard rate of 26 0% (2017. 28 6%} 56.7 796
Profit on disposal of business taxed at lower rate {16.0) {17.1)
Net impact of US tax reform measures (0.9} (8.0)
Effect of mtra-group financing {4.9) (5.4)
Other non-deductible expenditure 38 38
Movements on unrecogrised deferred tax assets 04 -
Tax credits and incentves (4.1} (5.0}
Change in tax rates (excluding US) 03 -
Adjustments to pnor year current and deferred tax charges (2.5) {4 3}
Taxation charge 328 4386

‘Net impact of US tax reform measures’ abowe refers to the impact of the US Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 In 2017, this comprised a credit
of £8.8m ansing from the re-measurement of net US deferred tax liabilives on the balance sheet at 31 December 2017 at the lower US tax
rate, net of a one-off charge of £0.8m on accumulated foreign profits of the Group's US subsidiaries. In 2018, this comprises a credit of

£0.9m ansing as a prior year adjustment in respect of re-measuring the pnor year net deferred tax liabilines

"Tax ¢redits and incentives' above refers pnncipally to research and development tax credits and other reliefs for innovation such as the UK

Fatent Box regime and Dutch Innovation Box regime.
Factars that may affect the future tax charge

The Group's tax charge in future years is likely to be affected by the proportion of profits ansing, and the effectve tax rates, in the vanious

territories in which the Group operates, as well as changes in tax law affecting future periods. Such law changes may affect the future

availability or amount of exsting 1ax reliefs or incentives. Furthermore, the resolution of tax or other legal cases or nvestigations such as
those mentioned below in respect of the UK's dividend taxation regime or the EU's State Aid nvestigation into aspects of UK tax legislation
may tesult in a re-assessment of the Group's tax latuliues in respect of prior years.

2018 2017
Tax on items recognised directly in the Consolidated Statement of Cornprehensive income Em fm
Tax {creditycharge on net {lossygain on effective portion of changes in fair value of forward exchange contracts (0.5) o7
Tax charge on re-measurement of net defined benefit obligations, net of foreign exchange 1.4 1.4
Aggregate current and deferred tax charge relating to items recognised directly in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Incorme 0.9 2.1
N8 27
Tax on items recognised directly in the Consolhidated Statement of Changes in Equity Em Em
Tax Credit in relation to share-based payments {0.1) {0 5)
Aggregate current and deferred tax credit on itemns recognised directly in the Consolidated Statement of Changes
In Equity 0.1) 05)
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The foliowing tax (creditsycharges relate 1o items of income and expense that are excluded from the Group's adiusted performance 5

measures o
2018 2017 5.

Tax on items of income and expense that are exduded from the Group’s adjusted profit before tax £m Em w

Tax credit on amortisation and impairment of acquisiton-related intangible assets (9.6) (129) %

Tax credit on depreciation of acquisition-related fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment (0.1} © 1) g

Tax credit arising from nét impact of US tax reform measures {0.9) 80 o

Tax credit on net acquisition-related costs and fair value adjustments (0.6) @1

Tax (creditycharge on retransiation of short-term inter-company loan balances (0.5} 03

Tax charge on profit on disposal of businesses 04 19.0

Tax credit on restructuring costs (3.9 45

Total tax credit (14.8) 6 3)

The effective adjusted tax rate for the year was 19.7% (2017, 21 3%} as set out in the reconcliation below.

Reconaliation of the statutory taxation charge to the adjusted taxation charge 20&: 20£1r:‘:

Statutory taxation charge 328 436

Tax credit on tems of income and expense that are excluded from the Group's adjusted profit before tax 14.8 6.3

Adjusted taxation charge 47.6 49.9

Management judgement s applied to determine the level of provisions required in respect of both direct and indirect taxes. The Group s
potentially subject 1o 1ax audits 10 many junsdictions. By thesr nature these are often complex and could take a significant period of time 10
be agreed with the tax aythorities. ludgement is therefore apphied based on the interpretation of country-specific tax legislation and the
likehhaod of settlement The Group estimates and accrues taxes that will uttimately be payable when reviews or audits by tax authornties
of tax returns are completed. These estimates include judgements about the position expected to be taken by each tax authonty.

The Group applies judgement in respect of possible tax audit adjustments primarily in respect of transfer pricing as well as in respect of
financing arrangements and tax credits and incentives. In respect of transfer prcing, the level of provision is determined by reference to
management judgements of the adjustments that would arise in the event that certain intra-group transactions are successfully challenged
as not being at armv’s length

Management estimates of the level of risk arising from tax audit may change in the next year as a resutt of changes in legislation or tax
authority practice or cofrespondence with tax authonties dunng a specific tax audit it is not possible to quantfy the impact that such
future developments may have on the Group's tax positons. Actual outcomes and settlements may differ significantly from the estimates
recorded in these Consolidated Financial Statements. Further detail is provided below n relation 10 tax provisions that are known to be
potentialty matenal.

Judgement is also applied celating to the recognition of deferred tax assets which are dependent on an assessment of the generation of
future taxable Income in the countries cancerned in which temporary differences become deductible or in which tax losses <an be utilsed,
These estimates may change in the next year if there are changes in the forecast profitability of the relevant company

The UK's dividend taxation regime prior 1o July 2009 is the subject of long-running itigation between HMRC and other taxpayers in relation
to the tax charge on dividends received from EU-based companies. The cutcome of this dispute is likely to be relevant to the Group in
respect of certain dwdends received by UK Group companies before that date. Pending resofution in the courts an amount of £8.8m
{2017 £8.8m) continues to be held as a current tax liability for the potential 1ax hiabilities arising if the final decision is in HMRC's favour

An amount of £5 4m (2017 £5.1m) relating to accrued interest an the potential tax liabilities 15 also held as a tax-related provision (see
Note 19), and an amount of £1.3m (2017° £1.3m) is held as a deferred 1ax asset in respect of future tax relief on the accrued interest

The deferred tax asset in respect of future tax refief on the accrued interest has been reclassified from current tax dunng the current year.

In October 2017, the EU Commission opened a formal State Aid investigation into an exemption within the UK's current Controlled Foreign
Company {CFC) regime {introduced in 2013} for certain finance income. The investigation is ongoing, but if the Commussion ultmately
concludes that the provisions do constitute State Ard then they would require the UK to recover any such aid from affected partres.

The Group has claimed the benefit of this exemption, and therefore may be adversely affected by the outcome of the investigation if the
Commission were to condlude that the finance exemption with the UK's CFC regime constrtutes State Aid and no other exemptions were
available to the Group then, as at 31 December 2018, an additional liability of £18 0m (2017 £14.0m} in respect of tax and £0.5m (2017;
£0.3m) in respect of Interest would arise unless such a decision could be successfully challenged in the EU courts. However, no provision
has been made in respect of this investigation since we befieve that it is more likely than not that no additional tax will ufumately he due
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

9. Dividends

2018 2017
Amounts recognised and paid as distributions to ewners of the Company in the year £m fm
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 of 37 5p (2016' 34.0p) per share 445 405
Intenim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 20.5p (2017: 19.0p)} per share 237 227
68.2 63.2
2018 2017
Amounts arising in respect of the year £m £m
interim divdend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 20.5p {2017: 19 Op) per share 23.7 227
Propased final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 40.5p (2017: 37.5p) per share 46.8 447
70.5 67.4

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholgers at the AGM on 24 May 2019 and has not been included as 2 liability

these Financial Staternents

10. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dwiding net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted

average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (excluding treasury shares)

Diluted earnings per share amounts are cakulated by dividing the net profit attributabie to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year but adjusted for the effects of dilutive options. The key features of the Company's

share option schemes are described in Note 23.

Basic earnings per share 2018 2017

Profit after tax {fm) 185.2 2348
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (mithons) 1175 119.2

Basic earnings per share (pance) 1576 1970
Diluted earnings per share 2018 2007

Profit after tax {Em) 185.2 234.8
Basic weighted average nurnber of shares outstanding (rullions) 117.5 119.2

Weighted average number of dilutive 5p ordinary shares under option {millions} 0.6 0%

Weighted average number of Sp ordinary shares that would have been issued at average market value from

proceeds of dilutive share options (mitlions) (0.1) 0.4)
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding {rrullions) 118.0 119.7

Diluted earnings per share (pence) 156.9 196.1

118  Annual Report and Accounts 2018



11. Goodwilt and other ilelangible assets

Patents,
contractual Customer-
reghts and related and

Goodwill technology  trade names Software Total
Cost Note £m £m fm £m £
At 1 January 2017 805 9 2214 2513 597 1,3383
Additions - separately acquired - - - 12.7 127
Additions — business combinations 24 16 8 56 103 - 327
Transfers to assets held for sale (22 2) (X)) (8.9) - (37.5)
Disposals - - - {(1.2) (1.2
Disposal of business 5 - {4.1) (6.3) {3.3) - {(11.7)
foreign exchange difference (24.5) (12.5) {15.3) (1.1} (53.4)
At 31 December 2017 771.9 201.8 236.1 70.1 1,279.9
Additions — separately acquired - 26 - 15.4 180
Additons - internal development - 4.7 - - 4.7
Additions - business combinations 24 1218 188 53.2 - 193.8
Reclassification - (7.3) 73 - -
Disposals ) - - - .7 {1.7)
Foreign exchange difference 214 7.2 9.4 2.1 40.1
At 31 December 2018 915.1 2278 306.0 859 1,5348
Accumulated amartisation and impairment
Al 1 January 2017 1516 1318 1143 411 4388
Charge for the year - 223 19.6 56 475
Transfers to assets held for sale - 57) (7.8) - (13.5)
Disposals - - - (12 (1.2
Disposal of business 25 - (57) {0.5) - {6.2)
Foreign exchange difference (7.2 (76) 7.7 0.4 (22.9)
At 31 Decemnber 2017 1444 1351 1179 451 442 5
Charge for the year - 17.8 237 56 YR
Impairment - 20 - - 2.0
Redlassification - 6.0 6.0 - -
Disposals - - - .n [4)]
Fareign exchange difference 4.4 4.7 5.1 1.1 15.3
At 31 December 2018 1488 153.6 1527 50.1 505.2
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 766.3 4.2 153.3 358 1,0296
At 31 December 2017 627.5 6.7 1182 250 837.4

Goadwill 1s allocated to the cash-generating units that are anticipated to benefit from the acquisition.

The Group's identified cash-generating units are smaller than the four reportable segments, being the 14 operating companies Goodwll
arising on a bolt-on acquisition is combined with the goodwill in the existing Group company and is noy considered separately for
impairment purposes, since such acquisitions are quickly integrated.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

11. Goodwill and other intangible assets continued
The most significant amounts of goodwill are as follows

2018 2017
Goodwilt dls:ou.:\rtel:ta?: Goadwill dlscoui‘;e;“a?;
im % £ %
Malvern Panalytical 140.1 115 139.2 107
Omega Engineering 1153 155 109.0 128
HBM 106.1 1.7 1034 11.8
Concept Life Sciences 105.5 134 - -
BTG 69.5 135 681 1.4
Briel & Kjaer Sound & Vibration 66.4 11.7 65.0 112
Milibrook 58.1 12.7 54.1 121
Red Lion Controls 46 158 396 138
Servomex 254 13.2 248 12.3
Other 38.3 12.9-17.9 243 13.1-138
766.3 6275

Induded within "Other” ate four {2017. three} cash-generating units, in which none of the goodwill balances are considered to be
ndvidually signficant

Goodwll is not amortised but 1s tested for impairment annually of whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. As part
of the annual impairment review, the carrymg amount of goodwll has been assessed with reference to its recoverable amount determined
based on value in use. In assessing value in use, the forecast projected cash flows of each cash-generating unit, which are based on actual
operating results, the most recent budget for the next financial year as approved by the Board, detailed strategic review projections and an
assurned long-term growan rate to perpetuity, are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the time value
of money and the nsks specific to the cash-generating unit

The key assumptions on which the value in use calculations are based en relate to future business performance over the forecast peniod (five
years), projected long-term growth rates and the discount rates appled The forecast cash flows include management's !atest estimates on
sales volumes and pricing, production ang other costs. The key estimates applied in the impairment review are the forecast level of revenue,
operating margins and the proportion of operating profit converted to cash in each year. A tong-term growth rate of 2 0% (2017 2 0%)
has been consistently applied in the impairment review for all cash-generating units based on current forecast global industrial production
growth rates, and long-term GDP growth rates for the Group's primary markets. The cash fiow projections have been discounted using
cash-generating unit specific pre-tax discount rates of between 11.5% and 17 9% {2017: 10.7% and 13 8%). These rates have been
determined by taking into account the size of business, specific geographical and industry nsk factors, as well as the period of ownership by
the Group. As a result of the annual impairment review, no goodwill impairment charge has been recognised within operating profit in the
Consolidated Income Statement (2017 nil).

Sensitivity analysis

For all cash-generating units, except Concept Life Sciences (‘CLS'), the Directors do not consider that there are any reasonably possible
sensitivities for the business that could arise in the next 12 months that could result in an impairment charge being recogrised

Performance at CLS was below expectations due 1o a range of factars induding a reduction in project work from two major clients, delays
n ganing new laboratory and manufaciunng accreditations (GLP and GMP), as well as a period of sub-optimal performance at one of its
analyticat laboratories. These internal issues largety reflected the siate of the business on acquisition, which was in the process of integrating
previgus acquisitions into twa divisions, as well as distraction and disruption caused to the commercial organisation triggered by the
acquisibon Remadial action to improve cperational effectiveness 1s already hawing an impac; the preparatory work for the manufactunng
accreditations has progressed wel and the funnel of opportunities across the business has developed strongly. Management believes that
the end markets for CLS are stilt very strong as customers continue to look to outsource analytical services and pharmaceutical development
work Due to the under-perfarmance, and as a resuft of its recent addition to the Group, the value n use approxirnates 1o the carrying value,
This means that any change in the key assumptions in isolation, assuming unchanged values for the other assumptions, would cause an
impawrment loss to be recogrised in respect of the CLS cash-generating unit.

The key assumptions are’

» 2019 CLS operating performance includes revenue growth of 25% compared to 2018 {on a 12-month comparable basis) with a gross
margin improvernent of Spp compared to 2018 {6pp compared to the recent run-rate n gross margin achieved by the business);

s over the period 2020 th 2023, annual growth in organic revenue is assumed to be 12%, gross margin increases by 3pp,
> long-term growth rate of 2%; and
» pre-tax discount rate of 13.4% which includes 3pp specific company risk premium
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The following table represents the impact of changes in the key assumptions noted above: 3
Impairment %

loss A,

Change in key assumption Em [N
Revenue growth and gross margin lower than expected (see below) Up to 30.0 §
A 1pp increase in the pre-tax discount rate from 13.4% 10 14.4% 1890 ‘5
@

A 1pp reduction in the long-term growth rate from 2% to 1% 18.0 a

Forecast cash flows for CLS are dependent upon an improvement in grass margin for the operating company over

the five-year forecast period reflecting double digit reveniue growth over the same period, Whilst performance in 2018 has been behind
expectations, management considers that the improvement in the gross margin is anticipated to be 12 percentage points over the five-year
penod, supported by the recovery of performance in 2019 and the change m mix as the business moves towards higher value integrated
drug discovery and developrnent services, which yield a higher gross margin.

On the assumption that 2019 performance is delivered as forecast, and the pre-tax discount rate and long-term growth rate are maintaned
at 13 4% and 2%, respectively, from the value in use model, management considers the following represents a reasanably possible range
of performance outcome, based on market and peer data combined with historic performance infarmation:

» annual OrganIc revenue growth over the 2020 1© 2023 period could reduce by up to 3pp per annum from 12% to 9%,
» gross margin dedlines by 2pp.

The above reasonably passible change in assumptions relating to forecast cash flows would lead to an impairment of up to £30.0 millon
including the consequential effect of the containment of overhead costs following lower revenue growth

Other intangible assets
Of the total amortisation charge of £47.1m (2017 £47 5m), the amount attnbutable to the amortisation of acquisiton-related intangible
assets was £41.3m (2017: £41 9m)

Internally generated assets arising from the capitahsation of qualifying development expenditure typically have a finite expected useful life of
four to ten years Capitalised development expenditure 1s amortised on a straight-ine basis. All amortisation charges for the year have been

charged against operating profit. The Group has capitalised £4 7m of internally-generated intangible assets from development expenditure

in 2018 (2017: £nil).

The trade names and technology assets recognised on the acquisition of Omega Engineenng in 2011, and included within the industnal
Controis reportable segment, are considered significant by the Directors as they represent 32% (2017 43%} of total customer-refated and
trade names, and 14% (2017. 19%) of total patents, contractual nghts and technology, respeciively. The carrying amount of customer-
related and trade name intangible assets at 31 December 2018 is £49.3m (2017: £50.3m) and is being amortised over 20 years with the
reraining amorusation period being 13 years The camying amount of patents, contractuat nghts and technology intangible assets at

31 December 2018 1s £10 1m (2017: £12.4m) and 1s being amortised over ten years with the remaining amorasation period being

three years.

The customer-related and technology assets recognised on the acquisition of CLS n 2018, and included within the Materials Analysis
reportable segment, are considered significant by the Directors as they represent 24% of total customer-related and trade names, and 14%
of total patents, contractual nghts and technology, respectively The carrying amount of customer-related and trade name intangible assets
at 31 December 2018 15 £36 Bm and 15 being amortised over 15 years with the remaining amortisation period being 14 years. The carying
amount of patents, contractual rights and technology intangible assets at 31 Decemnber 2018 15 £10 2m and is being amortised over ten
years, with the remaining amortisation period being nine years
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

12. Property. plant and equipment

freehold Leasehold Plant and

property praperty equipment Total
Cost Note £m £m Em Em
At 1 January 2017 203.5 162 2219 44138
Additions - separately acquired 101 2.1 533 655
Addrmions — business combinations 24 - - 3.1 ER
Transfer to assets held far sale (1.6) (CRY (3.3) G0
Dispaosals - (0.4} (8.7 @1
Dispaosal of business 25 - 0.1} (5.1} 52
Foreign exchange ditference (1.1) {0.8) (3.9 {58
At 31 December 2017 210.9 17.1 257.3 485.3
Additions — separately acquired 30.2 1.5 "6 733
Additions — business combinations 24 29 0.5 121 155
Redlassifications 6.9 03 (7.2) -
Transfer 1o assets held for sale {4.5) - - (4.5)
Disposals (2.5) (0.9) {11.3} (14.7)
Adjustrments to assets held for sale 0.5 - (0.6) {0.1)
Foreign exchange difference 3.5 04 3.9 7.8
At 31 December 2018 247.9 189 295.8 562.6
Accumulated depreciatian and impairment
At 1 January 2017 533 14 1383 2030
Charge for the year 56 1.3 187 256
Transfer to assets held for sale (1.1} - 2.5 (36
Disposals - (0 4) 8.1 8.5)
Disposal of business 25 - on 4.3) (4 4)
Foreign exchange difference 0.3 {0 5) (2.4) (2 6)
At 31 December 2017 58.1 1.7 139.7 209.5
Charge for the year 6.2 14 227 303
Reclassifications ©0.2) 0.2 - -
Transfer to assets held for sale (0.6} - - {c.8)
Disposals - (1.0) (10.0 {(11.0)
Adjustments 1o assets held for sale 0.3 - {0.5) {0.2)
Foreign exchange difference 0.4 0.2 2.5 3.1
At 31 December 2018 64.2 125 154.4 231.1
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 183.7 6.4 141.4 3315
At 31 Decernber 2017 152.8 54 1176 2758

The amount induded in the cost of plant and equipment of assets in the course of construction was £47.9m (2017 £38.8m).

Ng borrowing costs were capitalised during ether year
Of the totaf depreciation charge of £30.3m (2017 £25.6m), the amount attnbutable to the depreciation on fair value adjustments to

acquisition-related property, plant and equipment was £0.8m (2017 £0 7m}
Additons are net of £2 9m (2017: £1.2m) relating to the receipt of government grants
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13. Investment in joint venture

The Group has one joint venture at 31 December 2018, Bruel & Kjaer EMS Pty Ltd ('EMS B&K') The Group has an effective 45%
ownership interest in E04S B&K EMS BEK's place of incorporation and pancipal place of business is Australia and its principal acuvity
is enwironmental monitoring.

2018

Em

At 1 January 2018 -
Addition (see Note 25) 6.0
Share of post-tax results (1.2)
Fareign exchange difference 0.2
At 31 December 2018 5.0

The Group did not receive dividends from its joint venture dunng the year.

surnmarised financial information in respect of the Group's joint venture is set out below. The summarised information below has been
presented on a 100% basis in accordance with iFRS (after adjustments by the Group for equity accounting purposes and to comply wath the
Group's accounting policies).

2018
£m
Curmrent assets 109
Non-current assets 175
Current liabilities (6.7)
Non-current liabilities {including 9% preference shares of £70 8m) {71.8)
Net fiabiities of joint venture (50.1)
Income statement information. 1 June 2018 to 31 December 2018:
Revenue 16.1
Loss from continuing opefations 2.7

Reconalhation of the above summansed financal information to the cariying amount of the interest recognised in the Consolidated Finanoial
Statements’

2018
£Em
Net habilities of joint venture {50.1)
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in the joint venture (45%) (22.5)
Goodwill 275
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in the jont venture 5.0
The Group does not have any other joint ventures or associates.
14. Inventories
2018 2017
£m £m
Raw matenals 78.2 66.4
Work in progress 538 394
Finished goods and goods held for resale 844 70.2
216.4 1760

In the ordinary course of bu'smess, the Group makes provision for slow-moving, excess and cbsolete inventory to wnte it down to its net
realisable value based on an assessment of technological and market developments specific to the refevant business, and an analysis of
historical and projected usage on an individual item or product line basis.

Expenses relating to invertories written down during the year totalled £7.4m (2017, £9.9m)
Finished goods and goods held for resale expected to be utilised after 12 months amounted to £1.5m (2017 £3 7).
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

15. Trade and other receivables

2018 2017
£m £m
Current

Trade receivables 3118 2692
Prepayments 20.7 142
VAT and similar taxes receivable 118 107
Other receivables 215 24.5
Contract assets {(accrued revenue) 15.7 5.3
381.5 3238

Non-current
Qther receivable - joint venture 389 -

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. Standard credit terms provided to customers differ according 1o business and country, and are
typically between 30 and 60 days. Trade receivables are stated after the provision for imparment of £4 6m (2017: £7.0m).

The fair value of trade and other receivables approximates 16 its carrying amount due to the short-term maturities associated with these
items. There is no impairment risk identified with regards to other receivables where no amounts are past due The non-current other
recevabie — joint venture arose on the formation of the joint venture and 1s held at amortised cost.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade recevables at 31 December by geographic region was-

2018 2017
Em £m
UK 235 156
Germany 27.7 227
France 135 120
Rest of Europe 53.3 529
USA 836 684
Rest of North America 139 16.6
Japan 175 142
China 299 230
South Korea 83 7.1
Rest of Asia 251 211
Rest of the world 155 15.6
3.8 269.2

Expected credit losses

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade recewables at an amaunt equal to ifetime expected credit losses (‘ECL'). The ECL on trade
receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's
current financial posrtion, adjusted for factors that are specrfic to the debtor, general economic condittons of the industry in which the
debtor operates and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

There has been no change in the estirnation techniques or significant assumptions made dunng the current reporting penod.

The Group wnites off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe finanaal difficulty and there 1s no
realistic prospect of recovery, e g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

The ageing of trade receivables and related prouisions for impairment at 31 December was

2018 2017

Gross  Impairment Gross Impairment

m fm fm fm

Not past due 199.7 0.2 188.4 0.3
One rmonth past due 55.4 0.1 47.3 -
Two months past due 215 0.1 %8 01
Three months past due 12.7 0.1 82 -
Faur months past due 72 0.1 43 -
More than four months past due 19.9 4.0 "2 6.6
316.4 4.6 276.2 70
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The maverment in the provision for Impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows

208

2017

£m Em

At 1 January 70 132
Adoption of IFRS 9 (2.9) -
At 1 January {restated) 4.1 13.2
Prowision for impawment of recevables 1.1 {4 5)
Impaiment loss utiiised 0.7} (0.8)
Disposal of business - {0.4)
Foreign exchange difference 0.1 (0.5)
At 31 December 4.6 70
All of the above impairment losses relate to recevables arisng from contracts with customers
16. Cash and cash equivalents

Nate z?rg Zof]n?w
Cash and cash equivalents included in current assets 731 1379
Cash and cash equivalents included in assets held for sale - 0.1
Bank overdrafts induded in current borrowings i7 {5.8) (13
Cash and cash equwalents in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 67 3 1367

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk and a sensftimty analysis for finanoal assets and liabilities is disclosed in Note 28.

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2017 included £2 4m of restricted cash which was held i escrow relating to the acquisition of

Milibrook in 2016. This was paid dunng the year,

17. Borrowings

2018 2017
Current interest rate Repayable date £m £m
Bank overdrafts on dermand 58 1.3
Bank loans unsecured — £20.0m uncommitted facility Relevant LIBOR +50bps on demand 17.9 -
Total curent borrowings 237 1.3

2018 2007
Non-current Interest rate Maturity date £m £m
Bank loans unsecured - €94 8m Fixed 2.56% 14 October 2020 848 841
Bank loans unsecured - €116.2m Fixed 1.15% 9 September 2022 104.0 1031
Bank loans unsecured - $800 Om revolving credit facifity Relevant LIBOR +55bps 31 July 2023 152.7 -
Total non-Current borrowings 3465 187 2
Toital current and non-current borrowings 370.2 188.5
Total unsecured borrowings 364.4 187 2

At 31 December 2018, the Group had avalable £467 Sm of undrawn committed borrowing faciities in respect of its US Dollar $800m

revolving credit facility {2017, £406.5m of $550m), of which alt conditions precedent had been met
Movements in total unsecured porrowangs are recongiled as follows:

2018 2017

£m fm

At 1 January 187.2 2221

Proceeds from borrowings 175.5 -
Repayment of borrowings - (41.0}

Effec of foreign exchange rates 1.7 6.1

At 31 December 364.4 187.2
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

18. Trade and ather payables

Current 20{1: 20£|n?|
Trade payables 705 597
Accruals 1064 1056
Custorner advances 270 214
Contract liabilities 749 387
Deferred and contingent consideration on acquisitions and disposals 9.7 63
VAT and similar taxes payable 11.1 12.3
Other payables a4.4 28.5
344.1 2725
2018 2017
Non-turrent £rn £m
Contract fiabilities 28 23
Deferred and contingent consideration on acquisitions and disposats 9.1 43
Other payables 15.5 136
274 07
The fair value of trade and other payables approxmates to their carrying amount due to the short-term matusities associated with
these items.
Total contract liabilities relate to the tollowing product groups:
2018
£m
Matenals Analysis 46.9
Test and Measurement 26.1
In-hne Instrumentation 45
Industrial Controls a.2
717

Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year

The Group recognised £38 2m of additonal deferred income as a result of adopting IFRS 15 at 1 January 2018 (see Note 1 for further

details), bnnging the total contract hability batance to £79.2m. Of this balance, £78.7m has been recognised as revenue during 2018,

The contract hability balance at 31 Decernber 2018 includes £6.0m arising from businesses acquired during 2018 (business combinations),

of which £2 8m 15 in Materials Analysis and £3 2m in Test and Measurement
There were no other ssgnificant changes in contract fiability balances dunng the year

19, Provisions

Praduct contr::tguaali

Reorganisation warranty and other Total

£m £m £m £m

ALY January 2018 20 11.7 115 25.2

Provision during the year 56 a1 39 186

Recognised on acquisitons - 0.4 04 0.8
Utlised during the year {1.9) (7.4) (1.4) (10.7}
Released duning the year (0.3} (1.2} {1.1) (2.6)

Fereign exchange difference - 0.2 0.1 0.3

At 31 Decernber 2018 5.4 128 13.4 316

Prowisions are all presented as current liabilities.

Reorganisation

Rearganisation provisions relate to commutted restructuring plans in place within the business Costs are expected to be incurred wathin one

year and there 15 ittle judgement in determining the armount.

Praduct warranty

Product warranty provisions reflect commitments made to custorners on the sale of goods in the ordmary course of business and included
wathin the Group's standard terms and conditions. Warranty commitments typically apply for a 12-month period, but can extend to 36

months These extended warranties are not significant
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Legal, contractual and other

Legal, contractual and other provisions mainly comprse amounts provided against open legal and contractual disputes arising in the normal
course of business The Company has ¢n occasion been required to take legal or other actions to protect its mtellectual property rights, to
enforce commercial contracts or otheraise and similarly to defend itself against proceedings brought by other parties Provisions are made
for the expected costs associatad with such matters, based on past expenence of similar items and other known factors, taking into account
professional advice received, and represent management’s best estimate of the most likely outcome. The timing of utilisation of these
provisions is frequently uncertain, reflecting the complexity of ssues and the outcome of various court proceedings and negohations.
Confractual and other provisions represent the Directors' best estimate of the cost of settling current obligations. Other provisions includes
interest related ta tax provisions of £5.4m (2017: £5.1m)

No provision is made for proceedings which have been or might be brought by other parties against Group companies unless management,
taking into account professional advice received, assesses that it is probable that such proceedings may be successful, Contingent liabilities
associated with such proceedings have been identfied, but the Directors are of the opinion that any associated daims that might be
brought can be defeated successfully and, therefore, the possibility of any matenal outflow in settlement is assessed as remote

20. Retirement benefit plans

The Group operates funded defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans for the Group’s qualifying employees in the UK. in
additon, 14 overseas subsidiaries (2017: 14) in three overseas countries prowde defined benefit plans. Cther UK and overseas subsidiaries
have their own defired contribution plans invested in independent funds.

Defined benefit plans

The UK, German, Dutch and Swiss plans provide pensions in retrement, death in service and in some cases disability benefits to members.
The pension benefit is linked to members’ final salary at retirernent and their serace life Since 31 December 2009, the UK plan has been
closed to all service acgruals. The German and Dutch plans are desed to new members,

The UK plan is administered by a pension fund, but the Swiss and Dutch plans are held by insurance companies that are legally

separate from the Group. The majority of the overseas plan assets are insurance policies held in the Swass plans, which are not matching
in nature. The UK plan 15 managed by a Board of Trustees that represents both employees and employer, who are required to act in the
best interest of the plan's participants and are responsible for setting certan policies {e.g. nvestment, contribution and indexation policies)
of the various funds

The plans expose the Group to actuanal risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest rate nsk and market (nvestment) risk
inflabon and interest rate hedges are taken out to mitgate aganst nsks ansing on the UK plan and some reinsurance exists in respect of
the overseas plans.

The overseas plans are funded by the Group’s overseas subsidianes, and the UK plan has been funded in the past by both the Group’s UK
subsidiaries and the Company. The assets of the UK plan are invested in accordance with Section 40 of the Pensions Act 1995. Although the
Act permits 5% of the plan’s assets to be invested in ‘employer-related investments’, the Trustees have elected that none of the plan assets
are to be invested directly in Specins plc shares. The Trustees also hold interest rate and inflation swaps to help protect agamst the impact of
changes in prevailing interest rates and price inflation, which, n conjunction with the corporate bond portiolio, aims to fully hedge against
interest and inflation rate risks on the basis used by the Trustee to fund the plan Trustee investment in denvatwves 1s only made in so far as
they contribute to the reduciion of iInvestment risks or facilitate efficent portfolio management and are managed such as to avoid excessve
nsk exposure to a single counterparty or other derivative operations,

The funding requirements are based on the indwidua! funds’ actuarial measurement framework set out in the funding pohcies of

the various plans.

The Group has determined that, 1n accordance with the terms and conditions of the defined benefit plans, and in accordance with statutory
requirements (induding minimum funding requirements) of the plans of the respective junsdictions, the present value of the refunds or
reducyons in future contnbutions 1s not lower than the balance of the total fair value of the plan assets less the totaf present value of
obligations. This determination has been made on a plan-by-plan basis. As such, no decrease in the defined benefit asset was necessary

at 31 December 2018.

The last full actuanal valuation for the UK plan was 31 December 2017, and for the overseas plans was 31 December 2018 Where
applicable, the valuations were updated to 31 December 2018 for 1AS 19 (Revised) "Employee Benefits” purposes by qualified
independent actuaries.

The Group's contributions (o overseas defined benefit plans during the year ended 31 December 2018 were £2.2m (2017: £2 2m).
Contributions for 2018 are expected to be £2.3m for the overseas plans.

Contributions to the Spectrs Pension Plan (UK) ceased from 1 July 2012 The contribution rates are subject to review at future valuations
and periodic certifications of the schedule of contributions
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

20. Retirement benefit plans continued

The assumptions used by the actuary to vaiue the labilities of the defined benefit plans were:

2018 2017

UK plan Ove;::: UK plan Oveagﬁ:

% p.a, % p.a % p.a. % pa.

Discount rate 2.7 0.95-21 24 07-20

Salary increases nla 1.0-30 na 1.0-30

Pension increases in payment 2.2-37 0.0-20 2.1-37 00-20
Pengion Increases in deferment 24-33 23-32

Inflation assumption 24-33 1.0-20 23-32 1.0-20

Interest credit rate 0.0-10 0.0-1.0

The weighted average duraton of the defined benefit obligation at 31 Decernber 2018 was approxmately 14 years {2017 17 years) for the

UK plan and 18.3 years (2017: 18.6 years) for the overseas plans.

Pensioner life expectancy assumed in the 31 December 2018 valuation 1s based on the followng tables.

UK plan 92% S1PMAEY S1PFA centred in 20086, future improvements m line with CMI_2017 with a
long-term rate of :mprovement of 1.25% per annum and a smoothing parameter of 8

German plans Dr K Heubeck pension tables 2018 G

Dutch plans A G Prognosetafel 2018 tables

Swiss plan BVG 2015 - CMI 1.50%

Samples of the ages that pensioners are assumed to live to are as follows:

Male Female
Pensioners aged 65 in 2018 85.1-871 88.1-83.0
Pensioners aged 65 in 2028 86.5-878 89.3-89.9
UK plan Overseas plans Total
Amgunts recognised in the 2018 2017 2018 017 2018 2017
Cansolidated income Statement Em £m £m £m Em £m
Current service cost - - 2.0 22 20 22
Net interest cost ¢G3 Q4 0.3 03 (X3 a7
Administrative cost 0.3 03 0.1 02 04 05
Past service costAcredit) 25 - 0.2 (1.7) 2.7 (1.9
31 07 256 10 5.7 1.7

The current service cost and past service cost{credit) are recogrised in administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement The
net interest cost on the net defined benefit obligation 1s recognised in finance costs 1n the Consolidated Income Statement. Actuarial gains
and losses are recogrised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

During the year, insurance premiums for death-in-service benefits amounting to £0 3m (2017: £0.3m) were paid.

There was a negatwe total retum on plan assets in the year of £4 4m (2017 a positive return of £7 7m).

UK plan Overseas plans Total
Amaunts recognised in the 2018 2017 2018 017 2018 2017
Consclidated $tatement of Comprehensive Income £m £m £fm Em im £m
Actuarial gains 3.9 2.9 2.1 26 6.0 55
Fareign exchange losses - - {0.6) 04 (0.6} 0.4
Net gains 3.9 29 1.5 3.0 5.4 59

UK pian Qverseas plans Total
Amounts recngrised in the 2018 2017 2018 017 2018 2017
Consahdated Statement of Financial Position £m £m £fm £m £m £m
Present value of defined benefit obligations {(125.7) (137 4) (57.4) 54 7) (183 1) (192 1)
Fair value of plan assets 113.2 1241 378 340 151.0 158 1
Retirement benefit obligations {12.5) {133) (19.6) (207) (32.1} (34.0)
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UK plan Overseas plans Total
Reconciliation of movement in 08 2017 2018 2mz7 2018 2017
retirement benefit cbhgations £m fm £Em £m £m £m
At 1 January (13.3) (15.5) (20.7) (24 8) (34.0) (403
Current service cost - - (2.0) (2.2 2.0 R.2)
Net interest cost 0.3 04 (0.3} ©3 {0.6) ©.7)
Plan administrative cost (0.3) 0.3) (0.1} 0.2} (0.4) (0.5)
Past service (costycredit (2.5) - {0.2) 1.7 (2.9 17
Contributions from sponsoring company and
plan members - - 1.6 15 1.6 1.5
Benefits paid - - 0.6 06 0.6 0.6
Actuanal gains 39 29 21 26 6.0 55
Foreign exchange difference - - {0.6)} 04 (0.6) 04
At 31 December (12.5) (13.3} (19.6} (20.7 (32.1) {34 0)
UK plan Overseas plans Total
Analysis of mavement in the present 20e 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
value of the defined benefit obligation Em £m £m £m fm £m
At 1 lanuary 1374 1384 54.7 59.2 1921 197.6
Current service cost - - 20 12 20 22
Interest cost 3.2 35 0.7 06 39 4.1
Past service costAcredt) 25 - 0.2 (1.7} 27 .7
Contributions from plan members - - 12 13 1.2 1.3
Actuarial (Qainsyosses — financial {4.1) 06 (1.8) 07 (5.9) (0.1}
Actuarial (gains¥losses — demographic (8.6} - 0.1 (1.3} {8.5) {1.3)
Actuarial (gainsylosses ~ experience 0.7 {0.3) - 05 0.7 0.2
Benefits paid {5.4) 48) (1.6) (40) (7.0} 8 8)
foreign exchange difference - - 19 {1.4) 18 (1.4)
At 31 Decernber 125.7 1374 57.4 547 183.1 192.1
Analysed as:
Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation - - 7.6 79 76 79
Presert value of funded defined benefit obliganon 125.7 137.4 498 468 1755 184.2
UK plan Overseas plans Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Reconciliation of movement in fair value of plan assets £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 124.1 1229 34.0 334 158.1 157.3
Interest income on assets 29 31 0.4 03 33 34
Plan admunistration cost {0.3) ©.3) ©.1) (0.2) (0.4) (0.5)
Contributions from sponsoring company - - 1.6 16 1.6 1.6
Contributions from plan members - - 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2
Actuarial {lossesygains (8.1) 3.2 0.4 1.1 7.7 43
Benefits paid {5.4) (4.8) {1.0) (3.4) (6.4) (8.2)
Foreign exchange difference - -~ 1.3 (1.0) 1.3 (1.0)
At 31 December 113.2 1241 378 340 151.0 1581
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

20. Retirement benefit plans continued

UK plan Overseas plans Total

Fair value of assets 20{1:1 20E1n71 2(}.1: 2051; ZOEII: mflr;’l
Equity instruments 5.3 89 - - 5.3 89
Corporate bonds 94.0 106.4 - - 94.0 106.4
Government bonds 103 6.6 - - 103 66
Cash and finanaial derivatives (net) 36 22 - - 36 22
Insurance pohaes - - 37.8 34.0 37.8 34.0
1132 124.1 378 34.0 151.0 158.1

The UK plan assets are invested in active markets which have a quoted market price. The overseas plan assets are invested in insurance policies

Sensitivity analysis
The table below shows the sensitivity of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position to changes in the significant pension assumptions
based on a reasonably expected change given current market conditions

Impact on retirement benefit obligations
as at 31 December 2018

Change in assumption UK plan Overseas plans
Discount rate Increase by 1% Decrease by £16.7m Decrease by £8.1m
Rate of pnce inflaton (RPY) increase by 1% Increase by £11.6m Increase by £2.1m
Assuined life expectancy at age 65 Increase by 1 year Increase by £4 'm Increase by £1.5m

Defined contribution plans
The total cost of the defined contnbution plans for the year was £17.8m (2017: £15.3m}. There were no outstanding or prepaid
contributions to these plans as at 31 December 2018 or 31 December 2017

21. Deferred tax
The movement in the net deferred tax liability/asset) is shown below

2018 2017
Note £m fm
At 1 January 14.5 278
Adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 {5.8) -
At 1 January {restated) 8.7 278
Foreign exchange difference 0.1 Q4
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings pLd 13.8 03
Disposal of businesses 1.0 20
Reclassified as assets held for sale - 04
Deferred tax on changes in fair value of forward exchange contracts recognised in the Consclidated
Statement of Comprebensive income (0.1) 0.3
Deferred 1ax on re-measurernent of net defined benefit liability recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive income 1.4 14
Deferred tax on share-based payments recognised in equity 01 ©.1
Credited to the Consolidated Income Staterment 8 (6.1 (15.2)
At 31 December i89 145
Compnsing’
Deferred tax liabilies 30.2 25.0
Deferred tax assets (11.3) {10.5)
18.9 14.5
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The mavements in deferred tax assets and habilities dunng the year are shown below. Deferred tax assets and liabiliies are only offset where
there 1s a legally enforceable nght of offset and they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority.

Goodwill
Accelerated and other
tax Accruals and Tax nter-company Pension  intangible 2018
depreciation provisions plans assets Other Total
Net deferred tax {assetsMliabilities £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2018 37 (11.0) .7 36.2 08 145
Adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 - {5.8) - - - (5.8)
At 1 January 2018 {restated) 37 (16.8) (7.7) 362 0.8 87
Foreign exchange difference - - - 0.7 - 0.1
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings - - - 13.8 - 13.8
Disposal of business . - - - 1.0 - 1.0
Deferred tax on changes tn farr value
of forward exchange contracts
recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income - - - - (0.1 (©.7)
Deferred tax on re-measurement of
net defined benefit obligation
recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Incorme - - 14 - - 1.4
Deferred tax on share-based payments
recogrised in equity - - - - 0.1 01
Chargedfcredited) to the
Consolidated Income Statement 06 3.6 (0.7) (6.5) (1.8) (6.1
At 31 December 2018 43 {13.2) (7.0) 452 (1.0) 189
Goodwall
Accelerated and other
tax Accruals and Pension intangible 2017
depreciation provisions plans assets Cther Tatal
Met deférred tax (assetsliabilities £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2017 5.1 {19.6} 93) 58.9 0.8 27.8
Foreign exchange difference - - - (24) - 2.9
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings - - ~ 03 - a3
Disposal of business - - - 0.6 14 2.0
Transfer to assets held for sale - 06 - 0.2) - 04
Deferred tax on changes in fair value
of forward exchange contracts
recognised i the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income - - - - 0.3 03
Deferred tax on re-measurement of
net defined benefit obligation
recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income - - 14 - - 14
Deferred tax on share-based payments
recognised in equity - - - - 0.1 (0.1}
(CreditedYcharged to the
Consolidated Income Statement (14) 8.0 02 210} {1.6) (15.2)
At 31 December 2017 3.7 (11 0) n 362 08 14.5
Spectrisplc 131

$UBWANRIS [eURLY



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

21, Deferred tax continued

Unrecognised temporary differences

Deferred tax assets have not been recagrised on the following temporary differences due to the degree of uncertainty over both the
amount and utilisation of the underlying tax losses and deductions in certain jurisdictions £1.7m will expire between 2026 and 2028
There is no expiry date associated with the remaining tax losses of £46 5m.

2018 2017

£m £m

Tax losses 48.2 48.0
COther temporary differences 1.1 a4
493 484

Phased reductions in the UK corporation tax rate to 19% effective from 1 April 2017 and 17% from 1 April 2020 were substantively
enacted in the UK Finance (No 2) Act 2015 and UK Finance Act 2016, respectively.

Itis likely that the unremitted eamings of overseas subsidiaries would qualify for the UK dividend exemption such that ne UK tax would be
due upon remitting these earnings to the UK However, £67.5m (2017. £54.7m) of those earnings may stil result in a tax liability, principaily
as a result of the dividend wathhalding taxes levied by the overseas tax jurisdictions in which those subsidiaries cperate. These tax fiabiiities
are not expected to exceed £3.8m (2017- £3 2m), of which only £1.9m (2017: £1 4m} has been provided for as the Group s able to control
the timing of the dwidends. It is not expected that further amounts will crystallise in the foreseeable future

22. Share capital and reserves

2018 2007
Number of Number of
shares shares
millions £m mmulbons £m
Issued and fully paid {ordinary shares of Sp eachy:
At 1 January and 31 December 121.2 6.0 1250 62

No ordinary shares were issued upon exerase under share option schemes during the year (2017 nil).

During the year, 3,825,802 ordinary shares were repurchased and cancelled by the Group (2017. nil} as part of the share buyback
programme announced on 5 Marich 2018, which conduded on 13 August 2018,

At 31 December 2018, the Group held 5,636,153 treasury shares {2017: 5,747,360) Dunng the year, 111,207 (2017 93,153) of these
shares were issued to sausfy options exercised by, and SIP matching shares awarded to, employees which were granted under the Group's
share schemes.

In July 2018, the Group established an employee benefit trust (EBT) to operate the Spectns Share Incentive Pian (SIP) to all eligible

UK-based employees. The EBT holds shares in Spectris plc for the purposes of the SIP, further details of which are disdosed in the Directors
Remuneration Repart. At 31 December 2018, the EBT held 11,353 shares which were purchased from the market during the year. The costs
of funding and administering the plan are charged to the Income Statement in the penod to which they relate

Other reserves

Movements in reserves are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity The retained earmings reserve also includes
own shares purchased by the Company and treated as treasury shares The nature and purpose of other reserves forming part of equity
are as follows:

Translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve 15 used to record exchange differences arising from the transtation of the Financial Statements
of forengn subsidianes, including gains or losses ansing on net investment hedges

Hedging reserve
This reserve records the cumulative net change in the fair value of forward exchange contracts where they are designated as effective
cash flow hedge relationshups.

Merger reserve
This reserve arose on the acquisition of Servomex Limited in 1999, a purchase satisfied substantially by the issue of share capital and
therefore eligible for merger relief under the prowssians of Section 612 of the Companies Act 2C06.

Capital redemption reserve
This resesve records the historical repurchase of the Company's own shares During the year, as a result of the share buyback programme,
the capital redemnption reserve increased by £0.2m, reflecting the nominal value of the cancelled ordinary shares.
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23. Share-based payments

Spectris Performance Share Plan (PSP?)

The PSP 1s used to grant share awards to senior executives and key employees that are settled in either equity or cash. Equity-settled PSP
awards are granted in the form of nominal share options. Some PSP awards granted to UK employees are linked to a grant of market value
share options under the terms of HMRC's tax-advantaged Company Share Cption Plan (‘Linked (tax-advantaged) awards’).

Linked (tax-acvantaged) awards are granted up to an aggregate value of £30,000, which is HMRC’s limit. The Linked (tax-advantaged)
awards have the same performance and vesting conditions as the PSP awards to which they are linked.

When an employee chooses to exercise a PSP award which is linked to a Linked (1ax-advantaged) award, both parts are atso automatically
exercised at the same tirme. Should there be a gain on exercise from the Linked {tax-advantaged) award part, then a proportion of the PSP
award will lapse to ensure that the overall grass value received from the combined exerase of thase awards 15 no more than would have
been delivered from a stand-alone equivalent PSP award. Should there be no gain on exercise from the Linked {tax-advantaged) award part,
then this part 1s forferted and there is no reduction in the remaining PSP award

Both cash and equity-settled PSP awards are expected to vest, subject to their performance condrtions, after three years. Vested equity-
settled awards must be exercised within the next seven years, whereas vested cash-settled awards are paid out on or shortly after the vesting
date. From 2017 onwards, all PSP awards granted to Executive Directors are subject 1o an additional two-year holding penod. These PSP
awards vest after five years {three-year performance penod plus two-year holding period) and equity-settled awards must be exercised
within the next five years.

Subject to the PSP awards vesting, participants receive additional dvidend shares on the vested shares under the PSP award For PSP awards
granted In or after 2014, the diwdend shares are of equivalent value to the Company's dividends paid between the date of grant and the
vesting date For PSP awards granted before 2014, dwidend shares were of equivalent vatue to Company's dmdends paid between the date
of grant and the date of exercise.

PSP perforrance conditions

Qutstanding PSP awards granted to Executve Directors are subject 1o the following performance condibons: one-third subject 1o an
adjusted earnings per share growth target ('EPS’}; one-third subject to an economic profit ('EP") target; and one-third subject to a Total
Shareholder Return target ('TSRY).

PSP awards granted to other members of the Executwe Commitiee were subject to the same performance conditions up to 2016 For 2017
onwards, PSP awards to the Executive Committee are subject to the following performance conditions: one-thurd subject to the same EPS
target; one-third subject to the same EP 1arget, and one-third solely subject to continuous employment over the three-year vesting penod

PSP awards granted to other senior head office managers were, until 2016, 50% subject 1o EPS and 50% subjeCt to TSR From 2017
onwards, sentor head office management have two-thirds of their PSP awards subject to EPS and the remaining one-third solely subject to
continucus employment over the three-year vesting period.

PSP awards granted to executives and senior managers of the Group's operating companies in 2008 and 2009 were subject to an operating
company profit target {50%) and EPS (50%). PSP awards granted between 2010 and 2016 had two-thirds subject to an operating company
profit target and ore-third subject 1o EPS. For 2017 onwards, the perfarmance conditions have been two-thitds operating company profit
targets and one-third continuous employment over the three-year vesting period

Normally, PSP awards granted 1o partcipants who leave employment pror to vesting will be forfeited In the event a participant leaves due
10 a qualifying reason, they recenve a time pro-rated entitlement

Restricted Shares Plan ('RSP)

RSP is used to grant cash-settled share awards to selected key employees within the Spectns Group. RSP awards, which have been granted
from 2014 onwards, are subject to the same rules as the PSP but give flexibility as to whether any performance conditions apply. RSP awards
cannot be granted to an Executive Director of Spectns plc.

Spectris Savings Related Share Option Scheme {'SAYE’)

The SAYE 15 a UK tax-advantaged all erployee share option scheme. UK emplayees cauld choose to save up to £500 per month over three
years and then can use their savings to exercise options to purchase ordinary shares in the Company durning a six-month window following
the SAYE maturity date.

The exercise pnce of the SAYE options, which have no perfarmance conditions attached to them, is set as the mid-market closing share
price on the day before the SAYE inwitation date. No SAYE invitation has been made since September 2016,

Spectris Share Incentive Plan ('SIP’)

The SIP, a UK tax-advantaged share matching plan, was launched after it was approved by shareholders at the May 2018 AGM. UK
employees can invest up to £150 per month to buy ordinary shares in the Company (‘Partnership shares’) tax efficently and for every five
Partnership shares purchased, the Company will gift one free ordinary share ('Matching share’) Matching shares need to be held in the SIP
Trust for at least three years otherwise these shares are potentially subject to forfeiture. The Company incurs a charge on any Matching
shares awarded under the SIP although the charge in 2018 was less than £0.1m
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NOTES 7O THE ACCOUNTS continued

23, Share-based payments continued
The number of outstanding share incentives are summarised below

Nuri?:‘ee Nurzn.ge?r
Incentive plan thousands thousands
Equity-settied:
Performance Share Plan 1,615 1,576
Performance Share Plan (Linked tax-advantaged) 113 97
SAYE 45 86
Total equity-settled 1,773 1,758
Cash-settled. Performance Share Plan (Phantom allocations} and Restricted Share Plan 374 370
Total cutstanding 2,147 2,129
Share aptions autstanding at the end of the year {(equity-settled)
2018 07
Weighted Weighted
Remanni average average
Performance Share Plan cantractual hfe Number exercise price Number  exercise price
Year of grant of eptions thousands £ thousands £
2008 - - - 1 0.04
2009 1 year 13 0.04 20 0.04
2010 2 years 27 0.04 33 004
2011 3 years EL 0.04 42 0.04
2012 4 years 2 0.04 3 Q.04
2013 5 years 2 0.04 2 aQs
2014 6 years 2 0.05 3 605
2015 7 years 16 0.08 421 005
2016 8 years 531 0.05 569 0.05
2017 9 years 441 0.05 482 .05
2018 10 years 550 0.05 - -
1,615 0.05 1,576 005
The weighted average remaining contractual life of the PSP awards 1s B.68 years (2017 8,67 years)
2018 2017
Weighted Weighted
Weighted  average fair Weighted average fair
average value at average  value at grantL
Number exercise price grant date Number  exercse price date
Performance Share Plan {share options) thousands £ £ thousands £ £
At 1 January 1.576 0.05 1,653 0.05
Granted 580 0.05 24.74 493 0.05 25.28
Addition of reinvested dvidends 8 0.00 1 0.00
Exercised (68) 0.05 (66} 0.04
Forferted (481} 0.05 {505) 0.05
At 31 December 1,615 0.05 1,576 0.05
Exercisable at 31 December 94 0.04 103 004

134 Annual Report and Accounts 2018



018 07

Weighted Weighted

Remaywn average average

Performance Share Plan {Linked tax-advantaged) contractyal ife Number exercise price Number  exercise price
Year of grant of oplions thousands £ thousards £
201 3 years 1 11.30 2 11 30
2012 4 years 2 2.3 2 172.21
2013 S years - 24.10 - 2410
2015 7 years 5 2197 34 21.94
2016 8 years 16 17.29 20 1727
2017 S years 36 26.00 39 26.02
2018 10 years 53 26.63 - -
113 24.61 97 2231

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the PSP (Linked tax-advantaged) awards 15 9.11 years {2017: 8.84 years).

2018 m?7
Weighted Weghted
Weighted  average farr Weighted average fair
average value af average  value ar grant
Number exercise pnce grant date Number  exercise price date
Perfarmance $hare Plan (Linked tax-advantaged} thousands £ £ thousands [3 £
AL Y January 97 22.31 86 2044
Granted 57 26.64 395 39 26.02 3.61
Exercised (5) 1911 - -
Forferted {36) 2237 (28) 21.82
At 31 December 113 24.61 97 22.31
Exercisable at 31 December 8 19.83 4 14.65
22018 017
E Ex,
SAYE xe;il's:: remainﬂegcglefg Number Number
Yeaar of grant £ of options thousands thousands
2014 2018 - - ]
2015 17.37 1 year 19 52
2015 19.38 2 years 26 28
45 86
The weighted average remaining contractua! life of the SAYE options is 1 57 years (2017: 2.26 years).
2018 2017
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number exercise price Number  exercise price
SAYE thousands £ thousands 3
At Y January 86 18.22 126 1893
Exercised (36) 17.82 (26} 2061
Forfeited (5) 18.44 (14} 2008
At 31 December a5 18.51 86 1822
Exercisable at 31 December 20 17.38 7 19.93
Share options outstanding at the end of the year (cash-settied)
2018 2017
Performance Share Plan {Phantom allocations) and Remaning W:ﬂ%p:“: W::g':;eg
Restricted Shares Plan contractual life Number exercse price Number  exercise price
Year of grant of opticns thousands £ thousands £
205 - -~ - 89 0.05
2016 1 year 133 0.05 162 0405
207 2 years 109 0.05 119 00s
2018 3 years 132 0.05 — -
374 0.05 370 0.05

The weighted average remaining contractuat ife of the PSP/RSP awards 15 2 00 years (2017 2.08 years)
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

23, Share-based payments continued

2018 2017

Weighted Weighted

average fair average far

value at value at grant

Performance Share Plan (Phantom allocations) and Number Exercise price grant date Number  Exerase price date

Restricted Shares Plan thousands £ £ thousands £ £
At 1 january 370 0.05 347 0.05

Granted 140 0.05 26.45 124 0.05 26.10
Additon of reinvested divdends 4 0.00 4 000
Exercised (61) 0.05 (53} Q.05
Forfeited (79) 0.05 (52) 0.05
At 31 December 374 0.05 370 0.05

Exercisable at 31 December - - - -

Share-based payment expense

Share options are valued using the stochastic option pricing model {also known as the Monte Carlo model) in respect of TSR, and the Black-
Scholes model for all other options, with support frem an independent remuneration consultant. The TSR performance condition was
induded in the calculation of fair value under the PSP. For options granted in 2017 and 2018, the fair value of options granted, and the
assumptions used in the calculation, are as follows:

Equity-settled Cash-settled
Performance Share Plan (Pmmmﬁf@m:g
Performance Share Plan {Linked tax-advantaged) Shares Plan
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Woeighted average share price at date of grant {£) 26.81 2624 2685 26.05 26.50 26.25
Weighted average exerase price (£) 0.05 0.05 26.64 2605 0.05 0.05
Expected volatility 24.66% 25 59% 24.65% 25.55% 24.73% 25.59%
Expected Iife (years} 307 300 3.04 300 3.00 3.00
Risk-free rate 0.86% 0.08% 0.86% 0.10% 0.84% 0.09%
Expected dividends (expressed as a yield) - - 2.11% 2.03% - -
Weighted average fair values at date of grant (£):
TSR condition 15.30 14.847 3,73 - ~ -
Profit condition 26.54 25.99 399 372 2698 26.22
EPS condition 26.09 25.72 3.94 378 26.96 26.22
Economic profit condition 26.46 25.29 400 303 - -
Service condihon 26.57 2578 399 355 26.96 26.06
Weighted average fair values at 31 December (£}
TSR conditton {cash-settled) ~ -
Profit condition {cash-settled) 21,50 23.56
EPS condition {cash-settied) 2150 23.56
Senvice condition (cash-settled) 21.46 23.56

The expected volatility is based on historical volatility over the expected term The expected Iife 15 the average expected pericd to exercise
The risk-free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK government bands of a term consistent with the assumed option ife

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised under the PSP in 2018 was £26.11 (2017: £25 Q0).
The weighted average fair value of cash-setiled options outstanding at 31 December 2018 is £21.98 (2017: £24.03) for the EPS condition

The Group recognised a total share-based payment charge of £6.2m (2017: £8.2m)in the Consolidated Income Statement, of which £5.1m
{2017: £5.4m) related to equity-settled share-based payrment transactions.
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24, Acquisitions

Concept Life Sciences

On 26 January 2018, the Group acquired 100% of Concept Life Sciences (Holdings) imited (‘CLS") for a gross consideration of £166.9m
CLS is a UK-based group providing integrated drug discovery, development, analytical testing and environmental consultancy senaces,
mainly in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology, agrochemical and environmental sectors. This acquisition adds to the Group's ¢apabilities in
test services in the Materials Analysis segment The excess of the fair value of consideration paid over the fair vaiue of the net tangible assets
acquired 1s reprasented by the following intangible assets. customer-retated (relabonships), technology and goodwill. Goodwill arising 1s
attributable to the acquired workforce, expected future customer relationships and synergies from cross-selling instruments and services, as
well as the development of novel analytical methods and assays based on the combinatian of technical knowhow from CLS and
instrumentation technology from Malvern Panalytical.

Other acquisitions

The Group completed the acquisition of 100% of Revolutionary Engineering, inc on 3 April 2018 for a gross consideration of £8.7m,
Revolutcnary Engineenng. Inc. i an automotive test system and service pravider based in the USA. This acquisition complements existing
test capabilities of Millbraok and s included in the Test and Measurement segment. The provisional fair value of net assets acquired is
£5.4m, ncluding £3.8m of intangible assets, which generated provisional goodwill of £3.3m. The fair value of the net assets is provisional,
reflacting the uming of the acquisition, and 15 expected to be finalised within 12 months of the acquisition date.

The Group completed the acquisition of 100% of Vi-grade Group on 3Q August 2018 for a gross congideration of £28.3m. VI-grade is a
leading global provider of vehicle ssimulation solutions and services, primanty to automotve customers This acquisiion adds to the Group’s
capabilities in test services in the Test and Measurement segment. The prowssional fair value of net assets acquired is £15 5m, indluding

£15 8m of customer-related and technology intangible assets, wiich generated provisional goodwall of £12 8m The fair value of the net
assets 1s provisional, reflecting the timing of the acquisition, and 15 expected to be finalised within 12 manths of the acquisiton date.

The fair values induded in the table below relate to the acquisition of Concept Life Sciences and other acquisitions during the year. The fair
values in respect of Concept Life Sciences are final The {air values in respect of other acquisitions are provisional, refiecting the timing of the
acquisthions, and are expected to be finalised within 12 months of the acquisiion date.

2018
Concept Life Other Total
Sciences  acquisitions fair value
£Em £m £m
Intangible assets 52.4 196 720
Property. plant and equipment 13.0 25 155
Inventones 7.0 1 8.1
Trade and other receivables 1.3 55 16.8
Cath and cash equivalents 1.5 6.7 8.2
Trade and other payables (14.6) (9.1) (23.7)
Provisions {0.3) {0.5) (0.8}
Deterred 1ax habilives ’ (8.9) {4.9) {13.8)
Net assets acquired 61.4 209 823
Goopdwill 105.5 16.1 1216
Gross consideration 166.9 370 2039
Adjustment for cash acquired (1.5) (6.7) (8.2)
Net consideration 165.4 303 195.7
There are no material contingent liabilities recogrused in accordance with IFRS 3 (Rewsed)
Analysis of cash outflow in Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows fm
Net consideration in respect of 2018 acquisitions 195.7
Deterred and contingent consideration on 2018 acquisitions to be paid in future years {6.0)
Cash pad in 2018 in respect of 2018 acquisitions including deferred consideration in the year 189.7
Acquisitions prior 1o 2018
Cash paid in 2018 in respect of prior years’ acquisitions 6.7
Net cash outflow relating to acquisitions 196.4
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

24 Acquisitions continued

In the Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended 31 December 2018, sales of £62 9rn and operating profit of £1.5m have been
included for all acquisitions in the year Group revenue and operating profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 would have been
£1,619 2m and £177 3m, respectively, had each of these acquisitions taken place on the fust day of the financial year

Where appropiiate, a detailed exercise has been undertaken to assess the fair value of assets acguired and liabilities assumed, supported
by the use of third-party experts. The valuation of the above intangible and tangible assets requires the use of assumptions and estimates,
Intangible asset assumpticns consist of future growth rates, expected inflation and attrition rates, discount rates used and useful
economic lives.

The fair value of contingent consideration on the 2018 acquisitons amounts to £6.0m.

The contingent consideration payable an financial milestones on 2018 acquisitions could range from £nif to £6.7m, dependent on
incremental future revenues, and the total contingent consideration 1s sensitive to risk-adjusted discount rates. Deferred and contingent
consderation included in 2018 purchase consideration is not knked to future employment

Due to therr contractual due dates, the fair value of receivables approximates 1o the gross contractual amounts receivable The amount
of gross contractual receivables not expected to be recovered is immatenal There are no material contingent habilities recogrised in
accordance with IFRS 3 (Revised)

The following tables represent the fair values relating to the 2017 acquisiitons.

2017
far Jac:ll.tael
£m
Intangible assets 159
Property, plant and equiprment 3
Inventories 0.1
Trade and other receivables 1.9
Cash and cash equivalents 08
Trade and other payables (1.8)
Deferred tax liabilities (0.3)
Net assets acquired 19.7
Goadwall 168
Bargain purchase on acquisition {19}
Total consideration in respect of 2017 acquisitions 346
Total consideration 346
Adjustment for cash acquired {0.8)
Total consideration in respect of 2017 acquisiions 338
Analysis of cash outflow in Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Totai consideration in respect of 2017 acquisitions 346
Adjustment far net cash acquired on 2017 acquisitions {0.8)
Deferred and contingent consideration on 2017 acquisitions to be paid n future years (1 4)
Cash paid in 2017 in respect of 2017 acquisitions 324
Acquisitians prior to 2017
Cash paid in 2017 1n respect of prior years' acquisitions 41
Net cash outfiow relating to acquisitions 6.5
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25. Disposal of businesses

a) Profit on disposal of businesses
2018
EMS Bryel & Kjzer

The Group completed the disposal of 100% of its environmental monitoring business, EMS Britel & Kjzer (EMS B&K") on 31 May 2018 into
a joint venture with Macquarie Capital in exchange for ¢ash consideration of £45.1m and a 45% interest in the joint venture, This generated
a profit on disposal of £56.3m which included £44.4m ansing as a result of measunng 1o tair value the Group's retained 45% nterest in the
EMS B&K business, transaction expenses of £6.5m and a contingent deferred payment to Macquarie Capital estimated at £2.9m which is

dependent upon the delivery of certain objectives,

2018
Em
Goodwill and other intangible assets 234
Property, plant and equipment 14
Net deferred and current tax assets 0.5
Inventory 1.7
Trade and other receivables 6.1
Cash and cash equivalents 02
Trade and other payahles (4.4)
Net assets disposed 289
Consideration raceived, satisfied in cash 451
Consideration received, satisfied in equity in the joint venture 6.0
Consideration received, satisfied in other recewables from the joint venture 384
Contingent deferred payment (2.9}
Transaction costs (6.5)
Net proceeds from disposal of business 80.1
Net assets disposed of {28.9)
Currency translation differences transferred from translation reserve 5.1
Profit on disposal of business 56 3
The sale of EMS B&K did not meet the defimition of a discontinued operation given in IFRS 5 'Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations' and, therefore, no disclosures in relation te discontinued operations were made,
The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows indudes £41.8m of net proceeds from the sale of EMS B2, which consists of £45.1m
of consideration received in cash less £2 5m of transaction fees paid, £0.6m of tax paid on disposal and £0.2m of cash and cash
equivalents disposed.
Microscan
Durning 2018, £2 Om was received in respect of deferred consideration for the disposal of Microscan.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

25. Disposal of businesses continued
2017
Microscan

The profit on disposal of business wholly relates to the disposal of 100% of Microscan on 2 October 2017. which resulted in a profit on
disposal of £100.5m.

2017
£
Goodwill and other intangible assets 55
Property, plant and equiprent 08
Deferred tax assets 20
Inventory 5.9
Trade and other recewables 7.0
Cash and cash equivalents 04
Trade and other payables . (4 0)
Provisions {0 1)
Net assats disposed 17.5
Consideration received, satisfied in cash 1146
Cash disposed of {0.4)
Transaction expenses {3.3)
Net proceeds from disposal of business 1109
Contingent consideration 23
Cash disposad of . 04
Net assets disposed of (17 5)
Currency translation differences transferred from translation reserve 44
Profit on disposal of business 1005

The sale of Microscan did not meet the definition of a discontinued operation given in IFRS 5 "Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations’ and, therefote, no disdosures n relation to discontinued operations were made.

b) Assets and liabilities held for sale
Assets classified as held for sale at 31 December 2018 include freehold property, which was sold in January 2019,

The assets and liabilities classified as held for sale at 31 December 2017 were comprised of the assets and liabilities of the EMS Briel & Kjaer
business, which was sold on 31 May 2018
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26. Cash generated from operations

2018 2017
Note £m fm
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit after tax 185.2 2348
Adjustments for.
Taxation charge 8 328 436
Profit on disposal of businesses (56.3) {100.5)
Share of post-tax results of joint venture 1.2 -
Finance costs 7 16.0 6.4
Financial income 7 (2.5) (19)
Depreaation 12 303 256
Amortsation and impairment of intangrble assets " 49.1 475
Bargain purchase on acquisition 5 - ne
Acquisition-related fair value adjustments 4.8 3.00
{Profitloss an disposal of property, plant and equipment and software 5 {1.9) 0.1
Equity-settled share-based payrent transactons 6 5.1 54
Operating cash flow before changes in working capital and provisicns 263.8 256.1
Increase in trade and other receivables (30.49) (34 3)
Increase in inventories (17.9) (0.6)
(Cecreaselincrease in trade and other payables (3.6) 17.5
Increasef{decrease) in provisions and retirement benefits 3.4 {1.1}
Cash generated from operations 215.8 2376
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

27. Financial risk management

The Group's multinational operations and debt financing expase it to a variety of financial nsks In the course of its business, the Group
15 exposed to foreign currency nisk, interest rate risk, liquidity nsk and credit risk Finanaal nisk management 1s an integral part of the way
the Group is managed Financial sk management policies are set by the Board of Directors. These policies are iImplemented by a central
treasury department that has formal procedures to manage foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and hiquidity risk, including, where
appropriate, the use of derivative financial instruments The Group has clearly defined authority and approval hmits The central treasury
department operates as a service centre 1o the Group and not as a profit centre

In accordance with 1ts treasury policy, the Group does not hold or use dervative francial instruments for trading or speculative purposes
Stach instruments are only used to manage the nsks arising from operating or financial assets or habfities, or highly probable future
transactions The quantitatwe analysis of financial risk is included in Note 28,

Foreign currency risk

Foraign currency risk anses both where sale or purchase transactions are undertaken in currencies other than the respective functional
cyrrencies of Group companies (transactional exposures) and where the results of overseas companies are consolidated into the Group's
reporting currency of Sterling (translational exposures). The Group has operations around the world which record thew results in a variety

of different local functional currencies In countries where the Group does not have operations, it invarably has some customers or suppliers
that transact in a foreign currency. The Group is therefore exposed 10 the changes in foreign currency exchange rates between a number
of different curencies but the Group's primary exposures relate to the US Dollar, Euro, Damsh Krone, Swiss Franc and Japanese Yen.
Where appropnate, the Group manages s foreign currency exposures using derivative financial instruments

The Group's translational expasures to foreign currency fisks can relate both to the Consolidated Income Statement and net assets of
Overseas subsidiaries. The Group’s policy is not to hedge the translational exposure that arises on consolidation of the Consolidated income
Staterment of overseas subsicharies. The Group finances overseas cormnpany investments partly through the use of foreign currency
barrowings in order to provide a natural hedge of foreign currency risk arising on transiation of the Group's foreign currency subsidiaries
The quantitative analysis of foreign currency nsk 1s included 1in Note 28.

The Group manages its transactional exposures 1o foreign cumency risks through the use of forward exchange contracts. Forward exchange
contracts are usad to hedge highty probable ransactions which can be forecast to occur typically up to 18 months into the future. For the
hedges of highly prabable forecast sales and purchases, as the critical terms {1e. the notional amount, life and the underlying) of the forward
exchange contracts and thewr cofresponding hedged items are the same, the Group performs a qualitative assessment of effectiveness and it
is expected that the value of the forward contracts and the value of the corresponding hedged items will systematically change 1 opposite
directions in response to movermients in the underlying exchange rates.

The main potential source of hedge ineffectiveness in these hedging relationships is the effect of the counterparty and the Group's own
credit risk on the fair value of the forward contracts, which is not reflected in the fair value of the hedged item attnbutable 1o changes in
foreign exchange rates No other sources of ineffectiveress emerged from these hedging relationships.

The following tables detail the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding at the end of the reporting penod, as well as information
ragarding their related hedged items. Foreign currency forward contract assets and liabilities are presented in the line 'Denvative financial
instruments' {either as assets or liabilities) wathin the Consolidated Statement of Financal Position,

Hedging instruments — outstanding contracts

Change in fair value for Carrying amount of

recagnising hedge ineffectiveness the hedging instruments

Cash flow hedges 2018 2017 2018 2017
Currency risk - forward exchange contracts £m £m £m Em
Less than 6 months {1.0) 0.8 (1.0} og
€ to 12 months (6.7} 0.1 {0.7) 0.1
12 to 18 months (0.1} - (0.1 -
{1.8) 09 (1.8} 09

Hedging instruments - hedged items
Balance in cash flow hedge
reserve / foregn currency

Change n value used for translation reserve for

calculating hedge effectiveness conunuing hedges

2008 2017 2018 2017

Currency risk . £m £fm £m £m
Forecast sales 1.8 (09) {(38) {18)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate nisk comprises both the interest rate price nisk that results from borrowing at fixed rates of interest and also the interest cash
flow nisk that results from borrowing at varable rates Where appropriate, interest rate swaps are used to manage the Group's interest
rate profile.
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its finandial obligations as they falt due. The Group’s approach

to managing this risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet s habilities when due, under both
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation The Group manages
thus nsk through the use of regulanly updated cash flow and covenant complhance forecasts and a liquidity headroom analysis which is used
to determine funding requirements. Adequate committed lines of funding are maintained from high-quality investment grade lenders

The fadilities committed to the Group as at 31 December 2018 are set out in Note 17

Credit risk

Credit risk anses because a counterparty may fail to perform its obligations. The Group 5 exposed to credit risk on finandal assets such as
cash balances, denvatve financal instruments and trade and other recevables

The Group’s credit risk 1s primarily attnbutabte 0 its trade recevables The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Staternent of Financial
Position are net of appropnate allowances for doubtful recevables, estimated by the Group®s management based on whether receivables
are past due based on contractual terms, payment history and other available evidence of collectability, Trade recewables are subject to
credit limits and control and approval procedures in the operating companies Due to its large geographical base and number of customers,
the Group is nat exposed to material concentrations of credit nsk on its trade receivables The guantitative analysis of credit nsk relating to
receivables is included in Note 15

Credit nsk associated with cash balances and derivative finandial instrumenits s managed centrally by transacting with existing relationship

banks with strong investment grade ratings. Accordingly, the Group's associated credit risk is imited. The Group has no significant
concentration of aredit nsk.

The Group’'s maximum exposure to credit nsk 15 represented by the carrying amount of each finanaial asset, including denvative financiat
instruments, as shown in Note 28.
Capital management

The Board considers equity shareholders’ funds, together with committed debt faclities, as capital for the purposes of funding the Group's
operations Total managed capital at 31 Decernber is'

Equity shareholders' funds 12329 1,204.1
Committed debt facilives 814.4 593.7
2,047.3 1,797.8

"Ordinary shares are dassified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributabie to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

The Board's policy is to matntain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditar and market confidence and 1o sustain the future
development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors both the geographic spread of shareholders and the level of dividends to
ordinary shareholders,

The Board encourages employees to hold shares in the Company This is carried out through the Spectns Share incentive PMan in the UX,

as well as Performance and Restricted Share Plans. Full details of these schernes are given in Note 23

The main financial covenants in the Company’s debt facihties are the ratio of net debt to adjusted eamings before interest, tax, depreciation
angd amortisation, and the ratio of finance charges 1o adjusted earmings before interest, tax, amortsation and impairment. Covenant testing
is completed twice a year based on the half-year and year-end Fmancial Statements. At 31 December 2018, the Company had, and 1s
expected to continue to have, significant headroom under these financial covenant ratios.

From time to time the Group purchases its own shares in the market; the timing of these purchases depends on market prices. Buy and sell
decisions are made on a speaific transaction basis by the Board.

During the year, 3,825,802 ordinary shares were repurchased and cancelled by the Group as part of the share buyback programme
announced on 5 March 2018 (2017: ril). There were no other changes to the Group's approach to capital management during the year.

Neither the Campany nor any of its subsidianes 1s subject to extemally imposed capital requirements.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

28. Financial instruments

The following tables show the farr value measurement of financial instruments by level foliowang the fair value hierarchy:
» Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included wathin level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i e as pnices)

or indwectly (e derived from prices); and

» Level 3. inputs for assets and liabilities denved from valuation techmiques that include inputs for the asset or liabdity that are not based

on cbservable market data.

2018

Level 2 Level 3 Carrying

fair value fair value amount

Fair value and carrying amount of financial instruments fm £m £m

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments and contract assets - - 345.1
Trade and other payables excluding contract habilines and customer advances - (18.8) (266.7)
Qther recewvable — joint venture - - 389
Forward exchange contract assets 04 - 0.4

Cash and cash equivalents 731 - 731
Floating rate borrowings (including bank overdrafts) (181.4) - (181.4)
Fixed rate borrowings (195.0) - {188.8)
forward exchange contract iabilities {2.2) - 2.2)
{181.6)

mz

Level 2 tevel 3 Carryng

fair value fair value arngunt

Far value and carrying amount of financial instruments £m Em £m

Trade and other receivebles excluding prepayments and accrued income - - 318.3
Trade and ather payables excluding deferred incorme - {111 (2220)

Forward exchange contracts 14 - 14

Cash and cash equivalents 128.0 - 138.0
Floating rate borrowings (including bank overdrafts) (1.3) - (13}
Fixed rate borrowings {193.3) - {187.2)
Forward exchange contracts 0.5 - {0.5)

467

There were no movements between the different levels of the faw value twerarchy in the year

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents inciuding held for sale, receivables and payables approximates 16 the carrying amount because

of the short maturity of these instruments.

The fair valye of floating rate borrowings approximates to the carrying amount because interest rates are at floating rates where payments

are reset to market rates at intervals of less than one year.

The fair vatue of fixed rate borrowings 1s estimated by discounting the future contracted cash flow, using appropnate yield curves, to the net

present values.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using discounted cash flow techniques based on readily available market data.
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The farr value of forward exchange contracts outstanding as at 31 December 2018 is a net liability of £1.8m (2017: net asset of £0.9m), of
which £1.6m has been charged to the hedging reserve (2017: £0.7m credited) and £0.2m charged to the Consolidated Income Statement
(2017 £0.2m credited) These contracts mature over periods typically not exceeding 18 months. A summary of the movements in the
hedging reserve dunng the year 15 presented below All of the cash fiow hedges in 2018 and 2017 were deemed to be effective.

2018 2017
Analysis of movements in hedging reserve net of tax £m £m
At 1 January {2.0) {5.3)
Ampunts removed from the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and included in the Consolidated
Income Staternent dunng the year 1.4 1.1
Amounts recogrised in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity dunng the year (3.3) 2.2
(3.9) (2.0

ft_?ﬂ December

The amount included in the Consolidated Income Statement is split between revenue and administrative expenses depending on the nature

of the hedged item

2018 2017
Reconciliation of level 3 fair value for deferred and contingent consideration payable on acquisitions and disposals £m £fm
At 1 January aLh {16.2)
Deferred and contingent consideration arising from acquisitions payable in future years (6.0} (1.4)
Deterred and contingent consideration payable ansing from disposals (5.0 -
Deferred and contingent conskleration pard in the currert year relating 10 previous years' acquisttions 8.7 4.1
Costs charged to the Consolidated Income Statement:
Subsequent adjustments (4.8} 30
Unwanding of discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration (0.6} {07
Foreign exchange difference - 0.1
At 31 December {18.8} {11.1)

The fair value of deferred and contingent consideration is determined by considering the performance expectations of the acquired entity
of the Iikelhood of non-finanaal integration milestones whilst applying the entity-specific discount rates. The unobservable mputs are the
projected forecast measures that are assessed on an annual basis. Changes in the fair value of deferred and contingent constderation
relating to updated projected forecast performance measures are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement in the period that the

change occurs.

Deferred and contingent consideration relates to finandial (2018: £7.1m, 2017: £4.6m) and non-financial (2018: £11.7m, 2017: £6 5m)
milestones on current and prior year acqusitions and disposals, as disclosed in Note 24 and Note 25. The financial milestones are mamnly
sensitive to risk-adjusted discount rates and annual future revenue targets

The following table shows the total outstanding contractual forward exchange contracts hedgng designated transactional exposures split
by currencies which have been sold back into the functional currency of the undertying business. These contracts typically mature 1n the next
18 months and, therefore, the cash flows and resulting effect on the Consolidated income Statement are expected to occur within tis

time period,
Forward exchange contracts at 31 December 2018 207
Foreign currency sale amount {(£m) 1546 1546
Percentage of total:
US Doltar 31% 44%
Euro 26% 23%
Japanese Yen 21% 19%
Et_hf" 22% 14%
A maturity profile of the grass cash flows related to financial kabilities is:
2018 M7
Bank loans Bank loans
and Unsecured a Unsecured
overdrafis lcans Total averdrafts loans Total
Maturity of frnancial liabilities £m £m Em £m £m im
Due wathun one year 58 PER 289 t.3 33 46
Due between one and two years ~ 90.2 90.2 - 33 33
Due between two and five years - 267.5 267.5 - 193.0 193.0
5.8 3808 386.6 13 199 6 2008
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

28. Financial instruments continued
Trade and other payables (Note 18) are substantially due within one year.

It is not expected that the cash flows described above could occur significantly earlier or at substantially different amounts

Financial assers

Financial liabilities

Nan-

2018
net financial

Fixed floating interest Fixed Floating
Interest rate exposure of financial rate rate bearing Tatal rate rate Total assets/
assers and liabilities by currency £m £m £m £m £m £m £m {labilities)
Sterling 0.1 1.0 2.9 4.0 - {95.0) {95.0) (91.0}
Eurn 05 1.8 228 251 (188.8) {80.6) (269.4) (244.3)
US Dollar 1.6 1.6 10.6 138 - 0.8) (0.8) 13.0
Other 12 4.6 244 30.2 - {5.0} (5.0 25.2
34 9.0 60.7 731 {188.8} (181.9) (370.2) (297.1)
Financial assets Financial habilities
Non- 2017
Fixed Floating interest Fixed Floating Net financial
Interest rate exposure of financial rate rate bearing Total rate rale Total assets!
assets and habilities by currency £m £m Em £m Em Em £m (labilities)
Sterling 238 - 51 289 - - - 289
Eurg 03 25 10.7 135 (187 2) - (187 2) (173.7)
Us Dollar 46.6 204 79 749 - 0% (0.4) 74,5
Other - 6.2 145 207 — {0.9} (0.9) 19.8
70.7 29.1 38.2 138.0 (187.2) {1.3) (188 5) {50.5}
Sengitivity analysis

The tables below show the Group's sansitivity to foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The US Dollar, Eurc, Danish Krone and Swiss Franc
represent the main foreign exchange translational exposures for the Group. The Group's borrowings are primanly in US Dollars and Eurcs,

2018 7

Decrease/

Decrease in Decrease/ (ncrease}

Decrease in profit (increase) in in profit

equity hefore tax equity before tax

Impact an foreign exchange transiational exposures against Sterling £m fm Em £m

10% weakening in the US Dollar 98.1 6.0 96.8 56

10% weakening in the Eura/Danish Krone 708 6.7 550 58

10% weakening in the Swiss Franc 35 1.5 3.5 1.6
imgact of interest rate movements

1pg increase in interest rates 1.7 1.7 (0.1) (0.1)

29. Contingent liabilities

In the normal course of business, Group companies have prowided bonds and guarantees through local banking arrangements amounting

to £20 3m (2017 £20.0m) Contingent liabilities in respect of taxation are disciosed In Note 8.

30. Operating leases

2018 207

Fotal commitments under non-cancellable Property Other Total Property Other Total
aperating leases expiwing: £m £m Em Em im £m
Within one year 148 55 203 124 48 172
More than one year but less than five years 340 6.2 40.2 263 55 318
Greater than five years 18.4 Q.1 18.5 18.5 - 185
67.2 1.8 79.0 57.2 10.3 67.5

Group companies are party to a number of operating leases for plant and machinery, motor vehicles and property rentals, The

arrangements do not impose any significant restrictions on the Group.

31. Capital commitments

At 31 December 2018, the Group had entered mto contractual commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment and

software amounting to £31 0m (2017 £18.2m) which have not been accrued
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32. Related party transactions

The Group has related party relationships with its subsidianes (a list of all related undertaxings is shown In Note 15 of the Company Financial
Siaternents on pages 158 10 162), with its joint venture {see Note 13} and wath its Executive Directors and members of the Executve
Management Committee.

Transactions with key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel during the year was as follows:

2018 2017

£m £m

Short-term benefits 5.2 6.1
Post-employment benefits 0.6 0.6
Equrty-settied share-based payment expense 1.6 1.8
74 85

In accordance with IAS 24 'Related Party Disclosures’, key management personnel are those having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirecily Key management personinel comprise the Directors and the other
members of the Executve Management Committee.

Further detalls of the Executive Dwectors’ remuneration are included i the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 60 to 78

Transactions with joint venture

2018 7

£m £m

Sales 1.2 -
Income on receivable (see Note 7) (2.0} -
Loan recewvable 0.9 -
Other receivable 389 -
Trade receivables 1.7 -
Trade payables (2.7) -

There were no other related party transactions in either 2018 or 2017.

33. Subsidiary undertakings

The table below lists the Group's pancipal subsidiary underiakings at 31 December 2018 They operate mainly in the countres of
incorporaton  All of the subsidiaries are involved in the manufacture and sale of highly-specialised measuring instruments and controls,
together with the provision of services.

Spectris plc holds 100% of the ordinary share capital of all the subsidianes either directly or indirectly through intermediate holding companies.

Name Country of incorporation
Engineenng Seismology Group Canada Inc. Canada
Briel & Kjaer Sound & Vibration Measurement A/S Denmark
Concept Life Sciences Analytical & Development Senices Limited England & Wales
Concept Life Sciences integrated Discovery & Development Services Limited England & Wales
Malvern Panalytical Lmited England & Wales
Millbrogk Preving Ground Limited England & Wales
Servomex Group Limited England & Wales
Briet & Kjeer Vibro GmbH Germany
Hottinger Baldwin Messtechnik GmbH Germany
Vi-grade GmbH Germany
BTG Eclépens S.A. Switzerland
NDC Technologres lnc. usa
Omega Engineenng inc UsA
Partide Measunng Systerns Inc. LISA
Red Lion Controls inc USA

A full ist of subsichanies is given i Note 15 of the Company Financial Statements on pages 158 to 162

34. Events after the balance sheet date
There were no post balance sheet events.
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SPECTRIS PLC STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note fm £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 4 3.5 22
Property, plant and equipment 5 24 25
Investments in subsidiary undertakings [ 1,070.2 1,068.6
Deferred tax assets 3.9 37
1,080.0 1,077.0
Current assets
Current 1ax assets 16 438
Other receivables (due after more than one year: £417.9m (2017 £334.1m}) 7 785.1 602 9
Derivative financial mstruments 238 31
Cash and cash equivalents 20.7 107.5
812.2 7183
Total assets 1,892.2 1.795.3
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Borrowings 8 {30.3) {15 5)
Cerivative finanaal instruments (2.8} (3.0
Other payables g (521.9} {501 8)
Provisions 10 (1.2) -
(556.2) (520.3}
Net current assets 256.0 198.0
Non-current liabilities
Borrowangs 8 (346.5) (187 2)
Gther payables S (190.6) (146 6)
Retirement benefit obligations - 12 {12.5) (13 4}
(549.6) (347.2)
Total liabilities (1,105.8) (867.5)
Net assets 786.4 927.8
EQUITY
Share capital 1 6.0 6.2
Share premium 231.4 2314
Retained earmings ) 511.3 652.7
Merger reserve 1 31 3.1
Capital redemption reserve 1 05 0.3
Special reserve 1 34 341
Total equity 786.4 927.8

The Company's profit for the year was £18.5m (2017: £23.1m).
The Financial Staternents on pages 148 1o 162 were approved by the Board of Directors on 19 February 2019 and were signed on its behalf

Company Registration No. 2025003
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SPECTRIS PLC STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Caprtal
Share Share Retained Merger redem;ﬁion Special Yotal
capital premium earnings reserve reserve reserve equity
Note Em £m Em £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2018 6.2 2314 652.7 3.1 0.3 34.1 9278
Profit for the year - - 185 - - - 185
Other comprehensive iIncome
Re-measurement of net defined benefit
obligations, net of tax - - 3.0 - - - 30
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 215 - - - 215
Transactions with owners recorded
directly in equity:
Own shares acquired for share buyback
programmge {0.2) - (100.5) - 0.2 - {100.5)
Equity dwidends paid 14 - - (68.2) - - - {68.2)
Capital contribution relating to share-
based payments - - 18 - - - 1.8
Share-based payments, net of tax - - 3.1 - - - 31
Utihsation of treasury shares - - 0.9 - - - 0.9
At 31 December 2018 6.0 231.4 511.3 3.1 05 34.1 786.4
Capital
Share Share Retained Merger  redemption Special Total
capital premium eamings reserve reseive reserve equity
Note £m £m £ £m Em fm £m
ALY January 2017 62 2314 6845 ERl 0.3 34.1 958.6
Profit for the year - - 231 ~ - - 2343
Other comprehensive income:
Re-measurement of net defined benefit
obligations, net of tax - - 23 - - - 2.3
Total comprehensive iIncome for the year - - 25.4 - - - 254
Transactions with owners recorded
directly in equity:
Equity dividends paid 14 - - 632} - - - 63.2)
Capital contribution relating 1o share-
based payments - - 33 - - - 33
Share-based payments, net of tax - - 22 - - - 22
Utilisation of treasury shares - - 0.5 - = - 0.5
At 31 Decemnber 2017 6.2 2314 £52.7 31 a3 341 927.8
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies

The separate Financial Statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006. As permitted by that Act,
the separate Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom:. In
accordance with the exemption provided by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own income
statement or statement of comprehensive income.

a) Basis of preparation

These Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework'

{'FRS 1011, The Company’s shareholders were notified in 2015 of the use of the EU-adopted IFRS disclosure exemptions and there were
no objections to the adoption of FRS 101.

In prepanng these Financial Statements, the Company applies the recogrution, measurement and disclosure requirements of International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the E&J (TFRS"), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with the
Companies Act 2006 and has set cut below where advantage of the FRS 101 disdlosure exemptions has been taken

The Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the following disciosures:

v A Cash Flow Statement and related notes.

» Comparative period recondliations for share caprtal, tangible fixed assets and intangible assets

» Disdosures in respect of transactions with wholly-owned subsidiaries

» Disclosures in respect of capital management.

> The effects of new but not yet effecuve IFRSs. .

» Disclosures in respect of the compensation of key management personnel.

As the Consolidated Financial Statements of Spectns pic {pages 92 to 147) include the equivalent discosures, the Company has also taken
the exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures

v IFRS 2 "Share Based Payments’ in respect of Group-settied share-based payments.

+ Certain disclosures required by IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ and the disclosures required by IFRS 7 “Finanaial Instrument Disclosures”.
The Finandal Statements have been prepared on the historical cast basis, except for the revaluation of financial instruments Historical cost is
generally based on the farr value of the consideranion given in exchange for the assets. The principal accounting poliges are set out below.
As permitted by s408 of the Comparues Act 2006, the Company has elected not to present sts own profit and loss account or staternent of
comprehensive income for the year. The profit attributable to the Company 1s disclosed in the footnote to the Company's balance sheet.

The foliowing accounting polices have been applied consistently in dealing wath items which are considered matenal in relation to the
Financal Statements

Significant accounting judgements and estimates

in determining and applying accounting policies, judgement s often required where the choice of speafic policy, assumption or accounting
estimate to be followed could matenally affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, should it later be
detarmined that a different choice be more appropriate Estmates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based

on histotical expenience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the crcumstances.

In the course of prepanng these Financial Statements In accordance with the Group's accounting pokicies, ne judgements that have

a significant effect on the amounts recognised n the Financial Statements have been made, other than those involving estimation.
Management considers the followng to be areas of estimation for the Company due to greater complexity and/or are partrcularly subject
to uncertainty,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Retiremant benefit plans

Accounting for retirement benefit plans under IAS 19 {revised) requires an assessment of the future benefits payable in accordance with
actuarial assumptions. The discount rate and rate of retall price inflation ('RPY") assumptions applied in the calculation of plan liabilittes, which
are set out in Note 20 to the Group Consolidated Financial Statements, represent a key source of estimation uncertainty for the Company
Details of the accounting policies applied in respect of retirement benefit plans are set out on page 152
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b) Summary of significant accounting policies

intangible assets
Intangible assets purchased by the Company are capitalised at their cost.

intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic Iife and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indrcation
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The estimated useful economic ves are as follows:

» Software - 3 to 5 years.

SJUAWBYEYS [edURUN

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost comprises the purchase
price paid ahd any costs directly attributable to bringing it into working condition for its intended use.

Depreciatton 15 recognised in the Income Statement on a straight-line basis to wite off the cost, iess the estimated residual value (which is
reviewed annually), of property, plant and equipment over its estimated useful economic life, Depreciation commences on the date the
assets are available for use within the business and the asset carrying values are reviewed for impairment when there is an indication that
they may be impaired. Land is not depreciated. Estimated useful fives are as follows:

» Freehold property ~ 25 years.
» Office equipment — 3 1o 5 years.

nvestments ]
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at historical cost, less provision for any impairment in value.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other recevables are carried at ariginal invorce amount (which 1s considered a reasonable proxy for fair value) and are
subsequently held at amortised cost less provision for mparment. The prowsion for impaimment of recevables is based on lifetime expected
credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses are calculated by assessing historic credit loss expenence, adjusted for factors specific to the
receivable and operating company

Cash and cash equivalents
This comprises cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits held on call or with maturiues of less than three months at inception

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised at the amounts expected to be pard 1o counterpartes and subsequently held at amortised cost

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the Company has a present legal or constructive oblipation as a result
of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources, that can be reliably measured, will be required to settle the obligation. In
respect of warranties, a provision is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. Prowsions are recognised at an amount
equal to the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Company’s liability. A contingent liability 1s disdlosed where the exstence
of the obfigation will anly be confirmed by future events or wheve the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with reasonable
reliability. Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefit is probable. Obligations arising from
restructuring plans are recognised when detailed format plans have been established and when there 1s a valid expectation that such a plan
will be carmed out.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises both current and deferred tax Tax 15 recognised in the income Statement except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 1n which case tax is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive income or the Statement of Changes in Equity, respeciively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the Statement

of Financial Position date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of prior years. Tax positions are reviewed to assess whether a
provision should be made based on prevailing drcumstances Tax provisions are included within current taxation liabilities.

Deferred taxation is provided on taxable temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the Financial
Staternents and their corresponding tax bases. Deferred tax 1s measured using the tax rates expected to apply when the asset is realised or
the liability settled based on 1ax rates enacted or substantvely enacted at the Siatement of Financial Position date

A deferred tax asset 1s recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilised or that they will reverse Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no lenger probable that the related tax benefit will
be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets agawnst current tax habilbies and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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NOTES TQ THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS continued

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies continued

Fareign currency translation

The functional currency of the Company is Sterling and s determined wath reference to the currency of the pnmary economic environment
in which it operates. Transacbons in currencies other than the funcional currency are initially recorded at the functional currency rate ruling
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currendies are retransiated at the rate of axchange
ruling at the balance sheet date Exchange gains and losses on settlement of foreign currency transactions are translated at the rate
prevailing at the date of the transactions, or the translation of monetary assets and labilities at period end exchange rates, and are
charged/credited to the Income Statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currendies that are stated at histoncal
cost are transtated to the funcional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction

Financial instruments

Recognition

The Company recagrises financial assets and hiabflities on its Statement of Financial Position when it becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the Balance Sheet when there 1s a legally enforceable right to set
oft the recognised amounts and there 15 an mtention 1o settle on 3 net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously

Measurement
when financial assets and liabilites are inttially recognised, they are measured at fair value, being the consideration given or received plus
directly attributable transaction costs.

Originated Ioans and debtors are inmtially recognised in accordance with the policy stated above and subsequently re-measured at amortised
cast using the effective interest method. Allowance for impairment is estimated on a case-by-case basis.

The Company uses derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge nsks associated with foreign
exchange fluctuations These are designated as cash flow hedges At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Company documents
the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its sk management objectives and its strategy for
undertaking various hedge transactions Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Company documents
whether the hedging instrument that 1s used in a hedging relationship 1s highly effective in offsetting changes n cash fiows of the
hedged item.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of denvatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred in equity
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the Income Statement.

Amounts deferred n equity are redassified to the Income Staterent in the periods when the hedged item 15 recognised in the Income
Statement, in the same line of the Income Statement as the recognised hedged tem However, when the forecast transaction that is
hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial fiability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are
transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Company revokes the hedging relaucnship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains
in equity and 15 recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the Income Statement. When a forecast transaction is
no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in the income Statement.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the Company loses control aver the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset. This occurs
when the rights are realised, expire or are surrendered. A financial liability s derecogrused when the obligation specified in the contracts
discharged, cancelled or expires. Onginated loans and debtors are derecogrused on the date they are transferred by the Company.

Impairment of financal assets

The Company assesses at each Statement of Finandial Position reporting date whether there is any objective ewdence that a financial asset,
or group of financial assets, is impaired. A financial asset. or group of financial assets, 1s deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have accurred after the iniial recogntion of the asset (an mcurred
‘loss event’} and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash fiows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estmated.

Employee benefits
The Company operates a defined benefit post-retirement benefit plan and a defined contnbution pension plan

Defined benefit plan

The Company's net obligation recognised in the Balance Sheet in respect of its defined benefit plan is calculated as the present value of the
plan’s habiliies less the fair value of the plan's assets. The operating and finanong costs of defined benefit plan are recognised separately in
the Income Statement. Operating costs comprnse the current sennce cost, plan administrative expense, any gains or losses on settiement or
curtailments, and past service costs where benefits have vested Finance items compnse the unwinding of the discount on the net
asset/deficit Actuanal gains or losses compnsing changes in plan liabilities due to expenence and changes in actuanal assumptions are
recoghised in other comprehensive income,

The amount of any pension fund asset recognised in the Baiance Sheet is imited to any future refunds from the plan or the present value
of reductions in future contributions to the plan

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and
will have no legat or constructive obhigation to pay further amounts Obligations for contnbutions to defined cantribution pension plans are
recognised in the income Statement in the penods dunng which services are rendered by employees.
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Short-term benefits

Short-term emplayee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related sernce is provided. A fiablity
1s recognised for the amount expected to be pad under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation 1o pay this amount as a result of past senace prowded by the employee, and the obligation can be eshimated reliably.

Share-based payments

Centain employees of the Company receve part of their remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services in exchange for shares or nghts over shares {equity-settled transactions). The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees s measured at fair value at the date at which they are granted The fair value of share awards with market-related vesting
conditions is deterrined by an external consultant and the farr value at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period based on the Company's estimate of shares that wili eventually vest. The estimate of the number of awards likely to vest is reviewed
at each Balance Sheet reparting date up to the vesting date, at which paint the estimate is adjusted 10 reflect the actual outcome of awards
which have vested. No adjustment is made to the fair value after the vesting date even if the awards are forfeited or not exercised

Where it 15 not possible to incentivise managers of the Compary with equity-settled options, they are issued with cash-settled options.

The charge for these awards is adjusted to reflect the expected and actual levels of opuons that vest and the farr value is based on either

the share price at date of exercise or the share price at the balance sheet date if sooner

Where the Company grants options over its cwn shares to the employees of its subsidianes, it recogrises an increase in the cost of
mvestment in its subsidiaries equivalent to the equity-settled share-based payment charge recognised in the subsidiary’s Finandial Statemnerits
with the corresponding credit being recognised directly in equity. In cases where a subsidiary is recharged for the share-based payment
expense, no such increase in investment is recogrised which may result in a creditin a particular year.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as 3 hiabllity in the period in which they are approved by shareholders,

Treasury shares

Shares held in traasury are treated as a deduction from equity until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed Where such shares are
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration receved, net of any directly atinbutable incremental costs and related tax effects, is
ncluded in equity attibutable 1o the Company's equity shareholders

2. Auditor’s remuneration
The details regarding the remuneration of the Company's audior are included in Note S to the Group Consclidated Financial Statements
under Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for audhit of the Company’s annual accounts’

3. Employee costs and other information
Average number of employees on a full-time equivalent basis:

2018 2017

Number Nurnber

Administrative 86 67
Employee costs, induchng Directors’ remuneration, are as follows:

2018 2017

£m fm

Wages and salanes 16.6 13.8

Social security costs 26 25

Defined contnbution pension plans 05 04

Equity-settled share-based payment expense 3.2 22

Cash-settled share-based payment expense 0.1 01

23.0 19.0

Directors’ remuneration
Further details of Directors’ remuneration and share aptions are given in Note 6 to the Group Consolidated Financial Statements and in the
Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 60 to 78.

Tax losses

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had capital tax losses of £16 4m (2017: £16.4m). No provision has been made for deferred tax on
the basis that there is insufficient evidence that suitable taxable profits will arise in the future against which the losses may be offser and the
asset recavered.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2017 included £2 4m of restricted cash which was held in escrow refating to the acquisition of
Milloraok in 2016, This was paid during the year
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS continued

4. Intangible assets

Software

Cost £m
At 1 January 2018 5.7
Additions 1.8
At 31 December 2018 7.5
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 35
Charge for the year 0.5
At 31 December 2018 4.0
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 35
At 31 December 2017 2.2
5. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold Office

property equipment Total
Cost m £m m
At 1 January 2018 34 0.8 4.2
Additions - 0.1 0.1
Disposals - 0.1 (0.1}
At 31 December 2018 34 08 4.3
Agcumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 1.0 0.7 1.7
Charge tor the year 0.1 0.1 0.2
Disposals - (0.1) {0.1)
At 31 Decermnber 2018 1.1 0.7 1.8
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 23 0.1 24
At 31 December 2017 24 0.1 25

6. Investments in subsidiary undertakings

Investments in

subsidiary

undertakings

Cost and carrying amount £m
At 1 January 2018 1,068.6
Movements relating to share options granted to subsidiary employees 1.6
At 31 December 2018 1,070.2

Details of the Company's subsidiaries are given in Note 15
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7. Other receivables

2018 2017

Current £m £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 59 6.5
Loans owed by Group undertakings 357.4 2551
Loans owed by indirectly held joint venture 09 -
Prepayments 2.2 42
Other receivables 0.8 3.0
367.2 268.8

2018 2017

Non-current £m £m
Loans owed by Group undertakings 4158 3337
Prepayments 24 04
417.9 3341

Total other receivables 785.1 602 9

All loans owed by Group undertakings are in relation to interest-bearing intra-group loans which are formalised arrangernents on an arm’s
length basis. Interest is charged at fixed rates between 2% and 10%. Other amounts owed by Group undertakings are non-interest bearing

and repayable on demand.,
8. Borrowings

2018 2017
Current Interest rate Repayable date Em Em
Bank overdrafts on demand 124 155
Bank loans unsecured - £20 Om uncormmitted faality Relevant LIBOR +50bps on dermand 17.9 -
Total current borrowings 303 155

2018 2017
Non-current Interest ratle Matunty date £m £m
Bank loans unsecured - €94.8m Fixed 2.56% 14 Oct 2020 848 841
Bank loans unsecured - €116.2m Fied 1.15% 9 Sept 2022 104.0 1031
Bank loans unsecured - $800.0m revohaing credit faclity Relevant LIBOR +55bps 31 July 2023 157.7 ~
Tatal non-current borrowings 346.5 1872
Total current and non-current barrowings 376.8 202.7
Further details of borrowings are provided in Note 17 to the Group Consolidated Financial Statements
9. Other payabies

2018 2017
Current £fm Em
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 05 o7
Loans awed to Graup undertakings 510.7 4905
Accruals 10.7 106

521.9 5018

2018 2017
Non-current £m Em
Loans owed to Group undertakings 190 6 146 6

All lvans owed 10 Group undertakings are in relation to interest-bearing intra-group loans which are formalised arrangements on an amm’s
length basis Interest is charged at fixed rates between 0% and 10% Other amounts owed to Group undertakings are non-nterest bearing

and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS continued

10. Provisions
Reorganisation
£m

At 1 January 2018 -
Prowsion dunng the year 1.2
At 31 December 2018 1.2

Provisions are all presented as current labilities.

Reorganisation provisions relate to committed restructunng plans in place within the business. Costs are expected to be incurred within one
year and there is little judgement in determining the amount.

11. Share capital and reserves

2018 m7
Number of Number of
shares shares
Aljotted, called-up and fully paid mitlions im reillions £m
Issued and fully paid (ordinary shares of 5p each).
At 1 lanuary and 31 December 121.2 6.0 125.0 6.2

No ordinary shares were issued upon exercise under share option schemes during the year (2017: nil)

Share options have been granted to subscribe for ordinary shares of Spectns plc. Full details of share options cumrently in issue, induding
those issued during the year, together with nformation regarding the basis of czlculation of the share-based payment expense, 1s contained
In Note 23 to the Group Consolidated Finandial Statements.

Duning the year, 3,825,802 ordinary shares were repurchased and cancelled by the Group as part of the share buyback programme
announced on 5 March 2018 (2017 nil)

At 31 December 2018, the Company held 5,636,153 treasury shares (2017 5,747 360) During the year, 111,207 of these shares were
1ssued 10 sausfy options exerased by, and SIP matching shares awarded to, employees which were granted under the Group's share
schemes (2017 93,153).

in july 2018, Spectris pic established an employee benefit trust {EBT) to operate the Spectns Share Incentive Plan (SIP) to all eligible UK-based
employees The EBT holds shares in Spectris ple for the purpose of the SIP, further details of which are disclased in the Directors
Remuneration Report. At 31 December 2018, the EBT held 11,353 shares which were purchased from the market dunng the year. The costs
af funding and administenng the plan are charged ta the incomne statement in the period to wiwch they relate,

Other reserves
Movernents in reserves are set out in the Staternent of Changes in Equity. The retained eamings reserve also includes awn shares purchased

by the Company and treated as treasury shares. The nature and purpose of other reserves forming part of equity are as follows

Merger reserve
This reserve arase on the acquisition of Servomex Limited in 1999, a purchase sausfied substantially by the issue of share capital and
therefore eligible for merger relief under the provisions of Sectron 612 of the Companies Act 2006.

Capital redemption reserve
This reserve records the historical repurchase of the Company’s own shares. During the year, as a result of the share buyback programme,
the capital redemption reserve increased by £0.2 million, reflecing the nominal value of the cancelled ordinary shares

Special reserve
The specral reserve was created histoncally followang the cancellation of an amount of share prermwum for the purpose of wnting off
goodwill, The special reserve is not distributable,

12. Retirement benefit plan

The Company participates in, and is the sponsoring employer of, the UK Greup defined benefit plan The plan prowdes pensions in
retirement, death in service and In some cases disability benefits to members. The pension benefit is linked to members’ final salary at
retirement and their service ife Since 31 December 2009, the UK plan has been closed to new members.

In accordance with 1AS 19 {Revised 2011), there were no Company contributions made to the defined benefit plan dunng the year
(2017: ril).

Further details of the Spectris Pension Plan (UK}, including alt disclosures required under FRS 101, are contained 1n Note 20 to the Group
Consolidated Financiat Statements.
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13. Contingent liabilities
The cross-guaraniee arrangerments to support trade finance facilities are induded in Note 27 of the Group Consolidated
Financial Statements

Where the Company enters into financal guarantee contracts 1o guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within its group, the
Company considers these to be insurance arrangements in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 4 and accounts for them as such,

In this respect, the Company treqts the guarantee contract as a contingent hiability until such time as it becomes probable that the

Compary will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

in the normal course of business, the Company has provided bonds and guarantees through local banking arrangements amounting to

£196m (2017 £19.6m}

14, Dividends

Amaounts recognised and paid as distributions Z(i‘.‘n?n 2n‘iln--"l
Final deadend for the year ended 31 Decernber 2017 of 37.5p {2016 34.0p) per share 445 405
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 20.5p (2017: 19 Op) per share 23.7 227
68.2 63.2
2018 2017
Amounts arising in respect of the year £m £m
Intenm dwvidend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 20.5p (2017: 13.0p} per share 237 22.7
Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 40.5p (2017: 37 5p) per share 46.8 a4.7
705 67.4

The proposed final diwdend is subject 1o approval by shareholders at the AGM on 24 May 2018 and has not been included as a liability in

these Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS continued

15. Group companies

In accordance with Section 409 of the Companies Act 2006, detailed below is a fult list of related undertakings as at 31 December 2018
All entines listed below have therr registered office in ther country of incorporation.

Subsidiaries

All wholly-aowned subsidiaries listed below are owned through intermediate holding companies, unless otherwise indicated,

Shareholdings are held in the class of ordinary shares, unless otherwise indicated.

Country of
Name Registered address incorporation
Agenda 1 Analytical Services Limited One 5t Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Aquila Biomedical Limited Addieshaw Goddard Lip Exchange Tower, 19 Canning Street, Scotland

tdinburgh, EH3 8EH

BK Vibro America Inc 3411 Sitverside Road Tatnall Building #104, wilmington, 19810 USA
Bruel & Kjaer Espafia, S.L Calle Tewde nimero 5, $an Sebastidn de los Reyes, Madnd Spain
Briel & Kjaer France SAS 46 rue du Champoreux, F-91540 Mennecy, Cedex France
Briel & Kjaer GmbH Linzerstrasse 3, Bremen, D-28359 Germany
Brutel & Kjeer italia SRL Viale Milanofiori, Strada 4, Palazzo Q5, I-20089 Rozzano, Milano ftaly
Briel & Kjaer North America Inc. 2985 Gordy Parkway, 1st Floor, Manetta, 30066 USA
Bruel & Kjer Polska Sp z.0.0. ul. Goraszewska 12, PL-02-910 Warszawa Poland
Brue! & Kjaer Sound & vibration Measurement &S Skodsborgve 307, DK-2850, Naerum Denmark
Bruel & Kjeer UK Limited G} larman Way, Royston, Hertfordshire, SGB 5BQ England & Wales
Bruel & Kyaer Vibro AS Skodsborgve) 3078, Naerum, 2850 Denmark
Briiel & Kjaer Vibro GmbH Leydhackerstrasse 10, D-64293, Darmstadt Germany
Bruel & Kjzer VTS mited (i) larman Way, Royston, Hertfordshire, SGB 5BQ England & Wales
BTG Amencas Inc. 2985 Gordy Parkway, 1st Floor, Marietta, 30066 USA
BTG Eclépens S A ZI village, 1312 Eclepens Switzerland
BTG Holding In¢ 3411 Silversige Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, 19810 USA
BTG Instruments AR Box 602, $-66129 Saffle Sweden
BTG Instruments GmbH Argelsreider Feld 10, WeBling, 82234 Germany
BTG P LLC (i} 4650 W. Spencer Street, Appleton, 54914 UsA
BTG Southern Europe Sarl 46 Rue de Champoreux, Mennecy, 31540 France
Bumfield Limited Hentage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 QD England & Wales
Capstone Technology Asia Pte Ltd 51 Godhill Plaza, #15-06, Singapore, 3083900 Singapore
Capstone Technology Corporation West 505 Riverside Avenue #500, Spokane, 99201 USA
CAS Clean-Air-Service AG Reiniuftweq 1, Zurnch, CH-3630 Switzerlang
Concept Life Sciences (Discovery) Limited One 5t Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Concept Life Saences (Environmental Consulting) One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Limited
Concept Life Saences (Holdings) Limited (i) One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Concept Life Saences {Laboratories) Limited One 5t Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Concept Life Scences (Midco) Limied One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Concept Life Saences Analytical & Development One 5t Peter’s Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Services Limited
Concept Ufe Soences integrated Discovery & One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Development Services Limited
Concept Life Sciences Limited One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 30E England & Wales
CXR Biosaences Lrnited 2 jarnes Uindsay Place, Dundee Technopole, Dundee, DD1 53 Scotland
DISCOM Elektronische Systeme und Komponenten  Neustadt 10-12, Gottingen, 37073 Germany

GmbH
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Country of
Name Registered address ncorporation
Engineerning Seismology Group Canada Inc 20 Hyperion Court, Kingston, ON, K7K 7K2 Canada
£SG (Beipng) Seismic Technology Co Ltd Room 1226, Bullding No.1, Yinan, North Efizhuang No 44, China

Beijing, Dongcheng District

ESG USAIne. 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, 19810 USA
HBM Danmark ApS Nydamsve; 19D, 8362 Horrung, Skanderborg Denrnark
HBM FberSensing SA Rua Vasconcelos Costa 277, Moreira, Maia Portugal
HBM France SAS 46 Rue du Champoreux, Mennecy, 91540 France
HBM italia S.R.L. Milano (M1}, Via Pordenone 8, Milan, 20132 Italy
HBM nCode Federal LLC (1)) 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, 19810 USA
HBM Netherlands 8.y Schutweg 15a, Waalwilk, 5145 NP Netherlands
HBM Norge AS Rosenholmveien 25, Trollasen, 1414 Norway
HBM Prenscia Inc. 3260 N Hayden Road #2110, Scottsdale, 85251 usa
HBM Prenscia Pte. Lid 2 Bukst Merah Central, #14-02, Spring Singapore, 159835 Singapore
HBM Prenscia s p. 2.0.0 ul Wronia, nr 45, lok. 200, Warsaw 00-870, Warsaw Paland

HBM United Kingdom Limited

Hotunger Balchwin (Suzhou) Electronic Measurement

Technology Ltd

Hottinger Baldwin Measurements inc.
Hottinger Baldwin Messtechnik AG
Hotunger Baldwin Messtechnik GmbH
Hottinger Baldwin Messtechrik GmbH
Hottinger Baldwin Messtechnik Iberica SL

International Appled Reliability Symposium LLC (1)

LLC Spectris CIS (i)

Malvern Instruments Nordic Oy
Malvern Panalytical B v.
Mahvern Panalytical GmbH
Malvern Panalytical Inc.
Matvern Panalytical Limited

Matvern Panalytical Nordic AB
Malvern Panalytical S AS.

Malvern Panatytical s

Malvern-Asimil Instruments Pvt Lirmited

Millbrook European Holdings Limited
Millbrock Proving Ground Limited
Millorock Revolutionary Engineering GmbH
Millbrock Revolutionary Engineering Inc.
Millbrock Special Vehicles Limited
Millbrook US Inc.

MPG Finland Oy

Technology Centre, Advanced Manufacturing Park, Brunel Way,

Catchffe, Rotherham, South Yorkshire, 560 SWG

106 Henshan Road, Suzhou New District, Suzhou, Jiangsu
Province, 215009

225 Cedar Hill Street #200, Marlborough, 01752

c/o Simon Berger, Alpenblickstrasse 57, Uster, 8610

im Tiefen: See 45, Darmstadt, D-64293

Lemboeckgasse 63/2, A-1230, Wien, Vienna

Plaza de la Encina 10-11, Nucleo 3, 1A, E-28760 Tres Cantos
(Madrid)

3260 N. Hayden Road #2100, Scottsdale, 85251

Building 1, Usacheva Street, Moscow 119048

Kumitehtaankatu, 5 04260, Kerava, Asianajotoimisto OY
Lalyweg 1, 7602EA, Almelo

Rigipsstrasse 19, 71083 Herrenberg

225 Cedar Hill Street #200, Marlborough, 01752

Enigma Business Park, Grovewood Road, Malvern, Worcestershire,

WR14 1XZ

Lokkeasveien 22A, 3138 Skallestad, 0722 Notteroy

22 Avenue Descartes, BP-45, Limeil-Brevannes, Cedex, 94454
Via Cadore 21, Lissona, 20851

Naimex House, A-8, Mohan Co-operative Industrial Estate,
Mathura Road, New Delhi - 110044

Millbrook, Bedford, MK45 2iQ

Millbrook, Bedfard, MKA45 2iQ

Hermann-Kéhl-Strasse 7, 28199 Bremen

28175 Haggerty Road, Now, 48377

Millbrook, Bedford, MKAs 2)Q

3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, 19810
<o Tiksakut Oy, Kauppakatu 12, Kuopio, 70100

England & Wales
China

UsAa
Switzerland
Germany
Austria
Spamn

UsAa

Russian
Federation

Finland
Netherlands
Germany

usAa

England & Wales

Sweden
France
Haly
indiz

England & Wales
England & Wales
Germany

usa

England & Wales
Usa

Finland
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS continued :

15. Group companies continued

Country of
Name Registered address incorporation
Nanosight Limited Emgma Business Park, Grovewood Road, Malvern, Worcestershire,  England & Wales
WR14 1X2Z
NDC Technotogies GmbH Im Tiefen See 45, Darmstadt, D-64293 Germany
NDC Technologes Limited Bates Road, Maldon, Essex, CM3 5FA England & Wales
NDC Technologies S.A. Rue H Goossens 16, B-4431 Londin Belgium
NDC Technologies san 2 Chemin du Moulin 94450 Limeil-Brévannes France
NDC Technologies SR L Corso Cristoforo Colombo, 33 Gallarate (VA), CAP 21013 Ialy
NDC Technalogies Inc 3411 Siiverside Read Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, 19810 USA
Newport Electronics Lirnited One Omega Drive, Northbank, Irlam, Manchesier, Ma4 58D England & Wales
Nable Asbestos Consultancy Limited QOne 5t Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Noble Health & Safety Training Limited QOne 5t Peter's Squara, Manchester, M2 30F England & Wales
Novisim Liruted larman Way, Royston, Hertfordshire, SG8 58Q England & Wales
Omega Engineering GmbH Daimlerstrasse 26, Deckenpfronn, 75392 Germany
Omega Engineenng Lirmited Gv) One Gmega Dnve, Northbank, ifam, Manchester, Mdd 580 England & Wales
Omega Engineering Inc. 3411 Siverside Road Tatnalt Building #104, Wilmungton, 19810 usa
Omega Group Inc. 6 Landmark Square, dth Flocr, Stamford, 06901 USA
Omega Technologies Limited {iv) One Omega Dnive, Riverbend Technology Centre, Northbank, England & Wales
irlam, Manchester, M44 SBD
Omega Inc 310 K Street #200, Anchorage, 99501 USA
PANalyucal (Proprietary) Limited Private Bag 4015, femdale, 2160 South Africa
PANalytical Limeted (i) Jarman Way, Royston, Hertfordshire, SG8 5BQ England & Wales
Particle Measuning Systems Germany GmbH Im Tiefen See 45, Darmstadt, D-64293 Germany
Particle Measuring Systems Limited {1} (v) Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 9QD England & Wales
Particie Measuring Systems S R L. Via di Grotte Portella, Frascati, Rome, 34-00044 [taly
Partide Measuring Systems In¢ 155 E. Boardwalk #4380, Fort Colling, 80525 usa
Peakdale Chemistry Services Limited One St Peter's Sguare, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Peakdale inc 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, 19810 Usa
Peakdale Molecutar Limited One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Pixirad Imaging Countérs Sr.l. Via Cadore 21, Lissone, 20851 Italy
REC Asbestos (South} Limited One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 30€ England & Wales
REC Environmental Monitonng Limited One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Red Lion Controls B.V. Softwareweg 9, 3821 BN Amersfoort Netherlands
Red Lon Controls Inc. 1001 State Street #1400, Erie, 16501 USA
ReliaSoft India Private Limited New No.16, Old No 21, Cenotaph st Street, Alwarpet, Chennat, Inda
600 018
Resource & Environmenital Consultants {Asbestos) One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Limited
Resource & Environmental Consultants Linited One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Revolutionary Engineenng (Shangja) Co Ltd 500 Zhangheng Road, Zhangjiang Hi-Tech Park, Rm407, Bldg 1, China
Shanghai, 201204
SAL Food Limited One 5t Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
SAL Laboratones Limited 69a Killymar Street. Moy, Dungannon, BT71 7EA Northern Ireland
Scientific Analysis Laboratories Limited One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Servomex B V. P O Box 406, 2700 AK, W Dreeslaan 436, 2729 NK Zoetermeer Netherlands
3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Budlding #104, Wilmington, 19810 USA

Servomex Lompany
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Country of

Name Registered address ncorporatian
Servomex GmbH [m Tiefen See 45, Darmstadt, 064293 Germany
Servomex Group Limwted Jarvis Brook, Crowborough, East Sussex, Thé 3F8 England & Wales
Servomex S.A. 23 Rue de Roule, Pans, 75001 France
Spectraseis Canada Inc. 1500, 520 - 3rd Avenue S.W., Calgary, AB, T2P OR3 Canada
Spectraseis In¢. 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Bullding #104, Wilmington, 19810 USA
Spectraseis ISM LLEC (1) 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Building #1084, Wilmington, 19810 UsA
Spectris Austraha Piy Ltd Suite 2, 6-10 Talavera Road, PQ Box 349, North Ryde, New South Australia

Wales 2113
Spectris Canada Inc. 4995 Lewy Street, Montréal, Quebec, HAR 2N9 Canada
Spectris China Lirnted Office A 11/F, Billion Piaza Il, No 10 Cheung Yue Street, Cheung Hong Kong

Sha Wan, Kowioon
Spectns Co., Ltd Tsukasa-machi 8ldg, 2-6 Xanda Tsukasa-machi, Chiyoda-ku, lapan

Tokyo, 101-0048
Spectris Denmark ApS Skodsborgve; 307, Naerum, DK-2850 Denmark
Spectns Do Brasil Instrumentos Eletronicos Lida. Rua Laguna 276, Santo Amaro, CEP 04728-000, Sao Paulo SP Brazail
Spectris Finance Ireland Designated Actwity 12 Merrion Square, Dublin 2 Ireland
Company (i)
Spectns Ainance UK Limited Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 8QD England & Wales
Spectns Funding B.V. Lefyweg 1, 7602£A, Almelo Nethertands
Spectris Germany GrnbH Im Tiefen See 45, Darmstadt, D-64293 Germany
Spectris Group Haldings Limited (1} (v} Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 SQD England & Wales
Spectns Holdings Inc 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, 19810 usAa
Specirs Inc. 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Building #7104, Wilmington, 19810 USA
Spectris Instrumentation and Systems Shanghai Ltd  Bldg 9,No. 88, Lane 2888, HuaNing Road, MingHang District, China

Spectns Korea Lty
Spectris Mexico, 3. De RL. De C.V.

Spectns Netherlands BV,

Spectris Netherlands Cooperatief W.A. {i) (i)
Spectris Pension Trustees Limuted (i)

Spectris Pte Ltd

Spectns Taiwan Limited

Spectns Technologies Prvate Linited

Spectris UK Holdings Limited (i)
Spectris US Holdings Limited
Test World Holding Oy

Test World Oy

The Omanicon Group Inc.
Vi-grade AG

Vi-grade GmbH

WVi-grade inc.

Mi-grade Japan Ltd

Vi-grade Lid

Shanghat, 201108
7th & 8th Fl, 5H Energy Bulding, 16-6 Sunae-Dong, Bundang-Gu, Korea, Republic
Seongnam-City Kyeongg-Oo of

Av, Pedro Ramirez Vazquez No 200-13, Nwel 1, Cob Valle Mexico
Onente, San Pedro Garza Garaa, C.P. 66269

Lelyweg 1, 7602 EA Almelo Netherlands
Lelyweg 1, 7602 EA Aimelo Netherlands
Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 SQD England & Wales
31 Kaki Bukit Road 3, Techlink #04-05/07, 417818 Singapore
13F-1, No. 128, Sec 3, Min Sheng E. Road, Taipe Tamwan
202 Anarkali Complex, Jhandelwalan Extension, Opp Videcon Inclia

Tower, New Delh 110 055

Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 3QD England & Wales

Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 9QD England & Wales
Nellimintie 569, ivalo, 99800 Finland
PL 167, Nellimintie 569, valo, 39801 Finland
15 North Mill Street, Nyack, 10960 USA
Neustrasse 2, 8590 Romanshorn Switzerland
Zum Rosenmorgen 13, 35043 Marburg Germany
A640 Admirality Way, Sth Floor, Bakersfield, CA 93301 usa
3-9-1, Shinjuku, Shinjuku-ku, 160-0022 Tokyo Japan
Brook House, 37 Church Road, Ryton On Dunsmore, England & Wales

Warwickshire, Cv8 3ET
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS continued

15. Group companies continued

Country of
Name Registered address Incorporation
Vigrade sl Via Galileo Galilei 42, 33010 Tavagnacco (Udine) haly
Vi-grade Systerns GmbH Zum Rosenmorgen 1a, 35043 Marburg Germany
\iscotek Europe Limited Hentage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 9QD England & Waies
Zhuhai Omec instruments Co , Ltd Floor 1-3, No 9 R&D Main Building, Keji No 1 Road, Scentfic & China

Technical Innovation Sea Shore, New High Tech Zone, Zuha,
Guangdong Prownce

Notes

(i) wholty owned by Specins plc

(W all LLC, Cooperatiet and other non-equity owned enlibies kisted are wholly owned and controlied by Specins pk direcily or indirectly through intermediate holding
COMmpanies.

(W) share capital consists of orctnary shares and deferred shares.

() share capiat consists of ordinary shares and redeemable shares.

) 1n quidation.

Joint venture

Spectris shares joint contral of the EMS Brisel & Kjeer joint venture with Macquane Capital under a shareholders’ agreement. Voung interests
n Soundwave Holdings Pty Lid {'EMS’) are shared equally between Spectns and Macquarie Capital, and each of Spectris and Macquane
Capital has equal board representation. Spectris and Macquarie Capital each holds 45% of the ordinary share capital of EMS with the
remaining 10% held by third parties The 10% ordinary share capital held by third parties does not have any voting nghts or board
representation, however does entitle the holder to receive dividends or other distributions.

Country of
Name Registered address mncorporation
Soundwave Holdings Pte Lid Levels 11 & 12, 432 St Kilda Road, Melbourne, Victona 3004 Australia

UK registered subsidiaries exempt from audit

UK incorporated subsidianes which have taken exemption from audit per section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended

31 December 2018 are listed below Spectns plc will guarantee the debts and liabilties of the companies daiming the statutory audit
exemption at the balance sheet date of £13.7m (2017 £7 8m) in accordance with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006. The Company
has assessed the probability of loss under the guaraniee as remote.

Name Coempany number
Agenda 1 Analybcal Services Lid 05903736
Aquila Biormedical Lirited $C393914
Briel & Kjar UK Limited 04066051
Bruel & Kjaer VTS Limuted 01539186
Bumfield Umited 01522736
Concept Life Sciences (Discovery) Limited 09046575
Concept Life Soences (Environmental Consultng) bmited 09046580
Concept Life Scences (Holdings) Limited 09046553
Concept Life Sciences (Laboratones) Limited 09046586
Concept Life Scences (Midco) Limited 09046568.
CXR Biosciences Limited SC211745
HBM United Kingd

om Limited 01589921
Millbrook European Holdings Limited 09657741
Nanosight Limited 04599525
NDC Technologies Limited 00630998
Newport Electronics Limited 01457039
Novisim Ltd 05269664
Omega Engineenng Linited 02564017
Omega Technologies Limited 02775272
PANalytcat Limited 01005071
Resource and Environmental Consuftants Unwted 03133832
Spectris UK Holdings Lirnited 04451903
Spectris US Holdings Limited 04451883
vl-grade Limited 08245242
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Financial calendar

Trading update 24 May 2019
AGM 24 May 2019
Record date for 2018 final dividend 24 May 2019
2018 final dwvidend payable 28 June 2019
2019 half-year results 30 july 2019
Trading update 21 November 2019
2019 full-year rasuits February 2020
Company Secretary Major shareholders
Mark Serfozd Percentage of
. capital at
Head of Corporate Affairs Shareholding In 31 December
Sinbhan Andrews Spectrs shares 2018
MFS Investment Management 13,238,345 11.46

Ermail investor.relations@spectrs.com

Registered office
Spectris plc

Heritage House

Church Reoad

Egham

Surrey

Tw20 9QD

England

Tek +44 (0)1784 470470
Email: info@spectris.com
Company registered in England and Wales, No 2025003

Auditor
Delaitte LLP

Solicitors
Slaughter and May

Brokers

lefferies Hoare Govett
J P Morgan Cazenove

Financial PR advisers
FTI Consulting

Registrars
Equariti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing

West Sussex
BN99 6DA

The registrars provide a range of shareholder services online
at wainw shareview.co uk
Share price information

The Cornpany’s ordinary shares are listed on the London
Stock Exchange The latest share price is available via the
Company's website at www spectris.com

FMR LLC 10,650,622 9.22

Marathon Asset Management LLP 6,256,780 5.42
BlackRock inc 5,397,210 4.67
Sprucegrove Investment

Management 4,917,950 4.26
Liontrust investonent Partners LLP 4,741,296 410
vanguard Group 4,176,693 361
LUBS Asset Management 3,676,092 2.18
Royal London Asset Management 3,647,367 3.16
Schroder Investment Management 3,516,080 3.04

Email news service

To recene details of press releases and other announcements
as they ave issued, register with the mail alert service on the
Company's website at www spectris.com.

Cautionary statement

This Annuat Report may contain forward-looking statements.
These statements can be identified by the fact that they do not
relate only to historical or current facts. Without limitation,
forward-locking statements often use words such as
anticipate, target, expect, estimate, intend, plan, goal, believe,
will, may, should, would, could or other words of similar
meaning. These staterents may (without limitation) relate to
the Company’s financial position, business strategy, plans for
future operations or market trends. No assurance can be gwven
that any particular expectation will be met or proved accurate |
and shareholders are cautionad not to place undue reliance on
such staterments because, by their very nature, they may be
affected by a number of known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other important factors which could cause
actual results to differ materially from those currently
anticipated. Any forward-looking statement 1 made on the
basis of information available to Spectris plc as of the date

of the preparation of this Annual Report. All forward-looking
statements contained in this Annual Report are qualified by
the cautionary statements contained in this section. Other than
in accordance with its legal and regulatory obligations,

Spectris plc disdaims any cbligation to update or revise any
forward-luukiing statement contained in this Annual Report

to reflect any change in circumstances or 1ts expectations.
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‘Spectris’ 1s a trademark of Spectris plc

and is protected by registration in the United
Kingdom and other jurisdictions. Other product
names referred to in this Annual Report are
registered or unregistered trademarks or
registered names of Spectns plc or its subsidiary
companies and are similarly protected.
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